
AGENDA 
OURAY CITY COUNCIL 

320 6th Avenue – Community Center – MASSARD ROOM 

January 6, 2020 
Work Session 4pm and Regular Meeting 6pm 

 Electronic copies of the Council Packet are available on the City website at www.cityofouray.com. A hard copy of the Packet is also available at the Administrative Office for 
interested citizens.

 Action may be taken on any agenda item

 Notice is hereby given that a majority or quorum of the Planning Commission, Community Economic Development Committee, Beautification Committee, and/or Parks and 
Recreation Committee may be present at the above noticed City Council meeting to discuss any or all of the matters on the agenda below for Council consideration

Work Session 4pm 
Wastewater Treatment Plant Project Discussion 

Regular Meeting 6pm 
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. ROLL CALL
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
4. CEREMONIAL/INFORMATIONAL

Ice Park Pre-season Report 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  - December 2 and December 16 Regular Meetings
6. CITIZENS’ COMMUNICATION
7. CITY COUNCIL REPORTS/INFORMATION

Glenn Boyd, Ethan Funk, Peggy Lindsey, John Wood, and Greg Nelson
8. DEPARTMENT REPORTS

a. City Administrator
b. Police Chief
c. Public Works Director
d. City Resources Director

9. CONSENT AGENDA
a. Special Events Permit Application – OIPI, Ice Festival, Box Canyon Park, January 24th & 25th

b. Special Events Permit Application – BPOE Lodge #492, Burns Supper, January 18th

c. Liquor License Renewal – Brickhouse 737
d. Liquor License Renewal – Thai Chili
e. Liquor License Renewal – Goldbelt Bar & Grill

10. ACTION ITEMS
a. Resolution 1, Series 2020 – Designating a Posting Place
b. Ordinance 1, Series 2020 – Modifying Council Meeting Times – First Reading
c. Approval of Letter of Agreement with JVA Consulting Engineers regarding WWTF Final Design & Permitting
d. Approval of Letter of Agreement with JVA regarding WWTF Discharge Monitoring Report Assistance
e. OTO Contract – 3 Month Extension
f. Viner Law Fee Agreement
g. Victim Services IGA
h. Multi-hazard Mitigation Plan
i. Water Rights Ratification
j. CEDC Appointment(s)

11. DISCUSSION ITEMS
a. Parking within the City
b. Sidewalks
c. Transparency
d. Future Agenda Items

12. ADJOURNMENT

Posted Date ____________________  By ______________________ 

   1

Page 2

Page 13

Page 15
Page 17

Page 20
Page 26

Page 28
Page 31

Page 33
Page 34

Page 35

Page 36
Page 37

Page 42

Page 43
Page 45

Page 50

Page 53

Page 342
Page 346

Page 55

Page 59
Page 65



Ouray City Council Regular Meeting 
Summarized Minutes 

Monday, December 2, 2019 at 6:00pm 
MASSARD ROOM – Ouray Community Center 

1. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Larson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

2. ROLL CALL

Mayor Pam Larson - Present

Mayor Pro Tem Glenn Boyd – Present
Councilor Ethan Funk – Present

Councilor Dawn Glanc – Excused

Councilor Bette Maurer – Present

Also present were City Administrator Justin Perry, City Resources Director Rick Noll, Acting Police

Chief Gary Ray, Community Development Coordinator Chris Hawkins, and Finance and

Administration Director Melissa Drake

3. THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE WAS RECITED

4. CEREMONIAL/INFORMATIONAL – Oath of Office for New Mayor Greg Nelson and New Council

Member Peggy Lindsey

Ouray Municipal Judge Zach Martin issued the oath of office to Greg Nelson and Peggy Lindsey

5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

a. November 4, 2019

Mayor Nelson asked if there were any corrections to the minutes.  There were none.  He stated

that the minutes stand approved.

b. November 18, 2019

Mayor Nelson asked if there were any corrections to the minutes.  There were none.  He stated

that the minutes stand approved.

6. CITIZENS’ COMMUNICATION

Ted Wolfe, Ouray County Undersheriff, welcomed the new Council Members.

   2



Mike Pelkey, thanked the outgoing Mayor and Council Members for their years of service. 

7. CITY COUNCIL REPORTS/INFORMATION

a. Mayor Pro Tem Boyd – none, other than Multi-hazard plan in the packet.

b. Councilor Ethan Funk – none, there were no committee meetings due to the Thanksgiving
holiday

c. Councilor Peggy Lindsey – attended a realtor conference where she met a vendor who relines
sewer lines and would like to set up a meeting with staff on the topic.

d. Councilor John Wood – excused; Mayor Nelson read a letter from Councilor Wood explaining
his absence due to a family trip planned earlier

e. Mayor Greg Nelson

 announced “office hours” on Wednesdays at the library 11am-1pm  and 4pm-6pm for
citizens to discuss issues with him as Mayor

 gave an overview of a list of items for future agendas (which was included in the packet)

8. DEPARTMENT REPORTS

a. City Administrator

City Administrator Justin Perry stated that the new Chief of Police, Jeffery Wood, will start with
the City on December 9, 2019.  Met with Mayor Nelson and Frank Robertson from OIPI
regarding the Ice Park  water initiative.

b. Acting Police Chief

Acting Chief Gary Ray thanked everyone who helped with the “Stuff the Cruiser” campaign.
Twenty families were delivered meals.

c. Public Works Director

On vacation

d. City Resources Director

It was very windy over the holidays which affected Hot Springs Pool temperatures over the
holiday weekend.  Ski Hill was open over Thanksgiving but will close again until December 20th.

Administrator Perry noted that the work on the renovation of the Ice Rink is in progress.

9. CONSENT AGENDA - none

   3



10. ACTION ITEMS 

 

a. Resolution 8 – Adopting 2020 Budget 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to approve the Resolution to approve the 2020 Budget.  
Councilor Funk seconded the motion.  Mayor Nelson stated that he has asked Administrator 
Perry to hold off on hiring the 2 new positions until after the new Council has a budget work 
session.  The motion was approved on a roll-call vote of 3 to 1 with Councilor Lindsey voting 
“No.” 

 

b. Resolution 9 – Appropriating 2020 Expenditures 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to approve the Resolution appropriating 2020 
expenditures for 2020 for the City of Ouray.  Councilor Lindsey seconded the motion.  The 
motion was approved on unanimous roll-call vote. 
 

c. Resolution 10 – Setting 2020 Mill Levy 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to approve the Resolution setting the 2020 Mill Levy for 
the City of Ouray.  Councilor Funk seconded the motion.  The motion was approved on 
unanimous roll-call vote. 

 

11. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 

a. Multi-hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
Administrator Perry and Mayor Pro Tem Boyd (as Ouray County Emergency Manager) gave a brief 
overview of the status of the plan and its history.  Community Development Coordinator Chris 
Hawkins stated that much from the plan will be incorporated into the Ouray Community Plan. 
 

b. Committees and Assignments 
 
Administrator Perry noted that the list of the committees in which Council members participate 
which was in the packet.  Mayor Nelson asked Council members to notify Administrator Perry of 
which committees they are interested in serving and not interested in serving.  Council discussed 
and will take action on December 16th. 
 

c. New Council Member Orientation 
 

Council agreed that a December 18th orientation would work in their schedules from 8am to 

4pm. 

 

d. Future Agenda Items 
 
Mayor Nelson stated that there will be a December 9, 2019 work session on proposals for 
Destination Marketing and Management and the Visitor Center at 4pm. 
 
Sewer reline presentation on December 13th at 10am. 
 

   4



Ice Park water initiative work session at 4pm on December 16. 
 
Executive Session after the regular council meeting on December 16 regarding legal issues. 
 
Budget Work Session January 3rd. 
 
ICS 402 Emergency Management class for elected officials and executive staff on December 17th. 

 
Mayor Nelson – noted that the new Police Chief starts on December 9 and that Yule Night, the Jeep Raffle, 
and the tree lighting will be on December 7th. 

 
Boyd – discussion item of meeting times with possible alternative meeting times 
Nelson – sidewalks 
Boyd – transparency 
Nelson – sound system in Massard Room and San Juan Room 
Funk – Council workflow and calendar sharing 

 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 

At 7:08pm, Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Councilor Funk seconded 

the motion and it was approved on unanimous vote.   

 

 

      _____________________________________________ 

ATTEST:      Greg Nelson, Mayor   Date 

 

________________________________ 

Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Melissa M. Drake, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Ouray, Ouray County, State 
of Colorado, and that the above minutes are a true and correct summary of the meeting of the Ouray 
City Council held on December 2, 2019.  I further certify that the meeting was duly called and held, and 
that a quorum was present. 
 
Dated this 2nd day of January 2020. 
 
  
 
___________________________ 
Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk 
 

   5



Ouray City Council Regular Meeting 
Summarized Minutes 

Monday, December 16, 2019 at 6:00pm 
MASSARD ROOM – Ouray Community Center 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
Mayor Nelson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.   
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 
Mayor Greg Nelson - Present 
Mayor Pro Tem Glenn Boyd – Present 
Councilor Ethan Funk – Present 
Councilor John Wood – Present 
Councilor Peggy Lindsey – Present  
 
Also present were City Administrator Justin Perry, City Resources Director Rick Noll, Police Chief Jeff 
Wood, Public Works Director Joe Coleman, Community Development Coordinator Chris Hawkins, 
Deputy Clerk/Treasurer Beverly Martensen, and City Attorney Carol Viner.  Also in attendance were 
22 citizens. 

 
3. THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE WAS RECITED 

 
4. PUBLIC HEARING  

Consideration of a PUD amendment to (1) allow for a rear addition to the building on the Property 
for larger hotel rooms (not increasing the number of permitted rooms); (2) expand the rooftop 
bar/restaurant area; and (3) miscellaneous changes to accomplish the foregoing; 740 Main Street, 
Lot 13, Block 9, City of Ouray. 
 
Mayor Nelson announced that this public hearing will be continued to the January 21st Regular 
Council Meeting as it has not yet been heard before the Planning Commission. 

 
5. CER EMONIAL/INFORMATIONAL  

a.  Oath of Office for New Council Member John Wood 
 Mayor Nelson conducted Councilor Wood’s oath of office 
 
b.  Oath of Office for New Police Chief Jeffery Wood 
  Mayor Nelson conducted Chief Wood’s oath of office 

 
6. CITIZENS’ COMMUNICATION 

 
a.  Tamara Gulde, 512 Oak St   - requested community support, involvement and attendance at the 
Community Plan Update meetings on the 3rd Tuesday of every month. 

   6



b.  Dr. Lynne Lacorte, 182 County Rd 24, Ridgway – spoke in opposition to having been prevented 
from using the hot springs pool due to incidents of conflict with employees of the pool.  She 
requested that the order revoking her pool pass indefinitely be removed by City Council.    
 
c.  Scott Clifford, 200 8th Ave – read a letter he had written requesting the recall of Ethan Funk as 
Council member. 
 

7. CITY COUNCIL REPORTS/INFORMATION 
 

a. Mayor Pro Tem Boyd –   A test of the emergency notification system will take place starting 
Wednesday, at 6 p.m. for approximately 2/1 hours.  Requested citizen input, attendance and 
involvement at the Community Plan Update meetings.  Emergency training at the 4H center in 
Ridgway tomorrow.  Thanked Public Works for their outstanding work snow removal. 
 

b. Councilor Ethan Funk – Ouray County Housing Advisory Committee is on hold as Town of 
Ridgway has removed its funding  
 

c. Councilor Peggy Lindsey – No report. 
 

d. Councilor John Wood –  CEDC met last week although they did not have a quorum as they are 
short members.   Councilor Wood will now be a Council liaison member.   Several openings need 
to be filled. 

 
       e.    Mayor Greg Nelson –  Attended Region 10 meeting and discussed two CDOT projects on the 
               Highway 550 corridor and also broadband. 
 
8. DEPARTMENT REPORTS 
 

a. City Administrator – 
 
James Shannon has accepted an offer to work as Building Inspector for the City of Ouray.    
Thanked Public Works for their outstanding work with snow removal.  Announced that the City 
has received a $14,000 GOCO Grant for work up at Box Canyon Park.  Council members 
orientation and training will be held on Wednesday, December 18th from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. 
 

b. Police Chief  
 
No report. 
 

c. Public Works Director 
 

Nothing to add to report in the packet. 
 

d. Finance and Administration Director 
  

i. October Financial Report 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to approve the October Financial Report.  
Councilor Wood seconded the motion and it was approved on unanimous vote. 

   7



 
                  ii.       November Financial Report 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to approve the October Financial Report.  
Councilor Wood seconded the motion and it was approved on unanimous vote. 

 
    iii.      November Disbursements 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Boyd made a motion to approve the November Disbursements.  
Councilor Funk seconded the motion and it was approved on unanimous vote. 
 

    iv. November Sales Tax Report 
 
 Council discussed. 
 
     v. November LOT Report (October Lodging Activity) 
 

Council discussed. 
 
        f.   Community Development Coordinator 
 
 Has been very involved in tasks covering the absence of the building inspector.  At the next  
 Council meeting he will  report on the number of short term rentals applications and 

enforcement going forward.  He will also present an updated scheduled on the Community Plan 
Update completion. The new town manager for Ridgway, Connie Hunt and Justin Perry will be 
meeting at the end of January on the topic of census numbers and funding sources. 

 
      g.   Community Resources Director 
 
 Lees Ski Hill will open this weekend.   The skating rink liner will be installed next year to allow 

time for proper site preparation. 
 
 9.    CONSENT AGENDA  
 

a.  Special Events Permit Application – BPOE Lodge #492, New Year’s Eve, December 31st, 2019 
        b.  Special Events Permit Application – Ouray Ice Park Inc., Chicks with Picks Fundraiser, January 4th, 2020 
        c.   Special Events Permit Application – Ouray Ice Park Inc., Ouray Ice Festival – January 24th, 2020 
        d.   Approval of 2020 Meeting Calendar 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Boyd requested that approval of the 2020 meeting calendar be moved to Action 
Items.  Councilor Funk moved and Mayor Pro Tem Boyd seconded the motion to approve the 
Consent Agenda.   The motion passed on unanimous vote. 

 
10.   ACTION ITEMS 

 
j.    Meeting Calendar 2020- (New item added to Action Items) 

Mayor Pro Tem Boyd moved to approve the calendar, except that the second meeting of 
every month be at 1:00 pm.  Councilor Wood seconded the motion.     
 

   8



Administrator Perry reminded the Council that changing of meeting days or times must be 
done by ordinance, including the time needed for 1st and 2nd readings.    Rick Noll reminded 
the Council that the Senior Lunch Program is every Monday at noon in the Community 
Center.  A vote was taken and the motion passed unanimously. 
 

a. Appointment of Mayor Pro Tem 
 
Councilor Funk made a motion to approve that Mayor Pro Tem Boyd continue as Mayor Pro 
Tem.   Mayor Pro Tem Boyd seconded the motion.   The motion failed on a roll call vote with 
Mayor Nelson, Councilor Wood and Councilor Lindsey voting no.  
 
Councilor Lindsey moved to appoint Councilor Wood as Mayor Pro Tem.   Councilor Wood 
seconded the motion.   The motion passed on a roll call vote with Councilor Funk and 
Councilor Boyd voting no. 
 

b. Consideration of a PUD amendment - to (1) allow a rear addition to the building on the 
Property for larger hotel rooms (not increasing the number of permitted rooms); (2) 
expand the rooftop bar/restaurant area; and (3) miscellaneous changes to accomplish the 
foregoing; 740 Main Street, Lot 13, Block 9, City of Ouray 

 
  Councilor Wood moved to continue to the January 21st Council meeting.  Councilor Funk 

seconded the motion.   A vote was taken and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
              c.     Consideration of lot split to create two lots for a portion of the Daisy Placer located east 
       of Highway 550 and north of Loretta Court 
 

Councilor Funk moved and Councilor Boyd seconded the motion to accept the lot split as 
presented.    The motion passed on unanimous roll call vote. 

  
d.    Community Plan Committee Appointment – Pam Larson 

 
Mayor Nelson explained that previous Mayor Larson would like to continue service 
on the Community Plan Committee as a citizen.  
 
Councilor Boyd moved and Councilor Funk seconded the motion to approve Pam Larson’s 
continued service on the Community Plan Committee.   The motion passed on unanimous 
vote. 
 

e.   Committee Appointments 
 
Region 10                        Mayor Nelson 
Gunnison Valley Transportation Regional Planning   Mayor Pro Tem Wood 
Uncompahgre Water Users      Councilor Lindsey 
CIRSA     All Council Members & City Administrator 
CML – Colorado Municipal League  All Council Members & City Administrator 

   9



Club 20      Mayor Nelson 
Ridgway Space to Create    Councilor Lindsey 
Ouray County Housing Advisory Committee  Councilor Funk 
Colorado Mountain Housing Coalition  Councilor Funk 
Ouray County Transit Advisory Committee  Mayor Pro Tem Wood 
Montrose Area Transit Advisory Committee  Mayor Pro Tem Wood 
CAST – Colorado Association of Ski Towns All Council Members & City Administrator 
Ouray Ice Park Inc      Councilor Funk 
IPAT  - Ice Park Advisory Team   Mayor Pro Tem Wood 
Eco Action Partners     Councilor Lindsey 
Sneffels Energy Board     Councilor Funk 
Communities that Care/Voyager    Councilor Boyd 
Community Plan Update Steering Committee Mayor Nelson & Councilor Boyd 
OIPI Water Initiative Planning Committee  Mayor Nelson 
Multi Hazard Mitigation Plan   Councilor Boyd 
CEDC – Community Economic Develop Committee Mayor Pro Tem Wood 
Multi-Agency Coordination Group   Councilor Boyd   
LEPC - Local Emergency Planning Committee    Councilor Boyd 
OIPI Water Initiative Fund Raising Committee  Councilor Boyd 
Employee Appreciation Committee   Mayor Pro Tem Wood & Councilor Boyd 
Parks and Recreation Committee   Councilor Funk 
Ouray Beautification Committee   Councilor Lindsey 
 
Councilor Boyd moved to approve the committee appointments.  Mayor Pro Tem Wood 
seconded the motion and it passed on unanimous vote. 

 
f.    2019 Budget Ammendment 

 
Administrator Perry explained this is an annual adjustment required by law.   The only 
amendment this year is for refuse and recycle and the LOT fund.   Increased revenues and 
billings requires Council action for this amendment 
 
Councilor Funk made a motion to approve the 2019 budget amendment. Mayor Pro Tem     
Wood seconded the motion and it passed on unanimous vote.    
 

g.    OIPI Grant Application 
 

Councilor Boyd made a motion to approve the OIPI Grand Application   Councilor Funk 
seconded the motion and it passed on unanimous vote. 
 

               h.    OIPI Water Initiative MOU 
          

        Councilor Wood moved and Councilor Boyd seconded the motion to engage in the OIPI 
        Water Initiative MOU with revision to subsection bullet point #6 Additional Project 

                       Components with language to indicate if either party desires to add additional project 

   10



        components, the other party agrees to meet and decide on said proposed conditions so 
        long as they do not adversely affect the timeline.   The motion passed on unanimous vote. 

 
                i.    Possible Action on Visitor Center Services  
  
                       Mayor Nelson described the marketing and tourism RFP process.  He discussed that the 

        Ouray Tourism Office (OTO) had been key in growing tourism in our community.    
 
        City Council members discussed that only one of the RFP proposals addressed both 
        marketing and visitor center management.   Council also discussed the possibility that a      
        short term contract or extension would allow time for further study. 
 
        Mayor Nelson invited public comment, with all individuals speaking in support of the Ouray 
        Tourism Office. 

               
         Mayor Pro Tem Wood moved and Councilor Boyd seconded the motion to award the full  
                       RFP contract to the Ouray Tourism Office.   
 

        Mayor Pro Tem Wood amended his motion to award the RFP contract to the Ouray Tourism 
        Office based on their bid, allowing a maximum of a 3-month contract negotiation period,   
        then a contract awarded for 3 years, with one year benchmarks.   Councilor Boyd seconded 
        the motion and it passed on unanimous roll call vote.  
 

12. DISCUSSION ITEMS 
       None. 
 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

       For a conference with the City attorney for the purpose of receiving legal advice on specific legal   
       questions under C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(b) re: a briefing as to any pending City legal matters, including    
       current and proposed water law applications; and for the purpose of determining positions relative 
       to matters that may be subject to negotiations under C.R.S. 24-6-402(4)(e), concerning a pool   
       membership dispute. 

 
At  8:23 pm Mayor Pro Tem Wood moved and Councilor Lindsey seconded the motion to go into 
Executive Session following a five minute break.    The motion passed on unanimous roll call vote. 
 
At  9:40 pm, Mayor Pro Tem Wood moved and Councilor Funk seconded the motion to end the 
Executive Session.   The motion passed on unanimous vote. 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 

At 9:45 pm, Councilor Boyd made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Councilor Funk seconded the 
motion and it was approved on unanimous vote.   

   11



 
 
      _____________________________________________ 
ATTEST:      Greg Nelson, Mayor   Date 
 
________________________________ 
Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION 
I, Beverly Martensen, do hereby certify that I am the Deputy Clerk/Treasurer of the City of Ouray, Ouray 
County, State of Colorado, and that the above minutes are a true and correct summary of the meeting 
of the Ouray City Council held on December 16, 2019.  I further certify that the meeting was duly called 
and held, and that a quorum was present. 
 
Dated this 3rd day of January, 2020. 
 
  
 
___________________________ 
Beverly Martensen, Deputy Clerk/Treasurer 
 

   12



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

MEETING MINUTES 
CITY OF OURAY PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE 

“PARC” 
 

“To provide fun, family-friendly activities for the 
Community and encourage the use of the city’s resources to get people out to PLAY!! 

 
A quorum of City Council may attend this meeting. 

San Juan Room – Ouray Community Center – 320 6th Avenue 
December 3, 2019 - 6:00 p.m. 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE 
 
Call to Order – Kim Kelly called the meeting to order at 6:00PM. 

 
Roll Call – Members present: Diane Nelson, Kendra Wilcox, Kim Kelly, Amy Winterrowd and Brock 
Adams.  Also present:  Greg Nelson – City of Ouray, Rick Noll – City of Ouray, Chris Folsom and 
Martin Schuster.      
 
Meeting Minutes – The November Meeting Minutes were approved by the committee. 
 
COUNCIL’S REPORT 
 
Not available.   
 
 
TREASURER’S REPORT 
 
Ice Rink Fund - $8,978.05 
PARC including Dog Park - $2,715.84 
 
Amy Winterrowd will confirm with Melissa Drake.    
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
Rotary Park Ice Rink Repairs – Chris Folsom, San Juan Architectural Metals, reported that the 
replacement of the gate at the south end is all that remains and will be completed tomorrow.  The 
value of the materials donated was between $600 and $700.  Due to cold temperatures, painting 
will be completed in the spring.   
 
The committee discussed prices for the various liners and the kick plates.  A motion was made and 
unanimously approved to use Ice Rink Funds for any shortage resulting from the purchase of the 
liner from the approved city project fund.  

P.O. Box 468 
320 Sixth Avenue 
Ouray, Colorado 81427 

970.325.7211 
Fax  970.325.7212 

www.cityofouray.com 

   13



 
 
Martin Schuster discussed his experience with installing liners and explained how critical the prep 
work for the liner was if you wanted it to last more than one year.  The base must be dug out to a 
specified depth, filled with proper materials, compacted and leveled.  After a lengthy discussion, 
the committee decided to delay purchase of a liner for this season and investigate options and 
costs for preparing the rink base properly before proceeding with the purchase and installation of a 
liner.   
 
The making of ice needs to start in the next week and to do so debris needs to be removed and 
holes need to be backfilled.    
 
 
EVENT PLANNING & CALENDAR 
 
Winterfest Games will be January 19th from 12 Noon to 4:00 PM.  Details will be finalized at the 
January meeting.   
 
Broomball League 2020 – Weather permitting, play will begin January 8th.     
 
Cabin Fever Days 2020 – Sunday, February 16th.   
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The next meeting will be held Tuesday January 7, at 6:00 pm.  The meeting was adjourned at 7:40 
PM.   
 
Minutes prepared by:  Diane Nelson 

   14



City Administrator 1.2.20 

• Met with OTO board members and discussed contractual agreement extensions as was 
directed by City Council. OTO will extend to assist the City of Ouray however, they will 
not extend past three months. As the selected organization for marketing and Visitor 
Center management, they will require a minimum of a three year contract to ensure they 
have stability and consistency.  

• I met with Mayor Nelson and discussed current operations as well as items that were 
presented on the last City Council meeting agenda.  

• Public Works Director and I met with Mayor Nelson and discussed current snow removal 
operations on Main Street. Mayor Nelson had been contacted by a local business owner 
with concerns regarding snow removal procedures on Main Street and 7th Avenue. After 
an onsite discussion on Main, we located a specific location for temporary snow storage 
for private plowers requesting to plow. The business owners agreed to plow only to that 
location. It was reiterated however that the City of Ouray cannot give authorization for 
anyone to plow on Main Street as this is CDOT controlled and all permits for plowing are 
regulated through the State.  

• I met with a local business owner and discussed EQR concerns with regards to his local 
lodging and restaurant establishment. The individual would like to see future changes to 
the rate structure that allows for suspension of payments when the businesses are not in 
operation.  

• I had a meeting with Council Member Lindsey and discussed a few land use/building 
issues on Oak Street that occurred a few years ago but were never resolved. The issues 
involved a Plat Amendment to combine two lots.  

• I met with Pete Foster and discussed various water issues including Forest Service 
permitting, Red Mountain Ditch, Crystal Reservoir, and the Weehawken Spring. In 
addition we discussed the current Water Efficiency plan and the Ouray Hot Springs 
Master Plan. Pete will be presenting at a future work session and will discuss in detail our 
past and current water projects as well as an update to the Water Efficiency Plan.  

• Public Works and I met with JVA for a progress meeting and discussed the overall 
project status and schedule overview. JVA presented us with an updated project schedule 
that will be discussed and disseminated at our work session on January 6th. In addition, 
we discussed the particulars of the January 6th work session. JVA will present an 
overview of the project to date, and details will be provided as to the necessary 
components of the project in 2020 as we prepare for design and funding applications.  

• I conducted the New Council Member Orientation with the assistance of DOLA and our 
City Attorney. This work session covered the duties and responsibilities of serving as a 
City Council member, as well as ethics and high liability issues.  

• I worked with our new Chief of Police as he transitions into the new position. 
• Met with Joe Coleman and discussed current Public Works operations, projects, and 

snow removal. Joe and I will be meeting in January to discuss and plan the 2020 Capital 
Projects that are slated to occur.  

   15



• I met with Chris Hawkins and discussed the 2020 Census and various Land Use issues. 
As we move forward into 2020, Chris’ main focus will be the Community Master Plan. 
He will assist with the transition of our new Community Development Coordinator and 
will continue working on land use items until the position is filled.  

• I met with Melissa Drake and discussed the Administrative and Finance department. 
Operations are going very well and no issues to report. Melissa was the lead for the 
organization while I was out of the office December 23rd through January 1st. 

• We had our employee holiday lunch on December 20th. The turnout was excellent and 
with City Council approval, City Hall and offices were closed so all could participate.  

   16



Ouray Police Department  

New Chief of Police 

Jeffrey Wood was sworn in on December 9th as the Chief of 
Police for the City of Ouray.  His is looking forward to his new 
assignment with enthusiasm.    

 

Ouray Police Officer  

Ouray Police Officer Canfield has successfully completed the 
second phase of the Field Training process and has moved into 
phase three of the training process.  It is anticipated that he will 
complete the training program by mid-January. 

 

Events 

Sgt. Ray and Chief Wood assisted Ouray County with a Christmas 
gift distribution project to deliver food, toys and other gifts to 
some of the less fortunate citizens of Ouray for the holidays. 

 

Training 

Sgt. Ray and Chief Wood attended Incident Command training in 
Ridgway. 

Chief Wood attended avalanche mitigation protocol training in 
Ridgway. 

 Regularly scheduled training will resume in January 2020 

 

 

   17



Calls for Service   

As of the last report 11/30/2019 and at the time of this report,  
12/31/2019 the Ouray Police Department has responded to 223 
calls for service, to include both minor incident reports (Directed 
patrols, security checks, foot patrols, lost and found property 
reports etc.)  to incident reports and traffic problems.   

Submitted by: 

Chief Jeff Wood 
 

   18



Calls for Service   

As of the last report 11/25/2019 and at the time of this report,  
01/02/2020 the Ouray Police Department has responded to 376 
calls for service, to include both minor incident reports (Directed 
patrols, security checks, foot patrols, lost and found property 
reports etc.)  to incident reports and traffic problems.   

Disturbances      3 
Domestic Violence     0 
Alarms      5 
Thefts      1 
Burglary      0 
Lost/Found Property     2 
Bear  Problems     1 
Warrant Arrests     0 
Criminal Mischief    1 
Agency Assist     14 

 

Traffic  

 Traffic Contacts     29 
 Parking Problems    34 
 Accidents       1 
 Property Damage Accidents  1 
 Motorist Assist     8 
 
 

   19



   20

Public Works December Update 

Water 

• Water Usage Numbers for November: 
Influent (Water from spring) - 37,101,922 Gallons 
Effluent (Water to town) -10,482,049 Gallons 
Ice Park -1,809,360 Gallons 
Mineral Farms - 219,900 Gallons 

• Have been working with CDPHE on the drinking water facility classification change to 
the City of Ouray. For the past few years CDPHE has been making changes to Regulation 
100, which dictates water and wastewater facility operator certification requirements. 
The changes to reclassification are set to begin in March 2021. Please see attached e­
mail from CDPHE. 

• Ordered year #1 parts and materials for the meter program from Mountain States Pipe 
and Supply. Total cost $82,012.82. You're also looking at approximately $10,000 in 
miscellaneous fittings needed for the installation. 

Sewer 

• Continued monitoring sludge levels and dissolved oxygen levels in Sewer Lagoons. 

• Continued skimming lagoons of debris and cleaning aerators when necessary. 
• Received a compliance violation from CDPHE (Colorado Department of Public Health 

and Environment) for non-compliance with the effluent TSS (total suspended solids) 
permit limit for the month of August 2019. Attached to this update is the violation letter 
and response letter submitted to CDPHE. 

Street 

• Plowed snow on several occasions, also made an effort to widen roads as much as 
possible. 

• Effort to spot grade throughout town where needed. Frozen ground and saturated 
ground make this very difficult. 

• Effort to cut ice around town and make travel/parking easier. 
• Poured concrete around manhole at the frog pond to eliminate inflow when snow piles 

begin to melt from the snow storage area. 

• Hauled snow from HWY 550 parking spaces. 

• Removed snow from business parking spaces along the streets in town. 
• Hauled snow piles from different areas around town. 
• HUFT report submitted to the State. 



   21

City Resources 
• Continued geothermal monitoring. 

• MWAT Spread sheet for upstream conductivity probe. Downloaded data and added to 
the spreadsheet for DMR report. 

• Weekly E-Coli sample taken to Grand Junction. 

• Finished hauling gravel out of the river on the North Ouray Corridor. 

• Cleaned up and hauled two dump truck loads of trash from Rotary Park, one load was 
material from the rink repairs the other load was trash illegally dumped. 

• Seasonal Ice Rink employee started on December 12th . Public Works met with him and 
went over fire hydrant operations and supplied fire hose. Thank you to the fire 
department for lending us bunker gear to keep him warm and dry as he makes ice. 

• Short term rental inspections- 60 hours of one Public Works employee. 

• Continued to work on Ski Tow operations, welded new metal at bottom of the hill in 
order to keep the rope from falling off. 

• Installed lift kit on Police vehicle. 

• Installed new cage and new gun locks in Police vehicle. 



   22

Joe Coleman 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

cdphe_wqcd_mailer@state.co.us 

Sunday, October 27, 2019 4:26 PM 

Joe Coleman; Danny Wilbur 

CO0146588 FACILITY CLASSIFICATION CHANGE: ACTION REQUIRED 

Expected DRINKING WATER Facility Classification Change 
**Important message from the Water Quality Control Division** 

Facility Classification 
Facility Name: OURAY CITY OF 

PWSID: CO0146588 

Current classification for drinking water treatment: D 

Probable March 2021 classification for treatment: B 

Current classification for distribution: 1 

Probable March 2021 classification for distribution: 1 
(Note: "O" classification is exempt from a treatment operator, "O" classification is exempt from a distribution 
operator.) 

Action Needed 
After reviewing the current Regulation 100, if you agree with the classification above, no response is required. 
If you disagree with either of the above estimates for March 2021 facility classifications, please have one 
representative for your facility complete the online facility classification form. We will review the information 
submitted and contact you. 

Why are we receiving this email? 
You are receiving this email because your contact information is related to a drinking water facility in our 
database. Please review this email and forward to the appropriate person for the drinking water facility if they 
are not included in the recipient list above. 

Purpose of this email 
We are sending this information to assist owners/operators of facilities. Owners/operators of a facility are 
responsible to understand the appropriate facility classification based on Regulation 100. The Water Quality 
Control Division has reviewed limited information related to the facility listed above. The division is providing 
this estimate of probable classification to inform the owners/operators of facilities where the classification is 
expected to change and to provide a method to inform the division if you believe the probable classification is 
incorrect. 

Additional information, including a link to Regulation 100 and frequently asked questions, is available here. 

Please use the Google Form above to provide facility information and we will respond. 

Individual questions can be emailed to: 
Drinking water, distribution: Tyson Ingels, Lead Drinking Water Engineer tyson.ingels@state.co.us. 

1 



   23

Dedicated to protecting and improving the health and environment of the people of Colorado 

November 22, 2019 

CDPS Number: CO0043397 
Ouray City of 
Justin Perry 
PO Box 468 
Ouray, CO 81427 

RE: COMPLIANCE ADVISORY- REPORTED EFFLUENT VIOLATION 
OURAY CITY OF, C00043397 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

Colorado Discharge Permit System, Permit No. (00043397 (Permit) authorizes Ouray City of to 
discharge treated wastewater subject to the specific effluent limitations and other conditions of the 
permit. 5 CCR 1002-61, §61.8, requires a permittee to comply with all of the terms and conditions of 
the permit. 

The self-monitoring data provided on the Discharge Monitoring Report(s) for the above-referenced 
facility indicates noncompliance with the permit effluent limitations, as indicated in the attached 
Effluent Violation Report. 

It is imperative that the necessary steps be taken to maintain compliance with permit conditions at 
all times. Within 14 days from the date of this letter, please submit to the Water Quality Control 
Division (division) a written response explaining the cause of the non-compliance and outlining the 
actions and measures you have taken or will be taking to abate the non-compliance. 

Please address all correspondence to the following address: 

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment 
Water Quality Control Division 
WQCD-B2-CWE 
ATTN: Aly Ulibarri 
4300 Cherry Creek Drive South 
Denver, Colorado 80246-1530 

This compliance advisory is intended to advise you of alleged violations of the Colorado Water 
Quality Control Act, its implementing regulations and permits so that appropriate steps can be taken 
to avoid or mitigate formal enforcement action or to correct our records (if applicable). This 
compliance advisory does not constitute a Notice of Violation or Cease and Desist Order and is not 

4300 Cherry Creek Drive South, Denver, CO 80246 303-692-3500 www.colorado.gov/cdphe/wqcd 

Jared Polis, Governor I Jill Hunsaker Ryan, MPH, Executive Director 



   24

Justin Perry, Int City Admin 

Ouray City of, CO0043397 

November 22, 2019 

Page 2 

subject to appeal. The issuance of this compliance advisory does not limit or preclude the division 

from pursuing its enforcement options concerning the above violation(s). The division will evaluate 

the facts associated with the above-described violation(s), and if a formal enforcement action is 

deemed necessary, you may be issued a Notice of Violation / Cease and Desist Order that may 

include the assessment of penalties. 

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact me at (303) 692-3163 or via email at 

aly.ulibarri@state.co.us. 

Sincerely, 

t,\,,ti lA~o."' :i. 
Aly Ulibarri 
Enforcement Specialist 

Clean Water Enforcement Unit 

Water Quality Control Division 

Enclosure: Effluent Violation Summary 

ec: File Copy 



   25

Ponnll I COQO<i:1397 

FtQlllty Nomo OURAY CITY OF 

Pilrmll Nlimo Out"lly C11yc• 

Pcm,J fS1,,1ua Ma!or/Mlno,_ Incl. Counry 

Admln Conllnued Minor Q\Jray 

Mon Pd Mon Pd 

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment 
Water Quality Control Division 

Effluent Vlolatlon Report 

Pr!m1ry SIC Code 

•1152 

WolarBody: COGUUN03• UNCOMPAHGRE;RIVER 

Rplod Unit 
RNC RNC 

°1' Viol NODI D01ec1 Rosclve NPDES ID _ ~ SI.art Date End Data Parama1or Valuo Oeec 
Umll Slat Baaa 

Value DIIC Excaad Code Ccdo <;.!>.,~o.___.___ .,._,,,od=o 

C00043397 001 B 811119 8131/19 00530- Sollda, total 5UIP""<ll!d =81 75 300AAVG e E90 



City Resources Department 
 
 
 
January 6, 2019 
 
Lee’s Ski Hill opened for the season with regular hours beginning December 21, 2019. 
Attendance has been high with 55 people using the ski tow one of the days after Christmas and 
more than 40 skiers/riders on other days. After running the tow over the Thanksgiving holiday 
the operators observed some minor repairs that are needed to avoid major repairs in the future. 
These have been forwarded to Public Works for attention. Other repairs, which could be 
accomplished by City Resource staff, have already been completed. The Colorado Passenger 
Tramway Safety Board will conduct an unannounced inspection of the rope tow for compliance 
with State regulations sometime during the winter operating season. 
 
The required annual third party inspection of the elevator at the Community Center took place 
mid-December. During this inspection a problem with the emergency lights was detected. This 
deficiency should have been corrected earlier by the Otis Company during one of their regularly 
scheduled maintenance visits. The deficiency has been forwarded to the regional supervisor at 
Otis for correction. 
 
The padded chairs at the Community Center were shampooed and cleaned when there were 
few events scheduled prior to Christmas. 
 
City Resource staff have worked together to assure that room set-ups were complete during the 
holidays while one of the staff was away on vacation. During this time staff was also busy trying 
to keep up with snow shoveling in front of City Hall and the Community Center. 
 
City Resource staff assisted with the set-up and then attended the employee appreciation 
luncheon on December 20th.  Many employees from the Hot Springs Pool attended the 
luncheon. Food was packaged after the event and taken to the Hot Springs Pool for those 
employees who had to work during the time period of the lunch. 
 
Several personnel issues were managed at the Hot Springs Pool during the month of 
December. 
 
Rotary Park Ice Rink is open for skating. Ice skates have been sharpened and are available for 
rent at the Hot Springs Pool. 
 
Interviews were held for the Maintenance Supervisor position that has been open at the Hot 
Springs Pool since early in December. There were multiple qualified applicants. The position 
was offered to the interview team’s top candidate. He has verbally accepted the offer. 
 
Apparently, the Ouray Ice Climbing Park has dropped their idea of installing a large sculpture 
and setting up an additional sponsor area at the Box Canon Falls during the Ice Festival. This 
proposal was first discussed in October and November. City staff requested detailed plans for 
the event but no specifics were delivered by OIPI.  
 
The OX2 spring for the Hot Springs Pool is typically shut down on every Monday. The valve 
controlling this geothermal source is automatically controlled through the City’s SCADA system. 
On Monday December 24 the spring was reportedly not shut off. Instead, the spring was shut 

   26



down on December 27 for 24 hours. This change in schedule adversely affected water 
temperatures in the pools. On Monday December 30th the Pool Manager contacted Public 
Works to be certain the spring is being managed on the appropriate schedule which helps 
maintain water temperatures during busy weekend days.  
 
The Hot Springs Pool is hosted two special events during New Year’s. On New Year’s Eve the 
pool closed at 9 pm as usual and reopened later in the evening for soaking during the fireworks. 
On New Year’s Day there was a polar plunge at the pool. The polar plunge was in partnership 
with Citizens State Bank as a fund raiser to benefit the Western Colorado Foundation. The extra 
costs of having lifeguards and other staff on-duty during these events will be covered by the 
additional admission revenue earned. Forty customers participated in the New Year’s Eve soak. 
Anecdotal reports are that the participants enjoyed the peaceful and alcohol free setting of the 
Hot Springs Pool on New Year’s Eve, and especially relished watching fireworks while 
submerged in hot water. The Polar Plunge on New Year’s Day was less popular. Hot Springs 
Pool staff will debrief these two events this week.  Additional opportunities for special events at 
the pool will also be discussed. 
 
The City Resource Director participated in two training webinars in December. One was 
provided by CIRSA regarding employee management. The other training was on the topics of 
respect and motivation in the workplace. 
 
There was a planning call with a large bicycle group that may be visiting Ouray in June. The 
group is too large to be accommodated solely in Ouray but will possibly have riders in motels in 
Ouray and riders tent camping in Ridgway. The route has not yet been finalized.  
 
 
 
 
 

   27



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS (January 06, 2020): 

 
 
Special Events Permit Application – Ouray Ice Park Inc., Ouray Ice Festival, Box Cañon Park, 
January 24th and 25th, 2020 
 

 Action Requested – Will City Council approve the Special Events Permit Application for
 Ouray Ice Park Inc., Ouray Ice Festival, Box Cañon Park, for January 24th and 25th 2020? 
 

Background - Ouray Ice Park Inc. is a long-time established non-profit organization 
within the City of Ouray that has not had any compliance issues with the City of Ouray 
or law enforcement. This particular event includes vendor alcohol sales at the Box 
Cañon Falls parking area upon completion of ice climbing events on the 24th and 25th. 
All necessary paperwork and administrative details have been completed in accordance 
with City and State regulation. 
 
Recommendation – City Staff recommends City Council approve the Special Events 
Permit Application – Ouray Ice Park Inc., Ouray Ice Festival, to be held on January 24th 
and 25, in the Box Cañon parking area. 

 
Special Events Permit Application – BPOE Lodge #492, Burns Supper, January 18th 
 
 Action Requested – Will City Council approve the Special Events Permit Application for
 BPOE Lodge #492, for the Burns Supper event to be held on January 18th 2020? 
 

Background – The Elks Lodge (BPOE #492) is a long-time established organization 
within the City of Ouray that has not had any compliance issues with the City of Ouray 
or law enforcement. All necessary paperwork and administrative details have been 
completed in accordance with City and State regulation for this Special Events Permit. 

 
Recommendation – City Staff recommends City Council approve the Special Events 
Permit Application for the Elks Lodge (BPOE Lodge #492), Burns Supper, to be held on 
January 18th. 

P.O. Box 468 
320 Sixth Avenue 
Ouray, Colorado 81427 

970.325.7211 
Fax  970.325.7212 

www.cityofouray.com 

   28



 
Liquor License Renewal – Brickhouse 737 
 

 Action Requested –Will City Council approve the Liquor License Renewal for Brickhouse
 737? 

 
Background – As per State statute and local regulation, all establishments holding a 
liquor license are required to renew said license on an annual basis. Brickhouse 737 is 
due for renewal and in order to comply with State and local licensing, must formally 
request approval by City Council and the City of Ouray. Brickhouse 737 has completed 
all necessary paperwork for this renewal. Law enforcement has not had any issues with 
this organization and everything appears in order for approval.  

  
Recommendation – The City staff recommends that the City Council approve the Liquor 
License Renewal for Brickhouse 737. 

 
Liquor License Renewal – Thai Chili 
 

 Action Requested –Will City Council approve the Liquor License Renewal for Thai 
 Chili? 

 
Background – As per State statute and local regulation, all establishments holding a 
liquor license are required to renew said license on an annual basis. Thai Chili is due for 
renewal and in order to comply with State and local licensing, must formally request 
approval by City Council and the City of Ouray. Thai Chili has completed all necessary 
paperwork for this renewal. Law enforcement has not had any issues with this 
organization and everything appears in order for approval.  

  
 Recommendation – The City staff recommends that the City Council approve the 
 Liquor License Renewal for Thai Chili. 

 
 
 
Liquor License Renewal – Gold Belt Bar & Grill 
 

 Action Requested –Will City Council approve the Liquor License Renewal for Gold Belt Bar &
 Grill? 

 
Background – As per State statute and local regulation, all establishments holding a 
liquor license are required to renew said license on an annual basis. Gold Belt Bar & Grill 
is due for renewal and in order to comply with State and local licensing, must formally 
request approval by City Council and the City of Ouray. Gold Belt Bar & Grill has 

   29



completed all necessary paperwork for this renewal. Law enforcement has not had any 
issues with this organization and everything appears in order for approval.  

  
 Recommendation – The City staff recommends that the City Council approve the 
 Liquor License Renewal for Gold Belt Bar & Grill. 
 

   30



   31

OR 8439 (09/19119) 
COLORADO DEPARTME'°'T OF REVENUE 
Liquor E.nfo<cement Division 
(303) 205-2300 

Application for a Special Events 
Permit 

In order to qualiry for a Special Events P0miit. You Must Be a Quallfylng Organization Per 44-5-102 C.R.S. 
and One of the Following (Seo back far details.) 

0 Social O(Athletic 

D Fratemal O Chartered Branch. lodge or Chapter 

D Patriotic D National Organ ization or Society 

0 Polillcal O Religious lnslilulion 

0 Philanthropic Institution 

D Political Candidate 

0 Munlclpalily Owned Arts FaciliLies 

Departmental Use Only 

LIAB Type of Special Event Applicant is Applying for: DO NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE 
211 o [X] Malt, Vinous And Spirituous Liquor $25.00 Per Day Liquor Permit Number 

2170 0 Fermented Malt Beverage $10.00 Per Day 

State Sales Tax Number (Required) 

07 -4810 -

Ou.ra to 
4 . Au thonzed Representative of Qualifying Organi1.a1ion or Political Candid ale 

Lo(2__-A -A uJ 76 C.+I k-74 

Event M~n•~"' .., __ 

3. Address of Place to Have Speetal Event 
(include street, city/town and ZIP) 

~ox Co.v,.~Oh Rd 
Oti ro., C.o <ts /1--tJ 1 

C' 

7 
• .- .~L.,. ' 

- - - . - \.I \I "". . 
' '- './ - . 

IS. Has Applicant Organization or Poht,cal Candidate been 1 

Issued a Special Event Permit lhis Calendar Year't 
7. Is the prem,ses for which your event is to be he ld currenUy hcenseo unoe, me 

Colorado Liquor or Beer cedes? 

• No 0 Yes How many days? IKJ No 0 Yes License Number 

8. Does the Applicant Have Possession or Written Permission for the Use of The Premises to be Licensed? ~ Yes O No 

List Below lhe Exact Oate(s) for Which Ap.l)llcalion Is Being Made for Permit 

Date ,-~4-1 q Oate I -~5-1q Dale Dale Dale 

Hours From 3 ·.00 pm. Hours From J ·.oo p ,m Hours From .m. Hours From m. Hours From m 

To l,l '. .30p ,m To LI '.,3{)p.m. To . m. To . m . To m . 

Date Date Date Date Date 

Hours From . m. Hours From m Hours From .m . Hours From .m. Hours From .m . 

To m. To m To .m . To .m To m 

Date Date Dale Dale Date 

Hours From .m Hours From m Hours From .m Hours From .m Hours From m 

To .m. To m To m. To .m. To m 

Oath of Applicant 
I declare under penalty of perjury in the second degree that I have read the foregoing application and all attachments thereto, and 
that all information therein is true, correct. and complete to the best cf my knowledge. 

Signature 

~/' u"----~~ /,l T,~ ..------9-
("f..<C J ~ . J / Ir-€'----\_~, l0ii htz.\ \ '1_ 

/ Report an~pproval of Local Licensing Authority (City or County) 
I 

The foregoing application has been examined and the premises, business conducted and character of the applicant is satisfactory, 
and we do report that such permit, if granted, will comply with the provisions cf TitJe 44, Article 5, C.R.S .• as amended. 

THEREFORE, THIS APPLICATION IS APPROVED. 

Local Ucensinti~ (COFCountybu£.AY g City 
County 

Telephone Number of City/County Clark {o 
~,a-32.s·-700 

Signature r1t1e 

/VJWDR-- 1°/
0

2.)lb /19 
DO NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE· FOR DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE USE ONLY 

Lfablllty Information 

License Account Number Liability Date State Total 

-750 (999) $ • 
(Instructions on Reverse Side) 



   32

-
-----

-----

I 

I 
I 

' 
I 
I 
f 
I 

~ 



   33

DA 8439 (0~6J 
Department Use Only COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE APPLICATION FOR A SPECIAL LIQUOR ENFORCEMENT DIVISION 

1375 SHERMAN STREET EVENTS PERMIT DENVER CO 80261 
(303) 205-230() 

IN ORDER TO QUALIFY FOR A SPECIAL EVENTS PERMIT, YOU MU~ Be NOl'tP"Ol"IT 
AND ONE OF THE FOLLOWING (Sae /J11c1C tordet11lls.J 

0 , SOCIAL D ATHLETIC D PHILANTHROPIC INSTITUTION 
• FRATERNAL 0 CHARTERED BRANCH, LODGE OR CHAPTER D POLITICAL CANDIDATE 
D PATRfOTIC 0 OF A NATIONAL ORGANIZATION OR SOCIETY D MUNICIPALITY OWNING /\ATS 
D POLtrlCAL 0 RELIOIOUS INSTITUTION FACILITIES 

LIAS TYPE OF SPECIAL EVENT.APPLICANT IS APPLYING FOR: 00 NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE 
2110 ~ MALT, VINOUS AND SPIRITUOUS LIQUOR $25.00 PEA DAY LIQUOR PERMIT NUMBER 
2170 O FERMENTED MALT BEVERAGE (J.2 Beer) s10.oo PEA DAY 

1. NAi:,tE OF APPLICANT ORGANIZATION OR POLITICAL CANDIDATE 

~->L\ \"'t\~-._ t 1
{ 't\\JGPS" - - ( .\ .. u.~ c,vLi t ·\~s 

I Slale Sales Ta)( Number (Requlfed} 

2. MAILING AOOAESS OF ORGANl}A TtJN OR POLITICAL CANDIDA TE I 3. AOOAESS OF PLACE TO HAVE SPECIAL EVENT 
(lnciude stree1, city/town and ZIP) (lnclt1cre street, cllyllown and llPJ 

~\3.\ \\\0..\ I,.) C'~ 4':u N, .. PdlJ sr 
a L~\Cv--\ Q)~' CJ)LO~)x) 

NAME DATE Of 61ArH HOME ADDRESS (Street, Cily. State, ZIP) PHONC: NUMBER 

4....fElES /SEC'"(--0{ ORG. or POLITICAL CANDIOATE 

.__ ) \ \\'\ \'(--';-\ \ e\,O,\ \ \ 
Ii. E\/i:NT M/\i\lAGE!l \ ,, \l 
6. HAS APPLICANT ORGANIZATION OR POLITICAL CANDIDATE BEl:N 7. IS PREMISES ti.'OW LICENSED UNDER STATE LIQUOR OR BEER CODE? 

ISSUED A SPECIAL EVENT PERMIT THIS CALENDAR YEAR? 

TO WHOM? ?::>Po {:;- #- 4q )_ D4NO DYES HOW MANY DAYS? • NO ~YES 

8. DOES THE APPLICANT HAVE POSSESSION OR WRITTEN PERMISSION FOR THE USE OF THE PREMISES TO BE LICENSED? Ovas 0 No 

LIST BELOW THE EXACT OATE(S) FOR WHICH APPLICATION IS BEING MADE FOR PERMIT 
011,e , - \ e . , c,,,,, Dale Oare Dale Dale 

Hours From ~ :tu~ ,m HO\Jfs From .m. Hours From .Ill Hours From _ffi_ Hours From .(JI. 

To ,,·r::A i'\.m. To . m. To . m . To . m . To .m . 

' OATH OF APPLICANT 
I declare under penalty of perjury in the second degree that I have read t/19 foregoing application and all auschments thtueto, and 
that all information th6rein is true, correct, and comp/els to the best of my knowledge. 

S!O~JE 
TtL\:> \\\~\,C\s1~ 

DATE 

'I\ \-- \ - _'\"\\ (). \ ). ..._~ \c;}. • \~ . \ q ' 
REPORT ANO APPROVAL OF LOCAL LICENSING AUTHORITY (Cf'f-¥':oR COUNTY) 

The foregoing appllcatlon has been examined and the premises, business conducted and character of the applicant is satisfactory, 
and we do report that such permit, i1 granted, wlll comply with the provisions of Title 12, Article 48, C.R.S., as amended 

THEREFORE, THIS APPLIC~TION IS APPROVED. 
LOCAL LICENSING AUTHORITY (CITY OR COUNTY) u,Y OF OtJILA'-? 

E CITV l TELEPHONE NUMBER OF Cl I Y/CuuNTY CLERK 

COUNTY 
0r7o -325: - -, 0 ln I /"I 

SIGNATURE 
LILLI: M.A l( O [2_. 0

"1Ef 2-J WW 
00 NOT WRITE IN THIS SPACE ~ FOR DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE USE ONLY 

LtABILITV INFORMATION 

License Account Number Uablllty Date State TOTAL 

.750 (999) $ . 
(lnslrucllons on Reverse Size) 



   34

DR 8400 (03.rlB/19) 
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 
Liquor Enforcement Division 

Submit to Local ucan11ng Authority 

BRICKHOUSE 737 
PO BOX 806 
Ouray CO 81427 

Fees Due 

Renewal Fee 500.00 Cj()t) 
Storage Permit $100 X _ $ 

Sidewalk Service Area $75.00 $ 

Additional Optional Premise Hotel & 
s 

Restaurant $100X_ 

Related Facilfy - Campus Liquor 
$ Complex $160. 00 per facility 

Amount Due/Paid $ 5lo.oc 
Make chedc. payable to: Colorado Department of 
Revenue. The State may convert yo1.1r check to a one­
time electronic banking transaction. Your bank account 
may be debited as ealiy as the same day received by 
the State. If converted, your check will not be returned. If 
your check is rejected due to insufficient or uncollected 
funds, the Department may collect the P&,Y11:9nt amount 
directly from your banking account electronically. 

Retail Liquor or Fennented Malt Beverage License Renewal Application 

Licensee Name 
BRICKHOUSE 737 LLC 

Liquor License # 
03-06211 

Business Address 

License Type 
Hotel & Restaurant (city) 

737 MAIN STREET Ouray CO 81427 

Mailing Address 
PO BOX 808 Ouray CO 81427 

Date of Birth HomaAdn .... ~ .. 

Sales Tax License# 
31414600 

Expiration Date 
04/04/2020 

Due Date 
02/19/2020 

Phone Number 
9703250565 

a _ "'--"' vv ,,,., ..., . I __ ✓ , I 
1. Do you have legal possessibn o the premises at the street address abo e? ~Yes • No 

Are the premises owned or rented? . Owned Rented* *If rented, expiration date of lease_ 

2. Are you renewing a storage permit, additional optional premises, sidewalk service area, or related facility? If yes, please see the 
table in upper right hand comer and include all fees due. OYes DJ-No 

3. Since the date of filing of the last application, has there been any change in financial interest (new notes, loans, owners, etc.) or 
organizational strudure (addition or deletion of officers, directora, managing members or genera! partners)? If yes, e)(plain in detail 
and attactl a listing of all liquor businesses in which these new lenders, owners (other than licensed financial institutions), officers, 
directors, managing members, or general partners are materially interested. Yes 0No 

4. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applicant or any of its agents, owners, managers, partners or lenders (other 
than licensed financial institutions) been convicted of a crime? If yes, attach a detailed explanation. OYes ~No 

5. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applicant or any of its agents, owners, managers, partners or lenders (other 
than licensed financial institutions) been denied an alcohol beverage license, had an alcohol beverage license suspended or 
n,voked, or had interest In any entity that had an alcohol beverage license denied, suspended or revoked? If yes, attach a detail ea 
explanation. Yes No 

6. Does the applicant or any of Its agents, owners, managers, partners or fenders (other than licensed financial institutions) have a 
direct or indirect interest in any other Colorado liquor license, induding loans to or from any licensee or interest in a loan to any 
licensee? If es, attach a detailed e lanation. Yes No 

Affirmation & Consent 
I dean undefpenallyof perjury in the seoond degree that this applicalion and all atta:timen1s an! true, corred.a,d arnpete lo lhe best of my koot.iedge. 

{1 8 S~r,:,ef/ Title OwNeR 
Date 

Report p or County Licensing Authority 
The foregoing p on as been examined and the premises, business conducted and charader of the applicant are sabsfadory, and 
we do hereby report that such license, ifgranled, will comply with the provisions of Title 44, Articles 4 and 3, C.R.S., and Liquor Rules. 
Therefore this application la approved. 
Local Lioenslng Authority For Date 

Signature Tille Attest 

2 



   35

OR 8400 (07124/19) 
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 
Liquor Enforcement Division 

Submit to Local ucensina Authority 

IHAl Cf+tU ouR..A---? U-L__.. 

'Po ""fuK 7~5 
OUeA'-1 j co 

Fees Due 

Renewal Fee Eoo,w 
Storage Permit $100 X -- $ 

Sidewalk Service Area $75.00 $ 

Additional Optional Premise Hotel & 
$ 

Restaurant $100 X 

Related Facil ily - Campus Liquor 
$ Complex $160.00 per facility 

Amount Due/Paid $ 

Make check payable to: Colorado Department of 
Revenue. The State may convert your check to a one­
time electronic banking transaction. Your bank account 
may be debited as early as the same day received by 
the State. If converted, your check will not be returned. If 
your check is rejected due to insufficient or uncollected 
funds, lhe Department may collect the payment amount 
directly from your banking account electronically. 

Retail Liquor or Fermented Malt Beverage License Renewal Application 
Please verifv & uodate all information below Return to citv or countv licensinQ authoritv bv due date 
Licensee Name I Doing Business As Name (OBA) 

THAI CHILI OURAY LLC THAI CH/1,.1 OURAY 
liquor License # fl License Type ,j Sales Tax License# 1 Expiration Date Due Daie 

4708819 Hotel & Restaurant -Ci1) 310234370000 11/30/19 
Business Address Phone Number 

740 MAIN STREET OURAY CO 81427 (970) 325-4100 
Mailing Address I Email 

PO BOX 735 OURAY CO 81427 nata kit2526@hotmail.com 
Operating Manager r Date of Birth f Home Adnrns« I Phone Number 

Natakit Bourrod 
---

1 Do you have legal possession of the premises at the street address above? IZ!Yes • No 
Are the premises owned or rented? D Owned [8] Rented* *If rented, expiration date of lease 8/12/2026 

2. Are you renewing a storage permit, additional optional premises, sidewall< service area, or related facility? If yes, please see the 
table in upper right hand comer and include all fees due. • Yes C8JNo 

3a. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applicant, including its manager, partners, officer, directors, stockholders, 
members {LLC), managing members (LLC ), or any other person with a 10% or greater financial interest in the applicant, been 
found in rinal order of a tax agency to be delinquent in the payment of any state or local ta)(es, penalties, or interest related to a 
business? OYes C8J No 

3b. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applicant, including its manager, partners, officer, directors, stockholders, 
members {LLC), managing members (LLC), or any other person with a 10% or greater financial interest in the applicant failed to 
pay any fees or surcharges imposed pursuant to section 44-3-503, C.R.S.? OYes ~No 

4. Since the date of Filing of the last application, has there been any change in financial interest (new notes, loans, owners, etc.) or 
organizational structure (addition or deletion of officers. directors, managing members or general partners)? If yes, explain in detail 
and attach a listing of all liquor businesses in which these new lenders, owners (other than licensed financial institutions), officers, 
directors, managing members, or general partners are materially interested. • Yes IZl No 

5. Since the date of frling of the last application, hes the applicant or any of its agents, owners, managers, partners or lenders {other 
than licensed financial institutions) been convicted of a crime? If yes, attach a detailed explanation. 0 Yes IZl No 

6. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applicant or any of its agents, owners, managers, partners or lenders (other 
than licensed financial institutions) been denied an alcohol beverage license, had an alcohol beverage license suspended or 
revoked, or had interest in any entity that had an alcohol beverage license denied, suspended or revoked? If yes. attach a detailed 
explanation. • Yes IZI No 

7. Does the applicant or any of its agents, owners, managers, partners or lenders (other than licensed financial institutions) have a 
direct or indirect interest in any other Colorado liquor license, including loans to or from any licensee or interest in a loan to any 
licensee? If yes, attach a detailed explanation. D Yes IZl No 

2 



   36

DR 8400 (07/24/19) 
COLORADO DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 
Liquor Enforcement Division 

Submit to Local Licensing Authority 

Lu__ 

b{<itL 
CLAR.KC(- J.-H.\eo u.,vJµ ) 

Gou-:>8,~L-, ~Q_..j-

Po 60K ((o3 

Ouf2-A~, CD 

Fees Due 

Renewal Fee 

Storage Permit $100 X -- $ 

Sidewalk Service Area $75.00 $ 

Additional Optional Premise Hotel & 
$ 

Restaurant $100 X 

Related Facility- Campus Liquor 
$ 

Complex $160.00 per facility 

Amount Due/Paid $ 

Make check payable lo: Colorado Department of 
Revenue. The State may convert your check to a one­
time electronic banking transacl1on. Your bank account 
may be debited as early as the same day received by 
the Slate. tf converted, your check will not be returned. If 
your check is rejected due to insufficient or uncollected 
funds, the Department may collect the payment amount 
directly from your banking account electronically. 

Retail Liquor or Fermented Malt Beverage License Renewal Application 
Please veri 

Phone Number 

C 

1. Do you have legal possessio of the prEJll1ises at the street address above? Yes D No 
Are the premises owned or rented? IQ'Owned O Rented* •it rented, expiration dale of lease 

2. Are you renewing a storage permit, additional optional premises, side_wa)k service area, or related facility? If yes, please see the 
table in upper right hand corner and include all fees due. 0 Yes [5111Jo 

3a. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applitent, including its manager, partners, officer, directors, stockholders, 
members (LLC). manag~ing m mbers (LLC), or any other person with a 10% or greater financial interest in the applicant, been 
found in final order of a tax ency to be delinquent in the payment of any state or local taxes, penalties, or interest related to a 
business? D Yes o 

3b. Since the date of filing of the last application, has the applicant, including its manager, partner fficer. directors, stockholder.;, 
member.; (LLC), managing members {LLC), or any other person with a 10% or greater fi a 1al interest in the applicant failed to 
pay any fees or surcharges imposed pursuant lo section 44-3-503, C.R.S.? D Yes o 

4, Since the dale of filing of the last application, has there been any change in financial interest (new notes. loans, owners. etc.) or 
organizational structure (addition or deletion of officers, directors, managing members or gen al partners)? If yes, explain in detail 
and attach a listing of all liquor businesses in which these new lenders, owners (other than censed financial institutions), officers, 
directors, managing members, or general partners are materially interested. 0 Yes 

5. Since the date of riling of the last application, has the applicant or any of its agents, owners, managers, partne s r lenders (other 
than licensed financial institutions) been convicted of a crime? If yes, attach a detailed explanation. 0 Yes No 

6. Since the date of riling of the last application, has the applicant or any of its agents. owne~. managers, partners or lenders (other 
than licensed financial i~sti tions) been denied an alcohol beverage license, had an alcohol beverage license suspended or 
revoked. or had interes in any entity that had an alcohol beverage license denied, suspended or revoked? If yes, attach a detailed 
explanation. 0 Yes No --

7. Does the applicant or any of ils agents, owners, managers~p rtners or lenders (other than licensed financial institutions) have a 
direct or indirect interest in any other Colorado liquor license, including loans to or from any licensee or interest in a loan to any 
licensee? If yes, attach a detailed explanation. 0 Yes No 

2 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

ACTION ITEMS (January 06, 2020): 
 
Resolution 1, Series 2020 – Designating a Posting Place 
 

Action Requested – Does the City Council approve designating the bulletin board located outside 
the City of Ouray Administrative office to be the official posting location? 

 
Background – Per state statute, the City is required to annually designate the public place 
or places for posting notices.  In addition to the bulletin board, the City staff will continue to 
post notices at the Post Office as well as on the City’s website. 

 
Staff Recommendation – The City staff recommends that the City Council approve 
designating the bulletin board located outside the City offices to be the official posting 
location. 

 
Ordinance 1, Series 2020 (First Reading) – Modifying Council Meeting Times 
 
 Action Requested – Does the City Council approve the modifying of City Council meeting times? 
 

Background – In the last City Council meeting, City Council voted to change City Council 
meeting times from start times of 6pm to the first meeting of the month beginning at 6pm 
and the second meeting of the month beginning at 1pm. This change must occur by 
ordinance, which comes before City Council in this meeting as the first reading.  
 
Staff Recommendation – City staff recommends approval of the first reading of Ordinance 
1, Series 2020 – Modifying Council Meeting Times 

 
Approval of Letter of Agreement with JVA Consulting Engineers regarding WWTF Final 
Design & Permitting 
 

Action Requested – Does City Council approve the Letter of Agreement with JVA Consulting 
Engineers for the WWTF Final Design and Permitting? 
 

P.O. Box 468 
320 Sixth Avenue 
Ouray, Colorado 81427 

970.325.7211 
Fax  970.325.7212 

www.cityofouray.com 

   37



Background – JVA worked with the City to complete the Wastewater Treatment Master 
Plan in 2018 and provided recommendations to meet future effluent limits and capacity 
requirements for the City’s buildout condition. JVA then worked with the City through 
2019 on preliminary design services, which included the SRF prequalification application 
and meeting, Project Needs Assessment (PNA), Environmental Assessment Checklist, and 
conducting survey and geotechnical exploration field investigations for the future design 
project.  
 
As requested during the September 24th council meeting, JVA has prepared a letter of 
agreement for engineering services for design and permitting for the new WWTF in 2020 
without the solids processing, and currently budgeted at $10.1M. The letter outlines the 
engineering effort to develop 100 percent design (including construction documents and 
permitting) for increasing hydraulic and organic loading capacity at the WWTF up to 0.47 
MGD (maximum month 30-day average). The City also selected the project delivery method 
of Construction Manager At-Risk (CMAR) during the September council meeting. In 
addition to design and permitting, this scope of work includes assistance with soliciting the 
services of a Construction Manager (CM) for this project after the 30 percent design phase. 
 
For additional details, please refer to the Letter of Agreement within this council packet. 
 
Staff Recommendation – This Letter of Agreement is in accordance to the request by City 
Council in September 2019. Based on the direction received from City Council from 
September of last year, City Staff recommends City Council approve the Letter of 
Agreement with JVA Consulting Engineers regarding WWTF Final Design & Permitting. 

 
Approval of Letter of Agreement with JVA regarding WWTF Discharge Monitoring Report 
Assistance 
 

Action Requested – Does City Council approve the Letter of Agreement with JVA regarding 
WWTF Discharge Monitoring Report Assistance? 
 
Background – The City’s WWTF discharges into the Uncompahgre River (Stream Segment 
COGUUN03b) under Colorado Discharge Permit System (CDPS) No. CO0043397. The 
permit requires the City to submit a monthly DMR to the Water Quality Control Division 
(WQCD). JVA proposes to assist City staff and provide these services, including a review of 
the City’s submitted DMR data, identification of issues, and written documentation of 
issues with corrected values to submit to the WQCD. For additional details, please see the 
Letter of Agreement within this council packet.  
Staff Recommendation – City staff recommends City Council approve the Letter of 
Agreement with JVA regarding WWTF Discharge Monitoring Report Assistance. 
 

OTO Contract – 3 Month Extension 

   38



 
Action Requested – Does City Council approve the 3 month extension of OTO’s current contract? 

 
Background – In the last City Council meeting, City Council voted to award the Destination 
Marketing & Management and Visitor Center Operations & Management contracts to the 
Ouray Tourism Office. City Council requested three months’ time to complete the details 
and negotiations of the new contract. In the interim, OTO has agreed to extend the current 
(2019) contracts with the City of Ouray for the three months.   
 
Staff Recommendation – City staff recommends that City Council approve the three month 
extension for Destination Marketing & Management and Visitor Center Operations & 
Management contracts with the Ouray Tourism Office.  

 
Viner Law Fee Agreement 
 
 Action Requested – Will City Council approve the Viner Law Fee Agreement for future legal 
 services? 
 

Background – City Council is presented with a new agreement with Viner Law for future 
legal services. This decision is at the sole discretion of City Council. Please refer to the 
agreement in the packet for further details.  
 
Staff Recommendation – Not applicable 

 
Victim Services IGA 
 

Action Requested – Will City Council approve the Intergovernmental Agreement for Victim 
Services? 
 
Background – Ridgway, Ouray and Ouray County each recognize the need to employ an 
individual to act as Victim Advocate(s), to perform victim advocacy services for all of Ouray 
County; and The Parties recognize the fiscal and administrative benefits of utilizing one 
person to conduct victim advocacy services; and The Parties wish to memorialize their 
understandings regarding their agreement to share the financial and administrative 
responsibilities and services through employing the Victim Advocate(s); and The Parties 
entered into similar Intergovernmental Agreements in 2018 and 2019 for the same purpose. 
For additional details please refer to the IGA document as found in this packet.  
 
Staff Recommendation – City Staff recommends approval of the Victim Services IGA. 
 

Multi-hazard Mitigation Plan 
 

   39



Action Requested – Will City Council approve and adopt the new Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan 
as the official plan for the City of Ouray? 
 
Background – Ouray County, including the participating jurisdictions of the City of Ouray, 
the Town of Ridgway, and Log Hill Mesa Fire Protection District, has prepared a local 
hazard mitigation plan to guide hazard mitigation planning to better protect the people and 
property of the County from the effects of hazard events. This plan demonstrates the 
community’s commitment to reducing risks from hazards and serves as a tool to help 
decision makers direct mitigation activities and resources. The plan is intended to be a 
living document through ongoing implementation and regular updates every five years. 
The original plan was developed in 2008 and updated in 2013 and 2019. 
 
This plan was also developed to make Ouray County and participating jurisdictions eligible 
for certain federal disaster assistance, specifically, the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency’s (FEMA) Hazard Mitigation Assistance (HMA) grant programs, as well as to make 
the County more disaster resistant. 
 
Staff Recommendation – City Staff recommends approval and adoption of the updated 
Multi-hazard Mitigation Plan.  

 
Water Rights Ratification 
 

Action Requested – Will City Council ratify Administrator Perry’s affirmative votes as 
recommended by the City attorney and the City of Ouray Water Engineer for the following? 

 
1. Shall the OCWUA (Ouray County Water Users Association), by vote of its 
Board, appropriate water rights as outlined in the draft water rights application, and 
participate in the application as a co-applicant with Ouray County and Tri-County 
Water Conservancy District? 

  
The draft application will be further revised and edited, but the water rights being 
appropriated are water from Cow Creek, essentially capturing water from diurnal 
peak flows, or when water is otherwise available on Cow Creek.  The water may be 
stored and released from Ridgway Reservoir, may be diverted to the main stem of 
the Uncompahgre River above the Town of Ridgway, and used for augmentation, 
exchange, irrigation, hydropower, municipal, commercial, firefighting, piscatorial 
and fishery uses.  The application includes proposed exchanges on the Uncompahgre 
River and Dallas Creek.  The application also expands Rams Horn Reservoir to allow 
temporary storage, and to enlarge the uses to cover all of the other claimed uses, 
including augmentation, exchange, irrigation, municipal, commercial, firefighting, 
piscatorial and fishery uses. 

  

   40



The purpose of this application is to appropriate water rights that will allow for a 
county-wide augmentation and exchange plan to offset the calls from the UVWUA, 
and other senior rights on the Uncompahgre River.  The UVWUA supports this 
concept.  Tri-County has already adopted a resolution appropriating the water and 
approving filing of the application.  The BOCC of Ouray County is expected to adopt 
a similar resolution and authorize filing of the application at its meeting on 
December 10.  This application is consistent with the agreement entered into with 
Tri-County and Ouray County to cooperate in developing water rights, including 
Rams Horn Reservoir. 

  
2. Shall the Board engage Martha Whitmore of Hockersmith & Whitmore, LLC 
to represent the OCWUA in this water application, on a pro-bono basis? 

 
 

Appointment to Fill Vacancies on Community Economic Development Committee  
 

Action Requested – Does the City Council approve the appointment of Deedra Williams, Travis 
Cossitt, and Lou Hart to the Community Economic Development Committee? 

 
Background – Deedra Williams, Travis Cossitt, and Lou Hart have submitted applications 
to fill open positions on the CEDC.  The applications are provided for the City Council’s 
review.  The existing members of the committee support these appointments. 

 
Staff Recommendation – The City staff recommends that the City Council approve the 
appointment of Deedra Williams, Travis Cossitt, and Lou Hart to the Community Economic 
Development Committee. 

 

   41



A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF OURAY, COLORADO 

(RESOLUTION NO. 1, 2020) 
 
 A Resolution of the City of Ouray designating a posting place for 2020 
 
WHEREAS, the Colorado Open Meetings Law requires that all meetings at which the adoption of 
any proposed City policy or other formal action be held only after full and timely notice to the 
public; and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 2 Section 1.D. of the Ouray Municipal Code requires City Council to 
designate a public place for posting notices of any such meetings; and 
 
WHEREAS, this designation must occur each calendar year; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Ouray now wishes to designate a public place within its boundaries for 
posting of such full and timely notices to the public; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF OURAY, 
COLORADO, THAT: 
 

1. The City Council hereby designates the bulletin board outside the City Administrative 
Office, which is inside the entrance to City Hall at 320 6th Avenue, Ouray, Colorado, as 
the place for posting full and timely notice to the public: 
 
2. All such notices, except those of emergency meetings, shall be posted at this 
designated place at least twenty‐four hours prior to the holding of the respective 
meeting. 

 
THIS RESOLUTION was approved and adopted the 6th of January, 2020, by the Mayor and 
Council of the City of Ouray, Colorado. 
       CITY OF OURAY, COLORADO 
 
 
 
        ______________________________ 
          Greg Nelson, Mayor 
 
 ATTEST:     
 
 
 ______________________________ 
 Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk 

   42



ORDINANCE NO. 1 (Series 2020) 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF OURAY, COLORADO, REPEALING 

AND REPLACING THE OURAY MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 2-1-A, 

REGARDING CITY COUNCIL MEETING TIMES TO REFLECT THE 

MEETING HELD THE THIRD MONDAY OF EACH MONTH AT 1:00 P.M.. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that the meeting time for Council 

meetings should be held at 6:00 p.m. for the first meeting of the month and 1:00 

p.m. for the second meeting of the month. 

 

 NOW BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF OURAY, 

COLORADO, as follows: 

 

SECTION 1: AMENDMENT TO THE CODE 

 

Section 2-1-A, is amended and restated as follows:  

 

The City Council shall hold regular meetings as outlined in Article 3.2 of the Home Rule Charter.  

Meetings shall be held on the first and third Monday of every month with the first Monday meeting 

beginning at 6:00 p.m. and the second Monday meeting beginning at 1:00 p.m.  Both meetings are 

held at the City of Ouray Community Center.  Council may approve an alternate meeting date 

when a Monday is also an official holiday. 

 

SECTION 2: EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

The provisions of this Ordinance shall become effective thirty days after the public hearing and 

final action. 

 

SECTION 4:  SEVERABILITY 

 

If any clause, sentence, paragraph, or part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person 

or circumstances shall for any reason be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction invalid, 

such judgment shall not affect application to other persons or circumstances. 

 

 INTRODUCED, READ, APPROVED AS INTRODUCED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED on first reading by _____vote of the Ouray City Council this _____day of 

___________, 2020. 

 

      CITY OF OURAY, COLORADO 

 

 

      By_________________________ 

          Greg Nelson, Mayor 

   43



 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________  

Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk  

 

 

INTRODUCED, READ AND ADOPTED on second reading by _____vote of the Ouray 

City Council this ____day of _________, 2020. 

 

      CITY OF OURAY, COLORADO 

 

       

      By____________________________ 

           Greg Nelson, Mayor 

 

        

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk 

 

 

CERTIFICATE  OF  ATTESTATION 

 

 I, Melissa M. Drake, Ouray City Clerk, hereby certify that Ordinance No. 1 (Series 2020), 

was introduced, read and passed by the Ouray City Council on first reading on 

____________________________, 2020  The Ordinance was published, in summary, in the 

Ouray County Plaindealer on ___________________, 2020, and thereafter introduced, read and 

adopted by the Ouray City Council on ____________________, 2020, and thereafter published in 

the Ouray County Plaindealer, as required by law. 

 

 

             

        Melissa M. Drake, City Clerk 

   44



December 13, 2019 

 

Mr. Joe Coleman, Public Works Director 

City of Ouray 

320 6th Avenue, PO Box 468 

Ouray, CO 81427 

 

RE: Wastewater Treatment Facility Final Design and Permitting – Letter Agreement for 

Engineering Services 

JVA Job No. 1008.2e 

 

Dear Joe: 

 

JVA, Inc. (JVA) is pleased to submit our proposal to the City of Ouray (City) for engineering 

services related to the design of a new mechanical Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) for 

the City of Ouray (City).  JVA worked with the City to complete the Wastewater Treatment Master 

Plan in 2018 and provided recommendations to meet future effluent limits and capacity 

requirements for the City’s buildout condition. JVA’s then worked with the City through 2019 on 

preliminary design services, which included the SRF prequalification application and meeting, 

Project Needs Assessment (PNA), Environmental Assessment Checklist, and conducting survey 

and geotechnical exploration field investigations for the future design project. 

 

As requested during the September 24th council meeting, JVA has prepared this letter agreement 

for engineering services for design and permitting of the new WWTF in 2020 without the solids 

processing, and currently budgeted at $10.1M. This letter outlines the engineering effort to develop 

100 percent design (including construction documents and permitting) for increasing hydraulic 

and organic loading capacity at the WWTF up to 0.47 MGD (maximum month 30-day average). 

The City also selected the project delivery method of Construction Manager At-Risk (CMAR) 

during the September council meeting. In addition to design and permitting, this scope of work 

includes assistance with soliciting the services of a Construction Manager (CM) for this project 

after the 30 percent design phase. Incorporating the services of a CM into the design team at the 

30 percent design phase has significant advantages and realizes efficiencies with both design and 

constructability, reduces construction costs and increases value to the City. 

 

The following scope of work was developed based on our experience with the City's WWTP and 

our understanding of the City's project and schedule goals. 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Task 1 – Preliminary Effluent Limitations, Site Application, and Engineering Report 

A. JVA will schedule a kick-off meeting with the City’s staff. At this meeting, project goals, 

objectives initiation of any preliminary design work, scheduling weekly progress meetings, 

and project schedule will be discussed. JVA will record meeting minutes and send them to 

all participants.  

B. On behalf of the City, JVA will coordinate PEL negotiations with the Water Quality 

Division with our subconsultant Leonard Rice Engineers to revise the Preliminary Effluent 

Limitations (PEL) from CDPHE. We have anticipated the current subcontract with LRE 

   45



with cover most of this effort. It is likely that new PELs will be required as the 18-month 

window from first issuing the PELs in May 2019 will likely have passed.   

C. JVA will submit a Site Application in accordance with the CDPHE Regulation 22 for a 

New Wastewater Treatment Plant. The Site Application will be accompanied by an 

Engineering Report following the Site Application Checklist. This report will incorporate 

the review agency’s criteria in an organized manner in order to minimize questions and 

provide for a timely review of the report.  The Site Application will include proposed flow 

and loading, general treatment process description, the plan for treating wastewater during 

construction, and plan for switching to the new facility upon construction completion.  JVA 

will use the flow and loading information from previous efforts to minimize rework and 

reduce time and cost.  CDPHE also requires a fee to review the Site Application.  JVA will 

request this fee from the State prior to submission of the Site Application. 

D. JVA obtained a geotechnical investigation during preliminary design services.  Using this 

geotechnical report, a proposed site plan will be created and the Site Application will be 

submitted to CDPHE for review and approval.   

E. Due to the scope of work, an Environmental Assessment (EA) will likely be required.  The 

EA will include a detailed assessment of environmental impacts associated with the project.  

A separate letter agreement will be issued for this work, as the full scope will not be known 

until CDPHE completes the PNA review.  

Task 2 – Process Design Report and 30% Design 

A. JVA will develop the initial design concepts for the new WWTF. As part of this phase, 

JVA will evaluate engineering constraints including hydraulic profile information for the 

treatment process.  JVA will proceed with the initial design of a WWTF that will meet the 

necessary design criteria as identified by CDPHE WPC-DR-1, Design Criteria for 

Wastewater Treatment Facilities.    

B. JVA will prepare the Process Design Report (PDR) for approval for CDPHE.  This effort 

will include attending pre-application meetings and completing the checklists to speed the 

approval process.   

C. At the 30 percent design level, JVA will produce the process and instrumentation diagram 

with design criteria, hydraulic profile, site grading plan and piping layout, process plans 

and sections, and all major equipment selections.   

D. JVA will assist the City with solicitation of the Pre-Selection of the Process Equipment to 

secure pricing and aid in the design.    

E. Preliminary mechanical, architectural and structural, and electrical engineering design will 

be included in this effort.   

F. Two design review and progress meetings with the City and consultants are included as 

part of this phase. JVA will provide a detailed 30 percent opinion of probable cost.  

Task 3 – CMAR RFP and Selection 

A. Once 30 percent Drawings have been completed, JVA will solicit competitive bids from 

qualified contractors to enter into a CMAR agreement with the City. The solicitation will 

include a Request for Proposal requiring contractors to submit a total design phase fee, 

construction phase cost margins for overhead and profit and other markups as a percent of 

construction, and a lump sum cost for general conditions.  

B. As part of the solicitation process, JVA will conduct a pre-bid meeting, answer questions, 

and issue addenda (as required) during the RFQ period.  

   46



C. JVA will review all proposals and qualifications, prepare a bid tabulation, check references, 

and provide the City with a Letter of Recommendation. We can participate in contractor 

interviews, if required. 

D. The selected Contractor will be contracted directly with the City. Once selected, JVA will 

work with the CMAR to further develop percent drawings and project manual and establish 

updated price models and ultimately a guaranteed maximum price. 

Task 4 – Design Development and 60% Design 

A. After receiving CDPHE approval on the 30 percent submission and PDR, JVA will 

continue the design for the new processes and associated facilities indicated in the 

preliminary design.  JVA will produce design drawings and technical specifications to be 

reviewed with the City at 60 percent completion.   

B. JVA will proceed with structural design of the buildings and process tankage, architectural 

design for new buildings, site layout, mechanical design, and electrical design and any 

other modifications discussed in the 30 percent review.  JVA will continue the site access, 

grading, piping and hydraulic design.  

C. JVA will further pursue the remaining equipment evaluations and selections for the project 

and detail all systems based on equipment preferred by City operations staff.   This effort 

will likely require some field trips to similar installations in the area to interview operations 

staff and view the performance in the field.  

D. JVA will produce a preliminary project manual with technical specifications.   

E. JVA will meet with the City for 60 percent review submittal and work with the CMAR 

contractor on development of a 60 percent price model.  

F. JVA will contract with an electrical engineer, Browns Hill Engineering and Controls, for 

electrical and instrumentation and controls design.  The electrical engineering 

subconsultant is included in our scope and fee. Design services include electric one-line 

drawings for equipment power and lighting plans, as well as specifying the control 

functions for new equipment. 

Task 5 – Final Design and Preconstruction Services 

A. JVA will prepare the final construction documents that will form the basis of the GMP.  

The construction documents will be developed to a 90 percent level for review by the 

District and selected CMAR.  JVA will continue to subconsult with Browns Hill for 

electrical and controls, Bighorn Consulting for HVAC and mechanical, and Eidos for 

architectural. JVA and the design team will prepare 90 percent level plans and 

specifications.  The plans will include general sheets, P&ID, process flow diagrams, 

hydraulic profiles with design criteria, site civil, process, architectural, structural, 

mechanical and electrical drawings. The Project Manual will include “front end” and 

technical specifications (Divisions 0 through 16). 

B. JVA will work with the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) 

for permitting approval. JVA will provide funding assistance for the loan application with 

the State Revolving Fund (SRF) Program. 

C. JVA will coordinate and attend value engineering and constructability work sessions with 

the CMAR Contractor and City with the goal of developing a GMP within the City’s 

budget.    

   47



D. JVA will maintain a project schedule and provide monthly project updates to the City 

Council. JVA will also conduct weekly project meetings with the City and CMAR 

Contractor. 

E. JVA will review the 90 percent plans and specifications with the City and selected CMAR 

over a one-day workshop prior to finalizing the construction documents. 

F. JVA will assist the City with the CDPHE permitting and final construction document 

submittal process. JVA will submit final engineering drawings for the plant facilities for 

CDPHE review.  

G. JVA will produce a project manual that will include contract documentation and technical 

specifications with “front-end” contract documents required for the construction process. 

The JVA team will attend one coordination and/or review meeting with the City to 

complete the construction document preparation process. 

H. Once the GMP is reviewed and approved, JVA will assist with the Notice to Proceed (NTP) 

and execution of the contract documents between the City and CMAR.  

Task 6 – Funding Assistance 

A. JVA will assist the City with the preparation of the State Revolving Fund loan application.  

B. JVA will also assist the City with any additional grant applications that may be available 

for this project, including Green Project Reserve or the Department of Local Affairs 

(DOLA) Energy and Mineral Impact Assistance. These added funding assistance efforts 

would be executed under a separate letter agreement if pursued. 

BASIS OF PAYMENT 

JVA proposes to complete the proposed scope of work for the lump sum fee of $750,000 under 

JVA’s current contract for on-call services with the City, with our previously agreed upon General 

Conditions.  The basis of payment will be monthly billings based on the percentage of lump sum 

completed to date, plus reimbursable expenses. This amount will not be exceeded without written 

authorization of the City. 

Basic Engineering Services 

 Task 1 - PELs, Site Application and Engineering Report  $  25,000 

 Task 2 - Process Design Report and 30% Design   $180,000 

 Task 3 – CMAR RFP Preparation     $  10,000 

 Task 4 – Design Development and 60% Design    $280,000 

 Task 5 – 100% Design Drawings and Construction Documents $250,000 

 Task 6 - Funding Assistance      $    5,000 

    TOTAL LUMP SUM FEE   $750,000 

 

The fees are based upon the above assumptions and discussions with City staff to date. Services 

resulting from significant changes to the project scope will be considered additional services and 

may require extension of time scheduled for JVA’s work. This proposed fee does not include water 

quality sampling, CDPHE review fees, the Environmental Assessment, special use permitting 

through Ouray County or construction administration services. 

  

   48



SCHEDULE 

If the notice to proceed is authorized by January 15, 2020, JVA anticipates completing this final 

design work by December 31, 2020. A detailed project schedule will be developed with the City 

staff during the project kick off meeting.   

 

If you are in agreement with this proposal, please indicate by signing below and returning a copy 

to our office, confirming our authorization to proceed.  We greatly value our relationship with the 

City and look forward to continuing to serve the City of Ouray on this important project. 

 

Sincerely, 

JVA, INCORPORATED 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

Kevin A. Tone, P.E.  

 President  

 

 

 

 

   49



December 23, 2019 

Mr. Joe Coleman, Public Works Director 
City of Ouray 
320 6th Avenue 
Ouray, CO 81427 

Reference: Wastewater Treatment Facility Discharge Monitoring Report Assistance – Letter 
Agreement for Engineering Services 

Dear Joe: 

JVA, Inc. is pleased to present this letter agreement for engineering services related to the 
Discharge Monitoring Reports (DMR) for the City of Ouray (City) Wastewater Treatment Facility 
(WWTF). The City’s WWTF discharges into the Uncompahgre River (Stream Segment 
COGUUN03b) under Colorado Discharge Permit System (CDPS) No. CO0043397. The permit 
requires the City to submit a monthly DMR to the Water Quality Control Division (WQCD). JVA 
proposes to assist City staff and provide these services as described below, including a review of 
the City’s submitted DMR data, identification of issues, and written documentation of issues with 
corrected values to submit to the WQCD. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Specific project tasks are described in further detail below. 

Task 1 – Data Analysis and Review of DMR Data 

JVA we download the last five years of DMR data available on the EPA ECHO website for the 
City’s WWTF permit. We will review and analyze the data to identify issues with the reported 
values using the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment’s (CDPHE) DMR 
Guidance document. Issues that may be identified include discrepancies associated with the 2-
Year rolling averages, decimal places, units, and loading calculations. 

As issues are identified with the data, we will work to determine the correct values per the CDPHE 
DMR Guidance that will need to be reported to replace each identified issue. The primary 
deliverable for this task will include a detailed list of identified DMR data issues with their 
corrected value. 

Task 2 – Documentation of Identified Issues – City 

JVA will prepare a memo summarizing all of the DMR data issues identified in Task 1 and the 
recommended corrections to the issues. This memo will explain the identified issue, detail the 
correct value and how it was derived, and provide additional information that could potentially 
serve as a reference to aid City staff responsible for future DMR reporting, so as to avoid similar 
reporting discrepancies in the future. 

   50



Task 3 – Documentation & Submission of Identified Issues – WQCD 

JVA will assist the City in contacting the WQCD and outlining the necessary course of action to 
submit the corrected DMR data. We will assist the City in preparing and submitting a cover letter 
and supporting information to the WQCD that outlines the DMR data discrepancies, the corrected 
DMR values, and required supporting information. 

BASIS OF PAYMENT 

JVA proposes to complete the aforementioned scope of work for a fee of $12,500. The basis of 
payment will be hourly to the estimated amounts listed, plus standard reimbursable expenses. 

Basic Engineering Services 
Task 1 – Data Analysis and Review of DMR Data  $  4,500 
Task 2 – Documentation of Identified Issues – City  $  3,500 
Task 3 – Documentation & Submission of Identified Issues – WQCD $  4,500 

TOTAL LUMP SUM FEE $12,500 

These fees are based upon the above assumptions and discussions with the City to date. Services 
resulting from significant changes to the project scope will be considered additional services and 
may require extension of the time schedule for JVA’s work. This proposed fee does not include 
surveying, geotechnical investigations, construction drawings, front end specifications, water 
quality sampling/testing, bid phase services or construction administration. 

SCHEDULE 

JVA will begin work immediately and anticipate completing all tasks within eight weeks of 
receiving a signed agreement.  

If you are in agreement with the scope in this letter, please indicate by signing below and returning 
a copy by email as our authorization to proceed. We look forward to assisting the City with this 
important project.  If you have any questions about this letter or the scope described herein, please 
do not hesitate to contact me.   

Sincerely, Accepted by: 
CITY OF OURAY 

_____________________________ 
Cooper D. Best, P.E.  
Regional Manager/Associate  

Title  Date 
Attachments: General Conditions Short Form 

   51



MUTUAL AGREEMENTS 
(A) JVA review of shop drawings is for general compliance with Contract Documents. Such  review will not consist of detailed checking of dimensions 
or quantities and shall not relieve the Contractor from conforming to the Contract Documents. 

(B) Furnish to JVA, as required for performance of JVA's basic services, data prepared by or services of others, including without limitation, field control 
surveys and establish reference points and base lines; core borings, probings and subsurface explorations, soils report, hydrographic surveys, laboratory tests and 
inspections of samples, materials and equipment; appropriate professional interpretations of all the foregoing; environmental assessment and impact statements; 
property, boundary, easement, right-of-way, topographic and utility surveys; property descriptions; all available data describing existing facilities; zoning, deed and 
other land use restriction; and other special data or consultations not covered in Section 2, all of which NA may rely upon in performing services. 

(C) Requested JVA periodic field observation visits are to determine general compliance with engineering design intent. JVA will not be responsible 
for supervising the work, methods of performing the work, quality of the work, safety on or about the jobsite, or timeliness in performance of the work. 

(D) Inasmuch as the remodeling or connecting to existing features requires that certain assumptions be made regarding existing conditions, and because some 
of these assumptions may not be verifiable without expending additional sums of money, or destroying otherwise adequate or serviceable features, the Client and /or 
Owner agree that except for negligence on the part of JVA, Inc., the Client and/or Owner will hold harmless, indemnify, and defend JVA, Inc. from and against any 
and all claims arising out of the professional services provided under this agreement. 

(E) JVA shall sign and seal Contract Documents showing only those features designed by JVA. Civil engineering portions of Contract Documents shall not 
be altered without written permission of JVA. 

(F) The Client shall prepare specifications unless otherwise stated. At Client's request, JVA will review pertinent Civil engineering portions of the 
specifications or provide copies of General Notes for inclusion on the drawings. Contract Documents, as instruments of service, are prepared for one phase of one 
specific project at one specific location whether the work is executed or not, and are not to be used on other work, including repetitive construction, except by written 
agreement between JVA and the Client. 

(G) If the project is postponed or abandoned, JVA shall be paid for work already performed. Upon reinstatement of a project three months or more after its 
suspension or postponement, the Engineer shall be paid an additional agreed upon amount to compensate for time used reviewing previous work and for inflation. 

(H) This Agreement shall be terminated upon the Client's written notification of termination of his agreement with the Owner, or upon fourteen days written 
notice should the other party fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this agreement. If terminated due to the fault of others, NA shall be paid 
for services and reimbursable costs incurred. 

(I) The Client and NA each binds themselves, their partners, successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party to this agreement. Neither the 
Client nor JVA shall assign or transfer his interest in this agreement without written consent of the other. This Agreement constitutes all of the Agreement between 
the Client and JVA unless modified in writing and signed by both parties. This agreement shall be interpreted under Colorado state laws. 

(J) The Client and JVA agree that all disputes between them arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the Project shall be submitted to nonbinding 
mediation unless the parties mutually agree otherwise. 

(K) Since JVA has no control over the cost of labor, materials, equipment or services furnished by others, or over the Contractor(s)' methods of determining 
prices, or over competitive bidding or market conditions, its opinions of probable Project Cost and Construction Cost provided for herein are to be made on the 
basis of its experience and qualifications and represent its best judgment as an experience and qualified professional engineer, familiar with the construction 
industry; but JVA cannot and does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual Project or Construction Cost will not vary from opinions of probable cost prepared by 
him. If prior to the Bidding or Negotiating Phase, CLIENT wishes greater assurance as to Project or Construction Cost, he shall employ an independent cost 
estimator. 

(L) JVA will exercise its professional judgment in performing services under this Agreement. Services performed by JVA under this Agreement will be 
conducted in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the profession currently practicing in the same locality under 
similar conditions. CLIENT recognizes that JVA does not warrant a specific result, reports, the Drawings, Project Manual, and other instruments of service are not 
products and are not warranted to be free of error or omission, and situations may arise requiring interpretations or corrections to the Drawings, Project Manual, and 
other instruments of service. 

(M) If  the scope of the project is changed, or if revisions are made which require additional services, these services will be compensated to JVA at 
normal hourly rates. Services resulting from significant changes to the project scope, including additional submittals and public hearings required for City 
review and approval, will be considered additional services and may require extension of the time schedule for our work. The above fees include one resubmittal 
as required to address standard comments for the initial submittal. Resubmittal preparation that requires major site plan revisions/redesign, use changes, road 
realignment, utility redesign, drainage feature relocation, and items that typically could not have been foreseen by JVA will be performed as additional 
services. Services for field revisions, substitutions, additions, deletions, Contractor errors, or unforeseen construction problems shall be considered additional 
services and shall be compensated to JVA at normal hourly rates. 

COMPENSATION METHODS 
1. Unless noted on Page 1, JVA's fee shall be based on normal hourly rates times hours expended for all personnel engaged on the project. These hourly 
rates are as follows: 

Principal $168-$200 Senior Designer $124 Admin. Support $100-$132 
Senior Project Mgr $152-$164 Project Engineer $112-$116   
Project Manager $132-$136 Design Engineer $108   
Senior Engineer $128 CAD Designer $108   

2. Auto travel shall be reimbursed at $.58 per mile. Costs for express delivery, airfare, car rental, meals, lodging, printing, copying, tong distance calls, 
and shipping shall be reimbursed at direct cost. 

PAYMENT OF FEES 
1. Payments shall be made within thirty days of statement date. Past due accounts accrue interest at the rate of one and one half percent (1 ½ %) per 
month times unpaid balance from the previous month. Costs of legal fees and expenses necessary to collect overdue accounts shall be paid by the Client. 

 
 
    52



 

1  

AMENDMENT TO OURAY CHAMBER RESORT ASSOCIATION  
AGREEMENT FOR VISITOR CENTER SERVICES AND AGREEMENT FOR 

DESTINATION MARKETING, MANAGEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 
 
This Agreement to Amend is entered into on January 6, 2020, between the City of Ouray, Colorado 
(City) and the Ouray Chamber Resort Association d/b/a Ouray Tourism Office (OTO) and is 
effective on January 1, 2020. 
WHEREAS, the City of Ouray Council approved two contracts between the City and OTO on 
May 20, 2019, being the Ouray Chamber Resort Association Agreement for Visitor Center 
Services and Ouray Chamber Resort Association Agreement for Destination Marketing, 
Management and Development Services, both terminate on December 31, 2019 (OTO Contracts) 
and are incorporated herein by reference; 
WHEREAS, the City issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) for the new contract period beginning 
on January 1, 2020 and OTO submitted its response to the RFP; 
WHEREAS, after consideration of all the responses to the RFPs, the City awarded the contract to 
OTO for a period of three (3) years and the parties desire to continue the current contract for a 
period not to exceed three months or until a new contract is entered into by the City and OTO; and 
WHEREAS, certain intellectual property such as Ouray Colorado destination brand name, 
ouraycolorado.com website, Ouray Co Facebook page, Ouray_co Instagram account, Ouray_co 
Twitter account, info@ouraycolorado.com and ouray@ouraycolorado.com email accounts, 1-800-
228-1876 and 970-325-4746 phone numbers, current Ouray generated destination brand videos, 
photos and written content (City Intellectual Property) is owned by the City and the parties desire 
to memorialize that ownership interest in the contract negotiations.   
NOW, THEREFORE, it is agreed by the parties for and in consideration of the mutual covenants 
contained herein as follows: 
1. TERMS.  The parties agree that the term of the OTO Contracts shall be extended until March 

31, 2020 or replacement contracts are executed whichever is earlier. 
2. All other terms of the OTO Contracts shall remain in full force an effect. 
3. The parties agree that the City Intellectual Property is owned by the City and the new contracts 

will contemplate any necessary assigned or other documents necessary to effectuate the City’s 
ownership interest in the City Intellectual Property.  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and the Contractor have signed this agreement effective the 
day and year first written above. 
 
 
 
 
 
City of Ouray       Ouray Chamber Resort Association d/b/a/  
       Ouray Tourism Office    



 

2  

         
 
____________________________________  _________________________________                            
Mayor Greg Nelson     Christina Hinkson, President 
  
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk Melissa Drake 
 

 



VINER LAW 
REPRESENTATION AND ATTORNEY FEE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT entered into effective the 1st day of January, 2020,
between: the City of Ouray, a Colorado home rule city, P.O. Box 468, Ouray,
Colorado, 81427 (City); and, Viner Law, a Colorado professional corporation, 1104
S. Townsend Ave, Montrose, Colorado 81401 (Law Firm).

1. City retains Law Firm, as an independent contractor, to act under the title of
City Attorney, as attorney for the City and to render to City all legal services
as City or any of its authorized agents or officers may request or require.

2. During the term of this agreement Law Firm will maintain professional
liability insurance of no less than $1,000,000.00 per claim and $2,000,000.00
aggregate liability.   

3. Law Firm will bill for professional fees on an hourly basis.  Current rates are
$200.00 per hour for attorneys, and $100.00 per hour for paralegal time.  The
hourly rates stated herein are subject to change during the period of
representation.  However, no change in hourly rates will be made without
first notifying the City.  City will be billed on a monthly basis for fees and
expenses incurred with payment due by the end of the month. 

4. Law Firm does not charge for routine mail, copy, or long distance telephone
expenses, but reserves the right to charge for such expenses in exceptional
circumstances.  Law Firm may charge City for certain expenses such as
recording fees, filing fees, costs of reports, express delivery or mail charges,
computer assisted legal research charges, expert witness fees, investigative
fees, mileage, overnight accommodations, out of City meals, etc.  Such
expenses will be billed by Law Firm to City at cost.  In some cases these costs
will be billed directly to City , however, not without contacting City first. 
Law Firm will not incur any expense to be billed to City in excess of $500.00,
without prior consent of the City Administer. 

   54

••• '-.!.-' r-;-,,••· 



5. To ensure compliance with COLO. REV. STAT. § 8-17.5-102, Law Firm represents,
warrants and agrees:

a. That Law Firm will not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal
alien to perform work under this agreement, will provide City with
duly executed LAWFUL PRESENCE AFFIDAVITS of its employees upon
request, and will not enter into a contract with a subcontractor that fails
to certify to Law Firm that the subcontractor will not knowingly
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under this
agreement.  

b. Law Firm has confirmed the employment eligibility of current
employees and will, within twenty (20) days after hiring any new
employee to perform work under this agreement, affirm that Law Firm
has examined the legal work status of such employee, retained file
copies of the documents required by 8 U.S.C. § 1324a, and not altered
or falsified the identification documents for such employee. Law Firm
will provide a written, notarized copy of the affirmation to the City
upon request.

c. If Law Firm obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing
work under this agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an
illegal alien, Law Firm will: (i) notify the Subcontractor and the City
within three (3) days that Law Firm has actual knowledge that a
subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal alien; and (ii)
terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3)
days of receiving the notice required pursuant to this section 6, the
subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal
alien; except that Law Firm will not terminate the contract with the
subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides
information to establish that it has not knowingly employed or
contracted with an illegal alien.

-2-
   55



6. Law Firm maintains client files electronically in Portable Document Format
(PDF).  Law Firm will send City the originals of important papers and will
retain electronic copies.  Law Firm will send City copies of all other
documents either on paper or as PDF files.  

7. In the course of representing City, Law Firm may have occasion to
communicate by electronic mail.  Such communications will not be encrypted. 
Although interception of such communications by a third party would
constitute a violation of federal law, Law Firm can offer no assurance that
such interception will not occur.  Law Firm will abide by any instructions City
may give us concerning electronic mail communications; in the absence of
such instructions, Law Firm will use its judgment regarding the advisability
of using such means of communication. 

8. This agreement may be terminated at any time by either party for material
breach or default by the other party not caused by an action or omission of the
party terminating the agreement, or upon ninety (90) days written notice from
either party to the other.

9. This agreement shall be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance
with the laws of Colorado.

10. Any and all public expenditures pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject
to the annual appropriation of funds by the City in accordance with State law.

11. This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties, and any
prior understanding or representation of any kind preceding the date of this
agreement shall not be binding on either party except to the extent
incorporated in this agreement.

12. Any modification of this agreement or additional obligation assumed by
either party in connection with this agreement shall be binding only if in
writing signed by each party or an authorized representative of each party.

13. No waiver of any breach of this agreement shall be held to be a waiver of any
other or subsequent breach.  All remedies afforded in this contract shall be

-3-
   56



taken and construed as cumulative, that is, in addition to every other remedy
provided therein or by law.

VINER LAW CITY OF OURAY:

_________________________ _____________________________
Carol A. Viner Greg Nelson

Attest:

____________________________
Melissa Drake, Clerk

-4-
   57



INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
TOWN OF RIDGWAY, CITY OF OURAY, and OURAY COUNTY 

SHARED VICTIM ADVOCATE(S) SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into effective _____ day of ________________, 2019, by and 
between: the Town of Ridgway, Colorado (Ridgway); and the City of Ouray, Colorado (Ouray), both 
of which are home rule municipalities within Ouray County, Colorado and Ouray County, Colorado 
(County), a statutory county in the State of Colorado, (collectively the Parties or individually the 
Party). 

Purpose of Agreement 

A. Section 29-20-101 C.R.S., et seq. enables the Parties to enter into Intergovernmental
Agreements (IGA) and authorizes each of the Parties to perform the functions described
herein, as provided in Section 29-20-105 C.R.S.; and

B. Intergovernmental agreements to provide functions or services, including the sharing of
costs of such services or functions, by political subdivisions of the State of Colorado, are
specifically authorized by C.R.S. 29-1-203 and encouraged in order that the inhabitants of 
such political subdivisions may thereby secure high quality governmental services; and 

C. Ridgway, Ouray and Ouray County each recognize the need to employ an individual to act
as Victim Advocate(s), to perform victim advocacy services for all of Ouray County; and

D. The Parties recognize the fiscal and administrative benefits of utilizing one person to
conduct victim advocacy services; and

E. The Parties wish to memorialize their understandings regarding their agreement to share
the financial and administrative responsibilities and services through employing the Victim
Advocate(s); and

F. The Parties entered into similar Intergovernmental Agreements in 2018 and 2019 for the
same purpose.

In consideration of the covenants and conditions contained herein, the Parties agree as follows. 

1. Designation of the Victim Advocate(s).  The Parties must agree to the designation of any
particular person to be employed as the shared the Victim Advocate(s).

2. Financial Responsibilities.  The financial responsibilities for the employment of the shared
Victim Advocate(s) shall be as follows:

   58



a. The shared Victim Advocate(s) shall be an employee of the Town of Ridgway and 
not the City of Ouray or Ouray County, and shall be compensated by the Town of 
Ridgway partially through a grant provided by the State of Colorado for such 
services. The Parties recognize and understand that for the Fiscal Year 2020 the 
State of Colorado awarded $21,000 for program services in Ouray County, and the 
cost of the program is estimated at $39,774, creating a funding gap of $18,774. 
 

b. The Town shall be responsible for all employment related expenses mandated by 
state and federal law, including any required worker’s compensation and 
unemployment insurance, any federal or state taxes or required withholdings, and 
any other employer expenses related to the Victim Advocates employment with 
the Town.   
 

c. The Parties agree to work together to budget the gap funding at $6,258 from each 
Party and/or identify supplemental sources in order to fund the $18,774 gap for 
Victim Advocate services in 2020, pursuant to subsection e below. 

 
d. The shared Victim Advocate(s), as a part time temporary employee of the Town of 

Ridgway, shall be compensated for any time in excess of forty (40) hours per week 
as provided in the Town of Ridgway’s Personnel Regulations. 
 

e. The shared Victim Advocate(s) shall be subject to the Town of Ridgway's Personnel 
Regulations, as may be amended, except the Victim Advocate(s) shall have no 
benefits with the Town of Ridgway, City of Ouray or Ouray County.  
 

f. The Town of Ridgway has been awarded grant funding for 53% of the cost of the 
Victim Advocate(s) in 2020. In the event the Town of Ridgway anticipates expenses 
may exceed the grant award, the Town shall consult with the City and/or County to 
consider any additional expenditures. The City and/ or County shall only be 
responsible for an equal share after the Town has consulted with the City and/or 
County, and the financially impacted Party or Parties have agreed on the expenses 
to be reimbursed to the Town. 

 
g. In the event of a worker’s compensation claim related to work performed within 

the City or the County, the Town’s insurance shall be responsible for the claim and 
the City or County shall cover the Town’s reasonable expenses for that claim in the 
respective jurisdiction, upon notice and approval of the same.  
 

3. Accountability. The accountability requirements of the shared Victim Advocate(s) to the 
Parties shall be as follows: 
 

a. The Victim Advocate(s) shall provide a monthly written report to all Parties. 
 

   59



b. The Victim Advocate(s) shall meet with the Ridgway Town Marshal, Ouray Police
Chief, or Ouray County Sheriff upon request by any of the Parties.

c. The Victim Advocate(s) shall submit comprehensive daily time sheets to Ridgway
by 8:00 a.m. Monday morning, following the end of each bi-weekly pay period, or
whatever the policy of the Town of Ridgway may be, if amended.

d. To protect the Parties from false claims, the Victim Advocate(s) shall keep a daily
log of services conducted, on a form approved by the Parties (Exhibit A).

e. Notwithstanding the fact that the Victim Advocate(s) is an employee of the Town
of Ridgway, the Town of Ridgway shall not be responsible for supervision and
oversight of the Victim Advocate(s) in performing his or her responsibilities for the
City of Ouray or Ouray County as further defined in ¶ 6 herein, and within the Victim
Advocate(s) Contract of Employment.  Such supervision and oversight shall be the
responsibility of the Ridgway Marshal, Ouray City Police Chief or Ouray County
Sheriff, for services rendered within the respective jurisdiction.

4. Performance Issues.  Any performance issues shall be handled as follows:

a. For purposes of this Agreement, Supervising Parties are assigned as follows:
Jurisdiction:  Supervising Party: 
Town of Ridgway Town Marshal 
City of Ouray  Police Chief 
Ouray County  Sheriff 

b. Minor issues, those issues warranting nothing more than an oral or written
reprimand, should be brought to the attention of the Victim Advocate(s) first, by
the Supervising Party (Ridgway Marshal, Ouray Police Chief, Ouray County Sheriff)
in the jurisdiction where the minor issue occurred.  In the event said minor issues
cannot be resolved, the Ridgway Town Marshal shall be contacted.  Issues deemed
to be minor issues according to either of the Parties shall be addressed as soon as
is practical, by the designated supervisor for the Victim Advocate(s) within each
municipality or County.

c. Issues deemed to be major issues, those issues warranting more than an oral or
written reprimand, by either municipality or county, and possibly requiring
disciplinary action shall be subject to the Town of Ridgway's Personnel Regulations.
The Supervising Party (Ridgway Town Marshal, Ouray Police Chief, Ouray County
Sheriff) shall submit any information on such issues, in writing, to the Ridgway Town
Marshal (if outside of the Ridgway jurisdiction), and the Ridgway Town Marshal
shall contact the Primary Administrator (Ridgway Town Manager, Ouray City
Administrator, and /or Ouray County Administrator) of the participating jurisdiction
for review.

   60



5. Fiscal Reporting.  Fiscal reporting responsibilities of the shared Victim Advocate(s) shall be
as follows:

a. None.

6. Job Responsibilities and Oversight.  Job responsibilities and oversight for the shared Victim
Advocate(s) shall be as follows:

a. Pursuant to a grant awarded to the Town of Ridgway by the State of Colorado
Department of Public Safety, Victim Advocate(s) shall provide victim advocate services
for the months of January through December 2020 for all Parties. Victim Advocate(s)
shall provide 24/7 on-call coverage during the 2020 calendar year. The duties shall be
rendered in Ouray County, Colorado, or at such other place or places and at such times
as the needs of the Parties may from time-to-time dictate.

b. On behalf of all Parties, all applicable duties as assigned by the Supervising Party
shall be timely performed.

c. The Supervising Parties shall be responsible for victim advocacy solely within their
own boundaries and jurisdiction.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall place
a burden or responsibility on any Party to provide services within the jurisdiction or
boundaries of any other Party.

7. Insurance.  The Parties shall, without waiving any governmental immunity protections to
which they and their officials or employees are entitled under C.R.S. 24-10-101, et seq., to
obtain adequate insurance to cover the liability and other risks to which they may be
exposed as a result of the services to be provided pursuant to this agreement, if either of
the Parties does not already have such insurance, and to maintain such insurance
throughout the term of this agreement.

8. Term-Withdrawal.  The term and withdrawal provisions applicable to this agreement are
as follows:

a. This Agreement shall be for a period of one (1) year commencing January 1, 2020
and ending December 31, 2020.

b. Subject to annual appropriation by each municipality and county to meet its
obligations herein, this agreement shall be automatically renewed on an annual
basis without the need to execute a new agreement unless amendments are
required by either of the Parties.

   61



c. Either municipality may withdraw from participation in this agreement at any time
by providing written notice to the other municipality, at least thirty (30) days prior
to the desired date of withdrawal.

9. Amendments.  This agreement shall not be modified or amended in any manner except by
written instrument executed by the Parties.

10. Waiver. The waiver of any breach of any of the provisions of this agreement, by
either Party, shall not constitute a continuing waiver of any subsequent breach by that
Party, either of the same, or of another provision of this agreement.

11. Severability. Invalidation of any of the provisions of this agreement, or of any paragraph,
sentence, clause, phrase, or word herein, or the application thereof, in any given
circumstance, shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this Agreement.

12. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing expressed or implied in this agreement is intended
or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give any person other than the Parties hereto,
any right, remedy or claim, under or by reason of this agreement.

13. Entire Agreement.  This agreement contains the entire and only agreement between the
Parties, regarding the employment of the shared Victim Advocate(s) and no oral
statements or representations regarding this matter that are not contained in this
agreement shall be of any force or effect between the Parties.

14. Governing Law.  This agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado,
both as to interpretation and performance.  The courts of the State of Colorado shall have
exclusive jurisdiction to resolve any disputes arising out of this agreement and venue shall
be in Ouray County, Colorado.

15. Dispute Resolution.  In the event a disagreement or dispute arises between the Parties, the
matter shall be submitted to mediation in Montrose, Colorado.  The mediation shall be
conducted by one mediator selected by the Parties who will share the costs equally.

16. Assignment.  No Party shall assign any responsibilities nor delegate any duties arising under
this agreement without the prior written consent of all the Parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this agreement in duplicate effective the date 
first above written. 

TOWN OF RIDGWAY CITY OF OURAY 

__________________________ _________________________________ 

   62



John Clark, Mayor Greg Nelson, Mayor 

Attest:  Attest: 

_________________________ _________________________________ 
Pam Kraft, Town Clerk  Melissa Drake, City Clerk 

OURAY COUNTY 

_________________________ 
Chair, Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: 

________________________ 
Hannah Hollenbeck, Deputy Clerk 

   63



Ouray County  

Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Comprehensive Update 

2019 

Prepared by Ouray County with professional planning assistance 
provided by CDR Maguire 

   64



Table of Contents 
Table of Contents .................................................................................................................................. i 

List of Figures .................................................................................................................................. iii 
List of Tables ................................................................................................................................... iv 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 1 
1.1. Purpose ............................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2. Background and Scope ........................................................................................................ 1 
1.3. Plan Organization ................................................................................................................ 2 

2. Ouray County Community Profile ................................................................................................. 3 
2.1. Geography and Climate ....................................................................................................... 3 

2.1.1. Climate Change ....................................................................................................................... 9 
2.2. History................................................................................................................................. 9 
2.3. Population ......................................................................................................................... 10 
2.4. Government ...................................................................................................................... 11 
2.5. Economy ........................................................................................................................... 11 
2.6. Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District (FPD) ......................................................................... 12 
2.7. Development Trends ......................................................................................................... 15 

2.7.1. Jurisdictional Growth ............................................................................................................ 15 
2.7.2. County Growth ...................................................................................................................... 16 

3. Planning Process ........................................................................................................................ 18 
3.1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 18 
3.2. Background on Hazard Mitigation Planning in Ouray County ............................................. 18 
3.3. The Planning Process ......................................................................................................... 18 

3.3.1. Phase I: Organize Resources ................................................................................................. 18 
3.3.2. Phase II: Assess Risks ............................................................................................................. 32 
3.3.3. Phase III: Develop the Mitigation Strategy............................................................................ 33 
3.3.4. Phase IV: Implement the Plan and Monitor Progress ........................................................... 33 

4. Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (HIRA) ...................................................................... 35 
4.1. Hazard Identification ......................................................................................................... 35 

4.1.1. Disaster Declaration History ................................................................................................. 37 
4.2. Hazard Ranking.................................................................................................................. 39 
4.3. Building Inventory and Assets ............................................................................................ 39 
4.4. Critical Facilities ................................................................................................................. 40 
4.5. Hazard Profiles .................................................................................................................. 41 

4.5.1. Profile Methodology ............................................................................................................. 41 
4.5.2. SHELDUS Results ................................................................................................................... 42 
4.5.3. HIRA Summary ...................................................................................................................... 46 
4.5.4. Avalanche .............................................................................................................................. 51 
4.5.5. Dam Failure ........................................................................................................................... 59 
4.5.6. Debris Flow ............................................................................................................................ 65 
4.5.7. Drought ................................................................................................................................. 74 
4.5.8. Earthquake ............................................................................................................................ 82 
4.5.9. Extreme Temperatures ......................................................................................................... 92 
4.5.10. Flooding .......................................................................................................................... 101 
4.5.11. Landslide/Rockfall ........................................................................................................... 118 
4.5.12. Lightning ......................................................................................................................... 128 

   65



4.5.13. Public Health Emergencies ............................................................................................. 132 
4.5.14. Severe Winter Storm ...................................................................................................... 141 
4.5.15. Wildfire ........................................................................................................................... 145 
4.5.16. Windstorm ...................................................................................................................... 169 
4.5.17. Hazardous Materials Incident ......................................................................................... 174 
4.5.18. Mass Casualty Events ...................................................................................................... 178 
4.5.19. Imminent Threat ............................................................................................................. 185 

5. Mitigation Strategy .................................................................................................................. 189 
5.1. Hazard Mitigation Strategy Overview .............................................................................. 189 
5.2. Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Goals and Objectives .................................................... 189 

5.2.1. Ouray County Capabilities Assessment ............................................................................... 190 
5.2.2. Ouray County Continued NFIP Compliance ........................................................................ 194 
5.2.3. Ouray County Past Action Reporting .................................................................................. 194 
5.2.4. Ouray County Identification of New Mitigation Actions ..................................................... 207 
5.2.5. 2019 Ouray County Mitigation Actions ............................................................................... 208 

6. Plan Maintenance, Revision, and Integration ............................................................................ 218 
6.1. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 218 
6.2. Plan Monitoring, Evaluation and Enhancement ............................................................... 218 

6.2.1. Annual Meeting and Review ............................................................................................... 218 
6.2.2. Five Year Update of the Plan ............................................................................................... 219 
6.2.3. Five Year Revision Procedures ............................................................................................ 219 

6.3. Plan Adoption .................................................................................................................. 220 
6.4. Continued Public Involvement ......................................................................................... 220 
6.5. Integration of Hazard Mitigation into other Planning Mechanisms .................................. 220 

APPENDIXES .................................................................................................................................... 222 
7. Appendix A: Meeting Sign-in Sheets and Agendas .................................................................... 223 
8. Appendix B: Public Involvement ............................................................................................... 236 
9. Appendix C: HIRA Appendix ...................................................................................................... 239 

9.1. Avalanche ........................................................................................................................ 239 
9.1.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 239 

9.2. Debris Flow ..................................................................................................................... 240 
9.2.1. Vulnerability Assessment .................................................................................................... 240 

9.3. Drought ........................................................................................................................... 244 
9.3.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 244 

9.4. Earthquake ...................................................................................................................... 244 
9.4.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 244 

9.5. Flooding .......................................................................................................................... 245 
9.5.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 245 

9.6. Landslide/Rockfall ........................................................................................................... 253 
9.6.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 253 

9.7. Wildfire ........................................................................................................................... 261 
9.7.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 261 

9.8. Windstorm ...................................................................................................................... 262 
9.8.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 262 

9.9. Hazardous Materials Incident .......................................................................................... 268 
9.9.1. Previous Occurrences .......................................................................................................... 268 

10. Appendix D: Jurisdictional Plan Adoptions ........................................................................... 270 
 

   66



List of Figures 
Figure 2-1 Ouray County Basemap ............................................................................................................... 4 
Figure 2-2 Ouray County Elevation ............................................................................................................... 6 
Figure 2-3 Federal Lands in Ouray County .................................................................................................... 8 
Figure 2-4 Loghill Mesa FPD Map ............................................................................................................... 14 
Figure 2-5 Ouray County Future Growth .................................................................................................... 17 
Figure 3-1 Planning Process Schedule ......................................................................................................... 20 
Figure 3-2 Public Survey 1 Responses ......................................................................................................... 24 
Figure 4-1 Hazard Ranking .......................................................................................................................... 39 
Figure 4-2 SHELDUS Total Events by Hazard ............................................................................................... 43 
Figure 4-3 SHELDUS Total Hazard Damages ............................................................................................... 43 
Figure 4-4 SHELDUS Total Damages by Hazard ........................................................................................... 44 
Figure 4-5 SHELDUS Property Damages by Hazard ..................................................................................... 45 
Figure 4-6 SHELDUS Crop Damages by Hazard ........................................................................................... 45 
Figure 4-7 Avalanche Forecasting Zones in Colorado ................................................................................. 53 
Figure 4-8 Slide Paths in the Vicinity of East Riverside Slide Affecting Highway 550 ................................. 54 
Figure 4-9 East Riverside Slide Path and Snow Shed on Highway 550 ....................................................... 54 
Figure 4-10 North American Public Avalanche Danger Scale ..................................................................... 55 
Figure 4-11 Colorado Avalanche Fatalities by County, 1950 to 2016 ......................................................... 56 
Figure 4-12 Dams in Ouray County ............................................................................................................. 61 
Figure 4-13 Creeks Impacting the City of Ouray Debris Flows .................................................................... 67 
Figure 4-14 Debris Flow Hazard in the City of Ouray .................................................................................. 68 
Figure 4-15 Debris Fans in Ouray County ................................................................................................... 69 
Figure 4-16 Damage to County Road 17 from August 6, 2013 Debris Flow ............................................... 71 
Figure 4-17 Precipitation Deficits 1895-2018 ............................................................................................. 77 
Figure 4-18 U.S. Drought Monitor Previous Droughts, 2000-2018............................................................. 78 
Figure 4-19 Drought Conditions in Colorado April 17, 2018 ....................................................................... 79 
Figure 4-20 Faults Near Ouray County ........................................................................................................ 84 
Figure 4-21 Ouray County Previous Earthquakes, 1973-2019 .................................................................... 87 
Figure 4-22 USGS Earthquake Probabilities ................................................................................................ 88 
Figure 4-23 Seismicity and Faults in the Vicinity of Northern Ouray County ............................................. 90 
Figure 4-24 National Weather Service Wind Chill Chart ............................................................................. 93 
Figure 4-25 Temperature Averages and Extremes for Ouray ..................................................................... 95 
Figure 4-26 Temperature Averages and Extremes for Ridgway ................................................................. 95 
Figure 4-27 Heat Index ................................................................................................................................ 97 
Figure 4-28 Possible Heat Disorders by Heat Index Level ........................................................................... 97 
Figure 4-29 Ouray County Flood Hazard ................................................................................................... 104 
Figure 4-30 City of Ouray Flood Hazards Based on 2005 Letter of Map Revision .................................... 105 
Figure 4-31 City of Ouray Flood Hazards Based on 1998 Letter of Map Revision .................................... 105 
Figure 4-32 Town of Ridgway Flood Hazard Based on 1985 FEMA FIRM ................................................. 106 
Figure 4-33 Ouray County Hazus 1% Annual Chance Floodplain .............................................................. 111 
Figure 4-34 City of Ouray Hazus 1% Annual Chance Floodplain ............................................................... 112 
Figure 4-35 Town of Ridgway Hazus 1% Annual Chance Floodplain ........................................................ 113 
Figure 4-36 Ouray County 1% Annual Chance Flood Losses ..................................................................... 114 
Figure 4-37 City of Ouray 1% Annual Chance Flood Losses ...................................................................... 115 
Figure 4-38 Town of Ridgway 1% Annual Chance Flood Losses ............................................................... 116 
Figure 4-39 Landslide and Rockfall Hazards in Ouray County .................................................................. 120 

   67



Figure 4-40 Landslide and Rockfall Hazards in the City of Ouray ............................................................. 121 
Figure 4-41 Landslide and Rockfall Hazards in the Town of Ridgway ....................................................... 122 
Figure 4-42 Rockfall on CR 17 ................................................................................................................... 124 
Figure 4-43 Rockfall Impacting the Ouray Hot Springs ............................................................................. 125 
Figure 4-44 Lightning Flash Density Across the United States 2007 to 2016 ........................................... 129 
Figure 4-45 Lightning Flash Density Across Colorado 1996 to 2016 ......................................................... 130 
Figure 4-46 Coal Beds in Colorado ............................................................................................................ 135 
Figure 4-47 Ouray Daily Snowfall Averages and Extremes, 1893 to 2006 ................................................ 142 
Figure 4-48 Ridgway Daily Snowfall Averages and Extremes, 1893 to 2006 ............................................ 143 
Figure 4-49 Ouray County Burn Probability .............................................................................................. 148 
Figure 4-50 City of Ouray Burn Probability ............................................................................................... 149 
Figure 4-51 Town of Ridgway Burn Probability ........................................................................................ 149 
Figure 4-52 Loghill Mesa FPD Burn Probability ......................................................................................... 150 
Figure 4-53 Ouray County Fire Intensity ................................................................................................... 151 
Figure 4-54 City of Ouray Fire Intensity .................................................................................................... 152 
Figure 4-55 Town of Ridgway Fire Intensity.............................................................................................. 152 
Figure 4-56 Loghill Mesa FPD Fire Intensity .............................................................................................. 153 
Figure 4-57 Ouray County WUI ................................................................................................................. 154 
Figure 4-58 City of Ouray WUI .................................................................................................................. 155 
Figure 4-59 Town of Ridgway WUI ............................................................................................................ 155 
Figure 4-60 Loghill Mesa FPD WUI ............................................................................................................ 156 
Figure 4-61 Ouray County Previous Wildfires ........................................................................................... 158 
Figure 4-62 Ouray County WUI Risk .......................................................................................................... 161 
Figure 4-63 City of Ouray WUI Risk ........................................................................................................... 162 
Figure 4-64 Town of Ridgway WUI Risk .................................................................................................... 162 
Figure 4-65 Loghill Mesa FPD WUI Risk .................................................................................................... 163 
Figure 4-66 Parcels in High and Moderate WUI Risk Areas ...................................................................... 166 
Figure 4-67 Ouray County Areas of Potential Future Growth and Wildfire Risk ...................................... 168 
Figure 4-68 Wind Zones in the United States ........................................................................................... 170 
Figure 4-69 Colorado Annual Average Wind Speed at 80 meters ............................................................ 171 
Figure 4-70 Mine Locations in Ouray County ........................................................................................... 180 
Figure 4-71 Mine Locations in the City of Ouray ...................................................................................... 181 
Figure 4-72 Mine Locations in the Town of Ridgway ................................................................................ 182 
Figure 7-1 Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee Kickoff Webinar ......................................... 223 
Figure 7-2 Ouray County Local Planning Team Kickoff Workshop Agenda .............................................. 224 
Figure 7-3 Ouray County Local Planning Team Kickoff Workshop Sign-in Sheets .................................... 226 
Figure 7-4 Ouray County Local Planning Team HIRA Workshop Agenda ................................................. 229 
Figure 7-5 Ouray County Local Planning Team HIRA Workshop Sign-in Sheets ....................................... 230 
Figure 7-6 Ouray County Mitigation Strategy Workshop Agenda ............................................................ 232 
Figure 7-7 Ouray County Mitigation Strategy Workshop Sign-In ............................................................. 233 
Figure 8-1 Ouray County PIP ..................................................................................................................... 236 
 

List of Tables 
Table 2-1 Ouray County Population ...................................................................................................... 10 
Table 2-2 Ouray County Select Demographic Characteristics ......................................................... 10 
Table 2-3 Ouray County Select Economic Characteristics ................................................................ 12 

   68



Table 2-4 Ouray County Population and Housing Change from 2010 to 2017 ............................... 15 
Table 2-5 Ouray County Population Forecast through 2050 ............................................................. 15 
Table 3-1 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee ..................................... 19 
Table 3-2 Ouray County Local Planning Team (LPT) ........................................................................ 21 
Table 4-1 Hazards Profiled ..................................................................................................................... 35 
Table 4-2 Ouray County Declared Disasters (1953-2019) ................................................................ 37 
Table 4-3 Ouray County Property Inventory by Jurisdiction .............................................................. 40 
Table 4-4 Ouray County Property Inventory by Property Type ......................................................... 40 
Table 4-5 SHELDUS Summary Table .................................................................................................. 46 
Table 4-6 HIRA Summary Table ............................................................................................................ 46 
Table 4-6 Avalanche Risk Ranking ....................................................................................................... 59 
Table 4-7 Jurisdictional Dams in Ouray County .................................................................................. 60 
Table 4-6 Dam Failure Risk Ranking .................................................................................................... 65 
Table 4-6 Debris Flow Risk Ranking ..................................................................................................... 74 
Table 4-8 Palmer Drought Severity Index ............................................................................................ 76 
Table 4-9 Precipitation Deficits 1895-2018 .......................................................................................... 77 
Table 4-6 Drought Risk Ranking ............................................................................................................ 82 
Table 4-10 Richter Scale ......................................................................................................................... 85 
Table 4-11 Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale for Earthquakes .......................................................... 85 
Table 4-12 PGA Intensity Descriptions ................................................................................................. 86 
Table 4-6 Earthquake Risk Ranking ..................................................................................................... 92 
Table 4-6 Extreme Temperatures Risk Ranking ............................................................................... 101 
Table 4-13 Community Participation in the National Flood Insurance Program .......................... 108 
Table 4-6 Flooding Risk Ranking ......................................................................................................... 117 
Table 4-14 Ouray County Rockfall Hazard Areas ............................................................................. 119 
Table 4-15 Parcels in Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas .................................................................. 127 
Table 4-6 Landslide / Rockfall Risk Ranking ..................................................................................... 128 
Table 4-6 Lightning Risk Ranking ........................................................................................................ 132 
Table 4-16 West Nile Virus Cases in Colorado from 2002 to 2017 ................................................ 137 
Table 4-6 Public Health Emergencies Risk Ranking ........................................................................ 141 
Table 4-6 Severe Winter Storms Risk Ranking ................................................................................. 145 
Table 4-17 CSFS Fire Intensity Scale ................................................................................................. 157 
Table 4-18 Non-federal Fires from 2014 to 2017 .............................................................................. 159 
Table 4-19 Parcels in High and Moderate WUI Risk Areas ............................................................. 165 
Table 4-6 Wildfire Risk Ranking ........................................................................................................... 169 
Table 4-20 Beaufort Wind Scale .......................................................................................................... 171 
Table 4-6 Windstorm Risk Ranking ..................................................................................................... 174 
Table 4-21 National Response Center Recorded Hazmat Releases in Ouray County, 2012 to 
2019 .......................................................................................................................................................... 176 
Table 4-6 Hazardous Materials Incident Risk Ranking .................................................................... 178 
Table 4-6 Mass Casualty Events Risk Ranking ................................................................................ 185 
Table 4-6 Imminent Threat Risk Ranking ........................................................................................... 188 
Table 5-1 Ouray County Planning and Regulatory Capabilities ..................................................... 190 
Table 5-2 Ouray County Administrative and Technical Capabilities .............................................. 192 
Table 5-3 Ouray County Financial Capabilities ................................................................................. 193 
Table 5-4 Ouray County Education and Outreach Capabilities ...................................................... 193 
Table 5-5 Ouray County Progress on 2015 Mitigation Actions ....................................................... 194 
Table 5-6 Ouray County 2019 Mitigation Actions .............................................................................. 209 

   69



Table 9-1 Debris Fan and Flow Vulnerability by Jurisdiction ........................................................... 242 
Table 9-2 Improved Structures within Named Debris Fans ............................................................. 242 
Table 9-3 Ouray County Previous Flooding Events, 1909-2019 .................................................... 245 
Table 9-4 Ouray County Previous Landslide/Rockfall Events, 1984-2019 ................................... 254 
Table 9-5 Wind Events in Ouray County, November 1998 to April 2019 ...................................... 262 
Table 9-6 Ouray County Hazardous Material Releases Previous Events ..................................... 268 
 

   70



1. Introduction 
1.1. Purpose 

Ouray County, including the participating jurisdictions of the City of Ouray, the Town of Ridgway, and 
Log Hill Mesa Fire Protection District, has prepared this local hazard mitigation plan to guide hazard 
mitigation planning to better protect the people and property of the County from the effects of hazard 
events. This plan demonstrates the community’s commitment to reducing risks from hazards and serves 
as a tool to help decision makers direct mitigation activities and resources. The plan is intended to be a 
living document through ongoing implementation and regular updates every five years. The original plan 
was developed in 2008 and updated in 2013 and 2019. 

This plan was also developed to make Ouray County and participating jurisdictions eligible for certain 
federal disaster assistance, specifically, the Federal Emergency Management Agency’s (FEMA) Hazard 
Mitigation Assistance (HMA) grant programs, as well as to make the County more disaster resistant. 

1.2. Background and Scope 
Each year in the United States, disasters take the lives of hundreds of people and injure thousands more. 
Nationwide, taxpayers pay billions of dollars annually to help communities, organizations, businesses, 
and individuals recover from disasters. These monies only partially reflect the true cost of disasters, 
because additional expenses to insurance companies and nongovernmental organizations are not 
reimbursed by tax dollars. Many disasters are predictable, and much of the damage caused by these 
events can be alleviated or even eliminated. 

Hazard mitigation is defined by FEMA as “any sustained action taken to reduce or eliminate long-term 
risk to human life and property from a hazard event.” Hazard mitigation planning is the process through 
which hazards that threaten communities are identified, likely impacts of those hazards are determined, 
mitigation goals are set, and appropriate strategies to lessen impacts are determined, prioritized, and 
implemented. This plan documents Ouray County’s hazard mitigation planning process, identifies 
relevant hazards and risks, and identifies the strategy the County and participating jurisdictions will use 
to decrease vulnerability and increase resiliency and sustainability. 

The Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan is a multi-jurisdictional plan that geographically covers 
everything within Ouray County’s jurisdictional boundaries. Unincorporated Ouray County and the 
following communities and special districts participated in the planning process: 

• Ouray County 
• City of Ouray 
• Town of Ridgway 
• Log Hill Mesa Fire Protection District 

This plan was prepared pursuant to the requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (Public Law 
106-390) and the implementing regulations set forth by the Interim Final Rule published in the Federal 
Register on February 26, 2002 (44 CFR §201.6) and finalized on October 31, 2007. (Hereafter, these 
requirements and regulations will be referred to collectively as the Disaster Mitigation Act - DMA.) The 
2007 amendments also incorporate mitigation planning requirements of the Flood Mitigation Assistance 

   71



(FMA) program authorized by the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968. While the DMA emphasized the 
need for mitigation plans and more coordinated mitigation planning and implementation efforts, the 
regulations established the requirements that local hazard mitigation plans must meet in order for a 
local jurisdiction to be eligible for certain federal disaster assistance and hazard mitigation funding 
under the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Act (Public Law 93-288). Because the Ouray 
County planning area is subject to many kinds of hazards, access to these programs is vital. 

Information in this plan will be used to help guide and coordinate mitigation activities and decisions for 
local land use policy in the future. Proactive mitigation planning will help reduce the cost of disaster 
response and recovery to the community and its property owners by protecting critical community 
facilities, reducing liability exposure, and minimizing overall community impacts and disruption. Ouray 
County has been affected by hazards in the past and is thus committed to reducing future disaster 
impacts and maintaining eligibility for federal funding. 

1.3. Plan Organization 
The Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan is organized in several chapters and appendices as follows.  

• Chapter 1: Introduction 
• Chapter 2: Community Profile 
• Chapter 3: Planning Process 
• Chapter 4: Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (HIRA) 
• Chapter 5: Mitigation Strategy 
• Chapter 6: Plan Maintenance, Revision, and Integration 
• Appendix A: Meeting Sign-in Sheets and Agendas 
• Appendix B: Public Involvement 
• Appendix C: HIRA Appendix 
• Appendix D: Jurisdictional Plan Adoptions 
• Appendix E (for official use only): Critical Facilities and Dam Inundation Appendix 

   72



2. Ouray County Community Profile 
2.1. Geography and Climate 

Located in the mountains of southwest Colorado, Ouray County is known as the “Switzerland of 
America”. The County’s terrain ranges from the San Juan Mountains in the south, through the fertile 
Uncompahgre River Valley, to rolling foothills and mesa lands in the north. It is a land of steep gorges, 
towering peaks, tumbling waterfalls, high mesas, and green pastures. It is bordered by Montrose County 
to the north and northwest, San Miguel County to the west, San Juan County to the south, Hinsdale 
County to the southeast, and Gunnison County to the northeast. 

Ouray County encompasses 542 square miles (2 square miles are water), and includes two incorporated 
municipalities: 

• The City of Ouray is located at an elevation of 7,800 feet and has a total area of 0.8 square miles, 
all of it land. 

• The Town of Ridgway is located at an elevation of 7,000 feet and has a total area of 2.0 square 
miles, all of it land. 

The Uncompahgre River flows northwesterly through the County. The climate in the river basin, which is 
not limited to Ouray County, is semiarid, but rainfall and temperatures vary widely with elevation. 
Average annual precipitation ranges from 13 inches in the Colona-Ridgway area to as much as 40 inches 
in the mountains. Approximately 30 to 40% of the precipitation is snowfall. The area is also subject to 
cloudbursts. The frost-free period averages approximately 127 days annually, and varies from 112 days 
at higher elevations to 148 days in the valleys. Vegetation in the area consists of piñon, juniper, 
sagebrush, oak brush, and ponderosa pine, with dense spruce/fir forests in the Alpine Zone. A basemap 
of Ouray County is shown in Figure 2-1. 

   73



Figure 2-1 Ouray County Basemap 

 

   74

Ouray County Location Inset 

Ouray County Basemap 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction -- Local Roads 

Q Census Designated Place .. Water Body 

D Loghill Mesa FPD ~ Streams 

-- Highway 

0 10 
•-=::::J•c::::::i•••••• Miles 

5 

D Ouray County 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



The elevation of Ouray County is shown in Figure 2-2. The highest elevations are found in the San Juan 
Mountains in the southern County. Elevations of the jurisdictions are lower than in unincorporated 
areas, but it is evident the elevation rises quickly outside of the City of Ouray. Ouray County’s 
topography is an important component to the hazards the County experiences. 

   75



Figure 2-2 Ouray County Elevation 

 

   76

Ouray County Elevation 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction Elevation (feet) 

Q Census Designated Place - 4,544 - 8,000 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD D 8,000 - 10,000 

Highway - 10,000 - 12,000 

~ Water Body D 12,000 - 14,312 

Q County 
0 5 10 ~ CDRIM..,URE 

Miles EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Additionally, Ouray County has a substantial amount of federally owned public land. Notably, the 
Uncompahgre National Forest covers large swaths of the southern portions of the County, surrounding 
the City of Ouray, as well as portions of the northwest and northeast sections of the County. The Mt. 
Sneffels Wilderness Area is located in the southwest corner of the County, contained in the 
Uncompahgre National Forest. Bureau of Land Management (BLM) lands can also be found throughout 
the central and northern portions of the County. Figure 2-3 shows federal lands in Ouray County. 

   77



Figure 2-3 Federal Lands in Ouray County 

 

   78

0 Incorporated Jurisdiction 

0 Census Designated Place 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

Highway 

• WaterBody 

County 

Ouray County Land Ownership 

Federal Lands 

Bureau of Land Management {BLM} 

- Bureau of Reclamation {BOR} 

- National Wilderness Area 

- US Forest Service {USFS} National Forest 

0 5 10 
Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



2.1.1. Climate Change 

Climate changes have already been observed in Colorado. Statewide, annual average temperatures have 
increased by 2.0 degrees Fahrenheit over the past 50 years.1 Notable observed changes in the climate 
that impact Ouray County include: 

• Daily minimum temperatures in Colorado have warmed more than daily maximum 
temperatures during the past 30 years. Temperatures have increased in all seasons, with the 
largest trend in summer, followed by fall, spring, and winter. 

• Snowpack, as measured by April 1 snow-water equivalent (SWE), has been mainly below-
average since 2000 in all of Colorado’s river basins, but no long -term (30-year, 50-year) 
declining trends have been detected. 

• The timing of snowmelt and peak runoff has shifted earlier in the spring by 1 to 4 weeks across 
Colorado’s river basins over the past 30 years, due to the combination of lower SWE since 2000, 
the warming trend in spring temperatures, and enhanced solar absorption from dust-on-snow. 

• The Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) shows a trend towards more severe soil-moisture 
drought conditions in Colorado over the past 30 years, reflecting the combination of the below-
average precipitation since 2000 and the warming trend. However, tree-ring records and other 
paleoclimate indicators for Colorado show multiple droughts prior to 1900 that were more 
severe and sustained than any in the observed record. 

Notably, Ouray County relies on winter snowpack and spring runoff for tourism, water supply, and to 
reduce drought conditions. The impacts of these climate changes on each hazard is described in the 
individual hazard profiles where applicable. 

2.2. History 
Before the gold rush of the mid-1800s brought settlers to Ouray County, Colorado’s western slope was 
home to the Ute Indians. The valley of the Uncompahgre River, which runs through the County, was the 
traditional homeland of the Uncompahgre Band of Utes. Established by the Colorado State Legislature in 
January 1877, Ouray County was actually named for the Ute chief who opened the San Juan Mountains 
to white settlers in 1874 with the signing of the Brunot Treaty. 

The history of Ouray County is diverse. Colona, in the north, was settled in 1874 and became a supply 
point and old stage stop. The City of Ouray was born the next year following the discovery of gold in 
surrounding areas. What began as a mining camp grew into a town, which was incorporated in October 
1876, the same year that Colorado became a state. By the turn of the century, all the major mining areas 
in the County had been developed. Ridgway was officially established as a railroad and ranching center 
in 1890, with the incorporation of the Rio Grande Southern Railroad Company to connect the Denver 
and Rio Grande Railroad’s Ouray and Durango branches. 

Much of the County’s historic past is still evident today. The entire City of Ouray is registered as a 
National Historic District, with most of the buildings dating back to the late nineteenth century. 

 

1 Lukas, J., Barsugli, J., Doesken, N., Rangwala, I., and Wolter, K. (2014). Climate Change in Colorado: A Synthesis to 
Support Water Resources Management and Adaptation. 

   79



2.3. Population 
The estimated 2017 county population in Ouray County was 4,783 people. The 2017 estimated 
population for the City of Ouray was 1,034, the Town of Ridgway 1,003, and unincorporated County 
2,746.2 All jurisdictions have experienced an increase in population since the last Ouray County Hazard 
Mitigation Plan. Table 2-1 shows population information from 2000 to 2017 for Ouray County. 

Table 2-1 Ouray County Population 

Jurisdiction 2000* 2010* 2017** 
% Change 2010 

to 2017 
% Change 2000 

to 2017 

City of Ouray 813 1,000 1,034 3% 27% 

Town of Ridgway 713 924 1,003 9% 41% 

Unincorporated County 2,216 2,512 2,746 9% 24% 

Total 3,742 4,436 4,783 8% 28% 

*U.S. Census Bureau 
**Colorado Demography Office, 2017 population estimates 
 
Select demographic information for Ouray County is shown in Table 2-2.3 Certain demographic 
characteristics such as age, disability, living in a mobile home, and language spoken can increase a 
population’s vulnerability to the impacts of hazard events. Some notable takeaways are that the City of 
Ouray has a higher percent of individuals 65 years and older than the rest of the County. Additionally, 
the City of Ouray has a higher percent of individuals living in mobile homes. The relation to vulnerability 
is discussed more thoroughly in each hazard profile’s vulnerability assessment. It should be noted that in 
populations as small as Ouray County, Census data is less precise, and these statistics are to be used as 
general trends. 

Table 2-2 Ouray County Select Demographic Characteristics 

Characteristic Ouray County City of Ouray Town of Ridgway 

Gender/Age 

Male (%) 50.7 48.1 46.5 

Female (%) 49.3 51.9 53.5 

Under 5 years (%) 3.7 3.3 3 

65 years and over (%) 26.1 32 18 

Race/Ethnicity 

2 Colorado Department of Local Affairs, State Demography Office 
3 U.S. Census Bureau, 2017 ACS 

   80



Characteristic Ouray County City of Ouray Town of Ridgway 

White (%) 96.2 96.9 95 

American Indian/Alaska Native (%) 0.9 0 1.4 

Asian (%) 0.7 3.1 0 

Black or African American (%) 0.1 0 0 

Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander (%) 0.2 0 0.4 

Hispanic or Latino (of any race) (%) 6.2 5.4 8.1 

Two or more races (%) 1.9 0 3.2 

Education 

High school graduate or higher (%) 98 96 99.5 

Disability  

Total civilian noninstitutionalized population (%) 11.8 8.3 7 

Mobile Homes  

Mobile Homes (%) 8.6 9.8 0.5 

Language 

Speaks English less than “very well” (%) 0.7 0 2 

 

2.4. Government 
The Board of Commissioners is the governing body for Ouray County. Each of the three members serves 
a four-year term. They are elected from each of three districts, but by the County electorate as a whole. 
County government has very limited legislative power per state statute. 

The City of Ouray is a home rule city and the county seat of Ouray. The City may govern its own affairs 
within certain limits, but authority to exercise powers is derived from state statutes. It is governed by 
the City Council, which consists of five elected officials: four representatives and the mayor are elected 
at large. 

The Town of Ridgway is a home rule municipality. The Town Council consists of seven members, 
including the mayor and the mayor pro tem, who are elected for two-year terms. 

2.5. Economy 
Agriculture and mining were traditionally the most important economic activities in Ouray County, but 
in the last few decades, recreation and tourism have taken the lead. According to the Colorado 
Demography Office 2017 data, the industries that employed the most people in Ouray County were 

   81



accommodation and food services (18%), government (14%), and construction (11%). In 2017, 
agriculture employed 7% of the County population and mining just 1%. 

Tourism is a vital part of the Ouray County economy, particularly for the City of Ouray. According to the 
Ouray Chamber Resort Association 2017 Annual Report, visitors spent $27.2 million in 2016 in the 
County. Visitors are largely concentrated in the spring through fall months, and the most visitors come 
in the summer months. This trend is likely to continue with marketing efforts in the County, as well as 
through social media use. This large influx of visitors, particularly during the summer months, creates 
unique challenges for emergency management in the County since the year-round population does not 
reflect the swell in population from tourism. Additionally, a major hazard event that reduces access to 
County businesses that rely on tourism could have detrimental impacts to the economy. These factors 
are taken into consideration throughout this Plan.  

Table 2-3 shows select economic characteristics of the County based on the 2017 U.S. Census ACS. 

Table 2-3 Ouray County Select Economic Characteristics 

Characteristic Ouray County City of Ouray Town of Ridgway 

Persons below Poverty Level (%) 7.7 11.2 18.9 

Median Home Value ($) 420,600 356,100 372,200 

Median Household Income ($) 61,333 63,558 43,438 

Population in Labor Force (%) 60.6 61.2 68.7 

Unemployment (%) 5.9 1.9 3.1 

 

2.6. Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District (FPD) 
The Loghill Mesa FPD is located in the north/central portions of unincorporated Ouray County, between 
Montrose and Ridgway. The District itself occupies Log Hill Mesa, which is the southern tip of the 
Uncompahgre Plateau, a major land feature that runs from Grand Junction to Ridgway. With an average 
elevation of 8,000 feet, the District is approximately 9 miles wide and 11 miles long, and its 65 square 
miles represents about 10% of the County’s land area. However, the District is more heavily populated 
than the rest of the County and contains approximately 20% of the County’s residences. Structures in 
the District are almost exclusively single-family residential with some ranch buildings and include several 
high density pockets primarily at the south end, with the bulk of the District consisting of isolated 
structures interspersed with ranchland and piñon/juniper forest. 

Due to the intermingling of fields and forests with residential areas, the Fire Department is equipped 
and trained for a dual role, that of fighting not only structural but also wildland fires. The District is 
governed by a Board of Directors, which administers a budget funded by property taxes, grants and 
donations. The Board provides policy and guidance to the Fire Department, an all-volunteer 
organization. With three facilities, more than a dozen apparatus, and a dedicated cadre of some 30 

   82



firefighters, the Fire Department is an integral partner in the County’s emergency services’ capabilities 
and resources.4 Figure 2-4 shows a detailed map of the District.5 

4 http://www.loghillfire.org/overview.php 
5 http://www.loghillfire.org/district.php 

   83

http://www.loghillfire.org/overview.php
http://www.loghillfire.org/district.php


Figure 2-4 Loghill Mesa FPD Map 

 

 

 

   84

LOG HILL MESA FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT . 
L OC 1 JlLL MbA 

HRE J'ROTECTJON Dl~TRJCT 

'--r--==~•...,..\'-""c"'Tc'cn3'dc;s=,t -oC.;O_,,_._,,_,,,.;.....,_ __ ,,,' ....,-...,:..,..:._. ... _ .....,,....-t-..,...._ · ' +_ 
I Ol'RAVC~"'".:.~=.! ~ . ~ 

,,_ __ .._,.., 

. _ .... , .. ,._ 
D - •-·" 

I 

' ' I 

• --··----

i ,,.. I 

" \ 

'I \ 
~..,...~-+--~-~., 

' ' I 
/' 

ti 
/~/ 11 

, 1 ........................... . 

l I \ 

'"'·"'·•-"'-"'· -'---4,. : ~ .. 
~ / 

'1 /' , 

r I .;, _./ 
-r , 

/ - ' 

_ _,_, 
I 

' I 

r , -l:;'• / ____ /, ,, 

/ 

/ 

., 
,,,,, - - ,.. 

., 
/ "' '~-~. 

/ , 

, 
I 

, ­
' 

·-

~ : ,,, ,. 

fk ....................... · .............................. T--='------- -.,.,------

,I (,._ , 

"\. i 
.... ;/ \ 

! i : · 



2.7. Development Trends 
As part of the planning process, the Planning Team looked at growth and development trends. These 
trends are examined further in the context of each hazard in the HIRA, and how the changes in growth 
and development affect vulnerability to hazards. 

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the 2017 estimated population of Ouray County was 4,783. This is 
an increase of 8% percent from the 2010 Census population of 4,436. Although still an increase in 
population, this is a smaller increase than was experienced during the previous hazard mitigation 
planning cycle for the County, where there was an 18.5% increase in population from 2000 to 2010. 

Table 2-4 shows the total population, number of housing units, and percent change for each by 
jurisdiction between 2010 and 2017. The largest growth during this time period was experienced in 
Ridgway and unincorporated County, both experiencing a 9% increase in population. Additionally, 
Ridgway has experienced the highest increase in housing units from 2010 to 2017, with a 24% increase. 
During this time the City of Ouray experienced a loss in housing units (-7%), and unincorporated areas 
experienced a slight increase of 4% change. 

Table 2-4 Ouray County Population and Housing Change from 2010 to 2017 

Jurisdiction 

20
10

 
Po

pu
la

tio
n 

20
17

 
Po

pu
la

tio
n 

# 
Ch

an
ge

 

%
 C

ha
ng

e 

20
10

 
Ho

us
in

g 
U

ni
ts

 

20
17

 
Ho

us
in

g 
U

ni
ts

 

# 
Ch

an
ge

 

%
 C

ha
ng

e 

City of Ouray 1,000 1,034 34 3% 800 743 -57 -7% 

Town of Ridgway 924 1,003 79 9% 511 632 121 24% 

Unincorporated County 2,512 2,746 234 9% 1,772 1,840 68 4% 

Total 4,436 4,783 347 8% 3,083 3,215 132 4% 

 

Population forecasts are produced annually by the State Demography Office on a County scale. Growth 
is projected to occur steadily through 2050. Table 2-5 shows the population projections for the County 
through 2050 and the percent change from the 2017 population. 

Table 2-5 Ouray County Population Forecast through 2050 

 2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 
2017-2050 
% Change 

Population 4,783 4,934 5,101 5,205 5,308 5,424 5,557 5,710 19% 

 

2.7.1. Jurisdictional Growth 

Development within the Town of Ridgway is guided by the Initial Growth Boundary (IGB), which 
delineates the area within which the Town will encourage urban levels of development in the next 10 to 

   85



20 years. The boundary includes areas that are contiguous to established parts of Ridgway that are 
already served by Town services, and to which utility extensions could logically and efficiently be 
provided. The purpose of the IGB is to support the community’s desire to grow in an orderly, logical and 
sequential pattern outward from the existing town core. In general, urban levels of development 
outside the IGB would be considered premature until substantial development has occurred within the 
boundary. 

Second, the Urban Growth Management Area (UGMA), establishes the long‐term future municipal 
boundary for both the Town of Ridgway and City of Ouray. This boundary lies within Ouray County and 
outside the current municipal limits, but its designation is not intended to motivate annexation or 
development. The UGMA is intended to establish a boundary for future urban development and to 
make general land‐use designations within that boundary to meet foreseeable future needs of the 
County and the municipalities, for example, by maintaining very low densities in these areas to preserve 
the land for future urban levels of development. To achieve this outcome, the County and municipalities 
will coordinate their planning efforts and land‐use decision‐making through specific intergovernmental 
agreement(s) (IGAs) that identify actions, responsibilities, jurisdictions and goals for the respective 
parties to the IGA.6 

A concerted effort has been made to focus growth in the County to the existing incorporated areas of 
Ridgway and the City of Ouray. Growth is restricted due to the large amount of public land in the 
County, notably around the City of Ouray.  Additionally, growth in the City of Ouray is confined to a large 
extent by geography. The City is nearly surrounded by public lands (U.S. Forest Service). Growth has 
occurred toward the north end of the City that extends into the Uncompahgre River Canyon. The 
confines of this canyon have limited development potential and is bordered by flood hazard areas from 
the Uncompahgre River to the west and debris flows from Skyrocket and Bridalveil creeks and other 
smaller drainages to the east. There has been some growth on steep hillsides around the City that could 
be prone to rockfall hazards and have difficult or limited access for emergency vehicles. 

2.7.2. County Growth 

As mentioned previously, growth in the County is restricted by the large amounts of public lands. Areas 
with future development potential in the County are zoned for subdivisions at 1 dwelling unit per 6-
acres density. The remaining private land in the County is designated as 1 per 35-acre statutory zoning.7 

Figure 2-5 shows both jurisdictional UGMA areas, which designate future growth that spans outside of 
the current jurisdictional boundaries, as well as the areas in the County zoned for 1-per-6 subdivisions, 
indicating potential future development. These areas for future development will be utilized to assess 
vulnerability of future development to hazards in each hazard profile. 

6 Town of Ridgway and Ouray County Land Use Departments 
7 Ouray County Land Use Department 

   86



Figure 2-5 Ouray County Future Growth 

   87

Ouray County Areas of Potential Future Growth 

N 

A 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

Highway 

.. WaterBody 

County 

Potential Future Growth Areas 

- Jurisdiction Urban Growth Boundary 

County Potential Future Growth Zones 

0 5 10 
Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



3. Planning Process 
3.1. Introduction 

This section provides an overview of the planning process used to create the 2019 Ouray County Hazard 
Mitigation Plan update (Plan). This section includes how the Plan was prepared, who was involved in 
preparing the Plan, how the public and stakeholders were involved, and the review and incorporation of 
existing plans and studies. 

3.2. Background on Hazard Mitigation Planning in Ouray 
County 

Ouray County Emergency Management recognized the need and importance of this Plan and was 
responsible for initiating the Plan’s original development and 2013 update process, which included 
securing funding. The first version of this plan was approved by FEMA in 2008. Since the original 
development of the plan, FEMA guidance for local hazard mitigation plans has been refined and 
updated. The County contracted with AMEC Environment and Infrastructure (AMEC) in 2008 and 2013 
to facilitate and develop a multi-jurisdictional, multi-hazard mitigation plan as well as its update. In 
2019, the County contracted with CDR Maguire to facilitate this 2019 update.  

3.3. The Planning Process 
The planning process was organized in five phases, including: 

• Phase I: Organize resources/planning process 
• Phase II: Assess risks 
• Phase III: Develop the mitigation strategy 
• Phase IV: Implement the plan and monitor progress 
• Phase V: Plan adoption 

The following sections detail each phase of the planning process. 

3.3.1. Phase I: Organize Resources 

Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee Kickoff Webinar 
This phase started with a commitment to updating the Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan from the 
County and participating jurisdictions. Efforts such as refining the scope of the Plan and the schedule; 
discussing coordination with participating departments and individuals who should be invited to serve 
on the local planning teams; establishing clear participation standards for all Plan participants; gathering 
and review of initial data and documents relative to the planning process; clearly defining roles and 
responsibilities of CDR Maguire and all adopting jurisdictions and entities; discussion of an initial public 
involvement strategy; and setting dates for the kick-off meeting with the local planning team all 
identified as important initial planning steps.  

Obtaining this information was accomplished by coordination between CDR Maguire and the Ouray 
County Emergency Manager. A kickoff webinar was held on April 9, 2019 with the Hazard Mitigation 

   88



Planning Steering Committee (Steering Committee), listed in the table below. A copy of the agenda can 
be found in Appendix A.  

Table 3-1 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee 

Name Jurisdiction Title 

Glenn Boyd Ouray County Ouray County Emergency Manager 

Lance Fitzgerald Ouray County Ouray Sheriff 

Shay Coburn Town of Ridgway Town Planner 

Justin Perry City of Ouray City of Ouray Police Chief 

Tom Austin Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District Loghill Fire 

Connie Hunt Ouray County County Administrator 

Mark Thompson State of Colorado DHSEM 

Mike Garner CDR Maguire Project Manager 

Lisa Clay CDR Maguire Project Planner 

 

Major outcomes of the kickoff webinar were a discussion of what went well and what could be 
improved from the County’s previous plans; discussion of how to conduct outreach to the planning 
team, stakeholders, and the public; communication preferences between the Steering Committee; initial 
conversation about hazards and major events since the previous plans; and participation standards. It 
was agreed that there would be three in-person workshops during the planning process to include a 
planning team kickoff, review of the Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment Results, and a Mitigation 
Strategy workshop.  

The planning team kickoff meeting was scheduled for June. In between in-person meetings, CDR 
Maguire and Ouray County’s Emergency Manager would communicate weekly, or on an as-needed 
basis. The agreed-upon participation standards were as follows: 

CDR Maguire: 

• Facilitate the planning process to ensure tasks are being completed in agreement with the 
project timeline. 

• Provide overall planning guidance and plan organization in close coordination with participating 
jurisdictions. 

• Guide the public participation process. 
• Overall plan writing and data analysis with input from participating jurisdictions and planning 

team. 
• Ensure the plan meets all FEMA requirements. 

Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee: 

   89



• Work closely with CDR Maguire to ensure data requests are being fulfilled and Plan moves 
forward on schedule. 

• Aids with communication between the planning team, the public, stakeholders, and CDR 
Maguire. 

• Participates in planning team meetings. 

Planning Team 

• Meeting attendance and participation. 
• Providing requested information and data. 
• Participation across jurisdictional staff. 
• Community and stakeholder involvement and education. 
• Review draft plan sections 
• Adopt plan as participating jurisdictions. 

Figure 3-1 shows the schedule for the planning process. 

Figure 3-1 Planning Process Schedule 

 

Local Planning Team Kickoff Meeting 
The planning team kickoff meeting was held on June 13, 2019 in Ouray County. The meeting was also 
offered as a webinar for participants that couldn’t attend in-person. In preparation for the kickoff, CDR 
Maguire coordinated with Ouray County to create a local planning team representing the County, the 
City of Ouray, the Town of Ridgway, the Loghill Mesa FPD, local stakeholders, and neighboring entities to 
be invited to the kickoff meeting. The planning team was formed based on the previous Hazard 

   90

Apr-Jun • Project Kick-Off 

Apr-Jun • Data Collection 

May-Aug • Risk & Vulnerability Assessment 

July - Oct • Update Mitigation Strategy 

• Plan Maint. & Implementation 

Nov-? • Review, Approval, & Adoption 



Mitigation Plan planning team, the current Local Emergency Planning Committee (LEPC), and additional 
input from CDR Maguire and the Steering Committee. Participants were invited through email. The local 
planning team is presented in Table 3-2.  

Table 3-2 Ouray County Local Planning Team (LPT) 

Name Title Organization 

Ben Tisdel BOCC Ouray County 

Connie Hunt County Admin / CFO Ouray County 

Don Batchelder BOCC Ouray County 

Glenn Boyd EM Ouray County 

Heidi Pankow Ouray Tourism Office Ouray County 

Jeff Bockes GIS Ouray County 

John Peters BOCC Ouray County 

Kat Papenbrock Ouray Tourism Office Ouray County 

Kimberly Mitchell EMS Chief Ouray County 

Lance Fitzgerald Sheriff Ouray County 

Steven Calkins Road and Bridge Ouray County 

Susie Mayfield Assessor Ouray County 

Victoria Durnan Public Health Ouray County 

Kendra Jenkins Treasurer's Office Ouray County 

Rosalind Penney Director Public Health Ouray County 

Tanner Kingery Deputy Director Public Health Ouray County 

Chris Hawkins Community Development City of Ouray 

Gary Ray Acting Police Chief City of Ouray 

Jennifer Miller PIO City of Ouray 

Joe Coleman Public Work City of Ouray 

Justin Perry City Administrator City of Ouray 

Melissa Drake Finance Director City of Ouray 

Pam Larson Mayor City of Ouray 

   91



Name Title Organization 

Chase Jones Public Works Town of Ridgway 

Jennifer Coates Town Manager Town of Ridgway 

John Clark Mayor Town of Ridgway 

Shane Schmalz Interim Marshal Town of Ridgway 

Shay Coburn Planner Town of Ridgway 

 Chamber of Commerce Town of Ridgway 

John Rogers Fire Chief Loghill Mesa FPD 

Tom Austin Assistant Chief Loghill Mesa FPD 

Bobbie Lucero EM Gunnison County 

Chris Asborn  USFS - Montrose Interagency Unit 

Chris Miller Fire Chief Ouray Fire 

Courtney Haynes Wildfire Mitigation Specialist West Region Wildfire Council 

Craig Kaminsky Training officer/organizer Ouray FPD 

Drew Petersen Field Manager State of Colorado 

Greg Fisher EM Montrose County 

Greg Nelson  American Red Cross 

Henry Mitchell EM San Miguel County 

Jamie Gomez Director West Region Wildfire Council 

Jodi Rist Forester CSFS 

Kirsten Copeland  State Parks 

Kris Stewart EM Delta County 

Luke Odom Battalion Chief DFPC 

Mandy Stoll Steimer Exec. Director WestCO 

Mark Thompson Mitigation Office State of Colorado 

Mary Kay Wray Government Ops American Red Cross 

Pam Memcimer  Dallas Creek Water 

Patricia Gavelda Mitigation Office State of Colorado 

   92



Name Title Organization 

Scott Morrill EM Gunnison County 

Scott Pankow Superintendent Ouray K-12 

Susan Lacy Superintendent Ridgway K-12 

Tad Rowan Fire Chief Montrose FPD 

Thomas Warnes  Black Hills Energy 

Tom Fowlds  Bureau of Reclamation 

Trevor Latta Fire Chief Ouray FPD 

vacant EM Hinsdale County 

Wiley Freeman  San Miguel Power 

 Assistant Chief Ridgway FPD 

 

Major goals of the kickoff meeting were for the 
planning team members to understand the process 
and importance of hazard mitigation planning; 
understand their roles and responsibilities as 
members of the planning team; review the stage of 
the planning process the County was at currently; 
review data requests; review public involvement 
strategy; provide an overview of the capabilities 
assessment; and review next steps in the planning 
process. The full agenda and sign-in sheets can be 
found in Appendix A.  

Major outcomes of the planning team meeting include finalized hazards to profile in the HIRA; 
discussion of recent community planning efforts; recent hazard events; and particular problem 
areas/hazard concerns in the County. Another important discussion was for the public involvement 
strategy. It was determined that the following tools and resources work the best for public involvement 
in Ouray County: 

• Social media 
• Newsletters 
• Outreach through schools utilizing “Friday folders” students take home  
• Outreach to summer residents through HOAs 
• Outreach to campgrounds and short-term rentals through Facebook 

The timeline for public involvement was also discussed, and CDR Maguire used this information to 
further refine the public involvement plan. Data requests, such as critical facilities, were once again 

   93



reviewed and the planning team provided input on other relevant plans. The following post-meeting 
action items were discussed for the local planning team:  

• Provide Best Available Data / Recent Community Plans 
• Provide any additional Local Planning Team Participants 
• Mitigation Capabilities Input 
• Public Involvement Input 

Public Involvement 
Based on feedback from the Steering Committee and the planning team kickoff meetings, a Public 
Involvement Plan (PIP) was developed for the County in June 2019. The Steering Committee helped 
disseminate the PIP to the planning team members for their input on public involvement tools and the 
timeline to utilize each tool for outreach to the public. Examples of public outreach tools for the County 
include the County website, social media pages, and a County newsletter; public outreach tools for the 
City of Ouray include social media pages, newsletter, the City board meetings, school handouts, and in 
conjunction with the Master Plan update process; public outreach for the Town of Ridgway includes 
public flyers, social media, newsletter, school handouts, and a Town email; and public outreach for the 
Loghill Mesa FPD includes public meetings, their website, and social media pages. The completed PIP is 
provided in Appendix B. With input from the planning team, CDR Maguire helped develop the public 
outreach material and disseminate it in accordance with the PIP timeline. The timeline also ensured 
outreach would be utilized in each phase of the planning process so the public remained involved and 
informed. 

As part of the PIP, two surveys were distributed to the public during the planning process. The first was 
the Hazard Risk Perception Survey, distributed in August 2019. This survey was sent out to gain an 
understanding of public knowledge of hazards in their communities, and their perception of what poses 
the most risk. Overall, the survey gathered 92 responses. Figure 3-2 shows the distribution of the 
location of participants. 

Figure 3-2 Public Survey 1 Responses 

  

   94

What jurisdiction do you live in? 
92 responses 

e City of Ouray 

e Town of Ridgway 

e Unincorporated County 

e Neighboring County 



The results are portrayed in the figures below. Key takeaways from this survey are: 

• Approximately 37% of the respondents have been majorly impacted by at least one natural 
hazard in the past five years. 

• Only 38% of respondents consider themselves “very informed” on how various hazards can 
impact their community. 

• Respondents ranked wildfire as their highest risk hazard, followed by drought. Earthquake 
ranked the least risk hazard. 

• Lack of clean water was the top concern following disasters. Not receiving emergency alerts was 
the lowest of concerns. 

• Over half of the respondents have an emergency kit, and over 60% have taken action to make 
their home or neighborhood more resistant to hazards. 

• Social media is the most effective way to receive information about hazards by respondents 
(61%), followed by newspaper/mailings (50%). 

 

   95

How many times has a natural hazard MAJORLY impacted your daily life in 

the last five years? 
92 responses 

e a 
• 1-2 

• 3-5 

• 6+ 



 

 

 

   96

What is your understanding of the various hazards that can impact your 
community and the risks from each? 
92 responses 

e Very informed 

e Somewhat informed 

e Uninformed 

Please rnnk the fo llowing hazards based on the risk that they present to you and your community: 

0 11 - .1 - I _I • .1 - I - II .I . I l .1 
'""'" r~~,q-""'• L<h,,-f.,.,pet:>ILtt!< n,:o:""l Logt ·1"") ~.bl<:ll""""'["""9",c;,,,, ~"'""'1'1-•S.0.To H>,.,t<1o> ... \f.>1,,;.,!e.1n::.:1,,,.. in.,,...,,n;,~ 

How concerned are you about the following scenarios during and following 
a disaster? 

40 

20 

0 

- Not concerned - Somewhat concerned - Extremely concerned 

Lack of food Lack of clean water Access to 
medications / doctor 

Lack of transportation Not recieving 
emergency alerts 



 

 

   97

Do you have a emergency preparedness kit? 
92 responses 

e Yes 

• No 

Have you taken action to make your home or neighborhood more resistant 
to hazards? 
92 responses 

e Yes 

• No 

e I don't know 



 

The second survey distributed to the public was the Public Hazard Mitigation Survey, distributed in 
September 2019. This survey was sent out to educate the public on mitigation actions, gain an 
understanding what types of mitigation strategies the public supports, and give the public an 
opportunity to contribute potential mitigation actions. Overall, the survey gathered 23 responses, with 
52% of the responses from the Town of Ridgway, 44% from the City of Ouray, and 4% from Ouray 
County.  

The results are portrayed in the figures below. Key takeaways from this survey are: 

• Overall, the vast majority of respondents are in favor of all types of mitigation actions. 
• Many of the comments discussed wildfire, flooding, ensuring access in/out of the County, 

responsible development, and public education/involvement. 

   98

What is the most effective way for you to receive information about making 
your home and neighborhood more resistant to hazards? 
92 responses 

Newspaper/ Mailings~================:::::J- 46 (50%) 
TV/ Radio~===:::l-- 13 (14.1%) 

Social media ______________________ 55 (60.9%) 

Public workshops ~======================-'..----30 (32.6%) 
i==============l-36 (39.1 %) 

Email 4 (4.3%) 
text 2 (2 .2%) 

email 2 (2 .2%) 
E-mail 1 (1.1%) 

codered and wens testing 1 (1 .1 % ) 
1 (1 .1%) 

Textoremails 1 (1.1%) 
Alerts on phone 1 (1.1%) 

e-mail 1 (1 .1%) 
emails 1 (1.1%) 

0 20 40 60 



 

 

   99

What mitigation categories do you support? 

- In Favor - Neutral - Against 

20 

10 

0 
Structure & Infrastructure Local Plans & Regulations Education & Awareness 

Programs 
Natural Systems Protection 

What mitigation category do you MOST support? 
23 responses 

e Structure & Infrastructure 

e Local Plans & Regulations 

e Education & Awareness Programs 

e Natural Systems Protection 



 

The following write-in questions were also asked in the survey: 

1. Please share your ideas for specific mitigation projects or actions that you would like to see 
implemented by your government, should funding be available: 

a. I think Wildland fire mitigation is something that should be done that doesn’t cost very 
much you look at the houses up on queen street and many of them don’t have a 
defensible space around them I think getting approval from the Forest Service wouldn’t 
be extremely hard and If it’s in city limits you can always ask the Fire Department to 
help cut some stuff it’s also a great training opportunity for them 

b. Improve county roads between Ouray and Ridgway for emergency escape route in case 
hwy. 550 is closed for any reason. 

c. Removing the beetle kill and now the avalanche debris to reduce fire danger, improving 
the drainage through town to reduce the chance of severe flooding. 

d. Stop hazmat tankers traveling over Red Mountain Pass. 
e. Make new large hotels follow all zoning laws-no exceptions. 
f. For our Town, I feel the greatest threat comes mostly from fire, then probably from 

flooding. I would direct most funding to address mitigating these 2 forms of hazard as a 
priority. 

g. More public awareness of the issues and what individuals with or without the help of 
local government can do to mitigate hazards in our area. 

h. Upgrade and replace old parts and systems of our Public Works water treatment and 
waste water treatment plants to ensure safe and adequate supply and distribution of 
potable water and the treatment and disposal of sewage. Storm water management of 
run-off and paving and side-walking on Amelia Street around elementary school and all 
sensitive areas in town, especially where and as development of new residential areas 
occur. Improve auto and pedestrian traffic flow and safety in and around town and 
along and over Highways 62 and 550 by creating sidewalks, bike trails and lanes, 
pedestrian bridges or tunnels, and an alternative bypass around 62 in case of 
emergency, e.g., maybe along CR 5 to CR 24 and/or via CR 23 to CR 3A. I realize much of 
the latter projects would have to be in cooperation with or by CDOT. 

   100

What mitigation category do you LEAST support? 
23 responses 

e Structure & Infrastructure 

e Local Plans & Regulations 

e Education & Awareness Programs 

e Natural Systems Protection 



i. Be sure that we don't make potential impacts worse... like building in flood prone areas 
or on steep slopes. Updating regulations seem to be the best route but not sure. 

j. Protection and education on wild land fires. 
k. Redundancies in various utilities. 
l. Flood plain designation update. 

2. If you would like to provide any additional comments to your jurisdiction relating to mitigating 
hazards, provide them below. If you would like to be contacted regarding your comments, 
please include contact information as appropriate. 

a. More rock scaling needed above some county roads. 
b. Do a better job at plowing 361 above next to the ice park and above it. 
c. All the various 4 categories are vital and useful for our Township to implement and 

promote. No one of those should be neglected since they are an inclusive approach to a 
community issue/challenge. 

d. I don’t want to see government requiring old buildings to have to meet new standards 
at the cost of the building owner, or with new local taxes to address issues. 

e. Public education and outreach is particularly crucial in our rural area where demand for 
improvements is high but funding to provide is low. It is extremely helpful in 
encouraging self-regulation, expanding knowledge of hazards, projects, funding sources 
(or lack thereof), promoting positive behavior and activity, and encouraging 
volunteerism and fund-raising. 

Lastly, the public was given the opportunity to review and comment on the draft plan between 
November 19, 2019 and December 6, 2019. Digital copies of the final draft plan were distributed in 
accordance with the public involvement plan.  There were no comments received from the public. 

Review and Incorporation of Existing Planning Mechanisms 
Over the course of the planning process, numerous other plans, studies, reports, and technical 
information were obtained and reviewed for incorporation or reference purposes. The majority of 
sources referenced and researched pertain to the risk assessment and the capabilities assessment. To a 
lesser extent, the mitigation strategy also includes some technical information research. The following 
list shows the primary documents and technical resources reviewed and used for incorporation into this 
HMP. 

Ouray County 
• Ouray County CWPP (2011) 
• Ouray County Disaster Recovery Plan (draft) 
• Ouray County EMS MCI Plan 
• Ouray County Public Information and Warning Plan (2016) 
• Ouray County Rapid Needs Assessment Plan (2014) 
• Ouray County Emergency Operations Plan (2015) 

City of Ouray 
• Ouray Fire Protection District 4 Neighborhood CWPP (2007) 
• City of Ouray Emergency Operation Plan (2018) 

Town of Ridgway  
• Town of Ridgway Source Water Protection Plan (2012) 
• Town of Ridgway Emergency Operations Plan (2019) 

   101



• Town of Ridgway Master Plan (2019) 

Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District 
• Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District CWPP (2012) 
• Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District Evacuation and Reoccupation Plan (2011) 

Other 
• Grand Mesa Uncompahgre National Forests – Forest Plan Revision (currently in progress) 

3.3.2. Phase II: Assess Risks 

The Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (HIRA) process began almost immediately. Data were 
gathered from other planning resources (see above), the planning team, the Steering Committee, the 
State of Colorado, and other publicly available data sources. Sources of data are discussed in the text 
and as footnotes throughout the HIRA section. The Steering Committee and planning team were 
instrumental in supplying jurisdictional-specific data to CDR Maguire, who performed the analysis and 
writing of the HIRA. As data requests were needed, CDR Maguire reached out to the Steering 
Committee, who would direct CDR Maguire to the correct person on the planning team for the data. 
Data were collected and incorporated into the HIRA through August 2019, and the draft results of the 
HIRA were presented to the planning team during the Risk and Vulnerability Assessment Workshop, 
which was the second in-person meeting for the County. Additionally, the results of the public Hazard 
Risk Perception Survey were incorporated into the HIRA. The draft HIRA was sent for planning team 
review in September 2019 and finalized in November 2019 after all comments were incorporated. 

Planning Team Risk and Vulnerability Assessment Workshops 
The planning team risk and vulnerability assessment 
workshop was held on August 5, 2019 in Ouray County. 
The meeting was also held as a webinar for participants 
that couldn’t attend in-person.  

Major goals of this workshop were for the results of the 
HIRA to be presented to the planning team and to 
receive any feedback on the results and hazard 
rankings, review critical facility analysis results, review 
remaining data requests, continue with the public 
involvement strategy, and to finalize mitigation goals as 
well as start gathering ideas for objectives. The full 

agenda and sign-in sheets can be found in Appendix A. 

Outcomes of the workshop included final input on the HIRA results and rankings. Remaining data 
requests were provided to finalize the HIRA. The capability assessment results were also presented and 
reviewed. The goals from the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan were reviewed and determined 
to still be relevant for this Plan update. Additionally, the public involvement strategy was discussed and 
the second public survey was to be sent shortly after the workshop. The following post-meeting action 
items were discussed for the local planning team: 

• Continue local discussions relating to this project 
• Begin identifying new mitigation actions  

   102



• Capability assessment survey revisions (if necessary) 
• Public survey / involvement 
• Review of Risk Assessment section 

3.3.3. Phase III: Develop the Mitigation Strategy 

Mitigation strategy development was initiated by 
reviewing goals from Ouray County’s previous hazard 
mitigation plan. New goals were drafted during the 
planning team risk and vulnerability assessment 
workshops and finalized during the planning team 
mitigation strategy workshop. The previous mitigation 
actions were reviewed by each jurisdiction, and new 
actions were developed based on planning team input, 
the results of the HIRA, other planning documents, and 
the public mitigation strategy survey. All mitigation 
actions were incorporated into a database for easy 
tracking and updating by the County. 

Planning Team Mitigation Strategy Workshop 
The Ouray County planning team mitigation strategy workshop was held on October 21, 2019 in 
Ridgway, CO. The meeting was also held as a webinar for participants that couldn’t attend in-person.  

Major goals of this workshop were to review goals/potential objectives, review the results of the 
capability assessment, obtain status updates on past high priority mitigation actions, review the results 
of the public mitigation strategy survey, discuss plan maintenance and integration, and create new 
mitigation actions. The full agenda and sign-in sheets can be found in Appendix A. 

Major outcomes of the workshop were discussions around plan maintenance, implementation, and 
integration (discussed more below and in Section 6 of this Plan). The planning team  reviewed the 2015 
high priority actions and the remaining were sent to the planning team to review after the meeting. 
Significant time was spent brainstorming new mitigation actions. A mitigation action project sheet was 
provided to all participants for the creation of mitigation actions, which would later be added to a 
database for simplified tracking. Additionally, it was determined to rank new mitigation actions based on 
defined priorities. It was decided to review the Plan annually by providing updates during one of the 
quarterly Multi-Agency Coordination group (MAC) meetings. The following post-meeting action items 
were discussed for the local planning team: 

• Finalize past Mitigation Actions / Projects reporting 
• Finalize new Mitigation Actions / Projects  
• Review draft updated Plan 
• Public Review and Comment 

3.3.4. Phase IV: Implement the Plan and Monitor Progress 

As discussed previously, the implementation phase was discussed during the Ouray County mitigation 
strategy workshop. It was determined that the Plan will be reviewed at a determined quarterly MAC 

   103



meeting, ensuring it is an agenda item at least once a year. Further discussion about implementation, 
monitoring, and Plan integration is discussed in Section 6 of this Plan. 

   104



4. Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (HIRA) 
4.1. Hazard Identification 

As part of the update process, the hazards from Ouray County’s existing plan were reviewed and new 
hazards were considered. The existing hazards were also cross-checked with hazards in the 2018 
Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan (State Plan). The State Plan included several additional hazards. 
These hazards were discussed with the Local Planning Committee (LPC) to determine whether to include 
them in this Plan. It was determined that dense fog, hail, tornado, expansive soils, sinkholes/subsidence, 
animal disease outbreak, and radiological release were not applicable to Ouray County or its 
jurisdictions and that they would not be mitigated against, so they were not included in further analysis. 
The reasoning to include or not include the remaining hazards are described below: 

• Erosion/Deposition: Roads adjacent to rivers may be impacted by erosion. It was determined to 
include this detail in the flood profile. 

• Radon/Carbon Monoxide/Methane/Other Seeps: This hazard is applicable to the County and 
they would like to mitigate, so it was added to the public health emergency profile. 

• Wildlife Vehicle Collisions: Wildlife vehicle collisions due occur in Ouray County, but the County 
nor jurisdictions mitigate against it. They are managed by CDOT, so this hazard is not profiled in 
this Plan. 

• Pest Infestation: The main concern for pest infestation discussed was beetle kill in the County’s 
forests. It was decided to add this to the wildfire profile, as the increased wildfire risk is the main 
issue for the County from beetle kill. 

• Mine Accident: Mine accidents can occur in the County, but the County nor its jurisdictions have 
the capability to mitigate against them as they are under Federal jurisdiction.  

• Critical Infrastructure Disruption/Failure: Due to the remoteness of the County, the failure of 
critical infrastructure could cause major impacts. It was determined to discuss these failures as 
they relate to hazards and identify critical infrastructure as part of the critical facilities analysis 
rather than its own hazard profile. 

• Power Failure: Power failure will be discussed as impacts to profiled hazards as well as in the 
context of critical facilities/infrastructure. 

The following Table 4-1 compares the hazards listed in Ouray County’s previous Plan to the current 
identified hazards for this Plan, and hazards profiled by the State Plan.  

Table 4-1 Hazards Profiled 

Ouray County 2015 HMP Ouray County 2019 HMP 2018 Colorado HMP 

Avalanche Avalanche Avalanche 

Dam Failure Dam Failure Dam Failure 

Debris Flow Debris Flow Debris Flow 

Drought Drought Drought 

Earthquake Earthquake Earthquake 

   105



Ouray County 2015 HMP Ouray County 2019 HMP 2018 Colorado HMP 

Extreme Temperatures Extreme Temperatures Extreme Temperatures 

Flooding Flooding Flooding 

Hazardous Materials Incident Hazardous Materials Incident Hazardous Materials Incident 

Landslide/Rockslide Landslide/Rockslide Landslide/Rockslide 

Lightning Lightning Lightning 

Mass Casualty Event Mass Casualty Event Mass Casualty Event 

Public Health Emergency 

Public Health Emergency 
(Radon/Carbon 

Monoxide/Methane Seeps were 
added for the 2019 Plan) 

Public Health Emergency 

Severe Winter Storm Severe Winter Storm Severe Winter Storm 

Imminent Threat Imminent Threat Imminent Threat 

Wildfires Wildfires Wildfires 

Windstorm Windstorm Windstorm 

  Dense Fog 

  Hail 

  Tornado 

  Erosion/Deposition 

  
Expansive Soils/Heaving 

Bedrock 

  
Radon/Carbon 

Monoxide/Methane/Other 
Seeps 

  Sinkholes/Subsidence 

  Animal Disease Outbreak 

  Wildlife Vehicle Collisions 

  Pest Infestation 

  
Critical Infrastructure 

Disruption/Failure 

   106



Ouray County 2015 HMP Ouray County 2019 HMP 2018 Colorado HMP 

  Mine Accident 

  Power Failure 

  Radiological Release 

 

It is important to note that many of these hazards are interconnected (for example, prolonged drought 
can increase risk to wildfire). Therefore, discussion of these hazards overlaps throughout the Risk 
Assessment.  

4.1.1. Disaster Declaration History 

Major disaster declarations were also used to identify and assess hazards in Ouray County. The following 
table presents a list of all federal disaster and emergency declarations that have occurred in the County, 
according to the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture (USDA). This list presents support for identifying which hazards pose the greatest risk to 
Ouray County communities. 

Across Ouray County, there have been 22 presidential declarations and USDA secretarial disaster 
declarations from 1953 through 2019.8 Five of these were presidential declarations and 16 of these 
were USDA secretarial disaster declarations as a primary or contiguous county. The USDA declarations 
were made for drought, freeze, frost, high wind, excessive heat, hail, and hard rain events. One event 
was a suspected presidential declaration in 1965 based on previous reports and conversations with the 
County.9 Table 4-2 describes these events. 

Table 4-2 Ouray County Declared Disasters (1953-2019) 

Event/Hazard Year Declaration Type Description 

Flood 1965 Suspected 
Presidential 

$20,292 received for repair of flumes and 
disaster relief from Federal Office of 
Emergency Preparedness 

Heavy Rains and 
Flooding 1970 Presidential—Major 

Disaster Declaration $3.2 million (2006 dollars) statewide 

Flooding and 
Landslides 1973 Presidential—Major 

Disaster Declaration $4.5 million (2006 dollars) statewide 

Drought 1977 
Presidential— 

Emergency 
Declaration 

$4.6 million (2006 dollars) statewide 

Severe Storms, 
Mudslides, 1984 Presidential—Major 

Disaster Declaration 
$9.5 million (2006 dollars) statewide 
Included with 14 other Western Slope counties 

8 https://www.fema.gov/data-visualization-disaster-declarations-states-and-counties; 
https://www.fsa.usda.gov/programs-and-services/disaster-assistance-program/disaster-designation-information/index 
(reviewed 4/15/2019) 
9 Ouray County Floodplain Report 

   107

https://www.fema.gov/data-visualization-disaster-declarations-states-and-counties
https://www.fsa.usda.gov/programs-and-services/disaster-assistance-program/disaster-designation-information/index


Event/Hazard Year Declaration Type Description 

Landslides, 
and Flooding 

Drought 2000 USDA  

Drought 2002 USDA Included in statewide USDA declaration 

Wildfire 2002 Presidential—Major 
Disaster Declaration 

$7.1 million (2006 dollars). Included in 
statewide declaration 

 
 

Late Freeze 
2006 USDA 

Included in declaration as a contiguous county 
(primary natural disaster areas were Dolores, 
Montezuma, and San Miguel counties) 

Frost, Freezing 
Temperatures, and 

High Winds 
2010 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 

Drought and Early 
Freeze 2011 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 

Drought, High Winds,  
Excessive Heat 2012 USDA Included in declaration as a primary county 

Frost, Freeze 2012 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 

Drought 2013 USDA 

Included in declaration as a contiguous county 
(primary natural disaster areas included 
Alamosa, Conejos, Delta, Garfield, Gunnison, 
Jackson, Jefferson, Mesa, Moffat, 
Montrose, Rio Blanco, Rio Grande, Routt, and 
Saguache counties) 

Drought 2013 USDA 

Included in declaration as a primary natural 
disaster area (other primary natural disaster 
areas in Colorado include Dolores, Hinsdale, La 
Plata, Montezuma, and San Miguel counties) 

Frost, Freeze 2014 USDA Included in declaration as a primary county 
Hail Storms, Hard 

Rain 2017 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 

Severe Freezes 2017 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 
Drought 2018 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 
Drought 2018 USDA Included in declaration as a primary county 
Drought 2018 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 
Drought 2018 USDA Included in declaration as a contiguous county 

 

Additionally, the following State Disaster Declarations have been issued in the recent past: 

• 2018, Flood-Mudflow-Rockslide (Red Mountain Pass) 
• 2017, Wildfires (Statewide) 
• 2014, Extreme Weather (Statewide) 
• 2014, Rockslide (Red Mountain Pass) 
• 2013, Winter Storm (Statewide) 
• 2009, Severe Spring Storm (Statewide) 

   108



• 2009, Severe Blizzard (Statewide) 
• 2003, Snow Emergency (Statewide) 
• 2002, Drought (Statewide) 
• 2002, Wildfires (Statewide) 
• 1984, Flooding 
• 1982, Flooding 

These past events follow a similar pattern to the Federal Declarations, and help to further clarify those 
hazards presenting the most risk to the County. 

4.2. Hazard Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people.  The 
results were then summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of 
four or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in Figure 4-1 below. Overall, risk varies somewhat with 
each jurisdiction, but consistently high ranked hazards include flooding, severe winter storms, and 
wildfire. Additionally, debris flows and landslide/rockfall are high hazards for the City of Ouray and 
unincorporated County. 

Figure 4-1 Hazard Ranking 

Jurisdiction 

Av
al

an
ch

e 

Da
m

 F
ai

lu
re

 

De
br

is
 F

lo
w

 

Dr
ou

gh
t 

Ea
rt

hq
ua

ke
 

Ex
tr

em
e 

Te
m

pe
ra

tu
re

s 

Fl
oo

di
ng

 

La
nd

sl
id

e/
Ro

ck
fa

ll 

Li
gh

tn
in

g 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

 E
m

er
ge

nc
ie

s 

Se
ve

re
 W

in
te

r S
to

rm
 

W
ild

fir
e 

W
in

ds
to

rm
 

Ha
zm

at
 In

ci
de

nt
 

M
as

s C
as

ua
lty

 E
ve

nt
 

Im
m

in
en

t T
hr

ea
t 

City of Ouray L L H M M L H H M L H H M M L L 

Town of Ridgway L L L M M L H M M L H H M M L L 

Unincorporated 
County M M H M M L H H M L H H M M M L 

Loghill Mesa FPD - - - - - - - - - - - H - - - - 

 

 

4.3. Building Inventory and Assets 

   109

•• •• • • • •• •• • •• • •• • • • •• • •• • ••••••••••• •••• 



In addition to people, structures and infrastructure have the potential to be exposed to all hazards 
identified in this plan. Building inventories and values in this Plan are based on assessments from the 
Ouray County’s Assessor’s Office from the 2018 tax year. Table 4-3 and Table 4-4 show the value of 
parcels with improvements. According to the Assessor’s data, the sum of all improvements in the 
County, based on actual value, is $1,158,769,500. In order to get a complete estimate of building 
exposure the building content value is estimated and added. Contents exposure is estimated as a 
percent of the improvement value (specifically, 50% of the improvement value for residential structures, 
100% for agricultural structures, 100% for commercial and utility structures, 100% for unknown 
structures, 0% for vacant land, and 100% for exempt structures), based on standard FEMA 
methodologies. Total exposure (building and contents) is estimated at $1,883,098,930. Land values are 
not included in this analysis because land remains following disasters, and subsequent market 
devaluations are frequently short-term and difficult to quantify. Additionally, state and federal disaster 
assistance programs generally do not address loss of land or its associated value. 

Table 4-3 Ouray County Property Inventory by Jurisdiction 

Jurisdiction 
Total 
Parcel 
Count 

Improved 
Parcel 
Count 

Improved 
Actual Value Contents Exposure Total Exposure 

City of Ouray 997 716 $184,494,780 $125,068,610 $309,563,390 
Town of 
Ridgway 1,025 674 $207,782,020 $141,666,915 $349,448,935 

Unincorporated 
County 6,148 2,241 $766,492,700 $457,593,905 $1,224,086,605 

Total 8,170 3,631 $1,158,769,500 $724,329,430 $1,883,098,930 
 

Table 4-4 Ouray County Property Inventory by Property Type 

Property 
Type 

Total 
Parcel 
Count 

Improved 
Parcel 
Count 

Improved 
Actual Value 

Contents 
Exposure Total Exposure 

Agriculture 264 208 $19,677,950 $19,677,950 $39,355,900 
Commercial 1,578 514 $167,605,970 $167,605,970 $335,211,940 

Exempt 1,055 111 $66,314,970 $66,314,970 $132,629,940 
Residential 2,959 2,819 $866,962,180 $433,481,090 $1,300,443,270 

Utilities 9 9 $37,249,450 $37,249,450 $74,498,900 
Vacant Land 1,340 55 $958,980 $0 $958,980 

Total 7,205 3,716 $1,158,769,500 $724,329,430 $1,883,098,930 
 

4.4. Critical Facilities 
For the purpose of this Plan, ‘critical facilities’ are defined as local assets vital to the health, safety, and 
well-being of residents and visitors during the time of and following a natural disaster. These facilities 
can include: community centers, churches, hospitals, libraries, non-profits, post offices, water treatment 
centers, police & fire stations, and city administration buildings. Critical facilities are essential to a 

   110



community’s long-term disaster resilience as they are important delivery pathways for diverse crisis 
management services and resources. As part of the planning process, Ouray County identified facilities 
being termed as critical by utilizing the best available data from the GIS department. 

The critical facilities analysis is located in a confidential appendix, available to the LPC and jurisdictions. 

4.5. Hazard Profiles 
4.5.1. Profile Methodology 

The following sections, 3.5.4 through 3.5.18, profile each identified hazard to include the description, 
location, previous occurrences, extent, probability of occurrence, vulnerability assessment, and 
summary. Supporting information for each hazard can be found in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. The 
hazard profiles are consistently formatted to cover the same information. This format includes seven 
different subsections that are described below: 

• Description: A scientific explanation of the hazard. 
• Location: Geographical areas within the County that are affected by the hazard. 
• Extent: The strength or magnitude of the hazard. Measures of extent may include, but are not 

limited to, an established scientific scale, wind speed, speed of onset, or duration of the hazard 
event. 

• Previous Occurrences: Information regarding historical events of the hazard in Ouray County. 
Previous occurrence data was derived from a variety of sources, including, but not limited to, 
the LPC, news articles, County websites, the State of Colorado, and federal databases. The 
National Center for Environmental Information (NCEI), which has been tracking severe weather 
since 1950, is a primary database used for previous occurrences in this Plan. Their storm events 
database tracks severe weather events on a county basis and contains data for the following 
identified hazards in this plan: extreme temperatures, flooding, lightning, windstorms, and 
severe winter storms.  

• Probability: The likelihood of future events impacting the County. Given that an exact 
probability is often difficult to quantify, this characteristic is categorized into ranges to be used 
in hazard profiles: 

o Unlikely: Less than 1% annual probability 
o Possible: Between 1% and 10% annual probability  
o Likely: Between 10+% and 90% annual probability  
o Highly Likely: Greater than 90% annual probability 

• Vulnerability Assessment: The vulnerability assessment addresses conditions that may increase 
or decrease vulnerability. This section will include the inventory exposed/impacts, potential 
losses, and future conditions.  

o Inventory Exposed/Impacts: A qualitative or quantitative analysis of impacts on 
structures, the economy, people, and the environment. 

o Loss estimations: A qualitative or quantitative analysis on potential losses from each 
hazard is conducted using best available data and resources. Methods utilized include 
GIS analysis and Hazus analysis where data is available. Additionally, damage estimates 
are calculated based on reported damages from previous occurrences by jurisdiction, 
where available. For this Plan, SHELDUS county-wide damage data was also utilized for a 
method of consistent loss estimations across hazards. It is noted that SHELDUS only 
reports on a county-wide scale, so it is not possible to determine losses by jurisdiction 

   111



using this data. Additionally, SHELDUS results may vary from other sources of data, such 
as NCEI, due to differences in reporting. It should be viewed as an additional resource to 
understand damage impacts and risks across hazards. SHELDUS results are explained in 
more detail in Section 4.5.2, as well in each hazard profile. 

o Future Conditions: 
 Land Use and Development: Discusses the impact of development trends on 

jurisdiction’s vulnerability to each hazard. Land use and development data was 
obtained from jurisdiction planners and population statistics from the U.S. 
Census Bureau. 

 Climate Change: Brief discussion on climate change impacts on each hazard, if 
applicable. 
 

4.5.2. SHELDUS Results 

The Spatial Hazard Events and Losses Database for the United States (SHELDUS) Version 17.0 was 
utilized to assess losses from the following hazards: avalanche, drought, flooding, hail, landslide, 
lightning, severe storm/thunderstorm, wildfire, wind, and winter weather. SHELDUS is a county-level 
dataset that allows for consistent comparison of losses across hazards. All loss information used in this 
Plan from SHELDUS is reported in 2017 dollars to facilitate even comparison between hazards. SHELDUS 
utilizes data from 1960 to 2017. It is recognized that this data is not reported by jurisdiction, but can still 
provide value in consistent comparison across hazards at the county-level. A summary of SHELDUS data 
is reported below, and damages are additionally reported in each hazard profile. 

From 1960 to 2017, Ouray County experienced a total of 104 hazard events equating to $14,558,159 
(2017 dollars) in damages reported across all hazards. The County experienced more winter weather 
events (36) than any other hazard. This is followed by wind events (29). Of the damages, $7,656,291 
were crop damages and $6,901,868 were property damages. Total number of events by hazard is 
displayed in Figure 4-2 below, and total damages is displayed in Figure 4-3 below. 

   112



Figure 4-2 SHELDUS Total Events by Hazard 

 

Figure 4-3 SHELDUS Total Hazard Damages 

 

 

Total Property
$6,901,868 

Total Crop
$7,656,291 

Total Hazard Damages

   113

40 

35 

V, 30 .... 
C: 
Cl) 
> 25 

L.U 
'+-
0 20 
~ 12 Cl) 15 ..c 

I E 10 ::::, 
4 z 

5 • 1 

0 
~ 

~'l, ~ -&"'¢,, ,::-v ~~ 
-:,.._'l:i <:>'-0 0 

~'l:i ~,o 
'?' 

Total Events by Hazard 

1 
~ 

3 • 

Hazard 

4 • 
13 

I 1 
~ 

36 

29 



Winter weather caused the most in total damages from 1960 to 2017, causing $7,781,887 in total 
damages, representing approximately half of all damages. Flooding followed with $3,925,983 in total 
damages. Figure 4-4 shows damages by hazard. 

Figure 4-4 SHELDUS Total Damages by Hazard 

 

These damages are further broken down by property and crop damage by hazard (Figure 4-5 and Figure 
4-6, respectively). Flooding has caused the most property damages in the county, with $3,512,069 in 
damages. This represents approximately half of the total property damages across all hazards. Winter 
weather caused the next highest in property damages, with $2,462,414 in damages. For crop damages, 
winter weather caused the most in damages, with $5,319,473. Drought caused the next highest in crop 
damages, with $1,897,695 in damages. 

   114

Total Damages by Hazard 

$7,781,887 
$8,000,000 

$7,000,000 

V, 
$6,000,000 

Q) 

tlO $5,000,000 re 
E $3,925,983 
re 

$4,000,000 Cl 

ro 
$3,000,000 ... 

0 
I- $1,897,695 

$2,000,000 

$1,000,000 

$0 
s,~ , I $239 _., 

$519,327 $381 271 
$1~ 5 $~ • $ ~ 5 • 

Hazard 



Figure 4-5 SHELDUS Property Damages by Hazard 

 

Figure 4-6 SHELDUS Crop Damages by Hazard 

 

 

   115

Property Damages by Hazard 

$4,000,000 $3,512,069 

$3,500,000 

"' Q) 
~ 

$3,000,000 
$2,462,414 

C'O $2,500,000 E 
C'O 
Cl $2,000,000 
>-
t:: 
Q) $1,500,000 
C. 

e 
$1,000,000 c.. 

$500,000 

$0 

$25,611 $0 
,,..,, - $519,207 $360,876 

$~ $1~ 5 $~ • $~ • 

Hazard 

Crop Damages by Hazard 

$6,000,000 $5,319,473 

$5,000,000 
VI 
Q.) 

$4,000,000 OJ) 
ro 
E 

$3,000,000 ro 
0 $1,897,695 
c.. 

$2,000,000 0 .... 
u 

$1,000,000 
$0 

I $413,914 
$0 $0 

- $~ 
$0 - - - $120 $4,576 $20,395 - - -

Hazard 



Table 4-5 summarizes all of the above information in a table. 

Table 4-5 SHELDUS Summary Table 

Hazard Events Crop Damage Property Damage Total Damage 
Avalanche 4 $0 $25,611 $25,611 
Drought 1 $1,897,695 $0 $1,897,695 
Flooding 12 $413,914 $3,512,069 $3,925,983 

Hail 1 $120 $120 $239 
Landslide 3 $0 $12,995 $12,995 
Lightning 4 $0 $2,856 $2,856 

Severe Thunderstorm 13 $120 $519,207 $519,327 
Wildfire 1 $4,576 $5,719 $10,295 

Wind 29 $20,395 $360,876 $381,271 
Winter Weather 36 $5,319,473 $2,462,414 $7,781,887 

Total 104 $7,656,291 $6,901,868 $14,558,159 
 

4.5.3. HIRA Summary 

The following Table 4-6 summarizes key takeaways and identified gaps from each hazard profile for the 
County. 

Table 4-6 HIRA Summary Table 

Hazard Key Takeaways Identified Gaps 

Avalanche 

The southern County high country 
(unincorporated County), particularly Highway 
550 is the most at-risk area to this hazard. Overall, 
the County ranks 5th in avalanche fatalities in 
Colorado and the hazard remains a significant risk 
to public safety. Cost of avalanche clean up and 
impacts of road closures to businesses can result 
in losses to the County. With continued interested 
in backcountry recreation, the exposure to this 
hazard is likely to increase. 

The CAIC tracks avalanche 
activity closely in Colorado, 
however, monetary loss 
information for avalanche 
events is largely unavailable 
aside from SHELDUS, which 
only provides county-wide, 
summarized information. Data 
discussing the trickle-down 
impact of road closures due to 
avalanches to local businesses 
is unavailable. 

Dam Failure 

There are three low, one significant, and one high 
hazard dam in the County; one non-jurisdictional 
dam; and 93 livestock water tank and erosion 
control dams. The Town of Ridgway is 
downstream from two low hazard dams and the 
City of Ouray downstream from one low hazard 
dam. Montrose is the closest town downstream 

With a lack of previous 
occurrences, it is difficult to 
quantify potential losses and 
impacts for this hazard. Access 
to GIS based inundation maps 
is limited to high hazard dams, 
so the loss estimate is not 

   116



Hazard Key Takeaways Identified Gaps 

from the significant and high hazard dams. 
Development in areas downstream of low hazard 
dams may increase their hazard rating. No 
previous occurrences of dam failure have 
happened in Ouray County. 

representative of all dams in 
the County.  Also as previously 
mentioned, flood event 
inundation mapping is 
currently not available for any 
dams. 

Debris Flow 

Debris flows are a significant concern for the City 
of Ouray and directly surrounding areas, although 
they can occur at many locations throughout the 
County. Other known problem areas for debris 
flows are County Roads 5 and 7 southwest of 
Ridgway, County Road 17 near Corbett Creek, and 
State Highways 62 and 145. The closure of roads 
due to debris flows is a major concern for access 
in and out of the County. Debris flows are closely 
related to flooding events in the County, and will 
continue to occur every year. 

GIS data was not available 
during this Plan update. 
Without this information loss 
estimates and precise mapping 
of locations and facilities at risk 
is difficult. 

Drought 

Drought can impact all jurisdictions in the County. 
The County experienced notable drought in 2018 
which caused impacts such as decreased 
recreation due to dry conditions in national 
forests, as well as impacts on the ranching 
community. Drought can be expected to continue 
to occur as a part of Colorado’s natural climate as 
well as be exacerbated due to climate change. 
Secure water resources for future conditions will 
be very important to mitigate against the impacts 
of drought. 

A lack of quantitative loss 
information, particularly for 
the business community, 
makes estimating losses due to 
drought difficult. Additionally, 
multiple methods of reporting 
drought and lack of coherent, 
long-term data specific for the 
County, lead to a lack of 
thorough previous records of 
significant drought. 

Earthquake 

There are several faults in and around Ouray 
County capable of producing damaging 
earthquakes. There have been 12 previous 
earthquakes recorded in the County producing 
damages such as cracked plaster, chimneys, and 
windows; fallen pictures from walls; broken 
dishes; and damages to the Ridgway school 
ceiling. The Hazus analysis resulted in an 
estimated $42.77 million in economic losses from 
a 2,500-year return period, magnitude 6.25 
earthquake in the County. It is assumed the 
highest amounts of losses to be the jurisdictions, 
with more building stock and historic buildings. 

GIS data that dates back 
beyond 1973 would be 
beneficial to visualize the 
spatial distribution of previous 
earthquakes and determine a 
more precise determination of 
locations at risk. Additionally, 
with the County being a single 
Census Tract, it is not possible 
to determine jurisdictional 
losses, also contributing to a 
less precise determination of 

   117



Hazard Key Takeaways Identified Gaps 

Other areas of concern are the Ridgway Reservoir 
and the Ridgway School District, which stated its 
ageing buildings may not be able to withstand an 
earthquake, putting students and staff at risk. 

places within the County at 
risk. 

Extreme 
Temperatures 

Extremely cold temperatures are more prevalent 
in the County than extreme heat and all 
jurisdictions have similar exposure to both 
extreme cold and extreme heat. Extreme cold can 
impact both people and structures, causing issues 
like burst water pipes. Extreme heat primarily 
impacts human health and can be deadly. The 
influx of tourists during the summer months 
visiting for outdoor activities may not be prepared 
for extreme heat due to Ouray County’s typically 
moderate climate and are particularly vulnerable 
to extreme heat events. 

Extreme cold and extreme 
heat events happen more 
frequently in the County than 
is recorded (especially extreme 
cold). A more accurate 
description of previous 
occurrences and losses would 
aid in more thoroughly 
portraying risk and losses from 
this hazard. 

Flooding 

Flash flooding from thunderstorm events and 
snowmelt driven flooding are of particular 
concern to the County. Several creeks surrounding 
the City of Ouray cause flooding, which is also 
closely related to the debris flow hazard. Debris 
blocking creeks causing flooding is also a high 
concern for the County. According to the Hazus 
analysis, the County can experience an estimated 
$30.3 million in economic losses from a 1% annual 
chance flood. The City of Ouray is estimated to 
experience the most in losses. SHELDUS reports 
$3,925,983 in losses from flooding in the County, 
which is the second highest damage amount 
(behind winter weather) across the SHELDUS 
reported hazards. 

Ouray County does not have 
an official DFIRM that can be 
incorporated into GIS for 
analysis. A DFIRM would 
improve the GIS analysis for 
this profile. Additionally, 
census blocks in Ouray County 
are large, which impact the 
results from the Hazus analysis 
and make it difficult for 
detailed location specific loss 
estimates throughout the 
entire County. 

Landslide/ 
Rockfall 

Landslides and rockfall are of particular concern to 
the City of Ouray and nearby unincorporated 
County. There have been over $1 million in 
recorded damages from rockfall, which is likely a 
low estimate. The Town of Ridgway and Ridgway 
School District are less impacted by this hazard. 
The impact on transportation routes, such as the 
closure of Highway 550 or County Road 17 are 
major concerns for the County since those are the 
only two ways in and out. At the time of writing 

A rockfall study determining 
locations of previous rockfall 
as well as hazard areas at the 
County or City scale available 
in GIS would be beneficial for 
mitigating against this hazard. 
Additionally, recorded losses 
for landslide/rockfall are 
under-reported and do not 

   118



Hazard Key Takeaways Identified Gaps 

this Plan, County Road 17 has been closed just 
north of the City of Ouray for months. 
Additionally, the impact of landslides/rockfall on 
critical infrastructure, such as gas or power lines, 
significantly impacts the County. Rockfall 
originating on USFS owned land is a concern for 
the City of Ouray, and a study pinpointing precise 
rockfall hazard locations would be beneficial. 

represent the full potential for 
damages from this hazard. 

Lightning 

Although there is not extensive previous 
occurrences or losses from lightning events 
lightning will continue to occur every summer in 
the County. The extensive outdoor activities 
during the summer months when most lightning 
strikes occur, continues to put people at risk to 
this hazard across all jurisdictions. Additionally, a 
lightning-caused wildfire could cause major 
damages and losses in the County. 

 

Public Health 
Emergencies 

A pandemic flu event could significantly impact 
the population of the County, and in turn impact 
the economy. Typically, denser areas are at a 
higher risk to the spread of a pandemic flu. 
Additionally, the students and staff at the Ridgway 
School District are more vulnerable due to the 
potential for the quick spreading of the flu in a 
school.  

There have not been any recorded cases of the 
West Nile virus in Ouray County. However, cases 
have been reported in surrounding counties 
indicating the potential for cases in Ouray. All 
individuals are at risk to the West Nile virus, 
although the elderly are at a higher risk for the 
more severe impacts from the virus. Populations 
frequently working or recreating outdoors should 
be aware of how to reduce their risk to the West 
Nile virus. 

Radon, carbon monoxide, and methane seepages 
can occur anywhere in the County, although 
methane seepages may be more likely in the 
northern and central areas. Radon, carbon 

It is difficult to determine 
specific locations of higher risk 
to radon, carbon monoxide, or 
methane seeps since most 
data is at the County or State 
scale. Loss estimates from 
public health emergencies are 
largely conceptual due to lack 
of previous occurrences and 
recorded loss data. 

   119



Hazard Key Takeaways Identified Gaps 

monoxide, and methane seepages can be deadly 
to people in the County. 

Severe Winter 
Storm 

According to the NCEI database, there were 855 
blizzard, heavy snow, winter storm, and winter 
weather events from January 1996 to January 
2019. The southern portion of the County and the 
City of Ouray typically experience more winter 
weather events than the Town of Ridgway and the 
Ridgway School District, although the entire 
County experiences severe winter weather 
annually. SHELDUS reported $7,781,887 in 
damages, which is the most out of any SHELDUS 
reported hazard. Impacts and losses can be 
expected county-wide. 

The damages from winter 
weather events are likely 
under-reported in the NCEI 
data, making it difficult to 
derive jurisdictional losses and 
how winter weather impacts 
different areas of the County. 
This may be due to the fact 
that many Ouray County 
residents are accustomed to 
and prepared for severe winter 
weather events. 

Wildfire 

Nearly the entire County is vulnerable to wildfires. 
The highest risk areas are generally in the 
northern/central parts of the County, including 
the Loghill Mesa FPD (and the community of 
Loghill Mesa) and areas surrounding the Town of 
Ridgway. The County has 2,618 parcels in 
moderate or high wildfire risk areas, with 
$1,083,030,105 in total exposure value. The 
Loghill Mesa FPD has the most number and 
highest value of parcels in these risk areas. Future 
development in the County is directed towards 
areas in the northern County with high risk to 
wildfire. In addition, climate change is increasing 
the County’s risk to wildfire. Overall, 
comprehensive mitigation techniques addressing 
forest health, current and future development, 
and climate change impacts are necessary to 
reduce wildfire risk in the County. 

The State and County has done 
extensive work to identify 
wildfire risk areas. More 
information on damages from 
previous wildfires could 
provide additional loss 
estimates for the County. 
Additionally, fully 
understanding the economic 
impact from major fires (such 
as the 416 fire) on local 
businesses could improve the 
understanding of impacts of 
fire on the business 
community. 

Windstorm 

All jurisdictions are vulnerable to wind events. The 
southern high country experiences the most high 
wind events, however, that region is largely 
undeveloped. The County has experienced 29 
wind events according to SHELDUS, which is the 
second highest number of events across all 
SHELDUS reported hazards (behind winter 

Due to reporting wind events 
in NWS zones, it is difficult to 
derive jurisdictional impacts 
and losses to wind events. 

   120



Hazard Key Takeaways Identified Gaps 

weather). The County can experience $6,689 in 
annual damages from wind. 

Hazardous 
Material 
Incident 

A transportation related hazmat release is more 
likely in the County due to a lack of fixed facilities. 
The exception is hazmat incidents related to the 
mining industry. Highways 550 and 62 are the 
most vulnerable routes to an incident. This makes 
the City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and Ridgway 
School District vulnerable to a transportation 
incident that occurs nearby. Human health and 
the impacts on the environment are the primary 
potential losses from a hazmat release. 

Although there have been 
reported incidents, there is not 
damage/loss data available for 
these incidents. Recorded 
losses would aid in 
determining vulnerability to 
this hazard. 

Mass Casualty 
Events 

A mass casualty accident could take many forms 
in the County. Accidents are a concern on the 
stretch of Highway 550 south of the City of Ouray 
due to its sharp curves, steep drop-offs, and lack 
of guard rails. Additionally, there have been plane 
crashes in the County in the past, and with the 
steep, mountainous terrain, if a plane crashes in 
the County survivors are unlikely. Mass casualty 
events can overwhelm emergency services in the 
County. 

With a lack of extensive 
previous occurrences, it is 
difficult to determine the full 
extent of vulnerabilities to this 
hazard in the County. 

Imminent 
Threat 

Targets such as critical facilities and infrastructure, 
schools, and government buildings are at a higher 
risk to imminent threats. Additionally, events that 
occur during the busy summer tourist season 
where large numbers of people are gathered in 
one area are at a risk to an attack. The County has 
had to defend against cyber-attacks in the past. 
An imminent threat event could overwhelm 
County emergency services. 

With a lack of extensive 
previous occurrences, it is 
difficult to determine the full 
extent of vulnerabilities to this 
hazard in the County. 
However, continued training 
exercises can help prepare for 
these events and assess the 
response capabilities. 

 

4.5.4. Avalanche 

Description 
An avalanche is defined as a mass of snow moving down a slope.10 An avalanche occurs when the stress 
(from gravity) trying to pull the snow downhill exceeds the strength (from bonds between snow grains) 
of the snow cover. There are four ingredients of an avalanche: a steep slope, a snow cover, a weak layer 

10 https://avalanche.org/avalanche-education/ 

   121



in the snow cover, and a trigger. About 90% of all avalanches start on slopes of 30-45 degrees and about 
98% of all avalanches occur on slopes of 25-50 degrees. Avalanches release most often on slopes above 
timberline that face away from prevailing winds (leeward slopes collect snow blowing from the 
windward sides of ridges). Avalanches can run, however, on small slopes well below timberline, such as 
gullies, road cuts, and small openings in the trees. Very dense trees can anchor the snow to steep slopes 
and prevent avalanches from starting; however, avalanches can release and travel through a moderately 
dense forest. 

Skiers, snowboarders, and snowmobile operators are most commonly associated with avalanche 
hazards. However, motorists and others not engaging in recreation are also at risk of being caught in an 
avalanche. Colorado is a top-ranking state for the avalanche hazard because of its snowfall and 
mountain recreation. 

Location 
The Colorado Avalanche Information Center (CAIC) provides avalanche forecasting zones that can be 
used to indicate the locations of avalanche danger throughout Colorado, as shown in Figure 4-7 below. 
Much of the southern and eastern portions of the County are located in the Northern San Juan 
Mountain zone. These are mountainous areas of the County that experience heavy snowfall.11 The San 
Juan Mountains that form the dramatic scenery in southern Ouray County are regarded as one of the 
most avalanche-prone regions in Colorado and rank high among the world’s other avalanche-prone 
areas.  

11 Colorado Avalanche Information Center (CAIC) 

   122



Figure 4-7 Avalanche Forecasting Zones in Colorado 

 

Southern Ouray County high country (undeveloped) and State Highway 550 over Red Mountain Pass and 
the Camp Bird Road area are particularly prone to avalanches, and the area is a popular destination for 
backcountry users. A map of the known avalanche paths affecting Highway 550, courtesy of the 
Colorado Avalanche Information Center, is provided in Figure 4-8.  

   123

b c:bon 

;!.~Utt 

Steam boa n- '-....__;;..,,--, 
f---------....._ __ 

7
and 

lat Tops 

t,tc,e 

Tel'f 



Figure 4-8 Slide Paths in the Vicinity of East Riverside Slide Affecting Highway 550 

 

 

The East Riverside slide on Red Mountain Pass is notoriously dangerous because it impacts Highway 550. 
The East Riverside slide path and the avalanche shed are shown in Figure 4-9. 

Figure 4-9 East Riverside Slide Path and Snow Shed on Highway 550 

 

   124



Extent 
The North American Avalanche Danger Scale (Figure 4-10) is used by the U.S. and Canada to 
communicate the potential for avalanches to cause harm or injury.12 Understanding avalanche 
conditions can help prevent injuries from occurring, however, once an avalanche is triggered it has a 
sudden onset making them difficult to escape from.  

Figure 4-10 North American Public Avalanche Danger Scale 

 

Previous Occurrences 
Avalanches occur naturally every winter in the County. This discussion focuses on those avalanches that 
have collided with people or property. A detailed account of avalanche history in Ouray County has been 
compiled in Avalanche Hazard in Ouray County, Colorado 1877-1976 by Betsy Armstrong. In that report, 
62 lives were lost, and 192 people were caught in avalanches between 1877 and 1976. Thirty-three sites 
of human activity, including mines and towns, have been damaged or destroyed. The sheer number of 
deadly events illustrates the danger of avalanches in the County.  

More recently, avalanche fatalities have been due to backcountry recreation and travelers, particularly 
on Highway 550. According to the Colorado Avalanche Information Center, between 1950 and 2016, the 
County experienced 16 fatalities due to avalanches. Figure 4-11 shows the number of avalanche 
fatalities in Colorado between the winters of 1950-51 and 2015-16.13 During this time period, Ouray 
County ranked fifth in the State in avalanche fatalities. Previous occurrences of avalanche fatalities, 
injures, or damages, particularly in more recent years, are limited to unincorporated Ouray County 
where backcountry users recreate. The incorporated communities typically do not experience 
avalanches. 

12 https://avalanche.org/avalanche-encylopedia/#extreme-danger 
13 https://avalanche.state.co.us/accidents/statistics-and-reporting/ 

   125

3 Considerable 

2 Moderate 

1 Low 

Very dangerous avalanche conditions. 
Travel in avalanche terrain n2l. recommended. 

Dangerous avalanche conditions. Careful snowpack 
evaluation, cautious route-finding and conservative 
decision-making essential. 

Heightened avalanche conditions on specific terrain 
features. Evaluate snow and terrain carefully; identify 
features of concern. 

Generally safe avalanche conditions. Watch for 
unstable snow on isolated terrain features. 

Natural avalanches 
likely; human­
triggered avalanches 
very likely. 

Natural avalanches 
possible; human­
triggered avalanches 
likely. 

Natural avalanches 
unlikely; human­
triggered avalanches 
possible. 

Natural and human­
triggered avalanches 
unlikely. 

large avalanches in many 
areas; or very large 
avalanches in specific areas. 

Small avalanches in many 
areas; or large avalanches in 
specific areas; or very large 
avalanches in isolated areas. 

Small avalanches in specific 
areas; or large avalanches 
in isolated areas. 

Small avalanches in 
isolated areas or extreme 
terrain. 

https://avalanche.state.co.us/accidents/statistics-and-reporting/


Figure 4-11 Colorado Avalanche Fatalities by County, 1950 to 2016 

 

Significant events since the 2015 Plan are noted below. Some incidents may have occurred just outside 
of Ouray County but may have involved Ouray first responders. Significant events previous to the 2015 
Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan can be found in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. 

• March 2019 – Historic snow totals triggered avalanches and snow slides along Highway 550 
south of Ouray. Additionally, during avalanche mitigation along the highway, CDOT crews 
triggered slides that piled snow and debris as high as 60 feet over a 300-foot section of the 
highway. These slides caused Highway 550 to close for 23 miles between the City of Ouray and 
Silverton, impacting business on the south side of the town. This closed off Ouray to virtually 
everything south of town.14   

• January 5, 2019 – An avalanche on Upper Senator Beck Basin, northwest of Red Mountain Pass 
caught six skiers. When the avalanche caught Skier 1, his ski bindings released and he fell 
forward, traveling head downhill on his belly. He was under the snow at times, but rose to the 
surface as the debris stopped. He lost both skis and one ski pole. He was carried to the bottom 
of the slope. When the first avalanche stopped, Skier 1 was partially buried, not critical (his head 
was not under avalanche debris). He stood up and saw a second avalanche coming at him from 
an adjacent slope. The debris from the second avalanche ran over the debris of the first 
avalanche, but stopped short of Skier 1. The first avalanche caught Skier 2 and carried him to the 

14 https://weather.com/news/news/2019-03-12-avalanches-cut-off-colorado-town-ouray 

   126

Colorado Avalanche Fatalities by County 
1950-51 to 2015-16 

1. Pitkin 
2. Summit 
3. Clear Creek 
4 . Gunnison 
5. Ouray 
6. Eagle 
7. Chaffee 

2 8. Lake 
9. Grand 
10. San Miguel/Larimer 

1 

1 

https://weather.com/news/news/2019-03-12-avalanches-cut-off-colorado-town-ouray


bottom of the slope. The rest of the group was preoccupied with their own involvement in the 
slide, so we do not know Skier 2's condition at the end of the first avalanche. The second 
avalanche overran Skier 2’s position in the debris of the first avalanche. The avalanche carried 
Skiers 3, 4, 5, and 6 between 15 and 20 feet downhill. The debris around them remained in large 
blocks, several feet thick and up to 12 feet wide. Skiers 3, 4, 5, and 6 stood up in the blocks of 
debris and looked around. They saw the second avalanche overrunning the debris of the first 
avalanche, but could not see Skiers 1 and 2. The rescue effort included members from Ouray 
County Search and Rescue, San Juan County Search and Rescue, La Plata County Search and 
Rescue, Careflight, and the Colorado Avalanche Information Center.15 

Probability 
Avalanches occur every winter in Ouray County. However, avalanches causing death or damages are less 
frequent. Based on the CAIC avalanche fatality data, from 1950 to 2016 there have been 16 fatalities in 
Ouray County, or a 24% annual chance of occurrence. This equates to a probability of “likely.” The 
probability of occurrence is highest in unincorporated Ouray County, specifically around Highway 550 
south of the City of Ouray. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Avalanches pose a serious threat to backcountry recreationists, and frequently close State Highway 550 
over Red Mountain Pass. The closures inconvenience travelers and commerce, but serve to minimize life 
safety impacts as avalanche control work is done by CDOT. However, road closures due to avalanche 
activity can result in serious transportation disruptions due to the limited number of roads within the 
County. State Highway 145 at Lizard Head Pass in San Miguel County often experiences avalanche 
closures during the same time as Highway 550, thus obstructing all access to the County from the south 
and west. Stranded travelers or commuters are often faced with a lack of lodging availability. 
Backcountry avalanche incidents involve search and rescue teams and resources, which can put these 
personnel in areas of risk. 

Additionally, Ouray County is known as a worldwide destination for ice climbing. Many of the climbs are 
at the bottom of avalanche chutes, thus climbers may not be aware of dangers lurking high above them. 

The keys to limiting impacts to individuals recreating in the area are knowledge and awareness of the 
hazard and being properly equipped for self-rescue, if necessary, with tools such as locater beacons, 
shovels, and probes. 

In addition, the County experiences challenges with managing the impacts of avalanches due to the 
multi-jurisdictional nature of an event. For example, the 2019 avalanches originated on USFS land, 
crosses CDOT highway, and then impacts the City of Ouray through debris clogging creeks.  

Potential Losses 
It is public safety that is threatened the most by this hazard. Those most vulnerable include individuals 
recreating in and traveling through or under avalanche hazard areas. While road closures help to 
mitigate impacts to travelers on Highway 550, CDOT snowplow drivers can still be exposed while 
clearing roads of snow or avalanche debris. Additionally, costs associated with the removal of the 
avalanche debris can be significant. Avalanches inside and outside of the County can disrupt 

15 CAIC 

   127



transportation in and out of the County, which negatively impacts residents, businesses, and travelers 
and may result in economic losses to local businesses in the County.  

The only available loss information is SHELDUS data. According to this data, there has been $25,611 
(2017 dollars) in property damages from avalanches in Ouray County from 1960 to 2017, equating to 
approximately $450 in annual damages. No further information regarding these damages is provided by 
SHELDUS. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The County’s vulnerability to this hazard has fluctuated with development trends in the County, 
specifically as they relate to the mining industry. When the mining activity subsided considerably, so did 
the deaths and damage from avalanches. A renewed interest in mining is occurring in the Camp Bird 
Road area, and the County has been pressured to keep the road plowed year-round to allow access to 
the high-country area. This has the potential to put County road crews, and miners and mining 
infrastructure, at risk. Mining companies contract with Helitrax for avalanche control by helicopter, but 
the LPC noted that safety concerns remain.  

Aside from mining concerns, avalanches primarily occur in the steep, remote, unincorporated portions 
of the County, and on public land that is not subject to development. The primary concern with the 
avalanche hazard is the continued interest in backcountry recreation, particularly on the Red Mountain 
Pass area, which is subject to avalanches. 

Climate Change 

According to the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan, climate change may impact avalanches in 
the following way: 

“Avalanche officials in several western states have noticed a pattern associated with increased 
avalanche risk.16 Snow occurs early in the winter and is then followed by a long period without snow. 
This creates a thin snowpack that becomes structurally weaker as winter goes on. New layers of snow 
may not bond well to the weak base layer, creating prime conditions for avalanches. As Colorado 
experiences winters with higher average temperatures and lower average precipitation, these 
conditions that increase avalanche risk become more common.” 

With avalanches being prevalent every winter in Ouray County and winter backcountry recreation 
remaining popular, it will be imperative for avalanche forecasters to monitor these changes and 
incorporate them into avalanche predictions and education in the future. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 

16 Freedman, Andrew. “Avalanches Taking Toll; Foreshadowing the Future?” February 24, 
2012. http://www.climatecentral.org/news/thin-snowpack-in-the-west-raises-avalancherisks 

   128



or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-7 Avalanche Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 1 1 3 L 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 1 3 L 
Unincorporated County 2 1 2 5 M 

 

4.5.5. Dam Failure 

Description 
Dam failure incidents involve unintended releases or surges of impounded water. Dam failure can be 
caused by rainfall, earthquakes, blockages, animal activity (such as burrowing), landslides, lack of 
maintenance, improper operation, poor construction, vandalism, and terrorism.  

Dam failures can be arranged into four classifications: overtopping, foundation failure, structural failure, 
and other unforeseen failures. Overtopping failures result from the uncontrolled flow of water over, 
around, and adjacent to the dam. Earthen dams are most susceptible to this type of failure. Hydraulic 
failures account for approximately 28% of all dam failures. Foundation and structural failures are usually 
tied to seepage through the foundation of the main structure of the dam. Deformation of the 
foundation or settling of the embankment can also result in dam failure. Structural failures account for 
approximately 28% of all dam failures, and foundation problems account for another 25%. Earthquakes 
or sabotage account for 12% of all dam failures, while inadequate design and construction account for 
the remaining 7% of failures. According to the Association of State Dam Safety Officials, the average age 
of dams in the U.S. is 51 years. This means many dams are likely reaching their useful life cycle and are 
in need of maintenance.  

Dams are classified through the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) based upon hazard potential. This 
classification is based on the consequences if the dam were to fail, not the potential of failure, or the 
existing condition of the dam. The dams are rated (1) high, (2) significant, or (3) low hazard. The Army 
Corps of Engineers based the hazard potential designation on such items as acre-feet capacity of the 
dam, distance from nearest community downstream, population density of the community, and age of 
the dam.  

• High Hazard Dam Failure: In case of failure of the dam, the dam would likely cause loss of life.  
• Significant Hazard Dam Failure: Dam would, in case of failure, likely cause significant property 

damage, but no loss of life.  
• Low Hazard Dam Failure: Dam would likely cause only minimal property damage. Hazard 

potential classification is no guarantee of safety. 

Location 
According to the Colorado Division of Water Resources, Dam Safety, as of April 16, 2019, there are five 
jurisdictional dams in Ouray County. A jurisdictional dam is a dam creating a reservoir with a capacity of 

   129



more than 100 acre-feet, or creates a reservoir with a surface area in excess of 20 acres at the high-
water line, or exceeds 10 feet in height measured vertically from the elevation of the lowest point of the 
natural surface of the ground where that point occurs along the longitudinal centerline of the dam up to 
the crest of the emergency spillway of the dam.17 Three of these dams are low hazard, one significant 
hazard, and one high hazard. Both the significant and high hazard dams have an Emergency Action Plan 
(EAP). These dams are listed in Table 4-8. 

Table 4-8 Jurisdictional Dams in Ouray County 

Dam Name Stream Downstream 
Town 

Hazard 
Class EAP EAP Date 

Carroll Brown Spring Creek Ridgway Low Not 
Required  

Chaffe Gulch 
Detention #6 Chaffee Gulch Ridgway Low Not 

Required  

Ouray Uncompahgre 
River Ouray Low Not 

Required  

Ridgway Uncompahgre 
River Montrose High Yes 9/20/2017 

Cornerstone Pond 
No. 4 Cottonwood Montrose Significant Yes 1/11/2008 

 

Additionally, there is one non-jurisdictional dam in the County. A non-jurisdictional dam is a dam 
creating a reservoir with a capacity of 100 acre-feet or less and a surface area of 20 acres or less and 
with a height measured as defined in Rules 4.2.5.1 and 4.2.19 of 10 feet or less.18 This dam is the 
Chimney Peak Ranch Dam (Forgotten Reservoir) on Nate Creek and has a low hazard class. 

These dams are mapped in Figure 4-12 below. 

17 https://data.colorado.gov/Water/DWR-Dam-Safety-Jurisdictional-Dam/mgjv-xmr5 
18 https://data.colorado.gov/Water/DWR-Dam-Safety-Non-Jurisdictional-Dam/6smc-zj6j 

   130

https://data.colorado.gov/Water/DWR-Dam-Safety-Jurisdictional-Dam/mgjv-xmr5
https://data.colorado.gov/Water/DWR-Dam-Safety-Non-Jurisdictional-Dam/6smc-zj6j


Figure 4-12 Dams in Ouray County 

 

   131

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

Highway 

• Water Body 

County 

Dams in Ouray County 

Dams by Hazard Class 

• High 

• Significant 

• Low 

0 5 10 

•c:::::J•c:::::J•----- Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE e EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Lastly, there are 93 livestock water tank and erosion control dams in the County. These structures 
include all reservoirs built after April 17, 1941, on watercourses which the state engineer has 
determined to be "normally dry" and having a capacity of not more than ten acre-feet and a vertical 
height not exceeding fifteen feet from the bottom of the channel to the bottom of the spillway.19 

Additionally, there are two dams that were identified by the LPC that are not included in the Colorado 
Dam Safety database. The Full Moon dam, located south of the City of Ouray on Crystal Lake, and a 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) regulated dam also south of the City of Ouray. 

Extent 
As mentioned previously, extent can be measured using the ratings of high, significant, and low hazard 
dams. Additionally, extent can be measured by factors such as speed of onset and warning time. The 
speed of onset depends on the type of failure. If a dam is inspected regularly then small leaks allow for 
adequate warning time. Once a dam is breached, however, failure and resulting flooding occurs rapidly. 
Dams can fail at any time of year, but the results are most catastrophic when the dams fill or overtop 
during winter or spring rain/snowmelt events. 

Previous Occurrences 
There is no history of previous dam failures in Ouray County. However, there have been over 130 known 
dam failures in Colorado since 1890. 

Probability 
Based on no previous occurrences, the probability of a dam failure in the County is unlikely. However, as 
dams age and as development occurs, it is still important to consider the impacts of a failure event. 
Although low probability of occurrence, a dam failure could cause devastating impacts. 

Vulnerability Assessment  
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Dam failures can result in downstream flooding. Water released by a failed dam generates tremendous 
energy and can cause a flood that is catastrophic to life and property. Three factors that influence the 
potential severity of a full or partial dam failure are the amount of water impounded; the density, type, 
and value of downstream development and infrastructure; and the nature of the terrain between the 
dam and the downstream development. A dam failure event can dislodge trees and boulders, carrying 
them downstream into developed areas. 

A catastrophic dam failure could challenge local response capabilities and require evacuations to save 
lives. Impacts to life safety would depend on the warning time and the resources available to notify and 
evacuate the public and could include major loss of life and potentially catastrophic damage to roads, 
bridges, and homes. Associated water quality and health concerns could also be an issue. 

Ridgway Dam is the only high hazard dam in the County. If this dam were to fail, the Uncompahgre River 
valley downstream of Ridgway Reservoir would be inundated. The greatest impacts would be in 
Montrose County to the north of Ouray County. The proximity of this dam to potentially active faults has 
led the Bureau of Reclamation to regularly monitor the dam and microseismicity of the area (see 
earthquake profile). The core of the Ridgway Dam has been designed to withstand a M 8.0 earthquake. 
Ridgway Dam has an electronic notification system that would alert the Bureau of Reclamation in the 

19 https://data.colorado.gov/Water/DWR-Livestock-Water-Tank-and-Erosion-Control-Dams/r2rp-ecjb 

   132

https://data.colorado.gov/Water/DWR-Livestock-Water-Tank-and-Erosion-Control-Dams/r2rp-ecjb


event of a problem with the dam from an earthquake. The abutments have been shored up and an 
inactive fault below the dam was filled in during construction. Seismic monitoring is ongoing.  

Ouray Reservoir was an old power generating facility that has silted in. Lake Lenore is not listed in the 
state or federal databases, but the LPC feels that this dam could impact the Dexter Creek drainage if it 
failed. 

The Full Moon dam contains a small volume of water and was drilled for testing in 2007. The dam 
underwent repairs and improvements related to safety in 2013. Improvements to the outlet system 
allowed shutoff during an emergency and spillway improvements to double the capacity with additional 
rip rap to retard future erosion. Repairs were conducted by a Bureau of Reclamation team from Provo, 
Utah, that specializes in dam repair. Expenditures for the project are estimated at $300,000.  

Cornerstone dam in the northern County was recently constructed in 2006-2007 and is rated as a 
significant hazard dam. It could impact Government Springs Road and one home below it. Other homes 
further downstream could be damaged, but the risk is not considered life threatening. 

Both Cornerstone and Ridgway dams have emergency action plans.  

All jurisdictions contain a dam or are located downstream from a dam in the County, therefore all 
jurisdictions are at risk to the impacts from this hazard. The Town of Ridgway is downstream from two 
low hazard dams and the City of Ouray downstream from one low hazard dam. Montrose (Montrose 
County) is downstream from the only high and significant hazard dams in the County. In addition, 
inundation areas for high hazard dams are available through Colorado Dam Safety. These areas are 
mapped in Appendix E (FOUO). Based on this data, portions of northern unincorporated County, 
following Highway 550 into Montrose County, are at risk to dam inundation from the Ridgway dam. The 
Highway could experience significant damages, which could cut off access to the County from the north. 
Based on this data, there are 84 parcels in the inundation area. 

Additionally, Colorado Dam Safety has performed several analyses of dam failure risk throughout the 
State. First, the social vulnerability of populations in the event of a dam failure were analyzed for high 
and significant hazard dams across the State. Social vulnerability was measured based on factors such as 
age (under 5/over 65), race and ethnicity, percent living in group quarters, population, population 
density, income, English speaking ability, percent of population living in mobile homes, and more. The 
only dam included in this analysis in Ouray County was the Ridgway dam, which received a social 
vulnerability score of 2.1, which equates to a “medium-high” social vulnerability. Colorado Dam Safety 
also analyzed population at risk to dam failure. For the Ridgway dam 13,446 people were determined at 
risk, some of which are in Montrose County.  

Lastly, Colorado Dam Safety conducted a first of its kind analysis to determine risk from high hazard 
dams during a range of release scenarios. Recent flooding events in Colorado in 2013 and 2015, and 
nationwide in 2017, have highlighted cases where excessive reservoir inflows caused dam spillway flows 
at dams to exceed normal rates and/or required controlled releases of water to lower reservoir levels. In 
some of these cases hazardous conditions developed in the channels and floodplains downstream of the 
dams and emergency actions were required. Although all high hazard dams in Colorado have dam failure 
inundation maps to delineate flooding limits for dam failures, no mapping exists nor is it required to be 
developed for the range of releases that might be anticipated to occur during flooding events. The 

   133



“Colorado High Hazard Dam Release – Downstream Floodplain Impacts Database and Ranking Tool” was 
created to begin to fill this gap. This database and ranking tool provides a screening level assessment of 
the potential for hazardous conditions downstream of high hazard dams throughout the state. It 
provides a ranking of high hazard dams where there is either a high, moderate or low likelihood of the 
existence of dangerous conditions created by dam and reservoir release operations simultaneously with 
naturally occurring flood conditions. Overall, 367 dams were analyzed, and in Ouray County, the 
Ridgway dam ranked 159th. This indicates a relative medium risk for the dam compared to other dams in 
the State for downstream floodplain impacts. 

Potential Losses 
Since there has not been documented previous occurrences of dam failures in Ouray County, there are 
not annual loss estimates available for this Plan. Significant losses could occur from a dam failure, 
including (but not limited to) building damage, flooding, infrastructure damage, and potential deaths 
and injuries. 

Based on Colorado Dam Safety inundation data, as mentioned previously, there are 84 parcels located in 
the Ridgway dam inundation limits. These parcels have $26,598,530 in total exposure value 
(improvement value plus estimated contents value). This represents a worst-case scenario assuming all 
parcels were impacted from a dam inundation event at the Ridgway dam.   

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

Although dam failures are a relatively low frequency hazard, future development could still be 
threatened if structures are built in inundation zones. Flooding due to a dam failure event is likely to 
exceed the special flood hazard areas regulated through local floodplain ordinances. Jurisdictions should 
consider the dam failure hazard when permitting development downstream of the high and significant 
hazard dams. One important fact to note is that low hazard dams could become significant or high 
hazard if development occurs below them.  

Regular monitoring of dams, exercising and updating of Emergency Action Plans (EAPs), and rapid 
response to problems when detected at dams are ways to mitigate the potential impacts of these rare, 
but potentially catastrophic, events. 

Climate Change 

Dams and other hydrologic containment structures are designed based on calculations of a river’s flow 
behavior, and any changes in weather patterns can have significant effects on the hydrologic 
information used for the design of a dam. Although there is no consensus that annual mean 
precipitation will increase in Colorado due to climate change, it is possible that precipitation may 
increasingly come in the form of extreme storms. Extreme precipitation events may result in large floods 
that could stress dams, and thus potentially increase the risk of failure of these structures. In the last 
100 years, overtopping due to inadequate or improperly designed spillways is the leading cause of dam 
failure and resulting loss of life.20 The 2018 Colorado-New Mexico Regional Extreme Precipitation Study 
utilized an updated methodology to more accurately predict extreme precipitation events for dam 

20 Colorado-New Mexico Regional Extreme Precipitation Study (REPS) handout; 
https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/outreach/resources/handouts/co-nm-precip-handout-psd.pdf 

   134

https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/outreach/resources/handouts/co-nm-precip-handout-psd.pdf


safety. This study also utilized the latest climate predictions and science for the region to incorporate 
into the model. These methods and results can be utilized to more accurately predict dam failures due 
to extreme precipitation events in the face of a changing climate.  

Additionally, the structural integrity of earthfill dams may be compromised by climate change impacts 
such as drought and severe storms. Changes in vegetation and prolonged drying due to drought, 
embankment erosion due to severe storms, and more extreme fluctuations in water levels due to severe 
storms and increased frequency of drought all make earthfill dams vulnerable to climate change. The 
structural integrity of non-erodible dams, such as concrete, are less vulnerable to climate change, but 
extreme temperatures may lead to cracking or joint movement.21 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-9 Dam Failure Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 1 1 3 L 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 1 3 L 
Unincorporated County 2 2 2 6 M 

 

4.5.6. Debris Flow 

Description 
Debris flows are among the most destructive geologic processes that occur in mountainous areas. A 
debris flow is a mass of water and earth materials that flows down a stream, ravine, canyon, arroyo, or 
gulch. Technically if more than half of the solids in the mass are larger than sand grains (e.g., rocks, 
stones, boulders) the event is called a debris flow, otherwise it is called a mudslide or mudflow. For the 
purposes of this plan the term debris flow is meant to be a global term to include mudslides/mudflows. 
Many of Colorado’s older mountain communities built in major mountain valleys are located on or near 
debris fans. A debris fan is a conical landform produced by successive mud and debris flow deposits, and 
the likely spot for a future event. Three of the five conditions necessary for debris flows to occur: (1) 
steep slopes, (2) loose rock and soil material, and (3) clay minerals, are adequately met by the 
geography and geology in the Ouray area. The last two conditions for debris-flow occurrence: (4) 

21 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan 

   135



sufficient antecedent soil moisture, and (5) rainfall of sufficient intensity and duration to initiate slope 
movement, are provided by snowmelt and intense summer thunderstorms. 

The debris flow problem can be exacerbated by wildfires that remove vegetation that serves to stabilize 
soil from erosion. Heavy rains on the denuded landscape can lead to rapid development of destructive 
mudflows. 

Location 
Due to the geology and steep topography in Ouray County, debris flows occur in the southern portion of 
the County, particularly in and around the City of Ouray and the Highway 550 corridor, following heavy 
rains. The City of Ouray and surrounding areas have been developed near debris fans since it was 
founded in 1875. According to the Colorado Geological Survey’s (CGS) Special Publication 30: Debris-
Flow Hazard in the Immediate Vicinity of Ouray, Colorado (1986 Candace Jochim author), there are eight 
creeks and several smaller basins and gullies that directly affect the City of Ouray, including Portland, 
Cascade, Skyrocket, Canyon, Oak, Bridalveil, Corbett, and Dexter. The main part of the City is located on 
the debris fans of Portland, Cascade, and Oak Creeks (the corporate limits include Skyrocket and 
Bridalveil Creeks). These creeks are mapped in Figure 4-13 below. 

   136



Figure 4-13 Creeks Impacting the City of Ouray Debris Flows 

 

Debris flow hazard areas have been studied and mapped in CGS Special Publication 30. The maps detail 
very high, high, and moderate to low hazard zones. The majority of the Bridalveil Creek Fan and 
Skyrocket Creek Fan are designated “very high hazard.” The Cascade Creek and Portland Creek fans, 
upon which most of the City of Ouray is built, are designated as “high hazards.” No GIS data was 
available for this Plan update. Figure 4-14 shows debris fans in the City of Ouray and its vicinity, 
provided by the CGS.  

   137

N 

A 

~ 

Q 

Creeks Impacting the City o . f Ouray Debris Flows 

/ 

Oak creek, 

,l 
Creeks 

City of Ouray 
0 -Highway 

0.5 1 -

cket c.i:eek 
skyro 

M iles 
Q CDRIMAC.UIAE e' EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-14 Debris Flow Hazard in the City of Ouray 

 

Additionally, The Corbett Creek fan and Dexter Creek fan are debris flow-susceptible areas in the 
unincorporated County. According to the LPC, County Roads 5 and 7 southwest of Ridgway require 
regular repairs and inspection due to damage from debris flows. County Road 17 near Corbett Creek has 
also been impacted several times in the past. Mudslides have also overrun and closed State Highways 62 
and 145 several times a year. No GIS data was available for this Plan, therefore the county-level mapping 
of debris fans from the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan is shown in Figure 4-15 below. 

   138

Colurado~-..1 .Wr"''l' 
O<>f>"<l_,,1,,f N,.hnMIR,,,...,,.,.. 

J.,hll W.KoM,Uifft·tor 

Map A: Generalir.ed C.eologic Map Showing 
.[')r,ebffl-Flow Ordloa,ge BasJ.m; and Oebm Sources 

h .•• .... • ... ~,-~ , ~•• . '''" _____ .,,...,.,. ... ., ,., .. ,, ... 
«a•"""' ·•••<>• .. ••·• ­" . ~.,. ,.,.. ....... ,..~,,..,, 

I l ,1 .. n....,..;-c, U<J(I" ' o·r.r •I>><> 
.... ~ ~.., ,,_,.._ --••<' 
"""'"''""''~', .. ~ - -......, .... ~-, 

"' ·: c""~" 
~ '•'-''""""'·•r·••• 
ri,,; .... ., ... 

r'5.7 "'""'"'""""' "'"'~· Lll:_. ",'•' .... .... 

l.K.... "-"'···• ·- ... ., •.. 

Debris-Flow Hazard in the Immediate Vicinity of Ouray, Colorado 

Hy 
Ca11doce l. Jochim 

" " !"'' 

Map 8: Map Showing 
Gener.Ii.zed Haz.utl Zones for 
IMJori5 FiWlli In Study Arucl - ·-·•···'"""~"~ - --·-·· = ............. ,, .. _ ..... _. ,, .. ,..,.,.. ... ...,...,,,.. 

, .. _..,,.n""''"'"""""...,,~ . -~·-··"'"" ~, .. , .... 
!": -~-•;•· ~ .. .:·.:::.. -·· <1,,, 

.,. K> O>C> K ,O 



Figure 4-15 Debris Fans in Ouray County 

 

   139

Cl Fire Protection Districts 

Streams 
Lakes 
Local Roads 

- Major Roads 
- Highways 
[:] Municipalities 

• Counties 

amec.'3 
0 

Map compiled 8/2013; intended for planning purposes only. 
Data Source: Ouray County, COOT, NHD, USGS 

10 Miles 

A 



Extent 
Debris flows can occur rapidly with little warning during torrential rains. Debris and mudflows generally 
occur with floods and downpours associated with the late summer monsoon season. The CGS report 
identifies debris flow hazard areas based on the following scale: 

• Very High Hazard Zone—This is the zone of greatest hazard. It is estimated that in this area the 
greatest impact from, and most frequent exposure to, debris flows and floods occurs. The zone 
is characterized by steep slopes, deposits of large boulders (greater than two feet in diameter), 
tree scars and burial, channels, levees, and lobes. Damage in this zone could include structural 
damage, such as buildings being moved off their foundations, walls and windows being broken, 
large accumulations of debris being piled in and around buildings, trees being toppled or 
severely damaged, and severe mud and water damage. Plugs of debris should be expected in 
this zone, and loss of life is possible. 

• High Hazard Zone—This is the zone of high hazard. This zone is subject to debris flows and 
floods, but does not experience the maximum impact of the events. However, events may be 
just as frequent as in the Very High Hazard Zone. The zone is generally characterized by 
moderate to steep slopes, boulders, levees, lobes, tree scars and burial, and channels. Damage 
in this zone could include moderate damage to structures resulting from the pounding of 
boulders and logs, broken windows, basements filled with mud and debris, piles of debris in and 
around structures and in yards and streets, and severe mud and water damage. 

• Moderate to Low Hazard Zone—This hazard zone is usually subjected primarily to mud and 
water flooding as a result of debris-flow events. This zone is characterized by low to moderate 
slopes, and deposits of abundant mud, and minor debris (small boulders, one foot or less and 
logs). Damage is usually comparatively minor, consisting of mud and water damage to outer 
walls of buildings, basements, and yards. 

Previous Occurrences 
The City of Ouray and Ouray County have histories of damaging mud and debris flows. Notable events 
occurred in 1878, 1909, 1927, 1929, 1951, 1965, 1971, 1973, 1981, 1982, 1984, 1988, 1998, 2002, 2003, 
2005, 2008, 2010, 2013, 2014, and 2018 with many years having more than one event. The 1929 events 
were considered the most widespread and devastating. Note that this hazard is closely related to the 
flood hazard. All of these events included heavily sediment and debris-laden flood waters between the 
plugs or pulses of mud and debris. In Jochim’s analysis of past events, the damage has been more debris 
than water related. The CGS report indicates that the 1981 and 1982 reports had damage and cleanup 
costs of $196,000 and $360,000, respectively. Those storms were considered to be 10 to 25-year storms, 
so the damage from a 100-year event would be much higher. 

Mudslides have also overrun and closed State Highways 62 and 145 several times a year, cutting off the 
County from the west. 

Events since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan are described below: 

July 8, 2018 - Around 4 to 10 feet of mud and rock covered Highway 550 about two miles south of Ouray 
as a result of heavy rainfall. A section of the highway and cribwall that supports the highway were 
destroyed from the rock slides and debris flows that occurred. Highway 550 was closed for almost 24 

   140



hours until the debris was removed, and then the highway was limited to one lane for many weeks 
thereafter as the road was repaired. This event caused $500,000 in damages.22 

August 15, 2014 - Highway 550 was closed due to a debris flow at mile marker 100 in the Uncompahgre 
River valley near Portland. Mud, trees and tires all flowed across both lanes of the roadway. 

September 4, 2013 - Heavy rainfall caused mud and debris flows in Senator Gulch past Angel Creek. 

Figure 4-16 Damage to County Road 17 from August 6, 2013 Debris Flow23 

  

There is a long history of efforts to mitigate the hazard in the City of Ouray that began with the 
construction in 1909 of channels, or flumes, to route debris and water from Portland and Cascade creeks 
through the City. Over time the impacts of repeated debris flows have degraded the flumes, and often 
the flumes would plug and divert debris into nearby property. The most recent improvements to the 
flumes were made in 2005. 

The CGS’ Critical Landslides in Colorado, A Year 2002 Review and Priority List was done as part of an 
update of the 1988 Colorado Landslide Mitigation Plan. The update is a status report on 49 locations 
believed to pose the most serious landslide risk in Colorado that were identified in the 1988 plan. The 
hazard areas (landslide/rockfall or debris flow) are categorized into three tiers. Tier one listings are 
serious cases needing immediate or ongoing action or attention because of the severity of potential 
impacts. The report lists the Ouray Town Site and vicinity debris flows in Ouray County as a Tier one 
debris flow area. This excerpt is from the report: 

22 NCEI Storm Events Database, accessed April 2019 
23 LPC 

   141



 “The main town site of Ouray is located on the coalescing debris fans of Portland and Cascade Creeks. A 
small portion of the town lying on the west side of the Uncompahgre River is on the debris fan of Oak 
Creek. Recently, the fan of Skyrocket Creek at the north edge of town was subdivided into several 
residential sites. One or more of these fans has had debris flow and flash flood events on 22 occasions 
between 1874 and 1982. Efforts were made to control the debris by construction of a timber-lined 
channel (“flume”) with a concrete bottom that was completed in 1909. These provided some protection, 
but damage continued when the flumes became clogged or overflowed. Major events occurred in 1981 
and 1983 and the decrepit flumes were overwhelmed, resulting in damage to many homes, businesses, 
and town facilities. Following these destructive events, the City received grants for design and 
replacement of the flumes with reinforced concrete structures. These new structures have yet to be 
tested by a major debris flood. They are more durable structures that will probably handle moderate-
sized events, but it remains to be seen if they can tolerate the massive debris flow plugs of major events 
without malfunctioning. Debris plug fronts 25 to 30 ft. high have been reported, and deposits at the 
highway of 40 ft. depth have occurred (Jochim, 1986).” 

“Some engineering studies and mitigation designs were made by private consultants to the developer 
before the Skyrocket fan was subdivided in 1996. A key part of the mitigation is the redesign and 
replacement of an old diversion structure above the fan. A wooden diversion structure at this location 
was built in the spring of 1929, and it failed during massive debris flows in July that same year. When the 
diversion failed, a drift of debris 40 ft. high was deposited on the highway below the fan. The new 
diversion is intended to intercept most of the debris flow volume and divert it to the north side of the 
Skyrocket fan. If this functions, it could minimize debris flow and flash flooding on the main fan that now 
contains several new homes. If it doesn’t perform as intended, these homes and older City and 
residential areas west of US Hwy 550 will continue to be in very high-hazard areas.” 

The report’s Year 2002 Evaluation and Recommendations includes: “Our recommendations in the year 
2002 are that further building of homes on the Skyrocket fan be held in abeyance until adequacy of the 
diversion structures has been tested by a major debris event or until an independent review of the 
mitigation scheme confirms it to be adequate. For other parts of Ouray and vicinity, the report and maps 
of Jochim (1986), should be consulted for guidance in land-use decisions.” 

Probability 
Debris flows in Ouray County have a 100% chance of occurrence in any year, equating to a “highly likely” 
probability. Based on the Jochim report, which analyzed past events, damaging storms occur at intervals 
of approximately 10 to 25 years. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Debris flows can damage property, close roads, and cause injuries or death. A road closed due to debris 
flow activity can result in serious transportation disruptions due to the limited number of roads in the 
County. This has happened repeatedly along County Road 17 and State Highways 62 and 145. Although 
all jurisdictions are at risk to the impacts of debris flows, the City of Ouray and the nearby Highway 550 
corridor are the most impacted areas of the County. A debris flow within the City itself could block major 
streets, making movement within the City largely impossible and severely hindering emergency 
response. When Highway 550 is closed, it severely reduces north/south access in and out of the County. 

   142



Debris flows originating from Portland and Cascade creeks, based on historic incidents, have posed a 
serious threat to the City of Ouray residents and residential and commercial property. The City of Ouray 
has done significant work on mitigating the debris flow hazard. The threat has been reduced somewhat 
by flumes that have been constructed to divert debris and flows through the City. There is still the 
potential for a large event to overwhelm these flumes, or for the flumes to be plugged with debris 
during an event, resulting in debris spilling onto local streets. The debris flow risk can also be 
significantly exacerbated by wildfires. 

More recent development on the debris fans of Skyrocket and Bridalveil creeks incorporate geotechnical 
investigations and recommendations to reduce potential impacts. Homes on the debris fans are 
protected to some degree by dredged channels with berms that divert flows. These are not engineered 
structures and could be susceptible to failure or overtopping during a large event. Skyrocket Creek 
threatens the hot springs pool, which has been filled with debris in the past. The pool is a major 
economic engine for the City and can have 300-400 visitors at a time in the busy summer months. A 
worst-case scenario would be if a debris flow struck the crowded pool. Residential development on the 
Corbett Creek and Dexter Creek debris fans could also be potentially at risk. There are currently no 
warning systems on any of the problem drainages. 

Potential Losses 
In Jochim’s analysis of past events, the damage has been more debris than water related. The CGS 
report indicates that the 1981 and 1982 reports had damage and cleanup costs of $196,000 and 
$360,000, respectively. Those storms were considered to be 10 to 25-year storms, so the damage from a 
100-year event would be much higher. The most recent event in July 2018 caused $500,000 in damages. 

With no updated GIS data for this Plan, data from the 2015 Ouray County HMP still remains as the best 
available loss estimations. A GIS analysis was conducted to determine population at risk and total 
exposure and potential losses of structures located in debris fans. Overall, it was determined that 292 
people are at risk to debris flows in the City of Ouray and 90 people in unincorporated Ouray County, for 
a total of 382 people at risk. It should be noted that population has grown since the 2010 population 
estimates used in the previous Plan (3% increase in the City of Ouray and 9% increase in unincorporated 
County). Therefore, it can be assumed the population at risk is slightly higher than the previous Plan 
estimates. Additionally, since the City of Ouray’s population swells during the summer tourism months, 
it was estimated that lodging-related tax revenues that could be lost to the City if a serious flood kept 
tourists away could be as high as $27,000 per month. Lastly, it was estimated that the City of Ouray 
contains $148,432,820 in total value of parcels located in debris fans and unincorporated County 
$38,822,795, for a total value of $187,255,615. The full debris flow analysis can be found in Appendix C – 
HIRA Appendix. 

Overall, people and structures in the City of Ouray and directly surrounding areas are most at risk to 
damaging debris flows in the County. However, there are debris fans located throughout the County, 
and any structure located near a debris fan or steep slope is at risk to losses from this hazard. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

Debris Flows are a primary concern for the City of Ouray and unincorporated County near the City. The 
City of Ouray is projected to experience population growth through 2050, but at a slow rate. Hazard 

   143



maps and land use codes have been designed to discourage development of hazard-prone areas. The 
City of Ouray has developed on high hazard debris fan areas of Skyrocket and Bridalveil creeks. 
Development has also occurred on the Corbett Creek and Cutler Creek debris fans in unincorporated 
Ouray County. 

Climate Change 

Although there is no consensus that annual mean precipitation will increase in Colorado due to climate 
change, it is possible that precipitation may increasingly come in the form of extreme storms. These 
high-intensity rainfall events could lead to increased flash flood conditions, which exacerbates the 
potential for debris flows. Additionally, climate change is contributing to an increased frequency of high-
intensity wildfires across the western United States. These high-intensity wildfires can decimate 
vegetation, which increases the risk for debris flows during a rain event. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-10 Debris Flow Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 3 3 3 9 H 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 1 3 L 
Unincorporated County 3 2 2 7 H 

 

4.5.7. Drought 

Description 
Drought is a condition of climatic dryness that is severe enough to reduce soil moisture and water below 
the minimum necessary for sustaining plant, animal, and human life systems. Influencing factors include 
temperature patterns, precipitation patterns, agricultural and domestic water supply needs, and 
growth. Lack of annual precipitation and poor water conservation practices can result in drought 
conditions. 

Drought is a complex issue involving many factors, it occurs when a normal amount of moisture is not 
available to satisfy an area’s usual water-consuming activities. Drought can often be defined regionally 
based on its effects: 

• Meteorological drought is usually defined by a period of below average water supply. 

   144



• Agricultural drought occurs when there is an inadequate water supply to meet the needs of the 
State’s crops and other agricultural operations such as livestock. 

• Hydrological drought is defined as deficiencies in surface and subsurface water supplies. It is 
generally measured as streamflow, snowpack, and as lake, reservoir, and groundwater levels. 

• Socioeconomic drought occurs when a drought impacts health, well-being, and quality of life or 
when a drought starts to have an adverse economic impact on a region. 

Due to Colorado’s semiarid conditions, drought is a natural but unpredictable occurrence in the State. 
However, because of natural variations in climate and precipitation sources, it is rare for all of Colorado 
to be deficient in moisture at the same time. Single season droughts over some portion of the State are 
common. The onset of drought in western Colorado mountainous counties is usually signaled by a lack 
of significant winter snowfall. Ouray County receives the majority of its precipitation as snow in the 
higher elevations between November and April. Hot and dry conditions that persist into spring, summer, 
and fall can aggravate drought conditions, making the effects of drought more pronounced as water 
demands increase during the growing season and summer months. 

Location 
The entire County is at risk to drought conditions including the populated areas of local water supplies 
for the City of Ouray and Town of Ridgway (domestic needs) and widespread areas of the County 
(agricultural, environmental, and recreational needs).  

Extent 
Drought is a gradual phenomenon. Although droughts are sometimes characterized as emergencies, 
they differ from typical emergency events. Most natural disasters, such as floods or wildfires, occur 
relatively rapidly and afford little time for preparing for disaster response. Droughts occur slowly, over a 
multi-year period, and can take years before the consequences are realized. It is often not obvious or 
easy to quantify when a drought begins and ends. Droughts can be a short-term event over several 
months or a long-term event that lasts for years or even decades. 

The Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) was developed by Wayne Palmer in the 1960s and uses 
temperature and rainfall information in a formula to determine dryness (Table 4-11). Over time it has 
become the semiofficial drought index for risk assessment and hazard analysis. The Palmer Index is most 
effective in determining long term drought, a matter of several months, and is not used for short-term 
forecasts (a matter of weeks). It uses a zero as normal conditions and drought is shown in terms of 
negative numbers; for example, -2 is moderate drought, -3 is severe drought, and -4 is extreme drought. 
The following table provides an overview of the Palmer Index compared to other drought classification 
systems. The return period is related to how often the type of drought typically occurs. For example, a 
minor drought occurs every three to four years. 

   145



Table 4-11 Palmer Drought Severity Index 

   Drought Monitoring Indices 

Drought 
Severity 

Return 
Period 
(years) 

Description of Possible Impacts 
Standardized 
Precipitation 

Index (SPI) 

NDMC* 
Drought 
Category 

Palmer 
Drought 

Index 

Abnormal 
Drought 

3 to 4 

Going into drought, short term 
dryness slowing growth of crops or 
pastures. Fire risk above average. 
Coming out of drought, some 
lingering water deficits, pastures or 
crops not fully recovered. 

-0.5 to -0.7 DO 
-1.0 to 

-1.9 

Moderate 
Drought 

5 to 9 

Some damage to crops or pastures, 
fire risk high, streams, reservoirs, 
or wells low, some water shortages 
developing or imminent, voluntary 
water use restrictions requested. 

-0.8 to -1.2 D1 
-2.0 to 

-2.9 

Severe 
Drought 

10 to 17 

Crop or pasture losses likely, fire 
risk very high, water shortages 
common, water restrictions 
imposed. 

-1.3 to -1.5 D2 
-3.0 to 

-3.9 

Extreme 
Drought 

18 to 43 
Major crop and pasture losses, 
extreme fire danger, widespread 
water shortages or restrictions 

-1.6 to -1.9 D3 
-4.0 to 

-4.9 

Exceptional 
Drought 

44+ 

Exceptional and widespread crop 
and pasture losses, exceptional fire 
risk, shortages of water in 
reservoirs, streams, and wells 
creating water emergencies. 

Less than 

-2.0 
D4 

-5.0 or 
less 

*National Drought Monitoring Center 

Previous Occurrences 
Previous occurrences of drought can be measured in several ways. For this Plan, previous occurrences 
were determined by reviewing precipitation averages over time to identify periods with precipitation 
amounts below the long-term average, and reviewing U.S. Drought Monitor records/current conditions. 
Drought conditions based on precipitation deficits are described in Table 4-12, indicating the top five 
years of precipitation deficit departure from the long-term average of 22.37 inches. 24 Precipitation 
deficits are also shown in Figure 4-17. It is evident significant precipitation deficits have occurred 
throughout history in Ouray County. However, recently, 2018 was the third driest year since 1895.  

24 https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/county/time-series for Ouray County 

   146

https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cag/county/time-series


Table 4-12 Precipitation Deficits 1895-2018 

1901-2000 Precipitation Average Year Total Precipitation Deficit 

22.37 in. 1900 13.24 in. 9.13 in. 

22.37 in. 1989 13.78 in. 8.59 in. 

22.37 in. 2018 15.01 in. 7.36 in. 

22.37 in. 1954 15.04 in. 7.33 in. 

22.37 in. 1956 15.26 in. 7.11 in. 

 

Figure 4-17 Precipitation Deficits 1895-2018 

 

Drought conditions based on U.S. Drought Monitor records are shown in Figure 4-18. 25 Based on this 
data, the most severe drought conditions during this timeframe occurred from approximately 2002 to 
2004, and again from 2018 to 2019. For parts of 2018, 100% of the County was experiencing exceptional 
drought conditions (D4). Additionally, the years of 2012 to 2014, the County experienced severe to 
extreme drought conditions (D2-D3).  

25 https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/Data/Timeseries.aspx for Ouray County 

   147

Ouray County, Colorado, Precipitation, January-December 

- recip - 901-2000 h ean: 22.J 

37.0 MO. 
36.0 920. 

35.0 
900. 
S80. 

34.0 S60. 
33.0 S40.0 

32.0 S20 .0 

31 .0 
SOO. 

80. 
30.0 760. 
29.0 40. 

2S.O 20. 
700. 

27.0 680 .0 
., 26.0 660. ., 

640 . ii 25.0 
.: 24 .0 

620.0 
600. 

23.0 580. 
22.0 560. 

21 .0 540. 

20.0 
520. 
500.0 

9.0 480 . 
S.O 460. 

7.0 440. 

6.0 
420. 
400. 

5 .0 380. 
4.0 300. 

340.0 

1900 1910 Hl2 W30 Q4 19 · 1900 19 000 1990 2000 2010 

https://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/Data/Timeseries.aspx


Figure 4-18 U.S. Drought Monitor Previous Droughts, 2000-2018 

 

The winter of 2018 brought extremely low snowpack totals to southwest Colorado, leaving the April 1, 
2018 snowpack totals between 50% and 69% of normal for Ouray County. The snowpack above Ridgway 
Reservoir was only at 46% of average and streamflows into the reservoir were at approximately 40% of 
average. Governor Hickenlooper activated the Colorado Drought Mitigation and Response Plan for the 
agricultural sector in 34 of the State’s 64 counties, including Ouray.26 Figure 4-19 shows drought 
conditions in Colorado April 17, 2018.27 The County was fortunate in that reservoir storage levels were 
adequate to offset the historically low snowfall levels. Additionally, southwest Colorado received much 
higher snowfall during the 2018-2019 winter season. As of April 2019, the Gunnison River Basin (to 
include Ouray County) was at 148% of normal for snow-water equivalent measurements.28 These 
circumstances helped ease the impact of the 2018 drought. However, the dry conditions led to wildfire 
concerns for the summer, which was one of the worst wildfire seasons on record for the State. As of 
April 2019, no part of Ouray County is experiencing drought conditions. 

26 https://www.telluridenews.com/news/article_3c54b03c-5fac-11e8-9ef4-675a7ff6f4c8.html 
27 U.S. Drought Monitor 
28 https://www.weather.gov/bou/co_snowpack 

   148

Ouray County (CO) Percent Area 

• 

https://www.telluridenews.com/news/article_3c54b03c-5fac-11e8-9ef4-675a7ff6f4c8.html
https://www.weather.gov/bou/co_snowpack


Figure 4-19 Drought Conditions in Colorado April 17, 2018 

 

Additional details on previous occurrences of drought prior to the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation 
Plan can be found in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix.  

Probability 
According to the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan, the probability of a drought occurring in 
any given year is 32.4%, equating to a likely probability. Based on the limited time-series data for Ouray 
County specifically, this is the most accurate probability estimate for Ouray County. Additionally, based 
on the NOAA Drought Outlook through the spring, above average precipitation is expected for the 
southwest United States, keeping drought at bay in Ouray County.29 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Drought impacts are wide-reaching and may be economic, environmental, and/or societal. The most 
significant impacts associated with drought in Colorado are those related to water intensive activities 
such as agriculture, wildfire protection, municipal usage, commerce, tourism, recreation, and wildlife 
preservation. An ongoing drought may leave an area more prone to beetle kill and associated wildfires. 

29 https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/products/expert_assessment/mdo_summary.php 

   149

U.S. Drought Monitor 

Colorado 
April 17, 2018 

(Released Thursday, Apr. 19, 2018) 

Valid 8 a.m. EDT 

Drought Conditions (Percent Area) 

None D0-D4 D1-D4 D2-D4 

Current 15.74 84.26 69.17 53.65 24.42 3.87 

Last week 
04-10-2018 

12.38 87.62 69.43 53.65 24.31 0.00 

3 Months Ago 
01-16--2018 

0.59 99.41 75.90 23.23 0.00 0.00 

Start of 
Calend ar Year 6.57 93.43 33.53 7.27 0.00 0.00 

01-02-2018 

Start of 
'Aeter Year 67.63 32.37 3.72 0.00 0.00 0.00 

O!J-26-2017 

One Year Ago 46.01 5399 11 .88 0.00 0.00 0.00 
rJ4.1S.2017 

Intensity· 

DO Abnormally Dry - 0 3 Ext reme Drought 

01 Moderate Drought - 04 Exceptional Drough t 

- 0 2 Severe Drought 

The Drought Monitor focuses on txoad-scale condit ions 
LDcal conditions may vary. See accompanying text summary 
for forecast statements. 

Author: 
Brad Rippey 
U.S. Department of Agricu lture 

USDA 
r= tfS:\ 

\m, 
http://droughtmonitor.unl.edu/ 

https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/products/expert_assessment/mdo_summary.php


Drought conditions can also cause soil to compact, increasing an area’s susceptibility to flooding, and 
reduce vegetation cover, which exposes soil to wind and erosion. A reduction of electric power 
generation and water quality deterioration are also potential problems. Drought impacts increase with 
the length of a drought, as carry-over supplies in reservoirs are depleted and water levels in 
groundwater basins decline. The following discussion highlights past impacts from drought events. 

Ridgway Reservoir is a state and local asset vulnerable to drought, in terms of water supply, water 
quality, and recreation. Recent reservoir renovations have helped to increase storage capacity. The 
reservoir does not provide water supply to Ouray residents. The water supply to much of the County is 
from a diversion from the Gunnison Basin, but water from Ouray County is required in exchange for 
Gunnison Basin water. However, the reservoir is a popular attraction for camping, biking, boating, 
winter sports, and birding, boosting the local economy. 

In 2002, the drought-imposed fire restrictions impacted camping activity, and cancellation of the 4th of 
July fireworks display had economic repercussions. The 2002 and the 2012 droughts threatened the 
municipal water supply for the City of Ouray. The City does not have senior water rights. Because of this, 
users downstream with senior water rights can call on the City to curtail its water usage. This happened 
in both 2002 and 2012. In 2012, the City was attempting to acquire and repair the Red Mountain ditch 
to supplement its water supply. An augmentation plan was also in development to address this issue. It 
is reasonable to expect that the City will again be called on to curtail its water usage in the future, but an 
augmentation plan would help reduce the City’s vulnerability to drought. After the 2012 drought, Ouray 
County Water Users Association was founded. The association, along with local partner organizations 
such as the Ouray County government, funded a water needs study by Wright Water Engineers in 2016. 
The study found significant supply gaps in agriculture, as well as some gaps in recreation, drinking and 
other uses, said Marti Whitmore, Ouray County’s representative on both the Gunnison Basin 
Roundtable and Colorado River District. A new group of Ouray County water stakeholders formed in 
summer 2017, and was awarded an $83,200 grant from the Colorado Water Conservation Board for a 
follow-up study and creation of the Upper Uncompahgre Cooperative Stream Management Plan. The 
funding will help find solutions for how to fill those gaps.30 

According to the LPC, the 2012 drought also brought increased hay costs, a decrease in agricultural 
production, reduced cattle herds, and an increase in beetle-killed trees. A comment at a public meeting 
during the 2013 update noted that washboard on county roads gets worse during drought due to less 
water for road maintenance. A secondary impact from that includes increased response time for first 
responders. 

The 2018 drought brought extremely dry conditions into the summer months in the County. This led to 
Stage 2 fire restrictions. Additionally, the City of Ouray cancelled their 4th of July fireworks show, again 
causing economic repercussions. Stage 2 fire restrictions were enabled for the Uncompahgre National 
Forest in the County. Additionally, Stage 3 fire restrictions were imposed on the San Juan National 
Forest, closing campgrounds, day-use areas, roads, and trails. No hiking or camping was allowed in the 
Forest during these closures. Although the San Juan National Forest is not in Ouray County, it borders 
the Uncompahgre National Forest and is an economic driver in the region. Such a widespread closure 

30 https://www.telluridenews.com/news/article_3c54b03c-5fac-11e8-9ef4-675a7ff6f4c8.html 

   150

https://www.telluridenews.com/news/article_3c54b03c-5fac-11e8-9ef4-675a7ff6f4c8.html


can impact the tourism economy in Ouray County. 2018 was the first time the San Juan National Forest 
has been closed in its history.  

The Log Hill Mesa FPD’s main concern with prolonged drought is the increase to the wildfire danger. The 
district works closely with the West Region Wildfire Council to monitor the drought situation and the 
Sheriff to recommend the implementation of fire restrictions. Water rights for the two water services 
servicing the district are relatively senior and seem secure. Additionally, the district can fill firefighting 
apparatus at the Ridgway Reservoir if necessary. 

Additionally, drought can cause loss of water in the Ouray Ice Park, which is a major attraction in the 
County and contributes to the local economy. 

The Ridgway School District’s main concern with prolonged drought and or extreme temperatures is the 
maintenance of its greenscapes and increased vulnerability to the wildfire danger surrounding the 
schools. 

Overall, a severe drought will affect the entire economy, particularly in relation to tourism, water 
supply, and wildfire concerns. Drought is one of the few hazards that has the potential to directly or 
indirectly impact each and every person within Ouray County, as well as adversely affect the local 
economy.  

Potential Losses 
No quantitative loss information was available from previous drought events. However, potential losses 
could be significant, particularly related to impacts on local businesses from decreased 
tourism/recreation as well as impacts on the ranching community in parts of unincorporated Ouray 
County.  

Additionally, according to county-wide SHELDUS data, drought has caused $1,897,695 in damages from 
1960 to 2017, all of which were crop damages. This equates to $33,292 in estimated annual crop 
damage from droughts in the County. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development  

Population growth can place a greater demand on limited water resources. Both the City of Ouray and 
the Town of Ridgway have experienced growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow. 
The municipalities have continued efforts to focus growth within municipal boundaries where utility 
infrastructure already exists, which helps reduce the need for new water sources. New development in 
unincorporated County, which has also experienced growth, could also put additional strain on water 
resources. The 2018 Colorado Drought Plan states, “growth in the Gunnison headwaters region will 
require additional water management strategies. The area between Ouray and Montrose is rapidly 
growing, and a rapid influx of retirees and growth in the Uncompahgre Valley may dramatically change 
the agricultural uses and other land uses in the area.” 

Climate Change 

Increased temperatures are projected to increase the frequency of drought events in Colorado. 
Increased droughts could impact Ouray County in many ways, including increasing the wildfire risk; 
decreased snowpack, particularly at elevations below 8,200 feet; and earlier peak runoff.  

   151



Changes in hydrologic characteristics, such as snowpack amounts and timing of runoff, can impact water 
systems that rely on predictable snowmelt and runoff. Additionally, the Colorado Water Conservation 
Board states that decreased snowpack and changes in peak runoff could increase the vulnerability of 
water resource systems during intense or persistent drought. While such vulnerability may be somewhat 
buffered in large water systems by robustness and resilience in the design, smaller systems may be 
extremely vulnerable under climate scenarios not considered in their original design. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-13 Drought Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 2 1 2 5 M 
Town of Ridgway 2 1 2 5 M 
Unincorporated County 2 1 2 5 M 

 

4.5.8. Earthquake 

Description 
An earthquake is caused by a sudden slip on a fault, which is a plane of weakness in the earth’s crust. 
Stresses in the earth’s outer layer push the sides of the fault together. Stress builds up and the rocks slip 
suddenly, releasing energy in waves that travel through the earth’s crust and cause the shaking that is 
felt during an earthquake. The amount of energy released during an earthquake is usually expressed as a 
Richter magnitude and is measured directly from the earthquake as recorded on seismographs. Another 
measure of earthquake severity is intensity. Intensity is an expression of the amount of shaking, typically 
the greatest cause of losses to structures during earthquakes, at any given location on the surface as felt 
by humans and defined in the Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale.  

Liquefaction is the phenomenon that occurs when the strength and stiffness of a soil is reduced by 
earthquake shaking or other rapid loading. Essentially, the soil acts like a fluid, similar to wet sand near 
the beach, resulting in ground failure. Liquefaction causes two types of ground failure: lateral spread 
and loss of bearing strength. Lateral spreads develop on gentle slopes and entails the sidelong 
movement of large masses of soil as an underlying layer liquefies. Loss of bearing strength results when 
the soil supporting structures liquefies and causes structures to collapse. 

   152



Location 
All of Ouray County, including the incorporated areas, could be impacted by earthquakes. The City of 
Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and the Ridgway School District, due to the nature of the historic building stock 
as well as being population centers, could endure the greatest losses if a significant earthquake were to 
occur. 

Earthquakes are caused by the movement of faults, so understanding the history of Colorado’s faults 
can help determine potential future earthquake locations. Ouray County could also be impacted by 
faults outside of the County boundaries. There are several faults near Ouray County, as shown in Figure 
4-20.31 

Faults have been classified based on the time frame of their latest suspected movement (in order of 
activity occurrence, most recent is listed first): 

• H—Holocene (within past 15,000 years) 
• LQ—Late Quaternary (15,000-130,000 years) 
• MLQ—Middle to Late Quaternary (130,000 - 750,000 years) 
• Q—Quaternary (approximately past 2 million years) 
• LC- Late Cenozoic (approximately past 23.7 million years) 

Faults that are considered by the CGS to be sources of damaging earthquakes that could affect the 
County are the Busted Boiler (LQ), Cannibal (LQ), Cimarron (LQ,Q), Roubideau Creek (H). The Busted 
Boiler is suspected of movement within the Late Quaternary (within past 130,000 years) and the 
Roubideau Creek fault moved in the Holocene or past 15,000 years. Other faults within the County: Cow 
Creek (LC), Log Hill Mesa Graben Faults (LQ), Montrose Faults SW (Q), Ridgway (Q), Ridgway Quarry 
Faults (LC). Faults in neighboring San Miguel County that are suspected to have had movement with the 
Quaternary age (past 1.6 million years) are the Big Gypsum Valley Graben Faults, the Dolores Fault Zone, 
and the San Miguel Canyon Faults (Source: State of Colorado Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan 2004 
Earthquake Evaluation Report). 

According to the Colorado Geological Survey, the potentially active faults within the vicinity of Ouray 
County are capable of producing a magnitude 6.25 earthquake. 

31 GIS data provided by DHSEM 

   153



Figure 4-20 Faults Near Ouray County 

 

Extent 
Earthquake magnitude is measured using the Richter Scale, an open-ended logarithmic scale that 
describes the energy release of an earthquake through a measure of shock wave amplitude (Table 
4-14).32 Each unit increase in magnitude on the Richter Scale corresponds to a 10-fold increase in wave 
amplitude, or a 32-fold increase in energy. Intensity is most commonly measured using the Modified 
Mercalli Intensity (MMI) Scale based on direct and indirect measurements of seismic effects. The scale 
levels are typically described using roman numerals, ranging from “I” corresponding to imperceptible 

32 FEMA 

   154

Earthquake Faults Near Ouray County 

Faults 



(instrumental) events to “XII” for catastrophic (total destruction). A detailed description of the Modified 
Mercalli Intensity Scale of earthquake intensity and its correspondence to the Richter Scale is given in 
Table 4-15.33 

Table 4-14 Richter Scale 

Richter 
Magnitudes Earthquake Effects 

< 3.5 Generally not felt, but recorded. 
3.5 - 5.4 Often felt, but rarely causes damage. 

5.4 - 6.0 At most slight damage to well-designed buildings. Can cause major damage to 
poorly constructed buildings over small regions. 

6.1 - 6.9 Can be destructive in areas up to about 100 kilometers across where people live. 
7.0 - 7.9 Major earthquake. Can cause serious damage over larger areas. 

8 or > Great earthquake. Can cause serious damage in areas several hundred 
kilometers across. 

 

Table 4-15 Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale for Earthquakes 

Scale Intensity Description of Effects 
Corresponding 
Richter Scale 
Magnitude 

I Instrumental Detected only on seismographs.  
II Feeble Some people feel it. < 4.2 

III Slight Felt by people resting; like a truck rumbling 
by.  

IV Moderate Felt by people walking.  
V Slightly strong Sleepers awake; church bells ring. < 4.8 

VI Strong Trees sway; suspended objects swing, 
objects fall off shelves. < 5.4 

VII Very strong Mild alarm; walls crack; plaster falls. < 6.1 

VIII Destructive 
Moving cars uncontrollable; masonry 
fractures, poorly constructed buildings 
damaged. 

 

IX Ruinous Some houses collapse; ground cracks; pipes 
break open. < 6.9 

X Disastrous 
Ground cracks profusely; many buildings 
destroyed; liquefaction and landslides 
widespread. 

< 7.3 

XI Very disastrous 
Most buildings and bridges collapse; roads, 
railways, pipes and cables destroyed; 
general triggering of other hazards. 

< 8.1 

XII Catastrophic Total destruction; trees fall; ground rises and 
falls in waves. > 8.1 

33 FEMA 

   155



 

Another way to express an earthquake’s severity is to compare its acceleration to the normal 
acceleration due to gravity. Peak ground acceleration (PGA) measures the strength of ground 
movements in this manner and represents the rate in change of motion of the Earth’s surface during an 
earthquake as a percent. PGA can be partly determined by what soils and bedrock characteristics exist in 
the region. Unlike the Richter scale, PGA is not a measure of the total energy released by an earthquake, 
but rather of how hard the earth shakes at a given geographic area (the intensity). PGA is measured by 
using instruments including accelerographs and correlates well with the MMI scale. PGA is represented 
as %g, and is described in Table 4-16 below. 

Table 4-16 PGA Intensity Descriptions 

Perceived 
Shaking 

N
ot

 F
el

t 

W
ea

k 

Li
gh

t 

M
od

er
at

e 

St
ro

ng
 

Ve
ry

 S
tr

on
g 

Se
ve

re
 

Vi
ol

en
t 

Ex
tr

em
e 

Potential 
Damage None None None Very 

light Light Moderate Moderate/ 
Heavy Heavy Very 

Heavy 

Peak Acc 
(%G) < .17 .17-

1.4 
1.4-
3.9 

3.9-
9.2 

9.2-
18 18-34 34-65 65-

124 >124 

Peak Vel 
(Cm/S) < 0.1 0.1-

1.1 
1.1-
3.4 

3.4-
8.1 

8.1-
16 16-31 31-60 60-

116 >116 

Instrumental 
Intensity I II-III IV V VI VII VIII IX X+ 

 

Previous Occurrences 
Figure 4-21 shows previous occurrences in and near Ouray County since 1973 based on USGS available 
data.34 It is recognized this is not a comprehensive list of all previous earthquakes, but gives a picture of 
where previous earthquakes occurred in the County based on available GIS data.  

34 https://earthquake.usgs.gov/earthquakes/search/ 

   156

https://earthquake.usgs.gov/earthquakes/search/


Figure 4-21 Ouray County Previous Earthquakes, 1973-2019 

 

   157

Q 
Q 

~ 

Ouray County Previous Earthquakes 1973 to 2019 

Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Census Designated Place 

County 

Highway 

Water Body 

Previous Earthquakes 

Magnitude 

0 2.5 - 3.0 

0 3.0 - 3.5 

0 3.5 - 4.49 

0 5 10 

--=====--===-----• Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Overall, Ouray County has experienced 12 previous earthquakes since 1897 that originated in the 
County. No events have occurred in the County since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan. 
Additionally, earthquakes in nearby counties can impact Ouray County. On March 4th, 2019, a magnitude 
4.5 earthquake occurred near the Colorado-Utah border approximately seven miles southeast of the 
town of Paradox. The earthquake was felt across southwest Colorado and southeast Utah, however, no 
damages were reported.  

The strongest earthquakes experienced in the County were Intensity VI earthquakes, in 1913 and 1960. 
Impacts included: cracked plaster, chimneys, and windows; fallen pictures from walls; broken dishes; 
and damages to the Ridgway school ceiling. Additionally, in Montrose, a foundation cracked in three 
places. Full details of previous occurrences are described in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. 

Probability  
Based on 12 previous occurrences of earthquakes in Ouray County from 1897 to 2019, there is 
approximately a 10% annual chance of occurrence, or a likely probability. 

Figure 4-22 from the USGS shows the probability that a magnitude 5 or greater earthquake will occur in 
the next 50 years. Most of Ouray County is in the 10-15% probability range. 

Figure 4-22 USGS Earthquake Probabilities 

 

   158

39' 00' 

38' 30' 

38' 00' 

37' 30' 

37' 00' 

Probability of earthquake with M > 5.0 within 50 years & 50 km 

U.S. Geological Survey 2009 PSHA Model 

UTAH 
ARIZONA 

~rand Junction 

MonlT~ 

8 
Tetlu~ 'v 

ecigez 

CO LOR ADO 
N E W MEX I CO 

J>urango 

0 

Site: OURAY CO .. 

"' 
( 

t=-
\ 

\ 

Cresto~ 

AlamoS{J 

~ 
km 

50 

ihama 

-109' 30' -109' 00' -108' 30' -108' 00' -107' 30' -107' 00' -106' 30' -106' 00' 

Probability 

1.00 
0.90 
0.80 
0.60 
0.50 
0.40 
0.30 
0.25 
0.20 
0.15 
0.12 
0.10 
0.08 
0.06 
0.04 
0.03 
0.02 
0.01 
0.00 

ceU,ii 2013 Aug 2 19 :55:33 I eo prob.abilitiu from USGS OFR 08~1128 PSHA. 50 km m;1ximum hori;zont;1I dist;1nc•. Sit• of intunt; tNn~I•. F;11.11t tr-acu ;1r• browi,; riv•" blu•. Epiic•nt•r-s. M> ... $.0 ciirclH. 



Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
It can be assumed all existing and future buildings and populations are at risk to the earthquake hazard. 
However, building codes can help reduce the risk to structures during an earthquake. Previous damages 
from earthquakes in Ouray County include cracked plaster, chimneys, and windows; fallen pictures from 
walls; broken dishes; and damages to the Ridgway school ceiling. It is possible for faults near Ouray 
County to produce a 6.25 magnitude earthquake. A 6.1 magnitude earthquake could cause impacts such 
as mild alarm, cracked walls, and fallen plaster. Magnitude higher than 6.1 can cause impacts such as 
moving cars becoming uncontrollable, masonry fractures, and damage to poorly constructed buildings. 
Older buildings that are not constructed to modern day building codes are more at risk to these 
damages throughout the County. 

An additional concern is Ridgway Reservoir. There have been several earthquakes near the reservoir in 
its history. According to Colorado Earthquake Information, 1867-1996, the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 
in cooperation with the USGS, has monitored seismicity near Ridgway Dam since 1985. Seismicity near 
Ridgway Dam increased about seven-fold subsequent to reservoir filling, which may be associated with 
north-trending branch faults of the Ridgway Fault. The most persistent seismicity observed in the region 
occurs near Cimarron Ridge, an area that includes the 1960 magnitude 5.5 event. Figure 4-23 shows the 
faults and seismicity in the vicinity of this network. Shaded triangles indicate seismograph stations. The 
Ridgway Reservoir Dam is the middle of the three triangles shown on the right side of the figure. 
According to the report a good correlation occurs between the fault locations and recorded seismicity.35  

35 Colorado Earthquake Information, 1867-1996 

   159



Figure 4-23 Seismicity and Faults in the Vicinity of Northern Ouray County 

 

 

Ridgway School District is concerned that the elementary school building may not adequately protect 
students in the event of a major earthquake due to the age of the structure. 

Potential Losses 
The most appropriate loss estimation methodology for seismic hazards involves scenario modeling using 
FEMA’s Hazus loss estimation software. There are two levels of Hazus analysis, ‘Standard,’ which uses 
the default FEMA-derived datasets and damage functions, and ‘Enhanced,’ which uses independently 
compiled and accurately verified structure and infrastructure inventories and damage functions. The 
earthquake analysis conducted for this report includes a Standard level analysis using the latest version, 
Hazus-MH Earthquake Model V4.2. This risk assessment leveraged census tract data to conduct a 
Standard Hazus probabilistic scenario for Ouray County.  

A 2,500-year return period probabilistic scenario was used for the analysis (probability of 2% of 
occurrence in 50 years). A 2,500-year return period was chosen because the new International Building 
Code uses a 2,500-year map as the basis for building design. Based on CGS data, the highest magnitude 
earthquake that could be expected to occur in Ouray County is a 6.25. This value was used in the 
probabilistic scenario in Hazus. 

   160

108.05 

38.35 

Log Hill Mesa Fault o o 

A 
Cow Creek\Fau)&! 

00 

~ 0 

0 Busted Boi\ Faul: \ ~ 
0 

° '¼j, _.,, 

o Ao~ 
Oo 

0 
0 

{f 

0 

September 1994 
swarm 

107.60 
38.35 

Magnitude 

0 0 

O 1 

0 2 

03 
Q4 

38.05 ----------------------- 38.05 
108.05 0 ·.__--~~-_. 10km 107.60 



Results 

Hazus estimates that there are over 3,000 buildings in the county which have an aggregate total 
replacement value of $730 million (excluding contents). Hazus estimates that about 258 buildings will be 
at least moderately damaged. This is over 8% of the buildings in the County. There are an estimated two 
buildings that will be damaged beyond repair. Residential homes will be the most impacted. 

The total economic loss estimated for the earthquake is $42.77 million, which includes building and 
lifeline related losses based on the County’s available inventory. The building losses are broken into two 
categories: direct building losses and business interruption losses. The direct building losses are the 
estimated costs to repair or replace the damage caused to the building and its contents. The business 
interruption losses are the losses associated with inability to operate a business because of the damage 
sustained during the earthquake. Business interruption losses also include the temporary living expenses 
for those people displaced from their homes because of the earthquake. The total building-related 
losses were $23.61 million; 19% of the estimated losses were related to the business interruption of the 
County. By far, the largest loss was sustained by the residential occupancies which made up over 69% of 
the total loss. Due to the fact that the entire County is aggregated as one Census Tract, it is not possible 
to determine losses by jurisdiction. It can be assumed the highest losses will be in areas with a higher 
concentration of buildings, particularly the City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and Loghill Mesa. 
Additionally, the LPC noted that the losses and displaced residents would likely be highest in the Loghill 
Mesa community, which lies along the fault line the County. 

The model estimates that a total of 5,000 tons of debris will be generated. Of the total amount, 
Brick/Wood comprises 39% of the total, with the remainder being Reinforced Concrete/Steel. If the 
debris tonnage is converted to an estimated number of truckloads, it will require 200 truckloads (at 25 
tons/truck) to remove the debris generated by the earthquake. 

Hazus estimates the number of households that are expected to be displaced from their homes due to 
the earthquake and the number of displaced people that will require accommodations in temporary 
public shelters. The model estimates two households to be displaced due to the earthquake. Only one 
person is estimated to seek temporary shelter. 

Hazus also estimates casualties due to the earthquake at three different times of day, including: 2:00 am 
representing a time when residential occupancy is at a maximum, 2:00 pm representing a time when 
business sectors are at a maximum, and 5:00 pm representing peak commute time. At 2:00 am, there is 
an estimated two casualties, both of these being injuries that require medical attention but no 
hospitalization. At 2:00 pm there is an estimated two casualties, also both of these being injuries that 
require medical attention but no hospitalization. At 5:00 pm there is also an estimated two casualties, 
both being injuries that require medical attention but no hospitalization. It should be noted that this 
analysis is based on the County’s 2010 population. If an earthquake were to occur during peak tourism 
times (for example, summer weekends or holiday weekends), the potential for casualties would be 
much higher.  

A number of variables are included in Hazus analyses in order to arrive at the estimated values of loss 
due to earthquake. For this reason, it is important to note that the Hazus loss estimates detailed above 
should not be used as a precise measure, but rather viewed from the perspective of the potential 
magnitudes of expected losses.  

   161



Additionally, mobile homes in the County are at a higher risk to damages from an earthquake. Ouray 
County contains 8.6% of its households as mobile homes, with the City of Ouray having 9.8% and the 
Town of Ridgway 0.5%.  

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

Any new construction built to code in the County should generally be able to withstand earthquakes, but 
the potential for nonstructural damage will increase with new development. The City of Ouray, Town of 
Ridgway, and unincorporated County have experienced population growth in the last decade, and are 
projected to grow through 2050. Continued growth of population in the County exposes more people 
and structures to earthquakes and their related hazards.  

Climate Change 

Climate change is not projected to impact the earthquake hazard in Ouray County. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-17 Earthquake Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 2 2 5 M 
Town of Ridgway 1 2 2 5 M 
Unincorporated County 1 2 2 5 M 

 

4.5.9. Extreme Temperatures 

Description 
Extreme temperature events, both cold and hot, can have severe impacts on human health and 
mortality, natural ecosystems, agriculture, and the economy. Temperature extremes cause more deaths 
every year than any other disaster, including hurricanes.36 For this Plan, both extreme cold and extreme 
heat are profiled. 

36 Kevin A. Borden and Susan L. Cutter “Spatial Patterns of Natural Hazards Mortality in the United States.” International Journal 
of Health Geographics 2008, 7:64. Available online at http://www.ij-healthgeographics.com/content/7/1/64 last accessed July 
13, 2009. 

   162



Extreme Cold 
Extreme cold often accompanies a winter storm or is left in its wake. It is most likely to occur in the 
winter months of December, January, and February. On average, January is the coldest month. The 
average last freeze/frost day in Ouray County is May 29. 

What constitutes extremely cold temperatures varies across different areas of the United States based 
on normal climate temperatures for the time of year. In Colorado, cold temperatures are normal during 
the winter. When temperatures drop at least 20 degrees below normal winter lows, the cold is 
considered extreme and begins to impact the daily operations of the County. Extreme cold/wind chill 
impacts inanimate objects, plants, animals, and water supplies. 

The effects of extremely cold temperatures are amplified by strong to high winds that can accompany 
winter storms. Wind-chill measures how wind and cold feel on exposed skin and is not a direct 
measurement of temperature. As wind increases, heat is carried away from the body faster, driving 
down the body temperature, which in turn causes the constriction of blood vessels, and increases the 
likelihood of severe injury or death to exposed persons. Animals are also affected by wind-chill, however 
cars, buildings, and other objects are not. In 2001, the National Weather Service (NWS) implemented an 
updated Wind Chill Temperature Index (see Figure 4-24).37 This index was developed to describe the 
relative discomfort/danger resulting from the combination of wind and temperature. Wind chill is based 
on the rate of heat loss from exposed skin caused by wind and cold.  

Figure 4-24 National Weather Service Wind Chill Chart 

 

 

37 https://www.weather.gov/safety/cold-wind-chill-chart 

   163

Temperature (°F} 
Calm 40 35 30 25 20 1S 10 5 0 -5 -10 -15 -20 -25 -30 -35 -40 -45 

5 • - 2 -28 -34 =40 :46 -52 -57 -63 

27 21 15 -4 -4 -
15 25 19 13 6 0 -7 19 -39 -45 -51 -58 -64 -71 -77 

20 24 17 11 4 -2 -9 -15 -22 -42 -48 -55 -61 -68 -74 -81 - 25 -44 -51 -58 -64 -71 -78 -84 .s::. 23 16 9 3 -4 -11 
Q. .s 30 22 15 8 1 -s -12 19 •46 -53 -60 -67 -73 -80 -87 

-,:, 35 -21 -34 -41 -48 -55 -62 -69 -76 -82 -89 
C 

21 14 7 0 -7 -14 

i 40 20 13 6 -1 -8 -22 -36 -43 -so -57 -64 -71 -78 -84 -91 

45 19 12 5 -2 -9 . -23 -37 -44 -51 -58 -65 -72 -79 -86 -93 

so 19 12 4 -3 -10 -24 -31 -38 -45 -52 -60 -67 -74 -81 -88 -95 

55 18 -3 18 -25 -32 -39 -46 -54 -61 -68 -75 -82 -89 -97 

60 -19 -26 -33 -40 -48 -55 -62 -69 -76 -84 -91 -98 

Frostbite Times 111 30 minutes D 10mlnut•s D Smlnutts 

Wind Chill (°F) = 35.74 + 0.621 ST - 35.7S(V°·16) + 0.427ST(V°·16} 

Where, T= Air Temperature (°FJ V= Wind Speed (mph) Efftctivt 11/01/01 

https://www.weather.gov/safety/cold-wind-chill-chart


Extreme Heat 
According to information provided by FEMA, extreme heat is defined as temperatures that hover 10 
degrees or more above the average high temperature for the County and last for several weeks. 
Extreme heat is most likely to occur in the summer months of June, July, and August. On average, July is 
the warmest month. 

Heat kills by taxing the human body beyond its abilities. In a normal year, about 175 Americans succumb 
to the demands of summer heat. According to the National Weather Service (NWS), among natural 
hazards, only the cold of winter—not lightning, hurricanes, tornadoes, floods, or earthquakes—takes a 
greater toll. In the 40-year period from 1936 through 1975, nearly 20,000 people were killed in the 
United States by the effects of heat and solar radiation. In the heat wave of 1980, more than 1,250 
people died. 

Heat disorders generally have to do with a reduction or collapse of the body’s ability to shed heat by 
circulatory changes and sweating or a chemical (salt) imbalance caused by too much sweating. When 
heat gain exceeds the level the body can remove, or when the body cannot compensate for fluids and 
salt lost through perspiration, the temperature of the body’s inner core begins to rise and heat-related 
illness may develop. Elderly persons, small children, people with chronic illnesses, those on certain 
medications or drugs, and persons with weight and alcohol problems are particularly susceptible to heat 
reactions, especially during heat waves in areas where moderate climate usually prevails. 

Extreme heat can impact livestock and pets, causing heat stress and possibly death. It can exacerbate 
droughts, which in turn depletes water supplies for livestock and crops. Droughts and extreme heat also 
increase wildfire risk. The combination of hot, dry weather and dry thunderstorms ignite wildfires that 
can quickly become devastating and overwhelm local firefighting capabilities. 

Location 
Extreme cold temperatures can impact the entire County. The Ridgway area is a known “cold sink,” and 
can frequently experience extremely cold temperatures. Extreme heat can impact the lower elevations 
of the County and the municipalities, but generally the relatively high elevation of Ouray County is not 
prone to extreme heat. Figure 4-25 and Figure 4-26 shows the average high temperatures and low 
temperatures, as well as the extreme minimum and extreme maximum temperatures in the City of 
Ouray and Town of Ridgway, respectively.38 It is evident that the extreme minimum has reached well 
below 0F and the extreme maximum above 90F for both Ouray and Ridgway. 

38Western Regional Climate Center  

   164



Figure 4-25 Temperature Averages and Extremes for Ouray 

 

Figure 4-26 Temperature Averages and Extremes for Ridgway 

 

Extent 
Extreme Cold 
Extreme cold events are typically predicable in advance of the event, and can have a duration of days. 
The NWS issues wind chill warning, watches, and advisories, as described below.39 

• Wind Chill Warning: Take Action! NWS issues a wind chill warning when dangerously cold wind 
chill values are expected or occurring. If you are in an area with a wind chill warning, avoid going 

39 https://www.weather.gov/safety/cold-wind-chill-warning 

   165

,,.., 
LI. ...,, 
G) 
i:.. 
:::, 
+l 
,,:i 
i:.. 
G) 
Cl. :c 
G) 
I-

OURAY, COLORADO (056203) 
Period of Record: 06/01/1893 to 05/31/2006 

100 ~--------------------------~ 
90 I 
80 
70 
&O 
50 

40 1 ~.,..-,..,.,.....--
30 I 
20 

1~ I 
-10 I 
-20 I -30 ,_ ________________________ _, 

Jan 1 Mar 1 Ma!:J 1 Jul 1 Sep 1 Nov 1 Dec 31 
Feb 1 Apr 1 Jun 1 Aug 1 Oct 1 Dec 1 

Day of Year 

( Extreme Max -- Ave Max - Ave Min Extreme Min] 

RIDGWAY, COLORADO (057020) 
Period of Record: 5/15/1982 to 12/31/2005 

100 ~ 
90 
80 
70 
&O 
50 
40 
30 

I 
I 

~ I 
20 
10 

0 
-10 
-20 
-30 -40 ,_ ________________________ _, 

Mri?::s:ter-t"I 
R<e3 ior,« l 
Cli""'i;" 
C<er,i;.,.,. 

Jan 1 Mar 1 Ma!:J 1 Ju 1 1 Sep 1 Nov 1 Dec 31 
Feb 1 Apr 1 Jun 1 Aug 1 Oct 1 Dec 1 

Day of Year 

( Extreme Max -- Ave Max -- Ave Min Extreme Min] 
R<e3ior,«l 

Cli""'i;" 
Co,r,i;o,.,. 

https://www.weather.gov/safety/cold-wind-chill-warning


outside during the coldest parts of the day. If you do go outside, dress in layers, cover exposed 
skin, and make sure at least one other person knows your whereabouts. Update them when you 
arrive safely at your destination. 

• Wind Chill Watch: Be Prepared: NWS issues a wind chill watch when dangerously cold wind chill 
values are possible. As with a warning, adjust your plans to avoid being outside during the 
coldest parts of the day. Make sure your car has at least a half a tank of gas, and update your 
winter survival kit. 

• Wind Chill Advisory: Be Aware: NWS issues a wind chill advisory when seasonably cold wind 
chill values but not extremely cold values are expected or occurring. Be sure you and your loved 
ones dress appropriately and cover exposed skin when venturing outdoors. 

The NWS will issue a Wind Chill Advisory for Ouray County (valley locations) when wind and 
temperature combine to produce wind chill values of -18 to -24°F. 

Extreme Heat 
Figure 4-27 and Figure 4-28 show the Heat Index (HI) as a function of heat and relative humidity.40 The 
Heat Index describes how hot the heat‐humidity combination makes it feel. As relative humidity 
increases, the air seems warmer than it actually is because the body is less able to cool itself via 
evaporation of perspiration. As the HI rises, so do health risks. 

• When the HI is 90°F, heat exhaustion is possible with prolonged exposure and/or physical 
activity. 

• When it is 90°‐105°F, heat exhaustion is probable with the possibility of sunstroke or heat 
cramps with prolonged exposure and/or physical activity. 

• When it is 105°‐129°F, sunstroke, heat cramps or heat exhaustion is likely, and heatstroke is 
possible with prolonged exposure and/or physical activity. 

• When it is 130°F and higher, heatstroke and sunstroke are extremely likely with continued 
exposure. Physical activity and prolonged exposure to the heat increase the risks. 

40 National Weather Service 

   166



Figure 4-27 Heat Index 

 

 

Note: Since HI values were devised for shady, light wind conditions, exposure to full sunshine can 
increase HI values by up to 15°F. Also, strong winds, particularly with very hot, dry air, can be extremely 
hazardous. 

Figure 4-28 Possible Heat Disorders by Heat Index Level 

l 

Heat emergencies are often slower to develop, taking several days of continuous, oppressive heat 
before a significant or quantifiable impact is seen. Heat waves do not strike victims immediately, but 
rather their cumulative effects slowly impact populations.  

The NWS has a system in place to initiate alert procedures (advisories or warnings) when the Heat Index 
is expected to have a significant impact on public safety. The expected severity of the heat determines 
whether advisories or warnings are issued. A common guideline for the issuance of excessive heat alerts 

   167

Temperature (OF) 

80 82 84 86 88 90 92 94 96 98 102 104 
40 80 81 83 85 88 91 94 97 101 105 114 119 
45 80 82 84 87 89 93 96 100 104 109 119 124 

"o" 50 81 83 85 88 91 95 99 103 108 113 124 ~ - 55 81 84 86 89 93 97 101 106 112 117 ~ 
'5 60 82 84 88 91 95 105 110 116 123 ·e 65 82 85 89 93 98 108 114 121 :::, 
J: 70 83 86 90 95 112 119 
4> 75 84 88 92 97 116 124 > ; 

80 84 89 94 100 121 (11 

Qi 
85 85 90 96 102 110 a:: 
90 86 91 98 105 113 
95 86 93 100 108 117 
100 87 95 103 112 121 

Likelihood of Heat Disorders with Pro longed Exposure or Streuous Ac tivity 

130°F or 
higher 

IM"-
11QCF 

O Caution 

Extreme 
Dnnger 

Uangcr 

/,.\'/,~,. ,t1~· 
( '•1Uf.'IJII 

so• -QO •F emit ion 

O Ext re me Caution • Danger • Ext re me Dang er 

Possible he• I disordus fur 1,eopl.- in high rbk g roup• 

Hear-stroke risk extremely hie b with continue,-! exposure. 

'-nn <trokc l l<-.11 rmmp< an<l 11,-nt r ~hau<f·np lik~ly, HM1tstmkc r-,ssihlc 
with prolonJ!ed e>.posure and 'or phy,,ical a.:li vit) , 

'-\11ri \J /', J/.. 1,. , !JC,l f ( /'1,Nlt;h (ti, f / J\'dl ,1 ,\ f/c/11 \l /01} J'"' ,Jf /\ ' \1 tt/: f'.'°L /011,'i!t ·c/ 
1· 1; Jn\ r,n• am/ nr r•l11 , ,, , 1I. 1, I""·/\· 

Fali.~u..i 1>o~~ibh/ with prolon~..itl o1xposure .:1nd,or phy,,ical activ ity, 



is when the maximum daytime high is expected to equal or exceed 105°F and a nighttime minimum high 
of 80°F or above is expected for two or more consecutive days. The NWS office in Grand Junction can 
issue the following heat-related advisory as conditions warrant. 

• Excessive Heat Warning/Advisory: Issued when an excessive heat event is expected in the next 
36 hours. These products are issued when an excessive heat event is occurring, is imminent, or 
has a very high probability of occurring. The warning is used for conditions posing a threat to life 
or property. An advisory is for less serious conditions that cause significant discomfort or 
inconvenience and, if caution is not taken, could lead to a threat to life and/or property. 

• Excessive Heat Watch: Issued when conditions are favorable for an excessive heat event in the 
next 12 to 48 hours. A Watch is used when the risk of a heat wave has increased, but its 
occurrence and timing is still uncertain. A Watch provides enough lead time so those who need 
to prepare can do so, such as cities that have excessive heat event mitigation plans. 

• Excessive Heat Outlook: Issued when the potential exists for an excessive heat event in the next 
3-7 days. An Outlook provides information to Heat Index forecast map for the contiguous United 
States those who need considerable lead time to prepare for the event, such as public utilities, 
emergency management, and public health officials. 

Previous Occurrences  
Extreme Cold 
According to the NCEI, there have been two reported cold/extreme cold/wind chill events in the County 
between 1950 and 2019 (no new events have occurred since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation 
Plan). The first event occurred on December 4, 2005 and caused $100,000 in property damages. Arctic 
air spilled down mainly into the lower elevations of western Colorado in early December and remained 
trapped for about two weeks. Overnight low temperatures dropped below zero Fahrenheit throughout 
the area, with many locations breaking all-time record cold readings for particular days. Frozen water 
pipes burst in many areas resulting in water damage to numerous homes and businesses. The exact 
amount for the cost of repairing the damage likely exceeds $100,000. The second extreme cold event 
occurred on February 1, 2011. There were no damages or casualties reported with this event. 

Additionally, water supply pipes on Log Hill Mesa have been known to freeze at the valves, despite being 
buried several feet underground. 

Extreme Heat 
There have not been any recorded extreme heat events in Ouray County since 1950. 

Probability  
NCEI data would indicate that the frequency of occurrence is unlikely, however, the LPC asserts that 
extreme temperatures, and extreme cold in particular, are highly likely to occur in any given year. The 
data in the NCEI database may represent a lack of reporting rather than a lack of occurrence. Ouray 
County’s residents are accustomed to dealing with extreme temperatures and may be less likely to 
report events unless they cause significant damage. It would be more accurate to say that extreme 
temperature events are highly likely to occur in the County in any given year, but the frequency of 
damaging events is only likely. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Extreme Cold 

   168



Extreme cold can occasionally cause problems with communications facilities and freeze-thaw cycles can 
severely damage roads as well as contribute to rockfall. Several parts of the County, including Ridgway, 
Ouray, Elk Meadows, and Log Hill Mesa, experience problems with frozen water lines. Water 
consumption in the City of Ouray can become excessive in wintertime as the City advises residents to 
leave water running to help prevent frozen pipes which are not buried deeply enough or not insulated 
properly. The Ridgway School District noted that extreme cold once caused the school to close as school 
buses would not start in temperatures of -37F. 

Most of the population in Ouray County are accustomed to extreme cold temperatures and have 
adequate heating sources to combat the impacts of cold temperatures. However, residents in rural parts 
of the County rely on propane for heat. On December 24, 2018, Governor Hickenlooper issued a disaster 
emergency in response to an anticipated shortage of propane that could affect approximately 33,000 
residents living in 20 counties that rely on propane for heating their home. The shortage was blamed on 
production issues and was determined that customers may not be able to receive enough propane to 
heat their homes. During this time, southern Colorado was expecting extremely cold temperatures 
accompanying a winter storm.41 Ouray County was included in the emergency declaration. Without 
propane for heat, extreme cold could become deadly for Ouray County residents. 

Overall, due to the presence of extreme cold throughout the entire County, all jurisdictions and the 
Ridgway School District are equally at risk to the impacts from extreme cold. 

Extreme Heat 

Typically, Ouray County does not experience extremely high temperatures. However, since residents are 
accustomed to more mild temperatures, days that are hotter than average in the summer months can 
impact residents who are not prepared or accustomed to these temperatures. Additionally, Ouray 
County experiences a large influx of tourists during the summer months, many who come to enjoy 
outdoor activities in the County. Tourists who are unprepared are vulnerable to extreme heat. Impacts 
of extreme heat on people include heat exhaustion and heat stroke. Heat exhaustion typically occurs 
before heat stroke. Symptoms include fatigue, nausea, headache, excessive thirst, muscle cramps, 
weakness, confusion or anxiety, drenching sweat followed by cold skin, slowed heartbeat, dizziness, and 
fainting. Heat stroke symptoms include nausea and vomiting, headache, vertigo, fatigue, hot and dry 
skin, rapid heart rate, shortness of breath, increased body temperature, confusion, and convulsions. 
Heat stroke can be fatal and should be treated immediately if these symptoms are experienced.42 

Typically, factors such as age, chronic illness, weight, and medications increase people’s vulnerability to 
this hazard. Overall, in Ouray County, 3.7% of residents are under the age of five years; 3.3% in the City 
of Ouray; and 3% in the Town of Ridgway. Additionally, the younger students in the Ridgway School 
District may be more vulnerable to impacts from extreme heat. In Ouray County, 26.1% of residents are 
65 years or older; 32% in the City of Ouray; and 18% in the Town of Ridgway. These age groups are more 
vulnerable to the impacts of extreme heat. The City of Ouray has a notably larger portion of elderly 
residents and may be more at risk to extreme heat. Air conditioning helps combat the impacts on 

41 https://denver.cbslocal.com/2018/12/25/colorado-governor-propane-emergency-disaster-shortage/ 
42 WebMD 

   169

https://denver.cbslocal.com/2018/12/25/colorado-governor-propane-emergency-disaster-shortage/


extremely hot days, however, since many people come to Ouray County to enjoy the outdoors, they 
may be caught off guard and are vulnerable to extreme heat. 

In addition to impacts to people, extreme heat can exacerbate other hazards, such as drought and 
wildfire.  

Potential Losses 
Extreme Cold 

The only extreme cold event with reported impacts in Ouray County resulted in $100,000 in property 
damages from burst water pipes. This damage estimate may include other counties impacted by the 
event. There is not enough recorded damage data to include an annualized loss estimate for this hazard. 
Losses may include damages from frozen pipes as well as impacts to human health/loss of life due to 
extreme cold. 

Extreme Heat 

There is no recorded damage information for extreme heat in Ouray County. The most severe losses 
from extreme heat are related to human health from heat related illness. However, losses from 
secondary hazards, such as wildfire, could be significant. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated County have experienced population growth 
over the last decade and are projected to continue to grow through 2050. This increases the number of 
people exposed to both extreme heat and extreme cold in the County. New developments should be 
adequately equipped with a heating and cooling source.  

Climate Change 

Colorado’s temperatures have already increased by two degrees Fahrenheit from 1977 to 2006, and 
warming is likely to continue to increase. However, due to Ouray County’s high elevation, it is unlikely 
that extreme heat will have severe impacts to public health the County due to climate change. However, 
increased temperatures can increase wildfire and drought risk, as well as cause changes in snowmelt 
and timing of streamflow runoff, impacting water supply planning in the County. 

Extremely cold temperatures will continue to occur in Ouray County, despite rising temperatures due to 
climate change.  

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

 

   170



Table 4-18 Extreme Temperatures Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 1 2 4 L 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 2 4 L 
Unincorporated County 1 1 2 4 L 

 

4.5.10. Flooding  

Description 
Riverine flooding is defined as when a watercourse exceeds its “bank-full” capacity. Riverine flooding 
generally occurs as a result of prolonged rainfall, or rainfall that is combined with soils already saturated 
from previous rain events. The area adjacent to a river channel is its floodplain. In its common usage, 
“floodplain” most often refers to that area that is inundated by the 100-year flood, the flood that has a 
1% chance in any given year of being equaled or exceeded. Other types of floods include general rain 
floods, thunderstorm generated flash floods, alluvial fan floods, snowmelt and rain on snow floods, dam 
failure floods, and local drainage floods. The 100-year flood is the national standard to which 
communities regulate their floodplains through the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). 

The potential for flooding can change and increase through various land use changes and changes to 
land surface. A change in environment can create localized flooding problems inside and outside of 
natural floodplains by altering or confining watersheds or natural drainage channels. These changes are 
commonly created by human activities. These changes can also be created by other events such as 
wildfires. Wildfires create hydrophobic soils, a hardening or “glazing” of the earth’s surface that 
prevents rainfall from being absorbed into the ground, thereby increasing runoff, erosion, and 
downstream sedimentation of channels. 

Ouray County is susceptible to the following types of flooding: 

• Rain in a general storm system 
• Rain in a localized intense thunderstorm 
• Melting snow 
• Rain on melting snow 
• Dam failure (covered in the Dam Failure hazard profile) 
• Urban stormwater drainage 
• Rain on fire damaged watersheds 

The total annual precipitation in northern Ouray County (Colona-Ridgway) is approximately 13 inches, 
and the County experiences as much as 40 inches in the southern mountainous areas. Approximately 30 
to 40% of the precipitation is snowfall. Generally, the flood season extends from late spring to fall. Much 
of the rainfall occurs with thunderstorms during April, May, June, July, and August. Ouray County is 
affected by a seasonal wind shift and moisture increase known as the “southwest monsoon.” The 
monsoon typically begins every year in mid-July and ends by mid-August, but has been known to vary in 
duration and intensity. During La Nina years the monsoon can be particularly wet and enduring. This 
seasonal rainfall is the most common cause of flooding in Ouray County.  

   171



Location 
Ouray County’s flood events are typically flash floods from intense cloudburst storms over small and 
steep watersheds in the summer and fall and snowmelt driven floods in June.  

Additionally, sources of riverine flooding in the County include the Uncompahgre River, Dallas Creek, 
Cedar Creek, Cuddigan Gulch, Coal Creek, and Unnamed Creek. Steep, rocky tributaries of the 
Uncompahgre River draining relatively small confined basins flood frequently and intensely. These areas 
are notable in Portland, Cascade, Skyrocket, Corbett, Oak, Canyon, Cutler, Dexter, Forsman, Blowout, 
Plummer, Coal, Bridalveil, and Cottonwood creeks, and numerous other intermittent creeks and 
drainages. The Uncompahgre River’s headwaters lie south of the City of Ouray in the high peaks of the 
San Juan Mountains. The river flows through an extremely narrow gorge just south of the City and then 
flattens into a broad and gentle floodplain between Ouray and Ridgway. This floodplain tends to absorb 
floodwaters and debris coming from floods on nearby tributaries. The area between the City of Ouray 
and Ridgway, known as Idlewild, is also at risk to flooding. 

The City of Ouray has six very steep and rocky drainages that discharge in the immediate vicinity of the 
City. These drainages have a long history of intense and devastating floods. The primary problem 
drainages are Portland, Cascade, and Skyrocket creeks. Portland and Cascade creeks drain from the 
“Amphitheater,” a dramatic confined drainage east of the City, and continue through the City toward 
the Uncompahgre River. Since the early 1900s, attempts have been made to confine these drainages to 
“flumes.” These flumes channel the flow to prevent the natural wanderings over the cumulative alluvial 
fans on which much of the City of Ouray has been built. Originally constructed with wood, these flumes 
were replaced with concrete following a flood in 1906. These flumes have been repaired and altered 
over the years and often require maintenance to clean out debris. Often it is the debris more than the 
water that causes the most problems in the City of Ouray (see discussion on Debris Flow hazard). Debris 
clogging drainages following other hazard events such as debris flows, landslide/rockfall, and avalanches 
is a major concern and source of flooding for the City of Ouray. Additionally, recently there has been a 
push from utlitiy companies to clear cut areas around electric poles to mitigate their wildfire risk. 
However, during the second LPC meeting it was noted that this debris is a concern for clogging creeks 
and contributing to flooding. 

The following figures show the 100-year floodplain in Ouray County, the City of Ouray, and the Town of 
Ridgway. It is important to note the various sources of flood hazard data shown in this plan. Flood 
hazards were first mapped in 1978 by A&S consultants in the report titled “Floodplain Information 
Report, Uncompahgre River-Ouray to Dallas Creek-Ouray County, Colorado.” This formed the basis of 
the flood hazard that went into the development of the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) that became 
effective in 1985. This map was digitized into GIS by the Southwest Data Center and is represented on 
the maps created for the 2015 plan, though it is not an official Digital Flood Insurance Rate Map. The 
FIRM for the City of Ouray has changed considerably since the 1985 FIRM was published, and is reflected 
in two Letters of Map Revision (LOMR) dated December 9, 2005 and November 9, 1998. The original 
FIRM shows most of the City in an approximate A zone, or 100-year floodplain, and was also developed 
to represent an envelope of flood and debris flow hazard. The LOMR of 2005 removes much of the A 
zone from the City, confining it to the flumes for Portland and Cascade Creeks. The shaded area 
remaining is largely B zone, which is considered to be between the 100- and 500-year floodplain or 
where the average depth of flooding is less than one foot. This was based on improved topographic 
data, hydraulic and hydrology studies, and improvements to the flumes. This LOMR was digitized as part 

   172



of the 2015 update to improve the flood analysis. This data was not available in GIS format, so the maps 
from the 2015 Ouray County HMP are still the best available floodplain maps for the County. As of 
August 2019, a new FEMA floodplain study is underway for the County. 

   173



Figure 4-29 Ouray County Flood Hazard 

 

   174

• Physiographic Floodplains 
FEMA FIRM Floodplains 

• 1 % Annual Chance 
~ 0.2% Annual Chance 

Streams 

• Lakes 
- Local Roads 

- Major Roads 
- Highways 
i::] Municipalities 

• Counties 

ame& 
0 

Map compiled 8/2013; intended for planning purposes only. 

... 

Data Source: Ouray County, COOT, FEMA FIRM: Ridgway 9/27/1985 
& Ouray City and County 7/3/1985 w/LOMRs, NHD 

MONTROSE 

0 

r: .-

5 10 Miles N 

A 



Figure 4-30 City of Ouray Flood Hazards Based on 2005 Letter of Map Revision 

 

Figure 4-31 City of Ouray Flood Hazards Based on 1998 Letter of Map Revision 

 

   175

• :~-::::=, 
o.a ..... .,,..c:tiance 
(500-Year)Floodplain 

• 

25 

REVISED AREA 

MAP LEGEND 

~ bvl~d 100-Yeor Floodplc:iin 

\ 

\ 

'"" ' 
"" ' 

llTIHAL fLGOI 1nuu1m m)CUN 

FIRM 
noon INSUIINC! RATE MAP 

OTYOF 
OURAY, 
COLORADO 
OURAY COUNTY 

PANEL3160F425 

EVISEO TO 
fflECT LOM 
.1-nrn NOV 09 1998 

CIIM• INITT-PAIEL NUIIIEi 
ll801370ll&C 

EfFECTIVE DATE : 
JULY3, 1985 

ZONE C 



Figure 4-32 Town of Ridgway Flood Hazard Based on 1985 FEMA FIRM 

 

   176

r-··~-­
i 
I 

I 

I 
I --

II 
II 
11 

ZONE A 

,1 --__ lL _ Co"'ii'PoiiATELIMrrs 

---------------1 ::::::::::::K:EE:YYTHOMAI' _ . 
ZONEB :::::::::::~ ~ 

,,.,,,, ...... ,., .. 
00.v,1...,.._.,,. 

v,,, ...... -. .. 

"':,!.:',:·~~-':" ....... ... , .,,_. 

ZONE AS 

ZONEB 

---5/3-

NOTES TO USER {,o.,.,~ ' "' v1 

li~~~.2:Ik;i:;:,;~;:::. .. , 

MEL NUMBER COMMUNITY-~~D138 0001 D 

MAP REVISED : 
SEPTEMBER 27, 1985 



Extent  
Flood events are typically described based on their frequency, such as the 100-year or 500-year flood 
event. Frequencies are determined by plotting a graph of the size of all known floods for an area and 
determining how often floods of a particular size occur. Another way of expressing the flood frequency 
is the chance of occurrence in a given year, which is the percentage of the probability of flooding each 
year. For example, the 100-year flood has a 1% chance of occurring in any given year, and the 500-year 
flood drops to a 0.2% chance of occurring in any given year. Therefore, they are commonly referred to 
as the 1% annual chance flood and 0.2% annual flood, respectively. It should be noted that flooding is 
possible every year and even multiple times each year. 

Additionally, flash floods are common in Ouray County, particularly during the summer monsoon 
season. Flash floods occur very suddenly but usually dissipate within hours. Flash floods are usually 
preceded with warning from the National Weather Service in terms of flash flood advisories, watches, 
and warnings. According to the National Weather Service, a Flash Flood Watch is issued when conditions 
are favorable for flash flooding. It does not mean that flash flooding will occur, but it is possible. A Flash 
Flood Warning is issued when flash flooding is imminent or occurring.43 

Previous Occurrences  
Ouray County and most notably the City of Ouray has witnessed several major floods on the 
Uncompahgre River and its tributaries, with the tributaries causing the most problems.  

Overall, according to the NCEI, previous hazard mitigation plans, and the LPC, there have been 29 total 
flooding events from 1909 to April 2019. Nine of these events were flooding events and 20 flash floods, 
although some of the older records may not have indicated whether the event was a flood or flash 
flood. Twenty of these events were recorded in or near the City of Ouray, four in Ridgway, and five in 
unincorporated Ouray County (Red Mountain, Portland, and Campbird). These events totaled 
$1,956,596 in recorded property damages. Of these damages, $552,572 were recorded in the City of 
Ouray, $1,255,000 in Ridgway, and $149,024 in unincorporated County. These events are described in 
full detail in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. 

Documented flooding events since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan are described below.  

• August 28, 2013 - Oak Creek and Canyon Creek experienced flash floods due to heavy runoff 
from nearby mountains. Roads on the west side of Ouray were impassable due to the rising and 
fast-moving water. 

• July 20, 2017 - Heavy rainfall resulted in flash flooding and mudslides southwest of the town of 
Ouray. The costliest flash flood in the impacted area tore up a section of County Road 361 
where new construction had just been completed. The crib wall, culverts, and other cement 
road structures were damaged beyond repair. Additionally, several culverts along County Road 
361 became clogged by debris. Flash flooding with tons of debris deposits also occurred further 
down on Yankee Boy Road where 26 mudslides occurred. Additional mudslides and flooding also 
came down across Corkscrew Road. Radar estimated rainfall was between 0.50 to 1.00 inches at 
the time. An estimated $50,000 in damages occurred.  

Since the 2015 Ouray County HMP, the Town of Ridgway has installed storm drains downtown. Much of 
the Town was built on a relatively flat area, making natural drainage insufficient. This has alleviated 

43 https://www.weather.gov/lwx/WarningsDefined#Flash%20Flood%20Watch 

   177

https://www.weather.gov/lwx/WarningsDefined#Flash%20Flood%20Watch


much of the flooding concerns in the downtown area of Ridgway. However, there are still undersized 
culverts in the Town with a project underway to improve these culverts. 

The LPC noted that flash flood events on Canyon Creek or Weehawken Creek have repeatedly damaged 
the Weehawken Spring transmission line that delivers water to the City of Ouray’s water storage tanks 
and water treatment facility. This line has also been damaged by landslide events (see Landslide/Rockfall 
profile for further details). 

Despite the frequency and ferocity of the flood events, loss of life from flooding in Ouray County has 
been rare. Four incidents have been documented, three in 1906 and one in 1927. The 1906 incident 
involved a train engineer who died when his locomotive went over a chasm where the bridge was 
washed out. The other two were miners seeking shelter in a small tunnel that became filled with debris. 
The 1927 incident involved a rancher who was found in a field near his cabin following flooding on the 
Uncompahgre River. 

Probability  
Based on previous occurrences, Ouray County has experienced 29 flooding events from 1909 to 2019, 
equating to a 26% chance of annual occurrence, or a likely annual probability.  

NFIP Participation  
Table 4-19 provides detailed information on National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) policies and claims 
in participating jurisdictions in Ouray County. 

Table 4-19 Community Participation in the National Flood Insurance Program 

Jurisdiction Date 
Joined 

Effective 
FIRM Date 

Policies 
in Force 

Insurance 
in Force ($) 

Number of 
Claims 

Claims 
Totals ($) 

City of Ouray 7/3/1985 7/3/1985 19 $5,451,000 5 33,046 
Town of Ridgway 9/27/85 9/27/1985 0 $0 0 0 
Unincorporated 

County 7/3/1985 7/3/1985 32 $9,209,700 0 0 

 

As of May 2019, there were 19 policies in force in the City of Ouray (down from 30 in 2013). Eight of the 
policies were for structures in A zones, and 11 were for structures in B, C, or X zones. Ridgway does not 
have any policies in force (down from four in 2013). There were 32 policies in force in unincorporated 
areas of Ouray County (down from 29 in 2013). Twenty-one of the policies were for structures in A zones 
and 11 were for structures in B, C, or X zones. 

There were no repetitive losses anywhere in Ouray County at the time of the development of this Plan. 

Vulnerability Assessment  
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Floods have the potential to damage the City of Ouray (significant areas), Town of Ridgway (minor 
areas), and the unincorporated areas along the Uncompahgre River and its tributaries. While the City of 
Ouray has mitigated much of the impact of the 1% annual chance flood, the less likely 0.2% annual 
chance event could still cause significant impacts. Many tourist facilities are located along this river and 
could be at risk during a flood event. It was also noted during an LPC workshop that there is a 
campground located in the floodplain in the City of Ouray. Damage to the Weehawken Spring water 

   178



transmission line can also have serious impacts to the City of Ouray given the City’s limited supply of 
water in storage. Over the years the County has made bridge and drainage improvements in areas prone 
to flash flooding and debris flow. Cutler Creek could be a source of potential problems with new housing 
developed in vicinity of its debris fan. Additionally, there is concern that that debris can block Corbett 
Creek and contribute to flooding in Ouray. Ridgway frequently has drainage problems from 
thunderstorm runoff depositing shale and plugging culverts. Roads closed due to floods can result in 
serious transportation disruptions due to the limited number of roads in the County. Additionally, mud 
and debris flows often accompany floods, exacerbating the impacts. 

Potential Losses  
Planning level flood loss estimates were conducted by county for the 2018 Colorado State Hazard 
Mitigation Plan using Hazus-MH (Hazus) software. This data was utilized for incorporation into this Plan. 
Hazus is FEMA’s GIS-based natural hazard loss estimation software. The Hazus flood model results 
include analysis for Ouray County, modeling streams draining a 10 square mile minimum drainage area, 
using 30 meter (1 arc second) Digital Elevation Models (DEM). Hydrology and hydraulic processes utilize 
the DEMs, along with flows from USGS regional regression equations and stream gauge data, to 
determine reach discharges and to model the floodplain. Losses are then calculated using Hazus national 
baseline inventories (buildings and population) at the census block level, in addition to critical 
infrastructure sited at the local level. 

Hazus produces a flood polygon and flood-depth grid that represents the 100-year floodplain. The 100-
year floodplain represents a flood that has a 1% chance of being equaled or exceeded in any single year. 
While not as accurate as official flood maps, these floodplain boundaries are available for use in GIS and 
could be valuable to Ouray County, given it has not been digitally mapped by the National Flood 
Insurance Program. Hazus generated damage estimates are directly related to depth of flooding and are 
based on FEMA’s depth-damage functions. For example, a two-foot flood generally results in about 20% 
damage to a structure (which translates to 20% of the structure’s replacement value). The Hazus flood 
analysis results provide number of buildings impacted, estimates of the building repair costs, and the 
associated loss of building contents and business inventory. Building damage can cause additional losses 
to a community as a whole by restricting the building’s ability to function properly. Income loss data 
accounts for losses such as business interruption and rental income losses as well as the resources 
associated with damage repair and job and housing losses.  

A number of variables are included in Hazus analyses in order to arrive at the estimated values of loss 
due to a flood. For this reason, it is important to note that the Hazus loss estimates detailed above 
should not be used as a precise measure, but rather viewed from the perspective of the potential 
magnitudes of expected losses. Hazus Enhanced (Level II) analyses based on local building inventory, 
higher resolution terrain models, and Digital Flood Insurance Rate Maps (DFIRMs) could be used in the 
future to refine and improve the accuracy of the results.    

Maps and Results 

According to the Hazus model output, at least 36 buildings would be at least moderately damaged by a 
county-wide 100-year flood. An estimated six buildings would be completely destroyed. All of these 
damages would be to residential buildings. Additionally, the model estimates 99 households (or 298 
people) will be displaced due to the flood. Displacement includes households evacuated from within or 

   179



very near to the inundated area. Of these, 109 people (out of a total population of 4,436) will seek 
temporary shelter in public shelters.  

The total economic loss estimated for the flood scenario is $30.3 million, which represents 9% of the 
total replacement value of the County’s building stock. Total economic losses are a combination of 
direct building losses and business interruption losses. 

The building losses are broken into two categories: direct building losses and business interruption 
losses. The direct building losses are the estimated costs to repair or replace the damage caused to the 
building and its contents. Direct building losses were estimated to be $30.21 million. The business 
interruption losses are the losses associated with inability to operate a business because of the damage 
sustained during the flood. Business interruption losses also include the temporary living expenses for 
those people displaced from their homes because of the flood. The total business interruption losses 
were estimated to be $90,000. The residential occupancies made up 85% of the total loss. 

Figure 4-33, Figure 4-34, and Figure 4-35 show the Hazus generated floodplain for a 1% annual chance 
flood event for the County, the City of Ouray, and the Town of Ridgway. Additionally, according to the 
Hazus analysis, the highest flood depths will occur through the City of Ouray, particularly on the 
southwest side of town. Figure 4-36, Figure 4-37, and Figure 4-38 show total losses from this event for 
the County, the City of Ouray, and the Town of Ridgway. The highest flood losses are projected to occur 
in the southwest portion of the City of Ouray. Ridgway is not estimated to experiences as much in losses 
as Ouray, but the highest amount of losses in Ridgway are projected to occur on the east side of town 
and through the central parts of town.  

   180



Figure 4-33 Ouray County Hazus 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

 

   181

Ouray County 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

1111 Floodplain 

GJ Incorporated Jurisdiction 

GJ Census Designated Place 

Highway 

County 0 10 •-=:::::i•c::::::::::.••••- Miles 

5 Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-34 City of Ouray Hazus 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

 

   182

N 

- Floodplain 

0 City of Ouray 

Highway 

City of Ouray 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

0 0 .25 0.5 

•-•:::::i-•c:::=-•••-Miles 

~ CDRIMAQUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-35 Town of Ridgway Hazus 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

 

   183

N 

A 

Town of Ridgway 1% Annual Chance Floodplain 

... 
\ 
.r-

Floodplain 

Town of Ridgway 

Highway 0 0.25 -- 0.5 
Miles 

~ CDRIMAOUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-36 Ouray County 1% Annual Chance Flood Losses 

 

   184

N 

A 

Q 
Q 

~ 

Ouray County 1% Annual Chance Flood Total Loss Estimates 

Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Census Designated Place 

Highway 

Water Body 

County 

Estimated Losses 

$0 - $295,000 - $295,001 - $1,586,000 - $1,586,001 - $3,224,000 - $3,224,001 - $6,012,000 

0 10 
•-=:::::i•c:::::::.••••- Miles 

5 Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-37 City of Ouray 1% Annual Chance Flood Losses 

 

   185

City of Ouray 1% Annual Chance Flood Loss Estimates 

N 

/ 

Estimated Losses Q City of Ouray 

$0 - $295,000 

1111 
Highway 

$295,001 - $1,586,000 

~ 1111 $1,586,001 - $3,224,000 
Water Body 

1111 $3,224,001 - $6,012,000 
0 0.25 0 .5 ~ CDRIMRC.UIRE -- Miles EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-38 Town of Ridgway 1% Annual Chance Flood Losses 

 

   186

Town of Ridgway 1% Annual Chance Flood Loss Estimates 

N 

A --- .... 

• 

Chipeta Or 

t,bernHh Ln 

Sabet• Dr 

Estimated Losses Highway 

$0 - $295,000 

~ - Water Body 

$295,001 - $1,586,000 - $1,586,001 - $3,224,000 Q Town of Ridgw ay 

1111 $3,224,001 - $6,012,000 0 0.25 0.5 

I -- Miles 
~ CDRIMAOUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Additionally, SHELDUS reports a total of $3,925,983 in flooding damages from 1960 to 2017 (2017 
dollars), which equates to $68,876 in annual damages from floods. Of these damages, $3,512,069 were 
property damages and $413,914 were crop damages. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The only flood GIS data available were the results of the Hazus analysis. The Hazus results largely do not 
pass through any designated growth areas by the County. However, it does pass through both the City of 
Ouray and the Town of Ridgway. Both of these jurisdictions have experienced population growth over 
the last decade and are projected to continue to grow through 2050. The risk of flooding to future 
development should be minimized by the floodplain management programs of the County and its 
municipalities, if properly enforced. Risk could be further reduced by strengthening floodplain 
ordinances and floodplain management programs beyond minimum NFIP requirements.  

Climate Change 

Although there is no consensus that annual mean precipitation will increase in Colorado due to climate 
change, it is possible that precipitation may increasingly come in the form of extreme storms. These 
high-intensity rainfall events could lead to increased flash flood conditions, which are already a primary 
flooding concern for the County.  

Additionally, the timing of peak runoff has shifted one to four weeks earlier in the State. This change in 
timing can impact Ouray County directly due to the high amounts of snowfall the County receives, and 
should be taken into consideration when mitigating against flooding from spring snowmelt. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-20 Flooding Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 3 3 3 9 H 
Town of Ridgway 2 3 2 7 H 
Unincorporated County 3 3 3 9 H 

 

   187



4.5.11. Landslide/Rockfall 

Description 
Landslide 
A landslide is a general term for a variety of mass-movement processes that generate a downslope 
movement of soil, rock, and vegetation under gravitational influence. Some of the natural causes of 
ground instability are stream and lakeshore erosion, heavy rainfall, and poor-quality natural materials. In 
addition, many human activities tend to make the earth materials less stable and, thus, increase the 
chance of ground failure. Human activities contribute to soil instability through grading of steep slopes 
or overloading them with artificial fill, by extensive irrigation, construction of impermeable surfaces, 
excessive groundwater withdrawal, and removal of stabilizing vegetation. Landslides typically have a 
slower onset and can be predicted to some extent by monitoring soil moisture levels and ground 
cracking or slumping in areas of previous landslide activity. Additionally, landslides become a hazard in 
areas burned by previous wildfires, although for the purposes of this Plan, the hazard post-wildfire aligns 
with the debris flow hazard profile. 

Rockfall 
A rockfall is the falling of a detached mass of rock from a cliff or down a very steep slope. Weathering 
and decomposition of geological materials produce conditions favorable to rockfalls. Rockfalls are 
caused by the loss of support from underneath through erosion or triggered by ice wedging, root 
growth, or ground shaking. Changes to an area or slope such as cutting and filling activities can also 
increase the risk of a rockfall. Rocks in a rockfall can be of any dimension, from the size of baseballs to 
houses. Rockfall occurs most frequently in mountains or other steep areas during the early spring when 
there is abundant moisture and repeated freezing and thawing. Rockfalls are a serious geological hazard 
that can threaten human life, impact transportation corridors and communication systems, and result in 
other property damage. 

Spring is typically the landslide/rockfall season in Colorado as snow melts and saturates soils and 
temperatures enter into freeze/thaw cycles. Falling ice is sometimes a hazard on Highway 550 just north 
or south of Ouray. Rockfall and landslides are influenced by seasonal patterns, precipitation and 
temperature patterns. Additionally, an earthquake could trigger rockfalls and landslides. 

Location 
The CGS report “Debris-Flow Hazard in the Immediate Vicinity of Ouray, Colorado” contains a hardcopy 
map showing known landslide deposits near the City of Ouray. The deposits are limited and none of 
them affect developed areas or roads. A landslide has caused occasional problems to Highway 550 near 
Colona. Another landslide problem area includes the 11000 block of County Road 1 as it climbs the 
escarpment. The road is showing possible damage due to sliding of the foundation. 

Rockfall hazard areas in Ouray County usually are marked by the presence of fist to boulder sized rocks 
that accumulate below cliff areas, steep slopes, or talus fields on mountainsides. Steep slopes in the 
southern half of the County are prone to this hazard, particularly around the City of Ouray, the Camp 
Bird Road area, and along Highway 550. Since the 2015 Plan, CDOT has shored up failing crib walls to 
mitigate rockfalls near mile post 89 on Highway 550 (Mother Cline area). 

CDOT identified 756 sites throughout Colorado that have ongoing issues with rockfall. There are 14 such 
sites in Ouray County. CDOT identifies these areas using the Colorado Rockfall Hazard Rating System 

   188



(CRHRS) which combines traffic data, geology information, and slope measurements to determine a 
hazard ranking score. Table 4-21 below details the 14 rockfall hazards in the County by mile marker. 
Motorists should be particularly careful and aware of the rockfall hazards along that stretch of highway.  

Table 4-21 Ouray County Rockfall Hazard Areas 

Route Segment ID Beginning Mile Marker Ending Mile Marker 
550 US550-SB80.9A 80.901 80.963 
550 US550-NB88.0A 88.058 88.116 
550 US550-NB88.1B 88.131 88.239 
550 US550-NB88.2C 88.250 88.424 
550 US550-NB88.4D 88.424 88.588 
550 US550-NB88.6E 88.641 88.749 
550 US550-NB88.8F 88.816 88.881 
550 US550-NB88.9G 88.890 89.257 
550 US550-NB89.3A 89.350 89.415 
550 US550-NB89.9B 89.907 90.264 
550 US550-NB90.3A 90.290 90.341 
550 US550-NB90.6B 90.600 90.630 
550 US550-NB90.6C 90.653 90.692 
550 US550-NB106.3A 106.250 106.381 

 

Figure 4-39, Figure 4-40, and Figure 4-41 depict landslide and rockfall hazard areas in the County, the 
City of Ouray, and the Town of Ridgway based on a compendium of landslide GIS databases developed 
by CGS for the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan. Based on this data, the southern, eastern, 
and western portions of the County are more susceptible to this hazard. It should be noted these GIS 
layers were derived from geologic maps at 24K, 48-100K, and 250K resolutions; as well as HB1041 data, 
and should be used for planning purposes only. 

   189



Figure 4-39 Landslide and Rockfall Hazards in Ouray County 

 

   190

Ouray County Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas 

Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas -- Highway 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

~ Water Body 

~ Streams 

County ---
0 10 

--=====--===-----• Miles 

5 Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-40 Landslide and Rockfall Hazards in the City of Ouray 

 

   191

City of Ouray Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas 
/ 

N 

A 

Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas -- Local Road 

Q City of Ou ray 

-- Highway 

~ WaterBody 

~ Stream 

0 0.25 0.5 --:::::i--=:::::i---• Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-41 Landslide and Rockfall Hazards in the Town of Ridgway 

 

   192

Town of Ridgway Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas 

N I 

Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas ~ Stream 

Q Town of Ridgway ~ Water Body 

Highway 

Local Road 0 0.25 0.5 ~ CDRIM..,URE -- Miles EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Extent 
There is not a formal scale to measure landslide extent. Factors such as volume and size can be used to 
determine landslide extent. Characteristics determining extent can vary widely between the different 
landslide types. Some landslides are slow moving (for example, a “creep” landslide), while others occur 
suddenly and quickly. 

Additionally, there is not a formal scale to measure rockfall extent. However, rockfalls typically occur 
suddenly, with little to no warning time. Rockfalls can vary from smaller rocks to large boulders. 

Previous Occurrences  
There have been 12 recorded significant rockfall or landslide events recorded since 1984. It should be 
noted that these are not the only rockfall/landslide events to occur in the County, only ones with 
documented impacts. Of these events, 11 were rockfall events and one landslide. Three events occurred 
in the City of Ouray, one in Ridgway, and the rest in unincorporated County, including Camp Bird Road, 
County Road 17, East Riverside Slide, and Red Mountain Pass. These events equated to $1,035,000 in 
damages, although this is likely a low estimate. Events occurring since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard 
Mitigation Plan are described below. Full details of previous occurrences can be found in Appendix C – 
HIRA Appendix. 

In March 2016, a rockfall totaled a house in the City of Ouray. 

According to Ouray County Emergency Manager, a rockfall occurred in the City of Ouray in November 
2018 that impacted a home and caused flooding concerns in a drainage ditch. Two boulders each “the 
size of a Volkswagen” came down the cliff that the couple’s log home has been sitting on since 1975, 
one on each side of their home, narrowly missing on both sides. One boulder hit their motor home, 
turning it on its side while tearing a giant hole “just like a rocket” all the way through it as it came to rest 
further down the hill. The other boulder rushed down the other side of the home, taking with it large 
trees split from about waist-high and completely eradicating the snow shed built against the house. It 
also damaged the electric tram and stairs used to access the home.44 

Additionally, on March 8, 2019 a massive rockslide caused significant damage to County Road 17, 
approximately three miles north of the City of Ouray. Rocks the size of two large SUVs landed on the 
surface of the road above the gas main that supplies the City of Ouray and Whispering Pines 
neighborhood. The current gas line is suspected to be damaged; however, there are no leaks or 
disruption of service identified at this time.45 As of April 2019, the road remains closed until further 
notice. County Officials, emergency officials, and Black Hills Energy have been working to determine the 
best solution to re-open County Road 17 in a safe manner. County Road 17 is the only alternative access  
north out of Ouray. As of March 30, 2019, a cost of about $27,000 was estimated for strictly the 
engineering work to be done in the area, which doesn’t include any costs related to rock removal and 
mitigation. Additionally, it was determined that this rockfall occurred in a geologically active debris field, 
which will be impacted again in the future, although the recurrence interval is unknown.46 Figure 4-42 
shows the rockfall. 

44 https://www.ouraynews.com/articles/2018/11/09/massive-boulders-rockslide-narrowly-miss-home 
45 Ouray County Government 
46 Colorado Geological Survey 

   193

https://www.ouraynews.com/articles/2018/11/09/massive-boulders-rockslide-narrowly-miss-home


Figure 4-42 Rockfall on CR 17 

 

In August 2019, a rockfall landed on the catwalk and geothermal line that supplies the Ouray Hot Springs 
pool. An initial damage assessment is a little over $8,000 in damage. Figure 4-43 shows the event. 

   194



Figure 4-43 Rockfall Impacting the Ouray Hot Springs 

 

Additionally, rockfall incidents on Highway 550 have dropped rocks large enough to force vehicles into 
the opposing traffic lane in order to proceed. Slippage events on Forest Service property and along 
County Road 361 have damaged the Weehawken Spring water transmission line. This transmission line 
delivers water to the City of Ouray’s water storage tanks and water treatment facility. The City has a 
limited supply of water in storage, so damage to the Weehawken Spring transmission line can quickly 
become serious. 

   195

--~ · -­
. -­. -•. , ---- , ----.. ---·- -- ·- -.. --

-... ·-•: - 'L-



Probability  
According to the recorded previous occurrences of 12 landslides/rockfalls from 1984 to 2019 and 
discussions with the LPC, landslides and rockfalls have a likely probability of occurring every year. There 
is between a 10 and 100% chance of occurrence in any year. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Impacts from landslides and rockfalls are typically isolated to the direct area, and many of the issues can 
be mitigated with proper awareness and engineering design. Landslides could create flood hazards by 
blocking up rivers or by contributing to dam failures. Landslides and rockfall hazards threaten several 
transportation corridors in the County. Rockfall can cause severe injuries and fatalities. If a landslide 
event were to cut off a major roadway, people could become stranded, deliveries of supplies could be 
delayed, emergency response could be hindered, etc. Landslides within and outside of the County also 
pose a threat to power lines and infrastructure. A landslide could impact power line infrastructure and 
thus contribute to extended power outages. Increased backcountry recreation in the County also 
exposes people to rockslide and landslide events. For example, the Camp Bird Road area is subject to 
rockfall, which is a popular location for residents and tourists to recreate. This area has continued to 
experience increased use over the last several years. Additionally, it was noted rockfalls commonly 
originate from USFS owned lands in the County, and it is important to identify these hazard areas to help 
mitigate.   

Based on previous occurrences and the hazard maps, it is evident that the City of Ouray, Highway 550 in 
southern Ouray County, and County Road 17 are susceptible to landslides and rockfalls. These roads 
provide important access to and from the County, and the closure of these roads hurt businesses in 
Ouray County. Based on analysis from the March 2019 rockfall event, from a geological perspective 
there is a high risk of rockfall to the residences on North Pine Crest Drive, and other similar locations 
along the base of the cliffs along County Road 17.47 A water line for the City of Ouray is threatened by a 
landslide near County Road 361. One other landslide problem area includes the 11000 block of County 
Road 1 as it climbs the escarpment. The road is showing possible damage due to the sliding foundation. 
Landslides and rockfalls have little impact on the Town of Ridgway or the Ridgway School District. 

Potential Losses 
According to the previous occurrences data, landslides/rockfall have caused $1,035,000 in damages in 
the County from 1984 to 2019. This equates to $29,571 in annual damages. This may still be a low 
estimate for damages from landslides and rockfalls in the County. For example, repairs alone to Highway 
550 from the January 2014 rockfall costed over $1 million. This does not include the economic impacts 
of the road closure, which was reported to be 60% of revenue lost by local businesses during the 
closure. Local businesses in the City of Ouray experience significant revenue during the summer months 
from tourism. If access is prohibited due to closures on Highway 550 or County Road 17 during this time, 
businesses are particularly vulnerable to loss of income. As of the writing of this Plan, County Road 17 
has been closed for several months due to that recent rockslide. Total damages due to this event are still 
unknown. 

47 Colorado Geological Survey 

   196



A GIS analysis was performed with the CGS landslide/rockfall hazard layer utilized in the 2018 Colorado 
State Hazard Mitigation Plan. Due to the resolution of this layer, this analysis is intended to highlight 
geographic areas with highest potential losses due to this hazard, rather than smaller scale or parcel-
level losses. According to this analysis, there are 4,636 total parcels in landslide/rockfall hazard areas in 
the County, with a total exposure value of $883,877,220. In the City of Ouray, 911 parcels are in 
landslide/rockfall hazard areas (out of 997 total parcels) with an exposure of $299,065,995. The majority 
of the City parcels are in this hazard area, with the exclusion of the very southern boundary. In the Town 
of Ridgway, 27 parcels are exposed, with a value of $19,611,480. The majority of these parcels lie along 
the Uncompahgre River. Table 4-22 shows the exposure by jurisdiction. It is evident the City of Ouray 
and unincorporated County have significant exposure and potential losses to this hazard. 

Table 4-22 Parcels in Landslide/Rockfall Hazard Areas 

Jurisdiction # Parcels Total Exposure 
City of Ouray 911 $299,065,995 

Town of Ridgway 27 $19,611,480 
Unincorporated County 3,698 $565,199,745 

Total 4,636 $883,877,220 
 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development  

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated County have experienced population growth 
over the last decade and are projected to continue to grow through 2050. Development in areas 
identified in the “Location” section of this profile has increased vulnerability to this hazard. The severity 
of landslide problems is directly related to the extent of human activity in hazard areas. Adverse effects 
can be mitigated by early recognition and avoiding incompatible land uses in these areas or by 
corrective engineering. The mountainous topography of the County presents considerable constraints to 
development, most commonly in the form of steep sloped areas. These areas are vulnerable to 
disturbance and can become unstable. Landslide risk is considered during the permitting and 
construction per the County’s development regulations. 

The southern portions of the County which are more susceptible to landslides/rockfall are not very 
suitable for growth due to topography. However, these areas are popular for outdoor recreation, and 
continue to grow in popularity. This increase in visitors can expose more people to this hazard in the 
County. 

Climate Change 

Climate change can impact landslides and rockfall similarly to debris flow in the County. Increased heavy 
precipitation can increase the landslide and rockfall risk. Additionally, changes in freeze/thaw cycles 
associated with changes in temperature/precipitation may impact rockfall events, particularly in the 
spring when rockfall events are more common.  

An increase an increased frequency of high-intensity wildfires can increase the risk of landslides or 
rockfall in burn scar areas during a rain event. 

   197



Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-23 Landslide / Rockfall Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 3 3 2 8 H 
Town of Ridgway 2 2 2 6 M 
Unincorporated County 3 3 2 8 H 

 

4.5.12. Lightning 

Description 
Lightning is a discharge of electrical energy resulting from the buildup of positive and negative charges 
within a thunderstorm, creating a “bolt” when the buildup of charges becomes strong enough. This flash 
of light usually occurs within the clouds or between the clouds and the ground. A bolt of lightning can 
reach temperatures approaching 50,000 degrees Fahrenheit. Lightning rapidly heats the sky as it flashes 
but the surrounding air cools following the bolt. This rapid heating and cooling of the surrounding air 
causes the thunder which often accompanies lightning strikes. While most often affiliated with severe 
thunderstorms, lightning may also strike outside of heavy rain and might occur as far as 10 miles away 
from any rainfall. 

Lightning is one of the more dangerous weather hazards in the United States and in Colorado. Each year, 
lightning is responsible for deaths, injuries, and millions of dollars in property damage, including damage 
to buildings, communications systems, power lines, and electrical systems. Lightning also causes forest 
and brush fires, as well as deaths and injuries to livestock and other animals. According to the National 
Lightning Safety Institute, lightning causes more than 26,000 fires in the United States each year. 

U.S. lightning statistics compiled by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration between 
1959 and 1994 indicate that most lightning incidents occur during the summer months of June, July, and 
August and during the afternoon hours from between 2 and 6 p.m. 

Location 
The entire County is susceptible to lightning. Figure 4-44 shows the flash density of lightning strikes 
across the United States from 2007 to 2016.48 Figure 4-45 shows this information for Colorado.49 It is 
evident that Ouray County has lower flash density than much of the United States and eastern Colorado. 

48 Vaisala; https://my.vaisala.net/en/services/dataservicesandsolutions/lightningdata/Pages/NLDN.aspx 
49 https://www.weather.gov/pub/lightningFlashDensityMaps 

   198

https://my.vaisala.net/en/services/dataservicesandsolutions/lightningdata/Pages/NLDN.aspx
https://www.weather.gov/pub/lightningFlashDensityMaps


However, the exposed, mountainous terrain and high amount of people recreating in the high country 
makes the County vulnerable to lightning strikes impacting people.  

Figure 4-44 Lightning Flash Density Across the United States 2007 to 2016 

 

   199

National Lightning Detection Network 
2007 - 2016 

Flash Density 
Flashes/sq mi/year 
• 28 and up • 20 to28 
• 12 to20 

6 to 12 
3 to 6 • 1.5 to 3 • 0.75to 1.5 

O+ to 0.75 

VAISALA © Valsala 2017. All rights reserved. For display purposes only - any other use is prohibited without prior written consent from Vaisala. 



Figure 4-45 Lightning Flash Density Across Colorado 1996 to 2016 

 

Extent 
In Ouray County, lightning is most frequent during the summer monsoon season, typically July and 
August, which produces afternoon thunderstorms nearly daily. These storms can arrive very quickly, 
making them particularly dangerous and leaving people outdoors vulnerable to lightning. 

Previous Occurrences 
From 1997 to 2012, Colorado experienced an average of 506,131 lightning flashes per year, ranking it 
32nd in the nation for number of flashes during this time period.50 Ouray County has an average 2,400 
flashes per year.51 

In terms of lightning fatalities, Colorado has experienced 146 fatalities from 1959 to 2016, ranking it 5th 
in number of fatalities (behind Florida, Texas, North Carolina, and Ohio). While lightning is a regular 
occurrence in Ouray County, damaging lightning is not. According to the National Climatic Data Center 
Storm Event Database, there were two notable lightning events in Ouray County between 1993 and 
2018: 

50 Vaisala; https://www.weather.gov/media/iln/97-12Flash_DensitybyState.pdf 
51 https://www.weather.gov/pub/lightningCgCountyColorado 

   200

Colorado Lightning 1996 - 2016: Annual 

N 

0 100 200 400 km A 

Average 
cloud-to-ground 
flashes / km A2 

• >0.0- 0.25 

• 0.25 - 0.5 

• 0.5 - 0.75 

0.75- 1.0 

1.0 - 1.25 

• 1.25-1 .5 -1.5-1 .75 

• 1.75- 2.0 

• 2.0 - 2.25 

• 2.25- 2.5 

• 2.5 - 2.75 

D 2.75 - 3.0 

D 3.0 - 3.25 

3.25 - 3.5 

• 3.5 - 3.75 

• 3.75 - 4.0 

• 4.0 - 4.25 

• 4.25-4.5 

• 4.5 - 4.75 • 4.75 - 5.0 

• 5.0 - 5.25 

• 5.25 - 5.5 

• 5.5 - 5.75 

• 5.75 - 6.0 

• 6.0 - 6.25 

• 6.25 - 6.5 

• >6.5 

https://www.weather.gov/media/iln/97-12Flash_DensitybyState.pdf
https://www.weather.gov/pub/lightningCgCountyColorado


• August 17, 1999—Lightning struck a power substation. Insulators were destroyed and fuses 
were blown on a transformer, which resulted in a power outage to the entire community for 
about one hour. Damage was estimated at $1,000. 

• June 13, 1996—A man was struck and killed by lightning while hiking near the summit of Mt. 
Sneffles. Shortly before the lightning strike he was warned of the potential lightning danger 
from other hikers who were coming down from the summit. 

Probability 
There is a 100% chance of occurrence of lightning every year in Ouray County, equating to a highly likely 
probability. However, damaging lightning happens much less frequently.  

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Lightning can cause deaths, injuries, and property damage, including damage to buildings, 
communications systems, power lines, and electrical systems. It also causes wildland and structural fires. 
Damage from lightning occurs in four ways: 

• Electrocution, severe electrical shock, and burns of humans and animals 
• Vaporization of materials in the path of the strike 
• Fire caused by the high temperatures associated with lightning 
• Power surges that can damage electrical and electronic equipment 

When people are struck by lightning, the result is deep burns at the point of contact (usually on the 
head, neck, and shoulders). Approximately 70% of lightning survivors experience residual effects such as 
vision and hearing loss or neuropsychiatric issues. These effects may develop slowly and only become 
apparent much later. Death occurs in 20% of lightning strike victims. 

Aside from wildfire ignition, lightning strikes cause intense but localized damage. In contrast to other 
hazards, lightning does not cause widespread disruptions with the community. Structural fires, localized 
damage to buildings, damage to electronics and electrical appliances, and electrical power and 
communications outages are typical consequences of a lightning strike. Additionally, indirect fatalities 
may result via electrocution when a person steps from a vehicle into standing water that was previously 
“charged” by a live power-line that was knocked loose by a lightning strike. 

The indirect social and economic impacts of lightning damage are typically associated with the loss of 
electrical power. Since society relies heavily on electric power, any disruption in the supply, even for a 
short time period, can have significant consequences. Wildland fires can also be an indirect result of a 
lightning strike. 

Overall, all jurisdictions and the Ridgway School District are at equal risk to the impacts of lightning. 
People recreating outside are at the highest risk to a lightning strike. Large influxes of people visiting 
Ouray County during the summer months exposes many people to lightning during the peak of the 
monsoon season, when most lightning strikes occur. Many people visit Ouray County for the outdoor 
beauty, and if they are not prepared for the risks associated with lightning in the high country, tourists 
can be particularly vulnerable to lightning strikes.  

   201



Potential Losses 
Historically, lightning has not caused extensive losses to Ouray County. SHELDUS reports $2,856 in 
damages from lightning from 1960 to 2017 (2017 dollars). This equates to approximately $50 in annual 
damages. Loss of life can also occur from lightning strikes. Ouray County has only experienced one death 
from lightning through 2018.  

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. This 
exposes more people across the County to lightning. Many people living in Ouray County take advantage 
of the ample alpine recreation opportunities, however, new residents may not be aware of the dangers 
associated with lightning while recreating, which can lead to an increase in injuries or deaths from 
lightning. 

Climate Change 

The impacts of climate change on lightning-producing thunderstorms is unclear for the State of 
Colorado. More research is needed to determine if climate change is impacting the warm-season 
convective thunderstorms across the State. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-24 Lightning Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 2 2 5 M 
Town of Ridgway 1 2 2 5 M 
Unincorporated County 1 2 2 5 M 

 

4.5.13. Public Health Emergencies 

Description 
For this Plan pandemic flu; the West Nile Virus; and radon, Carbon Monoxide (CO), and methane seeps 
are profiled as public health emergencies. 

   202



Pandemic Influenza 
A pandemic is a global disease outbreak. A pandemic flu is a virulent human flu that causes a global 
outbreak, or pandemic, of serious illness. A flu pandemic occurs when a new influenza virus emerges for 
which people have little or no immunity, and for which there is no vaccine. This disease spreads easily 
person-to-person, causes serious illness, and can sweep across the country and around the world in very 
short time. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention has been working closely with other 
countries and the World Health Organization to strengthen systems to detect outbreaks of influenza 
that might cause a pandemic and to assist with pandemic planning and preparation. 

An especially severe influenza pandemic could lead to high levels of illness, death, social disruption, and 
economic loss. Impacts could range from school and business closings to the interruption of basic 
services such as public transportation, health care, and the delivery of food and essential medicines. 

West Nile Virus 
The impact to human health that wildlife, and more notably, insects, can have on an area can be 
substantial. Mosquitoes transmit the potentially deadly West Nile virus to livestock and humans alike. 
West Nile virus first struck the western hemisphere in Queens, New York, in 1999 and killed four people. 
Since then, the disease has spread across the United States. The West Nile virus has now been reported 
in all 50 states. 

Most humans infected by the virus have no symptoms. A small proportion develops mild symptoms that 
include fever, headache, body aches, skin rash, and swollen lymph glands. Less than 1% of those 
infected develop more severe illness such as meningitis or encephalitis, symptoms of which include 
headache, high fever, neck stiffness, stupor, disorientation, coma, tremors, convulsions, muscle 
weakness, and paralysis. Of the few people who develop encephalitis, fewer than 1 out of 1,000 
infections die as a result. 

There is no specific treatment for the infection or a vaccine to prevent it. Treatment of severe illness 
includes hospitalization, use of intravenous fluids and nutrition, respiratory support, prevention of 
secondary infections, and good nursing care. Medical care should be sought as soon as possible for 
persons who have symptoms suggesting severe illness. People over 50 years of age appear to be at high 
risk for the severe aspects of the disease. 

Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps 
Radon is a naturally occurring colorless, odorless, radioactive gas that forms when uranium in the soil 
breaks down. Radon can then seep into homes and workplaces through cracks and openings in floors 
and crawlspaces, and become part of the atmosphere. Radon gas decays into radioactive particles that 
can get trapped in the lungs when inhaled. Radon exposure does not create an acute or immediate 
hazard, however, long-term exposure can significantly increase the risk of lung cancer. Radon is the 
second-leading cause of lung cancer in the United States (behind smoking) and is the leading cause of 
lung cancer in nonsmokers. Each year, about 21,000 deaths in the United States are attributed to radon-
caused lung cancer. Lung cancer typically occurs 5-25 years after exposure. 

Carbon monoxide is an invisible and odorless gas produced by the incomplete burning of various fuels, 
including coal, wood, charcoal, oil, kerosene, propane, and natural gas. Carbon monoxide is also 
produced by internal combustion engine-powered equipment such as portable generators, cars, and 
lawn mowers. Breathing in high levels can lead to severe illness or death.  

   203



Methane is a colorless, odorless gas, and is the main component of natural gas. It is associated with 
fossil fuels, primarily coal beds, and is also created by microorganisms in marshes, bogs, and landfills. 
Methane is not a toxic human health hazard; it is not considered a carcinogen and does not cause 
adverse health effects from ingestion, inhalation, or adsorption. However, if methane accumulates in a 
confined or poorly ventilated space, an explosion hazard can be created, and because oxygen is 
displaced, an asphyxiation hazard may also be created. High levels of methane gas in groundwater have 
also been known to create a flammability hazard. Note that this section only addresses naturally 
occurring methane seeps. 

Location 
Pandemic Influenza 
The entire population of the County could potentially be affected by a pandemic flu outbreak. 

West Nile Virus 
According to the LPC, the relatively higher elevations of the County are less prone to have the mosquito 
that carries West Nile. Thus, the lower elevations in the northern County are possibly more prone this 
hazard. 

Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps 
The entire County is exposed to radon. The exact level varies for each individual building, and at this 
time building-level data is not available to determine areas that may experience higher levels of radon 
throughout the County. Additionally, carbon monoxide exposure is possible across the entire County. 
Methane seepage is typically associated with coal bed areas in Colorado. According to the Colorado 
Geological Survey, the northern and central portions of Ouray County contain a coal bed and may be 
more susceptible to methane seeps (Figure 4-46). 

   204



Figure 4-46 Coal Beds in Colorado 

 

Extent 
Pandemic Influenza 
According to the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) 2018 Pandemic 
Influenza Plan, Influenza pandemics are unpredictable, but expected, and may arrive with very little 
warning. Certain conditions make pandemic influenza more likely: 

• A novel influenza A virus emerges when two or more different strains or different viruses 
combine to form a new subtype, with some characteristics of the original viruses. This process is 
called “antigenic shift”. 

• The population is susceptible with little or no immunity to the new virus. 
• The virus is highly contagious. 
• The virus is virulent with the capacity to cause serious illness and death.52 

West Nile Virus 
The West Nile virus is most commonly spread by infected mosquitos. Mosquito season in Colorado lasts 
from approximately June through August. 

52 CDPHE Pandemic Influenza Plan, 2018 

   205

PHIUJPS 

CHEYENNE 



Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps 
Radon levels in all Colorado counties are rated by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as 
having predicted indoor radon levels greater than two picocuries per liter (pCi/L), well above the 
national average of 1.3 pCi/L. According to the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan, Ouray 
County has a predicted indoor radon level greater than four pCi/L, which is the level at which the EPA 
recommends radon mitigation. The exact level varies for each individual home in the County. Typically, 
radon exposure occurs over a long time span (such as in an individual’s home) and affects from this 
exposure occur years later.  Among people exposed to radon above four pCi/L, 62 out of every 1,000 
smokers and seven out of 1,000 nonsmokers could get lung cancer. For nonsmokers, the lifetime risk of 
dying from this level of radon exposure is comparable to the risk of dying in a car crash; for smokers, the 
risk is comparable to five times the risk of dying in a car accident. 

Carbon monoxide is an odorless gas, so exposure can be sudden and without warning. This can occur at 
a small scale, such as an individual in a house or vehicle, or at a larger scale such as an indoor event. 

Similarly to carbon monoxide, methane is also a colorless and odorless gas, leading to sudden exposure 
with little warning.  

Previous Occurrences 
Pandemic Influenza 
There were three acknowledged pandemics in the twentieth century and one in the twenty-first 
century: 

• 1918-19 Spanish flu (H1N1)—This flu is estimated to have sickened 20-40% of the world’s 
population. Over 20 million people lost their lives. Between September 1918 and April 1919, 
500,000 Americans died. The flu spread rapidly; many died within a few days of infection, others 
from secondary complications. The attack rate and mortality were highest among adults 20-50 
years old; the reasons for this are uncertain. This flu impacted Ouray County. There is evidence 
that 15 persons or more died during this outbreak. The far-reaching effects of this pandemic 
were significant, considering the remoteness of Ouray at this point in time. 

• 1957-58 Asian flu (H2N2)—This virus was quickly identified due to advances in technology, and 
a vaccine was produced. Infection rates were highest among school children, young adults, and 
pregnant women. The elderly had the highest rates of death. A second wave developed in 1958. 
In total, there were about 70,000 deaths in the United States. Worldwide deaths were 
estimated between 1 and 2 million. 

• 1968-69 Hong Kong flu (H3N2)—This strain caused approximately 34,000 deaths in the United 
States and more than 700,000 deaths worldwide. It was first detected in Hong Kong in early 
1968 and spread to the United States later that year. Those over age 65 were most likely to die. 
This virus returned in 1970 and 1972 and still circulates today. 

• 2009-2010 Swine flu (H1N1)—This flu strain was first detected in the U.S. in California in April 
2009. It was identified as H1N1 but was not the exact strain that appeared in 1918. Worldwide 
health response quickly ramped up in April in preparation for a pandemic. All 50 U.S. states 
reported cases of 2009 H1N1 by June 19, 2009. This strain caused 14,286 deaths worldwide and 
2,117 laboratory-confirmed deaths in the U.S. according to the CDC. 

   206



West Nile Virus 
From 2002 to 2018, there have not been any reported West Nile virus cases in Ouray County. However, 
there have been reported cases every year in Colorado since 2002. Table 4-25 shows the number of 
cases over time.53 

Table 4-25 West Nile Virus Cases in Colorado from 2002 to 2017 

Year Cases Deaths 
2002 14 0 
2003 2,947 63 
2004 291 0 
2005 106 0 
2006 345 7 
2007 555 6 
2008 71 1 
2009 103 3 
2010 81 4 
2011 7 0 
2012 131 5 
2013 322 7 
2014 118 5 
2015 101 3 
2016 149 8 
2017 68 4 
Total 5,409 116 

 

Although no cases of West Nile virus have been reported in Ouray County, several surrounding counties 
have experienced the virus. From 2002 to 2018, Montrose County has experienced 68 cases, San Miguel 
County 1 case, and Gunnison County 2 cases.54 This indicates it is possible that Ouray County will 
experience cases of West Nile virus.  

The Town of Ridgway and Ouray County have had an aggressive mosquito program in place for several 
years which includes mitigation, education, and tracking. The control methods used emphasize 
treatments with minimal environmental impact but proven effectiveness. 

Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps 
Radon: Overall, Colorado’s incidence rate of lung cancer is 43.3 cancers per 100,000 residents; this is 
well below the national average of 60.2, due primarily to Colorado’s low smoking rates. According to this 
data, Ouray County experienced too few lung cancer cases (three or fewer) to calculate an incidence 
rate.55 

53 https://www.cdc.gov/westnile/statsmaps/finalmapsdata/index.html 
54 https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/west-nile-virus-data 
55 https://statecancerprofiles.cancer.gov/incidencerates/  

   207

https://www.cdc.gov/westnile/statsmaps/finalmapsdata/index.html
https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/west-nile-virus-data
https://statecancerprofiles.cancer.gov/incidencerates/index.php?stateFIPS=08&cancer=047&race=00&sex=0&age=001&type=incd


Nevertheless, from 1990 through 2015 more than 51,000 Coloradans died from lung cancer, an average 
of 1,970 deaths a year. While it is not possible to state definitively which of those cancers were due to 
radon exposure, the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimate that 13 percent of 
lung cancers are attributable to radon exposure; this equates to an estimated 255 deaths a year from 
radon-induced lung cancer in Colorado. The number of lung cancer deaths for Ouray County was not 
available during this Plan update. 

Carbon Monoxide: From 1999 to 2009, an average of 11 Coloradans died every year due to accidental 
carbon monoxide poisoning not related to a fire, and more than twice that number were hospitalized. In 
2009 Colorado passed a law requiring the installation of carbon monoxide alarms in most homes. Since 
2010, the number of deaths has dropped slightly to 9.4 per year. No data for deaths in Ouray County 
was available at the time of this Plan update. In Ouray County, from 2011 to 2017, there have been nine 
unintended carbon monoxide poisoning emergency department visits. Seven of these visits occurred in 
2013, which led to an incident rate of 174.16 per 100,000 people, which was significantly higher than 
the statewide rate. The other two occurred in 2016, but did not lead to an incident rate significantly 
higher than the statewide rate.56 

In November 2013, two miners died in the Revenue-Virginius gold and silver mine and at least 19 others 
were injured from carbon monoxide poisoning in Ouray County. However, it was noted during the first 
LPC meeting that the County does not have jurisdiction over mines and does not mitigate against 
hazards for them, therefore, for this profile carbon monoxide events do not include mine accidents. 

Methane: There have not been any previous occurrences of methane seepage incidents in Ouray 
County. However, with the presence of coal beds in the County, it remains a concern.  

Probability 
Pandemic Influenza 
Based on four previous worldwide pandemic flu outbreaks in that affected the United States between 
1918 and 2019, there is an estimated 4% chance of occurrence in any year. This equates to a possible 
probability. Although there is a low chance of occurrence, a pandemic flu outbreak would have serious 
impacts on human health and the economy. 

West Nile Virus 
There have not been any recorded West Nile virus cases in Ouray County. This leads to an unlikely 
probability of occurrence. However, as noted previously, cases have been reported in several 
neighboring counties, so Ouray County must be prepared for cases in the County in the future.  

Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps 
Based on few to no recorded previous occurrences of radon, carbon monoxide, or methane seeps in the 
County, there is an unlikely probability of occurrence. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Pandemic Influenza 

56 https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/coepht/carbon-monoxide-poisoning-data 

   208

https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/coepht/carbon-monoxide-poisoning-data


The total County population of 4,783 could potentially be exposed to a pandemic flu outbreak. 
According to the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment’s Internal Emergency 
Response Implementation Plan, susceptibility to the pandemic influenza virus strain will be universal, 
and the disease affect approximately 30% of the State’s overall population. 

Illness rates will be highest among school-age children (about 40%) and decline with age. Among 
working adults, an average of 20% will become ill during a community outbreak. In a severe pandemic, it 
is expected that absenteeism may reach 40% due to illness, the need to care for ill family members, and 
fear of infection. According to Ouray County Public Health, the County has a lower than average 
vaccination rate, making residents potentially more vulnerable to contracting the influenza virus. 

The number of hospitalizations and deaths will depend on the virulence of the virus. Risk groups cannot 
be predicted with certainty. During the annual influenza season, infants, the elderly, the chronically ill, 
and pregnant women are usually at higher risk. But, in contrast, in the 1918 pandemic, most deaths 
occurred among young, previously healthy adults. 

If a pandemic event affected 30% of the Ouray population, approximately 1,435 people in the County 
could become ill. Local medical staff and resources would be quickly overwhelmed. Public fear and 
anxiety could cause some panic behaviors. The more densely populated areas of the County, such as the 
City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and Loghill Mesa would likely be more susceptible to the spread of the 
flu. The Ridgway School District would be negatively impacted during a flu pandemic. The flu can spread 
quickly in schools due to the increased density of people. 

West Nile Virus 

People who work or recreate outside are at a higher risk to West Nile virus, although the whole 
population of the County is at risk. According to the CDPHE, people of any age can get West Nile virus. 
However, the elderly are at the greatest risk for severe disease. People with certain medical conditions 
such as cancer, diabetes, hypertension, kidney disease, and people who have received organ transplants 
are also at greater risk for serious illness.  

In Ouray County, 26.1% of residents are 65 years or older; 32% in the City of Ouray; and 18% in the 
Town of Ridgway. These age groups are more vulnerable to the severe impacts of West Nile virus. Due 
to the larger portion of elderly residents in the City of Ouray, it may be more at risk to the impacts from 
West Nile virus than other parts of the County. 

Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps 

Radon, carbon monoxide, and methane seeps all impact human health and safety. As mentioned 
previously, radon is a leading cause of lung cancer in the United States. Radon induced lung cancer 
impacts both children and adults alike, with all age groups having similar risk levels. Radon exposure has 
not been linked to other respiratory diseases, such as asthma. Radon can be tested for and mitigated in 
buildings to lower the risk of exposure in populations. Due to the widespread exposure to radon in 
Colorado, all jurisdictions have similar risk from radon exposure in Ouray County. Colorado statute 
requires all schools to test for radon and to maintain records of the test results for disclosure upon 
request. However, the statute does not require schools to mitigate high radon levels; it is up to the 
school district and its constituents to decide how to address mitigation issues. The City of Ouray Schools 

   209



mitigates and has a mitigation plan for Radon and Asbestos. The Ridgway school does not have a 
mitigation project, nor do they know the last time they tested for Radon. 

The health effects of carbon monoxide depend on the concentration of carbon monoxide in the air, how 
long a person is exposed, and the health status of the person exposed. Unborn babies, infants, and 
people with respiratory problems, chronic heart disease, or anemia are most susceptible to the effects 
of carbon monoxide poisoning. At low concentrations carbon monoxide can cause fatigue and other flu-
like symptoms. It can also cause chest pain in people with heart disease. At higher concentrations, 
carbon monoxide can cause impaired vision and coordination, headaches, dizziness, confusion, and 
nausea. Very high concentrations of carbon monoxide can lead to loss of consciousness and death 
within minutes. The health effects of long-term exposure to low levels of carbon monoxide are not well 
understood, but exposure to high carbon monoxide levels during pregnancy is known to be associated 
with birth defects and fetal death. Exposure to moderate or high levels of carbon monoxide over long 
periods of time has also been linked to an increased risk of cardiovascular disease. Survivors of severe 
carbon monoxide poisoning may suffer from heart and brain damage, learning and memory impairment, 
emotional and personal changes, and sensory and motor disorders. All jurisdictions have similar risk to 
impacts from carbon monoxide exposure.  

Methane seepages can cause sudden explosions which may cause injuries and fatalities as well as severe 
damages to structures. Additionally, if methane is contained in groundwater, it can make water unsafe 
to drink or in some cases, flammable. All jurisdictions in the County are at risk to the impacts of methane 
seeps. However, there is documented coal bed areas in the northern/central portions of the County, 
putting those areas at a higher risk. This would include the Town of Ridgway and the Ridgway School 
District. 

Potential Losses 
Losses associated with all public health emergencies in this profile are primarily the impact to people, 
causing sickness and death. Additionally, pandemic flu can have a direct economic impact through costs 
such as response costs (hospitalizations, drug costs, etc.) and an indirect economic impact such as loss of 
productivity at work/school. Methane seepages can also cause explosions damaging infrastructure. With 
a lack of recorded losses from a public health emergency in the County, it is assumed all jurisdictions are 
at equal risk to losses. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. This 
exposes more people across the County to all hazards associated with public health emergencies. 
Additionally, as population density increases, influenza can spread more quickly amongst the 
population. For radon and carbon monoxide, as new development occurs, radon testing and mitigation 
systems as well as carbon monoxide alarms should be installed to decrease the risk of these hazards. 

Climate Change 

Further research is needed to determine the impacts of climate change on pandemic flu and radon, 
carbon monoxide, and methane seeps. 

   210



According to the EPA, climate change may raise the risk of human exposure to West Nile virus. Studies 
show that warmer temperatures associated with climate change can speed up mosquito development, 
biting rates, and the incubation of the disease within a mosquito. Climate change’s effects on birds may 
also contribute to changes in long-range virus movement, as the timing of migration and breeding 
patterns are driven by climate. Mild winters and drought have been associated with West Nile virus 
disease outbreaks, while rainfall can also contribute by creating breeding sites for mosquitoes.57 More 
research is needed to determine impacts to Ouray County directly. Lack of long-term reporting is a 
difficulty when studying the impact of climate change on West Nile virus. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-26 Public Health Emergencies Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 1 2 4 L 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 2 4 L 
Unincorporated County 1 1 1 3 L 

 

4.5.14. Severe Winter Storm 

Description 
A winter storm is an event in which varieties of precipitation are formed that only occur at low 
temperatures, such as snow, sleet, freezing rain or ice. Snowstorms generally occur with the clash of 
different types of air masses, with differences in temperature, moisture, and pressure; specifically, when 
warm moist air interacts with cold dry air. Snow storms that produce a lot of snow require an outside 
source of moisture, such as the Gulf of Mexico or the Pacific Ocean. Blizzards are severe snow storms 
with winds in excess of 35 mph and visibility of less than a 1/4 mile for more than 3 hours. Freezing rain 
occurs when a layer of warm air hovers over a region, but the ground ambient temperature is sub-
freezing. 

Heavy snowfall during winter can also lead to flooding or landslides during the spring if the area 
snowpack melts too quickly. Avalanche danger is greatly increased during and immediately after heavy 
snowfall. 

57 https://www.epa.gov/climate-indicators/climate-change-indicators-west-nile-virus 

   211

https://www.epa.gov/climate-indicators/climate-change-indicators-west-nile-virus


Location 
With its high elevation and surrounding mountain peaks, Ouray County is accustomed to winter storms 
that bring large snow totals. The southern County high country area and City of Ouray are susceptible to 
the heaviest snow. The City of Ouray averages 138 inches of snow per year, and Ridgway, sitting at a 
lower elevation, averages 85 inches per year.58 For both areas, the highest snow totals fall between 
November and March, with March historically being the snowiest month. 

Extent 
Winter storms are defined differently in various parts of the country relevant to their standard weather. 
Two inches of snow may create serious disruptions to traffic in areas where snowfall is not expected, 
however this may be considered a light dusting in regions where snowfall is typical, such as Ouray 
County. Therefore, there are multiple ways in which to measure a winter storm, based on snowfall, 
temperatures, wind speeds, societal impact, etc. 

The National Weather Service specifies the following criteria for a blizzard: 

• Sustained win or frequent gust of 16 meter per second (35 miles per hour) or greater,  
• Sustained winds accompanied by falling or blowing snow 
• Frequently reduced visibility to less than 400 meters (0.25 miles) for 3 hours or longer. 

Previous Occurrences 
Figure 4-47 and Figure 4-48 show the daily snowfall averages and extremes from 1893 to 2006 in Ouray 
and Ridgway, respectively.59 It is evident that the County can experience extreme snowfall events that 
exceed the average snowfall totals almost any month of the year. 

Figure 4-47 Ouray Daily Snowfall Averages and Extremes, 1893 to 2006 

 

58 Western Regional Climate Center 
59 Western Regional Climate Center 

   212

-• C .... -

OURAY, COLORADO (056203) 
Period of Record: 86/81/1893 to 85/31/2886 

20 

15 

10 

5 

0 ._ _______ __ ,,,,JJP!lAa ____ .._....,,""",_ _ _ __ _, 

Jan 1 Mar 1 Ma~ 1 Jul 
Feb 1 Apr 1 Jun 1 

Day of 

1 Sep 1 Nov 1 Dec 31 
Aug 1 Oct 1 Oec 1 

Year 

--Extreroe Average 

West.err,, 
Re9ior11d 
Clilf.ate 
Center 



Figure 4-48 Ridgway Daily Snowfall Averages and Extremes, 1893 to 2006 

 

According to the NCEI database, there were 855 blizzard, heavy snow, winter storm, and winter weather 
events from January 1996 to January 2019. Of these, 11 were blizzards, 111 heavy snow, 300 winter 
storm, and 433 winter weather. The NCEI data reports by NWS forecasting zones, so it is not possible to 
determine events by jurisdiction. However, 517 of these events occurred in the Northwestern San Juan 
Mountains Zone, 24 in the Northwestern San Juan Mountains / E Ouray / X SW Gunnison / N Hinsdale / 
Se San Miguel Zone, 25 in the Uncompahgre Plateau Zone, 8 in the Uncompahgre Plateau / S Mesa 
Except X SW / X Ne San Miguel / C Montrose / NW Ouray Zone, and 281 in the Uncompahgre Plateau 
And Dallas Divide Zone. These events yielded $35,000 in damages, with no deaths or injuries.  

However, SHELDUS reports 36 notable winter weather events from 1960 to 2017, causing $5,319,473 in 
crop damages, $2,462,414 in property damages, for a total of $7,781,887 in damages (all in 2017 
dollars). Winter weather events caused the highest total damages out of all SHELDUS-reported hazards 
by a significant margin. Due to the aggregated nature of the SHELDUS data, there is not further detail 
about these events.  

Research yielded little in details about specific damage and impacts. In 1984, part of the roof of the then 
defunct Beaumont Hotel collapsed in a snow storm and caused extensive interior damage. It is not 
known how much of the state of disrepair of the hotel may have contributed to the damage. A March 
1992 event dumped 30 inches of snow in Ouray and closed Highway 550 for several days. A snow plow 
operator was killed by an avalanche on Highway 550 and another was buried for 18 hours before digging 
himself out from next to his snow plow (see Avalanche hazard profile). 

The 2018-2019 winter brought high snow totals in the County, particularly the southern portions of the 
County and Highway 550. Multiple storms in a row bringing high snow totals caused extreme avalanche 
danger on Red Mountain Pass on Highway 550, causing closures from March 3rd to March 22nd. Closing 
the highway essentially cuts southern access to Ouray County off, isolating travelers and impacting local 
businesses. According to SNOTEL data on Red Mountain Pass, much of the month of March had 
recorded snow depths over 100 inches. The snowfall combined with avalanches on the Pass caused 40 

   213

-• C .... -

RIDGWAY, CDLDRADD (057020) 
Period of Record: 85/15/1982 to 86/18/2816 

15 

10 

5 

I 
0 -------UI.-.Jlln...---------"wu; 
Jan 1 Mar 1 Ma~ 1 Jul 

Feb 1 Apr 1 Jun 1 
Day of 

1 Sep 1 Nov 1 Dec 31 
Aug 1 Oct 1 Dec 1 

Year 

--Extreroe Average 

West.err,, 
Re9ior11d 
Clilf.ate 
Center 



to 60 feet of snow and debris on the roadway. As of April 2019, the damage estimates from this closure 
are still unknown. 

Probability  
Based on previous occurrences, there is a 100% annual chance of occurrence of a severe winter storm in 
Ouray County, equating to a highly likely probability. However, Ouray County residents are accustomed 
to winter weather, and damaging events are less frequent.  

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
The threat to public safety is typically the greatest concern when it comes to impacts of winter storms. 
These storms can also impact the local economy by disrupting transportation and commercial activities. 
Winter storms are occasionally severe enough to overwhelm snow removal efforts, transportation, 
livestock management, and business and commercial activities. Travelers on highways in Ouray County, 
particularly along remote stretches of road, can become stranded, requiring search and rescue 
assistance and shelter provisions. The County can experience high winds and drifting snow during winter 
storms that can occasionally isolate individuals and entire communities and lead to serious damage to 
livestock populations and crops. Winter storms also have the potential to disrupt the delivery of food 
and fuel into the County. Winter storms contribute directly to three other hazards in this plan: 
avalanche, extreme temperatures (cold), and mass transportation accident. Limited phone and cell 
phone service in parts of the County mean that emergency reporting may be impossible during severe 
winter storm events. 

Structural damage from winter storms in southwest Colorado can result from severe snow loads on 
rooftops. Older buildings are more at risk, as are buildings with large flat rooftops (often found in public 
buildings such as schools). With the historic structures in Ridgway and the City of Ouray, the potential 
for damage exists, but information to quantify the amount and extent is currently not available. The LPC 
noted that a greenhouse on CR 3 had structural damage during a winter storm event in 2008 or 2009. 
The City has inventoried 74 unreinforced masonry buildings, most of which are historic structures that 
could be vulnerable to heavy snow loads. Impacts that are associated with extremely cold temperatures 
often associated with severe winter storms are discussed in the Extreme Temperatures hazard profile. 

Overall, the southern portion of the County and the City of Ouray experience higher snow totals and 
more winter weather events than the northern portion, but all parts of the County experience severe 
winter weather every year and are vulnerable to its impacts. Additionally, as people continue to travel 
to Ouray County for backcountry recreation, they will continue to be vulnerable to the impacts of these 
winter storms. 

Potential Losses 
The NCEI data provided little detail about damages from previous severe winter storm events in the 
County. However, according to SHELDUS, a total of $7,781,887 in damages has occurred from 1960 to 
2017 (2017 dollars), equating to an annual damage estimate of $136,524. This is the highest amount of 
damages across all hazards reported by SHELDUS. It is evident winter storms have the ability to cause 
significant damages. 

The southern portion of the County typically experiences the most extreme winter weather due to its 
high elevation, however, the entire County is susceptible to damages. Backcountry travelers that are 

   214



caught in a winter storm in the isolated parts of the San Juan Mountains could be at a high risk for injury 
or death. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development  

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. This 
exposes more people across the County to impacts from severe winter storms. Future residential or 
commercial buildings built to code should be able to withstand snow loads from severe winter storms. 
Population growth in the County and growth in visitors has the potential to increase problems with 
road, business, and school closures and increase the need for snow removal and emergency services 
related to severe winter weather events. 

Climate Change 

According to the 2018 Colorado State Hazard Mitigation Plan, climate change may increase the 
frequency of winter precipitation events, which could increase lead to increased heavy snowfall events 
in the County. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-27 Severe Winter Storms Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 2 2 3 7 H 
Town of Ridgway 2 2 3 7 H 
Unincorporated County 2 2 3 7 H 

 

4.5.15. Wildfire 

Description 
Wildfires are an ongoing concern for Ouray County. Fire conditions arise from a combination of hot 
weather, an accumulation of vegetation, and low moisture content in the air. These conditions increase 
the potential for a wildfire to occur. Additionally, when combined with high winds, years of drought, and 
beetle killed trees, fire conditions are exacerbated. A fire along the urban/rural interface can result in 
major losses of property and structures. The Wildland-Urban Interface (WUI) is defined as any area 
where man-made improvements are built close to, or within, natural terrain and flammable 

   215



vegetation.60 Limited access in some parts of the County complicates evacuation and control options 
and constitutes serious life risk to residents and firefighters alike. 

In wildland fire vernacular, hazard is defined as the physical situation with potential for causing damage 
to resources or assets, measured by burn probability and fire intensity. Risk is overall measure of the 
possibility for loss or harm caused by wildfire. Risk is the combination of wildfire hazard and 
vulnerability. Fire danger refers to a combination of fuel moisture and weather conditions that combine 
with topography and other fuel characteristics to determine fire behavior as manifested in fire intensity 
and rate of spread. Fireline intensity is a function of rate of spread and heat per unit area; it is directly 
related to flame length and relates to the heat felt by a person standing next to the flames. Factors that 
contribute to fire risk are described below. 

• Fuel— Vegetative fuels are characterized by size, continuity, and quantity and are often 
classified in terms of fire behavior fuel models (FBFM). These fuel characteristics determine 
responsiveness to weather conditions and ignition. Fuel sources are diverse and include ground 
fuels (roots, duff), surface fuels (forest litter, dead and down twigs and branches, grass, shrubs), 
and aerial fuels (the canopies of forest and brush). Structures and other associated combustibles 
are also considered fuel sources. Light surface and canopy fuels, such as cured grasses and 
drought stressed tree crowns, burn quickly and serve as a catalyst for rapid fire spread. 

• Topography—An area’s terrain and land slopes affect its susceptibility to wildland fire spread. 
Fire intensities and rates of spread increase as slope increases due to the tendency of heat from 
a fire to rise via convection. The natural arrangement of vegetation throughout a hillside can 
also contribute to increased fire activity on slopes. 

• Weather—Weather components such as temperature, relative humidity, wind, and lightning 
also affect the potential for wildland fire. High temperatures and low relative humidity dry out 
the fuels that feed the wildland fire, creating a situation where fuel will more readily ignite and 
burn more intensely. Wind is the most influential weather factor for fire intensity and the 
direction and rate of fire spread. Winds can be significant at times in Ouray County. In addition 
to high winds, wind shifts can occur suddenly due to frontal passage, temperature changes, or 
the interaction of wind with topographical features such as slopes or steep hillsides. Seasonal 
and episodic drought affects fuels’ susceptibility for combustion. 

• Ignitions—Wildland fires are ignited by natural causes, predominately lightning, or human 
causes. Federal agencies categorize human caused fires based on their source including 
equipment, smoking, campfires, debris burning, railroads, and arson. Human caused ignitions 
are associated with travel corridors, population centers, recreational use, and commercial 
activities. A concern in Ouray County is that structure fires in rural areas may actually be sources 
of wildland fires, as response times can be significant in the more remote areas of the County. 

Additionally, factors such as drought conditions, development, aircraft accidents, increase in outdoor 
activity, and forest health/management practices all contribute to wildfire risk in Ouray County. The 
impacts of the fir engraver beetle on the health of white fir trees in Ouray County has been an ongoing 
concern. The beetle leaves stands of dead trees that may increase fuel for wildfires throughout the 
County. 

60 https://csfs.colostate.edu/wildfire-mitigation/colorados-wildland-urban-interface/ 

   216

https://csfs.colostate.edu/wildfire-mitigation/colorados-wildland-urban-interface/


Location 
For the purposes of this Plan, the location of the wildfire hazard is analyzed in three ways based on the 
2017 Colorado Wildfire Risk Assessment (CO-WRA), including 

1. Wildfire burn probability, defined as the probability of a wildfire burning a specified point or 
area. Burn probability is the combination of numerous individual fire growth potential 
simulations to create an overall fire growth potential map. 

2. Wildfire intensity, defined as a quantitative measure of the potential level of intensity of a 
wildfire. Conventional fire behavior analysis outputs include two measures of fire intensity; 
flame length and fireline intensity. Both are used in the CO-WRA. 

3. Location of the WUI.61  

Burn probability for the County is mapped in Figure 4-49, Figure 4-50, Figure 4-51, and Figure 4-52. 
Based on burn probability, the northern/central regions of the County have the highest probability, 
while the southern portion of the County, particularly the areas above alpine, have the lowest burn 
probability (non-burnable). In general, the areas around Ridgway have a higher burn probability than the 
areas around the City of Ouray. Additionally, areas near the Log Hill FPD have a moderate to high burn 
probability. 

61 CSFS, 2017 CO-WRA Final Report 

   217



Figure 4-49 Ouray County Burn Probability 

 

   218

Ouray County Burn Probability 

CJ CO-WRAP Project Area -- Highway 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction ~ Water Body 

.r"7 11 County L,_j Census Designated Place L.....J 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

Burn Probability LJ 5 - Moderate 

D Non-Burnable LJ 6 

- 1-Verylow - 7-High 2 - 8 D 3-Low - 9 - Very High 

0 4 

0 10 

--==••==------•Miles 
5 Q CDRIMRCiUIRE e EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-50 City of Ouray Burn Probability 

 

Figure 4-51 Town of Ridgway Burn Probability 

 

   219

-- Hlehway 

A 

Q To-of Ridgway 

l ottl 1totd1 

Hlshway 

.. W l lff Body 

City of Ouray Burn Probability 

Burn Prcbability c::J s - Moc:t1r1t<11 

LJ Non-BlJrna ble - 5 

- 1 - \lerylow - 7 - Hi&h ., -· c:::I 3 - Lcw 

D • 
- 9 - Vl ,V Hl&h 

Bum l'rob1blllty - S - M Odente • Non-kr~bte - 6 

- t - Ve,vlow - 7 - Hich -· -· c::] 3 - l - - 9 - Vorrf' Hi1h 

r::::J 4 0.25 

\ 
\ 

I 
) 

I 
j/ 



Figure 4-52 Loghill Mesa FPD Burn Probability 

 

Much of the County has moderate to highest wildfire intensity, highlighting the potential for high-
intensity fires. Again, the above-alpine regions of the County experience the lowest wildfire intensity. 
Generally, the jurisdictions do not have high wildfire intensity within the core of the jurisdiction, but 
moving outward towards unincorporated County, wildfire intensity increases quickly. Nearly all of the 
Loghill Mesa FPD has the highest fire intensity. These values are shown in Figure 4-53, Figure 4-54, 
Figure 4-55, and Figure 4-56.  

   220

Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District Burn Probability 

Burn Probability [:] 5 • Moderate 

c::J ~•81.1~ble ~ 6 

~ 1 -V.ry l ow ~ 7 - High -2 -· CJ 1 -Low 1111 9 · Very High 

D • 

~ l oahill Mesa FPO -- Hi1hwav 

Incorporated Jurisdiction ,-., Water Body 

O county 
Cenw~ O.signated Place 

D - -



Figure 4-53 Ouray County Fire Intensity 

 

   221

Ouray County Fire Intensity Scale 

Fire Intensity Scale D CO-WRAP Project Area Highway 

D Lowest Intensity Q Incorporated Jurisdiction ~ Water Body 

Q Census Designated Place D County 
Moderate Intensity 

D 
D 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD -- Highest Intensity 
0 5 10 --=::::J-C:::::::J ______ Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE e EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-54 City of Ouray Fire Intensity 

 

Figure 4-55 Town of Ridgway Fire Intensity 

 

   222

Fire Int ensity Scale 

C] Lowest1ntenslty 

D 
CJ Moderate Intensity -- Hi&hest Intensity 

Fire lntensity Sc•le 

c:::] Lowest lntensity 

D 

Q a,v~ o .. ,.., 

-- Hl&IYway 

• W•~•-

Q Town of Rid,w1y 

local Roads 

D Moderi le lnten slt'I ~i&hWll'f -- Hl&h1Htlnt<111Ult'y' 

-=cac'::,·2 
.. 
5 --Mllcs :~ 5~!11=: 



Figure 4-56 Loghill Mesa FPD Fire Intensity 

 

There are WUI locations largely located through the central parts of the County and the southwest 
portions of the County. The City of Ouray contains a high density of structures in the WUI within the 
entire jurisdiction. Additionally, Ridgway contains higher density of structures in the WUI towards the 
main street portion of the town. Most of the higher densities of structures in the WUI in Loghill Mesa 
FPD are in the Census Designated Place of Loghill Village, just north of Ridgway. This information is 
shown in Figure 4-57, Figure 4-58, Figure 4-59, and Figure 4-60. 

   223

Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District Fire Intensity Scale 

Fire Intensity scale 

c:::J l owHt Inte nsity 

D 
[=:J Moderate Intensity -1111 Highest Intensity 

~ loghlll Mesa FPD 

Q Incorporated Jurisd iction 

Q Census Designated Pl.ice 

-- Highway 

~ Water Body 

O eounty 



Figure 4-57 Ouray County WUI 

 

   224

Ouray County Wildland-Urban Interface 

Wildland Urban Interface 

LJ < 1 house/40 acres 

D 1 house/40 acres to 1 house/20 acres 

- 1 house/20 acres to 1 house/10 acres 

D 1 house/10 acres to 1 house/5 acres 

- 1 house/5 acres to 1 house/2 acres 

- 1 house/2 acres to 3 houses/acre 

- >3 houses/acre 
0 

Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Census Designated Place 

Loghill Mesa FPD 

5 10 
Miles 

Highway 

Water Body 

County 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-58 City of Ouray WUI 

 

Figure 4-59 Town of Ridgway WUI 

 

   225

City of Ouray Wildland-Urban Interface 

D •l-••/40.,.,-• ,,-... J40.,,.,..,,, ,__,10-... 
- l-ff/Z0ac,..W l -/10acroo -- HIJJ,way 

c::::J 1t-ff/10« -,101 t.ou..Js .u .. -- lDUI Ro~. 

- •'-'.er.louo,..,l'-~l o0"01 

: :,-,z,:::•..,u--,1 .. ,. ~ w. w, Bo<ty ':.. 

Tow n of Ridgway Wildland-Urban Interface 
,----------,-- ------.-;-y-------., 

Wildi.nd u .-1111ntar1Kt 

C < l h-/40« .. f 
Q TOWII o l l'1d1w•v 

locMRoads 

Hi&hway 

., W;lttt"Body 



Figure 4-60 Loghill Mesa FPD WUI 

 

Based on these three characteristics of burn probability, fire intensity, and locations of the WUI, it is 
evident that much of the County is vulnerable to wildfires. Areas of lower elevation, which are mainly 
associated with the northern/central portions of the County, have higher burn probability and fire 
intensities. The WUI is largely located within the jurisdictions or Census Designated Places within the 
County, however there are WUI areas of low-density housing throughout the County that are in areas of 
higher burn probabilities and intensities. 

Extent 
In Ouray County, small fires can grow rapidly when adequate fuels coincide with weather and 
topography favorable to fire. Wildfires can last from several hours to several months. Generally, the fire 
season extends from early spring to late fall.  

The CO-WRA created a Fire Intensity Scale (FIS) to quantify potential fire intensity based on high to 
extreme weather, fuels, and topography (see Figure 4-53-Location). It is similar to the Richter scale for 
earthquakes, providing a standard scale to measure potential wildfire intensity by magnitude. The FIS 
consists of five classes where the order of magnitude between classes is ten-fold.62 Table 4-28 describes 
the FIS. 

62 CSFS, 2017 CO-WRA Final Report 

   226

Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District Wildland-Urban Interface 

Wild l• ndUrb•nlnt• rface 

D < 1houu/40 • cres 

D 1 houn/40 acru to I houH/20 • <r.s 

- l houu/20un11, rolhouu /to • <rH 

D 1 h,;,un/10 <1<ru to 1 houn/5 • tnu 

- 1 houn/5 •crH to l ho,a •/2 acres 

- 1 houu/2 acrH to l hou,H/atr• 

- >3 hou,H/ilcre 

~ LoghillMesa FPD -- Highway 

Incorporated Jurisdiction .. Water Body 

O county 
Census Des ·gnate d Place 



Table 4-28 CSFS Fire Intensity Scale 

     

Class 1 – lowest 
intensity 

Class 2 – low 
Class 3 – 

moderate 
Class 4 – high 

Class 5 – highest 
intensity 

 

The extent of wildfires can also be described by their size. According to the National Wildfire 
Coordinating Group, there are seven classes of wildfire sizes, categorized from A-G:63 

• Class A - one-fourth acre or less; 
• Class B - more than one-fourth acre, but less than 10 acres; 
• Class C - 10 acres or more, but less than 100 acres; 
• Class D - 100 acres or more, but less than 300 acres; 
• Class E - 300 acres or more, but less than 1,000 acres; 
• Class F - 1,000 acres or more, but less than 5,000 acres; 
• Class G - 5,000 acres or more. 

Previous Occurrences 
According to the CO-WRA data, there have been 156 wildfires on federal lands from 1992 to 2015. Of 
these fires, 120 have been Class A (one-fourth acre or less), 31 Class B (1/4 to 10 acres), 4 Class C (10 to 
100 acres), and 1 Class E (300 to 1,000 acres). Additionally, of these wildfires, 94 have been lightning-
caused, 34 human-caused (including campfire, debris burning, equipment use, and smoking), 10 
miscellaneous, and 18 missing or unidentified. According to the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation 
Plan, the largest wildland fire in Ouray County was the May 1999 Baldy fire at 1,326 acres. However, this 
fire is not included in the CO-WRA database and is therefore not mapped. The largest fire included in the 
CO-WRA database in the County was the Red Creek Fire in eastern unincorporated County, which was a 
lightning-caused fire burning 401 acres in June 2006. 

Additionally, there have been 42 non-federal wildfires from 2009 to 2017. Of these fires, 32 have been 
Class A, 7 Class B, 2 Class C, and 1 Class D. Information regarding the cause of the wildfire is not available 
for non-federal fires. 

Figure 4-61 shows previous wildfires within Ouray County as well as fires just outside the County 
boundaries on a map. It is evident the northern portion of the County has experienced the most 
previous wildfires, although wildfire occurrence is still prevalent in the southern portion of the County as 
well. 

63 https://www.nwcg.gov/term/glossary/size-class-of-fire%C2%A0 

   227



Figure 4-61 Ouray County Previous Wildfires 

 

   228

Ouray County Previous Wildfires 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction ~ Water Body 

Q Census Designated Place County 

Federal Fire Ignitions 

Size 

• Class A - <0.25 acres 

• Class B - 0.25 to 10 acres 

• Class C - 10 to 100 acres 

• Class D - 100 to 300 acres 

• Class E - 300 to 1,000 acres 

Non Federal Fire Ignitions 

Size 

• 

• 
• • 

Class A - <0.25 acres 

Class B - 0.25 to 10 acres 

Class C - 10 to 100 acres 

Class D - 100 to 300 acres 

0 5 10 --===--===------ Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE e EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Since the previous Plan, there have been two small wildfires on federal lands. The first was the Rim Road 
fire located in northwest unincorporated County, discovered on 6/21/2015. This fire was human-caused 
(campfire) and burned approximately 0.1 acres. The second was the Dew Drop fire located just south of 
the Rim Road fire near the County boundary, discovered on 10/17/2015. This fire was lightning-caused 
and also burned approximately 0.1 acres. No damages were reported from these fires. 

Additionally, there have been 20 small wildfires on non-federal land since the previous Plan, all of which 
have been located in the northern portion of the County. None of these fires were named. The 
10/15/2015 fire did have one reported injury, but no other details are available. Table 4-29 describes 
these fires. 

Table 4-29 Non-federal Fires from 2014 to 2017 

Discovery Date Acres Injuries 

7/13/2014 0.1 0 
7/20/2014 2 0 
7/22/2014 0.1 0 
4/21/2015 0.01 0 
2/14/2015 20 0 
3/29/2015 20 0 
8/11/2015 0.01 0 
8/16/2015 0.01 0 

10/15/2015 0.01 1 
4/10/2015 0.01 0 
7/20/2016 0.01 0 
7/22/2016 0.01 0 
7/23/2016 0.01 0 
9/21/2016 0.01 0 

10/20/2016 0.01 0 
7/20/2016 0.01 0 
3/11/2016 0.01 0 
7/22/2017 0.01 0 
7/22/2017 0.01 0 
8/13/2017 0.01 0 

 

The 2018 fire season brought devastating wildfires to southwestern Colorado, particularly the 416 fire, 
which burned 54,000 acres north of Durango. Although the 416 fire did not impact Ouray County 
directly, smoke impacted the County. Additionally, the news of the fire impacted tourism to southwest 
Colorado, which contributes heavily to Ouray County’s economy in the summer months. 

In October of 2019, the Cow Creek fire burned 859 acres in the Uncompahgre Wilderness, nine miles 
south of Ridgway.   

Detailed descriptions of wildfires previous to 2014 are provided in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. 

   229



Probability 
According to the CO-WRA data, from 1992 to 2017, there have been 198 wildfires in Ouray County. This 
equates to a 100% chance of annual occurrence, or a highly likely probability. The number, extent, and 
severity of these fires are subject to numerous climatic, weather, and stochastic factors. Historic trends 
and the condition of the local forests indicate that the occurrence of a large fire is a matter of time. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
Although wildfires are a natural part of forested ecosystems, they present a major threat to people and 
property in Ouray County. A wildfire can cause evacuations, injuries, and loss of life. Additionally, 
wildfires can cause severe damage to buildings and infrastructure in the County. Damages to homes and 
businesses can impact the livelihood of County residents. A major wildfire can also impact visitors to the 
County in the summer months, when tourism is at its peak. Life safety and human health are serious 
concerns due to the limited evacuation routes and high influx of visitors to the County during summer 
festivals. Additionally, smoke from wildfires can have negative impacts on human health. Wildfire smoke 
is a contributor to particulate matter, which is dangerous because it becomes lodged deep in the lungs 
and can enter the bloodstream, triggering asthma attacks, heart attacks and strokes, and, in some cases, 
causing lung cancer. Ouray County can be impacted by smoke from fires originating outside of the 
County boundaries, as experienced with the 2018 416 fire. 

Although a natural process, wildfires can mar scenic view-sheds and watersheds, potentially reducing 
property values and negatively impacting the tourism-based economy that much of the southern half of 
the County depends on. Fires can be intensified by drought, as was observed during the 2002 and 2018 
fire seasons. Fires can also contribute to higher risk of debris flows by destroying vegetation that 
anchors the soil. Fires can destroy wildlife habitat, potentially leading to more human-wildlife vehicle 
collisions as wildlife migrates during or after wildfires. 

Wildfire risk and potential for losses has been exacerbated by the increase in high-intensity wildfires 
that the western United States has experienced. In order to reduce the risk of a catastrophic wildfire, 
mitigation measures must be comprehensive, and balance different needs such as forest health, access 
to recreation, and development. 

Figure 4-62, Figure 4-63, Figure 4-64, and Figure 4-65 show the WUI risk in the County. The WUI risk 
indicates a rating of the potential impact of a wildfire on people and their homes in the WUI.64 It is 
evident Ridgway and Loghill Village have high-risk WUI areas. There is an additional cluster of high-risk 
WUI areas just south of the Loghill Mesa FPD and in the CDP of Portland. The City of Ouray also contains 
high-risk WUI areas on the outskirts of the City boundaries. 

64 2017 CO-WRA 

   230



Figure 4-62 Ouray County WUI Risk 

 

   231

Wildland Urban Interface Risk 

~ -1 (Least Negative Impact) 

~ -2 

~ -3 

~ -4 

~ -5 

-6 

1111 -7 
1111 -s 
1111 -9 (Most Negative Impact) 

Ouray County Wildland-Urban Interface Risk 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

0 5 

Highway 

• WaterBody 

County 

10 
Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-63 City of Ouray WUI Risk 

 

Figure 4-64 Town of Ridgway WUI Risk 

 

   232

City of Ouray Wildland-Urban Interface Risk 

Wildland Urban Interface Risk [=:ii -S 

CJ -l (Least Ne11:ative 1mpact) i. -6 

Q ChyofOuray 

• -, • . , 
• -, - · ~ -4 - -91MostNe-gative lmpact) .... 

Hichway 

Loc•I Roads 

Town of Ridgway Wildland-Urban Interface Risk 

Wildland Urban lntirrface Risk D -S 

~ -l(Lust Negative Impact) - -6 

o ., • . , 
D ·• - ·• -~ -4 - -9(MostNq1tivelmput) ~ 

0 0.2S -- Mill!'s 

Town of Ridgway 

Local Roads 

Water Body 



Figure 4-65 Loghill Mesa FPD WUI Risk 

 

In addition to people and structures in the WUI, other assets at risk to wildfire in the County include 
drinking water, forest assets, and riparian assets. Based on the 2017 CO-WRA data, drinking water assets 
are measured by quality and quantity of public surface drinking water categorized by watershed. Forest 
assets are described as forested lands characterized by height, cover, and susceptibility/response to fire. 
Riparian assets are described as forested riparian areas characterized by functions of water quantity, 
quality, and ecology. Risk of each of these assets to wildfire was calculated during the CO-WRA. Overall, 
the risk to drinking water increases moving south through the County, although within the County itself 
the risk only reaches moderate levels. The risk to forest assets is also highest in the southern portion of 
the County, largely in the Grand Mesa Uncompahgre National Forest. Wildfires in the National Forest 
may also directly affect tourism within the County, since many people travel to recreate in the forest. 
Higher riparian asset risks are found along streams and rivers throughout the County. 

Overall wildfire risk for the CO-WRA was calculated based on the factors such as burn probability, fire 
intensity, WUI risk, drinking water asset risk, forest asset risk, and riparian asset risk.65 Overall, the 
highest risk in the County is in the north-central areas, within the Loghill Mesa FPD. There are also areas 
of high risk within Loghill Village CDP, just north of Ridgway. It was noted during the second LPC meeting 
that although the alpine forests surrounding the City of Ouray are typically considered lower wildfire 

65 2017 CO-WRA 

   233

Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District Wildland-Urban Interface Risk 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD -- Highway 
Wild tan d Urban Int erface Risk C:J -S 

C:J -1 (Least Negative Impact) 111 -6 
CJ -2 1111 -J Q Incorporat ed Jurisdiction ~ Water Body 

CJ •3 11111 -s .r'7 D County 

CJ -4 1111 _9 
{Most Negativl" Impact) L,_j Census Designated Place 

'•--=::::J--=-----•MHes ~ 5!?.,~J= 



risk, one wildfire in this area could cause major impacts. As demonstrated by the 416 fire in the nearby 
San Juan National Forest, a large wildfire in the Uncompahgre National Forest surrounding the City of 
Ouray could significantly impact tourism to the City, cause smoke related health impacts, impact roads 
and access in and out of the City, and possibly impact structures. Additionally, as demonstrated in Figure 
4-63, the City has significant structures in the WUI that are at a high risk to wildfire. Due to these factors, 
the wildfire risk to the City of Ouray is considered high. 

In recognition of its high risk to wildfire, Ouray County is home to half of West Region Wildfire Council 
(WRWC) 2017 Firewise sites. Pleasant Valley Vista, Fisher Canyon South and Log Hill Mesa, all near 
Ridgway, are three of the more than 1,400 National Fire Protection Association’s (NFPA) Firewise sites 
recognized nationwide. Firewise sites meet the standards recommended for reducing wildfire risk 
through community mitigation efforts. Loghill Mesa has done extensive wildfire mitigation work, such as 
an annual chipping program for slash, a rapid curbside assessment of residents, and surveys to 
homeowners to understand and reduce wildfire risk.66 These efforts help mitigate the elevated risk to 
wildfire in the community. 

Additionally, the County, in partnership with the CSFS and USFS, have treated Douglas fir trees around 
the City of Ouray to mitigate against beetles using pheromone packets. The pheromone packets were 
placed in high-use areas, such as trees around the Ouray Amphitheater and campground, Cascade Falls, 
and other popular trails and recreation areas near Ouray and Telluride. In addition to pheromones, 
active management is utilized to cut down dead and diseased trees and remove dead trees from the 
forest floor. Additionally, improving forest health by diversifying the age of trees as well as the species 
of trees will help to reduce the risk of the fir beetle decimating entire forests, and also overall reduce 
wildfire risk. Challenges arise due to forests being managed by multiple agencies as well as the 
remoteness and rugged terrain of forests in the County.67 

Details on individual communities’ risk to wildfire can be found in the 2011 Ouray County CWPP. 

Potential Losses 
Wildland fire poses a major public safety hazard in Ouray County. Life safety and human health are 
serious concerns, and there is a high influx of visitors during the prime wildland fire months that 
exacerbate these concerns. Wildfire has the potential to cause widespread and severe damage to 
watersheds and property in the planning area. 

To determine potential losses on parcels from wildfire in Ouray County, GIS was used to calculate the 
count and value of parcels in high and moderate WUI risk areas, as defined by the CO-WRA data. 
Moderate WUI risk areas are equivalent to a WUI risk value of four, five, and six; and high WUI risk areas 
are equivalent to a WUI risk value of seven, eight, and nine. WUI risk was used because it was 
determined by the LPC to most accurately portray the wildfire risk in the County. It should be noted that 
the CO-WRA was conducted at a 30-meter resolution, therefore, for the purposes of this Plan, is best 
utilized as a community-scale or higher analysis. This is not intended to be a precise determination of 
potential losses at the parcel-level, but to recognize trends in order to focus mitigation efforts. 
Neighborhood-level risk can be further evaluated in the 2011 Ouray County CWPP. 

66 https://www.ouraynews.com/articles/2018/01/20/ouray-county-%E2%80%9Cmodel%E2%80%9D-wildfire-mitigation 
67 https://coloradosun.com/2019/05/27/pheromones-save-douglas-firs-ouray/; https://sjindependent.org/report/ourays-
beetle-scourge-and-its-silver-lining/999 

   234

https://www.ouraynews.com/articles/2018/01/20/ouray-county-%E2%80%9Cmodel%E2%80%9D-wildfire-mitigation
https://coloradosun.com/2019/05/27/pheromones-save-douglas-firs-ouray/
https://sjindependent.org/report/ourays-beetle-scourge-and-its-silver-lining/999
https://sjindependent.org/report/ourays-beetle-scourge-and-its-silver-lining/999


Overall, there are a total of 5,404 parcels in high or moderate WUI risk areas in the County, with 2,815 in 
high risk areas and 2,589 in moderate risk areas. This equates to $1,796,943,875 in total exposure 
(improvement value plus estimated contents value). All jurisdictions in the County have parcels located 
in moderate and high WUI risk areas. Table 4-30 summarizes this information, and Figure 4-66 shows 
the generalized areas of the parcels on a map. 

Table 4-30 Parcels in High and Moderate WUI Risk Areas 

Jurisdiction 

# 
Pa

rc
el

s 
M

od
er

at
e 

W
U

I 
Ri

sk
 

# 
Pa

rc
el

s H
ig

h 
W

U
I R

is
k 

To
ta

l P
ar

ce
ls

 

To
ta

l E
xp

os
ur

e 
M

od
er

at
e 

W
U

I 
Ri

sk
 

To
ta

l E
xp

os
ur

e 
Hi

gh
 W

U
I R

is
k 

To
ta

l E
xp

os
ur

e 

Loghill Mesa FPD 1,039 765 1,804 $292,191,115 $225,801,200 $517,992,315 
Town of Ridgway 297 770 1,067 $136,693,215 $264,790,485 $401,483,700 

City of Ouray 147 379 526 $55,643,995 $126,328,870 $181,972,865 
Unincorporated 

County 
(excluding Loghill 

Mesa FPD) 

1,106 901 2,007 $394,490,160 $301,004,835 $695,494,995 

Total 2,589 2,815 5,404 $879,018,485 $917,925,390 $1,796,943,875 
 

   235



Figure 4-66 Parcels in High and Moderate WUI Risk Areas 

 

   236

Parcels in High and Moderate WUI Risk Areas 

N 

A 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

-- Highway 

~ WaterBody 

~ Streams 

County 

- Parcels in High WUI Risk 

- Parcels in Moderate WUI Risk 

0 10 
•-==:::::i•c::::::.••••- Miles 

5 Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Additionally, SHELDUS reports $4,576 in crop damages and $5,719 in property damages, totaling 
$10,295 (2017 dollars) in total damages from one wildfire event. It is recognized that there has been 
more than one wildfire in the County, and this may be a low estimate of the total damages from 
previous wildfires, making it difficult to draw annualized losses. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. With much 
of the County susceptible to wildfires, new developments, can substantially increase residents’ risk to 
wildfire. During a wildfire, growth increases the resources needed to protect development from burning, 
as well as increases firefighting costs. Any new developments in the County should evaluate their risk to 
wildfire and practice Firewise principles to reduce their potential losses. 

Figure 4-67 shows areas designated by the County as suitable for future growth overlayed with medium 
and high-risk wildfire areas. Nearly all of the unincorporated County future growth zones are in either 
medium or high-risk areas to wildfire. The North Mesa Zone has substantial areas of high wildfire risk. 
Development in these areas should prioritize mitigation measures to decrease their losses in the event 
of a wildfire. 

   237



Figure 4-67 Ouray County Areas of Potential Future Growth and Wildfire Risk 

 

   238

Ouray County Areas of Potential Future Growth and Wildfire Risk 

N 

A 

~ Loghill Mesa FPD 

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

Highway 

.. WaterBody 

County 

c:J Jurisdiction Urban Growth Boundary 

c:J County Potential Future Growth Zones 

- High Risk Wildfire 

- Moderate Risk Wildfire 

0 5 10 
Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Climate Change 

Warmer temperatures due to climate change have already influenced wildfires in the western United 
States, contributing to an increase in frequency of high-intensity fires as well as a longer wildfire season. 
Higher temperatures can lead to dry vegetation, which provides fuel for wildfire. Dry vegetation is also 
exacerbated under drought conditions, which are also projected to increase in frequency due to climate 
change. Total area burned per year is projected to increase across the Rocky Mountain West and 
Colorado. Additionally, Colorado’s wildfire season is projected to increase by several weeks. These 
factors will lead to an increased risk from current levels to wildfire across the entire County. It will be 
important to plan for these projected changes when mitigating against wildfire in the County. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-31 Wildfire Risk Ranking 

   
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 3 3 3 9 H 
Town of Ridgway 3 3 3 9 H 
Unincorporated County 3 3 3 9 H 
Loghill Mesa FPD 3 3 3 9 H 

 

4.5.16. Windstorm 

Description 
High winds, often accompanying severe thunderstorms, can cause significant property and crop 
damage, threaten public safety, and have adverse economic impacts from business closures and power 
loss. Windstorms in Ouray County are typically straight-line winds. Straight-line winds are generally any 
thunderstorm wind that is not associated with rotation (i.e., is not a tornado). It is these winds, which 
can exceed 100 miles per hour, that represent the most common type of severe weather and are 
responsible for most wind damage related to thunderstorms. Since thunderstorms do not have narrow 
tracks like tornadoes, the associated wind damage can be extensive and affect entire (and multiple) 
counties. Objects like trees, barns, outbuildings, high-profile vehicles, and power lines/poles can be 
toppled or destroyed, and roofs, windows, and homes can be damaged as wind speeds increase. One 
type of straight-line wind is the downburst, which can cause damage equivalent to a strong tornado and 
can be extremely dangerous to aviation. Since these winds are associated with thunderstorms, the most 
common time for straight-line winds or downbursts to occur in Ouray County is from April through 
September.  

   239



Air pressure differences during cold and warm seasons cause high winds in Colorado. The western part 
of the State typically doesn’t experience the Chinook winds that impact the Front Range, but Bora winds 
are common in western Colorado. Bora winds are cold winds caused by a strong low-pressure system 
coupling with a high-pressure system to the west. 

Location 
FEMA recognizes four wind zones in the U.S., depicted in Figure 4-68. Ouray County falls into Zone I. 
Winds speeds reach up to 130 miles per hour in Zone I.68 

Figure 4-68 Wind Zones in the United States 

 

Additionally, Figure 4-69 shows wind speeds at 80 meters in Colorado. It is evident that the western 
portion of the State has less extreme wind speeds than the Front Range and Eastern Plains. However, 
the high peaks in southern Ouray County can experience higher wind speeds than lower elevations 
across western Colorado. 

68 FEMA 

   240

FEMA wind zone map 

Wind Zones in the United States 

~ Speeial Wind Region 

!:=::::::;::::! + Hurricane-Prone Region 

Wind Zon!!s 
i=J ZONEI 

(1 30 mph) 

i=J ZONEII 
(1 60 mph) 

i=J ZONEIII 
(200 mph) 

- ZONEIV 
(250 mph) 



Figure 4-69 Colorado Annual Average Wind Speed at 80 meters 

 

Overall, windstorms could occur anywhere in Ouray County. The unpopulated high-country areas will 
experience the highest wind events. The windstorms themselves can also occur over a large area. Bora 
winds can cause widespread rather than localized damage. 

Extent 
Wind can be categorized by the Beaufort Wind Scale as shown in Table 4-32 below.69 

Table 4-32 Beaufort Wind Scale 

Appearance of Wind Effects 

Force Wind 
(Knots) 

WMO 
Classification On Land 

0 Less than 1 Calm Calm, smoke rises vertically 
1 1-3 Light Air Smoke drift indicates wind direction, still wind vanes 
2 4-6 Light Breeze Wind felt on face, leaves rustle, vanes begin to move 

3 7-10 Gentle Breeze Leaves and small twigs constantly moving, light flags 
extended 

69 https://www.spc.noaa.gov/faq/tornado/beaufort.html 

   241

108" 106" 

40• 

38" 

108" 106" 

s.oc:a.,,-====so•--'ooi:::::::=::::::':iiso .... _,_200 Kilometers 

50 50 100 Mile$ _,=--=--======-----

104' 

104• 

102· 

40" 

38' 

Colorado 
Annual Average 

Wind Speed 
at 80 m 

Wind Speed 
mis 

>1 0.5 
10.0 
9.5 
9.0 
6.5 
6.0 
7.5 
7,0 
6.5 
6.0 
5.5 
5,0 
4.5 
4,0 

< 4.0 

Souroe: Wind ,esouree estimates developed by AWS Truep,ower, 
LLC for windNavigat"'®. web: http://www.windnavigator.com I 
http://www.awstruepower.com. Spatial resolution or wind resource 
data: 2.5 km. Projection: UTh1 Zone 12 WGS84. 

····· i·.tNREL ;:}i f AWS True power .. .., 
•. •. . Whe,o Kicnc:e delillOU ~forman.c:e NA.TlONAl RENEWAJ;lt.E ~ErtGVLASQRATOllV 



Appearance of Wind Effects 

Force Wind 
(Knots) 

WMO 
Classification On Land 

4 11-16 Moderate Breeze Dust, leaves, and loose paper lifted, small tree branches 
move 

5 17-21 Fresh Breeze Small trees in leaf begin to sway 
6 22-27 Strong Breeze Larger tree branches moving, whistling in wires 

7 28-33 Near Gale Whole trees moving, resistance felt walking against 
wind 

8 34-40 Gale Twigs breaking off trees, generally impedes progress 
9 41-47 Strong Gale Slight structural damage occurs, slate blows off roofs 

10 48-55 Storm Seldom experienced on land, trees broken or uprooted, 
"considerable structural damage" 

11 56-63 Violent Storm  

12 64+ Hurricane  

 

Additionally, straight-line winds associated with thunderstorms are considered “damaging” when they 
exceed 50 mph.70 

Previous Occurrences 
According to the NCEI, there have been 22 high wind, strong wind, and thunderstorm wind events in 
Ouray County from 1998 to April 2019. Of these events, 14 were high wind events, 7 strong wind, and 1 
thunderstorm wind. The highest magnitude event was on January 25, 1999 in the Northwestern San 
Juan Mountain Zone, at 122 mph. The NCEI events are recorded by NWS zone. The zone with the most 
wind event is the Northwest San Juan Mountains Zone, with 13 events. These events have resulted in 
$90,500 in total damages, with the most damaging event being a thunderstorm wind event in Colona on 
May 28,2013, resulting in $60,000 in damages.  

SHELDUS reports 29 wind events, causing $20,395 in crop damages and $360,876 in property damages, 
totaling $381,271 in damages from 1960 to 2017 (2017 dollars). This was the second highest number of 
hazard events reported by SHELDUS, behind winter storms. 

Based on online resources and input from the LPC, there have not been any damaging wind events since 
the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan. A full description of these events as well as detailed 
descriptions of notable events can be found in Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. 

Probability  
Based on the SHELDUS wind event data, there have been 29 events from 1960 to 2017, equating to a 
51% annual chance of occurrence, or a likely probability. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
All current and future buildings and populations are at risk to wind in Ouray County. Wind can result in a 
variety of impacts to current and future buildings and populations including: 

70 https://www.nssl.noaa.gov/education/svrwx101/wind/ 

   242

https://www.nssl.noaa.gov/education/svrwx101/wind/


• Torn-off roofs and shingles 
• Downed trees and limbs 
• Debris generation 

The availability of sheltered locations such as basements, buildings constructed using tornado-resistant 
materials and methods, and public storm shelters, all reduce the exposure of the population to wind 
events. However, there are also segments of the population that are especially exposed to the indirect 
impacts of high-wind events, particularly the loss of electrical power. These populations include the 
elderly or disabled, especially those with medical needs and treatments dependent on electricity. 
Nursing homes, Community Based Residential Facilities, and other special needs housing facilities are 
also vulnerable if electrical outages are prolonged, since backup power generally operates only minimal 
functions for a short period of time. In terms of property losses caused by any high-wind hazard, the 
actual damages will depend on the building density and quality of construction in the impacted area. 
Buildings that are close to large trees or overhead power lines are also at greater risk of suffering more 
extensive damages. Construction practices can help maximize the resistance of the structures to 
damage. High-wind events also have the potential to wreak havoc on above-ground infrastructure such 
as power and communication lines. Downed power and communications transmission lines, coupled 
with disruptions to transportation, create difficulties in reporting and responding to emergencies. 
Additionally, high winds that occur on hot, dry days can cause dangerous fire conditions, and winds can 
cause a fire to spread rapidly. 

Potential Losses 
Jurisdictional-specific loss information is not available for the County. However, the Northwestern San 
Juan Mountain Zone has experienced both the strongest wind speeds and the most wind events in the 
County. This zone approximately covers the County’s southern high-country, which is largely 
undeveloped.  

SHELDUS reports 29 wind events, causing $20,395 in crop damages and $360,876 in property damages, 
totaling $381,271 in damages from 1960 to 2017 (2017 dollars). This equates to approximately $6,689 in 
annual damages. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. This 
exposes more people across the County to impacts from windstorms. Additionally, future residential or 
commercial buildings built to code should be able to withstand high winds in Ouray County. 

Climate Change 

Climate change is not projected to impact the windstorm hazard.  

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 

   243



results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-33 Windstorm Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 2 2 2 6 M 
Town of Ridgway 2 2 2 6 M 
Unincorporated County 2 2 2 6 M 

 

4.5.17. Hazardous Materials Incident 

Description 
Ouray County is susceptible to accidents involving hazardous materials on roads, highways, and at fixed 
facilities that manufacture, use, or store dangerous chemical substances. A hazardous materials incident 
may occur at any time during routine business operations or as a result of a natural disaster. The release 
of hazardous materials can threaten people and natural resources in the immediate vicinity of the 
accident. Air releases can prompt large-scale population evacuations and spills into water or onto the 
ground can adversely affect public water and sewer systems. 

A transportation incident refers to accidental and uncontrolled releases of chemicals or other hazardous 
materials during transport (i.e., highways, pipelines, and airways). A fixed-facility incident is an 
uncontrolled release of chemicals or other potentially hazardous materials from a facility. Fixed facilities 
include companies that store hazardous materials at their facility as well as all hazardous waste sites. 

The U.S. Department of Transportation (U.S. DOT) uses nine classes of hazardous materials: 

• Explosives 
• Compressed Gasses: Flammable Gasses; Non-Flammable Compressed Gasses; Poisonous Gasses 
• Flammable Liquids: Flammable (Flash Point Below 141 degrees); Combustible (Flash Point 141 

degrees – 200 degrees) 
• Flammable Solids; Spontaneously Combustible; Dangerous When Wet 
• Oxidizers and Organic Peroxides 
• Toxic Materials: Material that is Poisonous; Infectious Agents 
• Radioactive Material 
• Corrosive Material: Destruction of Human Skin; Corrode Steel at a Rate of 0.25 Inches Per Year 
• Miscellaneous 

The U.S. DOT, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the Occupational Health and Safety 
Administration (OSHA) all have responsibilities in regulating hazardous materials and waste.  

Location 
There are no designated routes for hazardous materials transporters in Ouray County, but illicit 
transport of materials has been known to occur on Highways 550 and 62. Fuel trucks traveling over 
Highway 550 are a concern to the County and trucking industry shortest route requirements may be 

   244



routing more trucks over the pass. Since Ouray County is surrounded by mountains and diverse terrain, 
transportation of hazardous materials is at higher risk to accidents on high mountain passes with severe 
weather conditions and ice, wildlife, and debris on the roadways. 

There are several methods to determine locations of fixed facilities in an area. 

Started in 1988, the Toxics Release Inventory (TRI) is a federal program established by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency that contains information on releases of nearly 650 chemicals and 
chemical categories from industries including manufacturing, metal and coal mining, electric utilities, 
and commercial hazardous waste treatment, among others. TRI facilities are required to file reports of 
their disposal or other environmental releases as well as other waste management quantities of 
regulated chemicals if they manufacture, process, or otherwise use more than the established threshold 
quantities of these chemicals. Ouray County has no reported TRI data. Another method of determining 
hazardous materials fixed facility sites is through the U.S. EPA’s National Priorities List (NPL). The NPL is 
the list of sites of national priority among the known releases or threatened releases of hazardous 
substances, pollutants, or contaminants throughout the United States and its territories. Again, Ouray 
County does not have any active NPL or Superfund sites. 

Additionally, releases associated with the mining industry could occur in Ouray County. 

Extent 
The extent for a hazmat release can vary widely based on the chemical released, amount, weather, and 
location of release.  

Previous Occurrences 
Statistics from the National Response Center, which serves as the sole national point of contact for 
reporting all oil, chemical, radiological, biological, and etiological discharges into the environment 
anywhere in the United States and its territories, indicate that between 1990 and 2019, 11 incidents 
were reported in Ouray County. Of the incidents, four were fixed and seven were mobile. The City of 
Ouray was the closest city for seven of these events, Ridgway three events, and Montrose (Montrose 
County) one event. As discussed in the mass casualties hazard profile, the aircraft incident in the 
Ridgway Reservoir killed five people, however, no injuries or deaths were related directly to a hazmat 
release. Additionally, according to the LPC, a fireman was killed in the 1950s when a fire burned in a 
shed that was filled with explosives. Table 4-34 describes incidents that have occurred since the 2015 
Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan.71 Details on events prior to the previous Plan can be found in 
Appendix C – HIRA Appendix. 

71 http://nrc.uscg.mil/Default.aspx 

   245

http://nrc.uscg.mil/Default.aspx


Table 4-34 National Response Center Recorded Hazmat Releases in Ouray County, 2012 to 2019 

Incident 
Date 

Description of 
Incident 

Type of 
Incident 

Nearest 
City Location Medium 

Affected Materials 

9/23/2016 

Caller stated due 
to unknown 
causes there was a 
head on collision 
involving a pickup 
and a fuel tanker 
truck. Caller 
stated the tanker 
truck rolled over 
and released 70 
gallons of diesel 
fuel onto the 
roadway. Caller 
stated driver of 
the pickup truck 
fled the scene. 

Mobile Montrose Hwy 550; MP 
114 Land Oil: Diesel 

8/11/2014 

Sodium hydroxide, 
a chemical floating 
agent and other 
unknown 
chemicals are 
releasing from the 
water that comes 
from the 
underground 
portal that is being 
pumped out into 
the water supply 
that feeds the 
town. This 
incident has been 
ongoing for 
months and the 
last time it 
possibly occurred 
was approx. Eight 
days ago. 

Fixed Ouray 

At a mine site 
14 miles above 

Ouray (Star 
Revenue Mine) 

Water  Unknown 

3/22/2014 

A small aircraft 
crashed into the 
Ridgway Reservoir 
causing a sheen. 
Caller stated there 
might have been 5 

Aircraft Ridgway 

Ridgway 
Reservoir at 

Ridgway State 
Park 

Water Oil, Misc: 
Motor 

   246



Incident 
Date 

Description of 
Incident 

Type of 
Incident 

Nearest 
City Location Medium 

Affected Materials 

people on board 
and no survivors. 

 

Natural gas pipelines are another source of hazmat events in the County. According to the LPC, there 
have been a number of incidents in which a pipeline was breached. Depending on the location of the 
incident and extent of damage to the pipeline, impacts could be serious. 

Additionally, the Idarado Mine, located between Telluride and Ouray, was listed as a Natural Resource 
Damage Site. The eastern portal of the mine is located approximately 11 of miles south of Ouray. Heavy 
metals were present in the mine tailings, specifically lead and cadmium. The main impact of heavy 
metals was on aquatic ecosystems and human contact was minimal. However, elevated lead levels 
presented a concern for children in the area. The site has since been remediated.72 

Probability 
Based on the NRC data, there have been 11 hazmat releases from 1990 to 2019 in Ouray County, 
equating to approximately a 39% annual chance of occurrence, or a likely probability.  

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
People and the environment are at the highest risk to hazmat incidents in Ouray County. As 
demonstrated by previous occurrences, drivers transporting hazardous materials on Highway 550 are at 
a high risk to accidents that may lead to releases. Additionally, Highway 550 runs through both the City 
of Ouray and the Town of Ridgway, putting both of those jurisdictions at risk if an accident were to occur 
nearby. Highway 62 also runs through Ridgway, increasing the risk. Fixed facility releases are less 
common in the County due to lack of major facilities housing hazardous materials or waste. However, 
mine tailings are a potential for release.  

A hazmat release can cause acute or chronic impacts on human health depending on the chemical 
released and level of exposure. Additionally, an incident causing an explosion or fire can cause injury or 
loss of life as well as damages to structure or infrastructure. A transportation hazmat release could 
cause road closures, which are a concern for the County due to the limited access in and out. Releases in 
the environment may require costly remediation and can cause environmental damages, which could 
impact tourism and recreation in the County. Populated areas could experience a higher amount of 
people exposed to the impacts of a release. If an event occurred near or at a facility in the Ridgway 
School District during school hours, there could be significant impact on the staff and students. 
Therefore, the City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and Ridgway School District are at a higher risk to the 

72 https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/idarado 

   247

https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/cdphe/idarado


impacts of a hazmat release on people. A release in unincorporated County could still have significant 
impacts on the environment and infrastructure. 

Potential Losses  
There are not recorded damage estimates for hazmat events in Ouray County. Potential losses include 
injuries and loss of life, as well as cleanup costs for environmental contamination. The jurisdictions are 
primarily vulnerable to transportation related hazmat incidents and could experience more losses due to 
the denser populations and buildings.  

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. This 
exposes more people across the County to impacts from a hazmat event. Development near major 
transportation corridors, such as Highway 550, and fixed facility hazmat sites will be at the highest risk 
to a hazmat release.  

Climate Change 

Due to the human-caused nature of hazmat incidents, this hazard is not projected to be impacted by 
climate change. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-35 Hazardous Materials Incident Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 2 1 2 5 M 
Town of Ridgway 2 1 2 5 M 
Unincorporated County 2 1 2 5 M 

 

4.5.18. Mass Casualty Events 

Description 
In general, a mass casualty event is defined as an incident in which local emergency response 
capabilities are overwhelmed by the number and severity of casualties. While many of the hazards 
profiled in this plan could result in such an incident, this hazard is specifically concerned with 
transportation incidents that involve large numbers of people (e.g., a plane or bus crash). These 

   248



incidents could be primary hazards or secondary effects of another hazard (e.g., an avalanche along a 
transportation corridor could bury vehicles). A plane crash in the rugged terrain of Ouray County is likely 
to have few survivors, whereas a tour or school bus crash could result in multiple injuries and fatalities. 
Additionally, the mining industry has seen growth in Ouray County in the last few years. Mass casualty 
events sometimes occur in the mining industry due to cave-ins or explosions. 

Ouray County is particularly concerned that a tour/motor coach bus could go over the side of Highway 
550. Greyhound has changed their route and no longer goes through the City of Ouray. 

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the most severe injuries in mass casualty 
events are fractures, burns, lacerations, and crush injuries. However, the most common injuries are eye 
injuries, sprains, strains, minor wounds, and ear damage. Additionally, it is normal for people to suffer 
emotional and physical stress after a mass casualty event, even if they are not at or near the scene. This 
additional stress can make existing health conditions worse or trigger a new health problem. 

Location 
An event such as an airplane crash could occur anywhere in the County. Traffic and bus accidents are 
most likely to occur along the Highway corridors of 550 and 62. The steeper, curvy sections of Highway 
550 above and south of Ouray are particularly prone to accidents. The section of Highway 550, also 
known as the Million Dollar Highway, extending south from the City of Ouray to Silverton is 27 twisty 
mountain miles with very few guard rails. The first section up to the Ironton Park meadows runs along 
an eastern cliff side with up to 410 foot drops down to the bottom and the Uncompahgre River. Mass 
casualty events could also occur in the County’s active mines. Figure 4-70, Figure 4-71, and Figure 4-72 
shows current permitted mines in Ouray County.73 

73 Colorado Division of Reclamation Mining & Safety; https://mining.state.co.us/Reports/Pages/GISData.aspx 

   249

https://mining.state.co.us/Reports/Pages/GISData.aspx


Figure 4-70 Mine Locations in Ouray County 

 

   250

Q Incorporated Jurisdiction 

Q Census Designated Place 

Highway 

~ Water Body 

County 

Mine Locations in Ouray County 

Mine Type .. .. .. 
Surface 

Underground 

N/A 

0 5 10 

•-==•-=:::::J•••••• Miles 

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-71 Mine Locations in the City of Ouray 

 

   251

N 

Mine Type 

A Surface 

A Underground 

A N/A 

Mine Locations in the City of Ouray 

City of Ouray 

Highway 

• Water Body 
0 - 0.25 - 0.5 •c:::••••Miles Q CDRIMArulRE 

~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Figure 4-72 Mine Locations in the Town of Ridgway 

 

   252

N 

A 

Mine Type .. Surface .. Underground .. N/A 

Mine Locations in the Town of Ridgway 

Q 

~ 
~ 

! ; . 

~oJHl.n r---------t--.1 
er,.\~ 

• ~ 
'l 

0110s~ 

Chipeta Or 

TabernHh Ln 

Sabeta Dr 

Town of Ridgway 

Highway 

Water Body 

Streams 

Te,rat•Dr 

County Roac, 12 

0 .25 0.5 ~ CDRIMAOUIRE 0 -- M iles EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 



Extent 
A mass casualty incident would likely be a sudden, unpredictable occurrence. 

Previous Occurrences 
Since 2005, emergency services in Ouray County have responded to five incidents where a vehicle 
carrying enough people to be considered a mass casualty has gone over the side of the highway. There 
have been additional vehicles that have gone off the side of the highway, although not considered a 
mass casualty. Impacts ranged from minor injuries to fatalities. One of these incidents, which received 
national attention, occurred in February 2005 when a van carrying six passengers hit a patch of black ice, 
flipped sideways, started rolling, and plunged approximately 400 feet down the mountain ravine (all 
passengers were able to walk away from the accident). Although none of these five events were mass 
casualty events, they are indicative of what could happen given the right combination of circumstances. 

An airplane crash in the winter of 2004 killed four people on Whitehouse Mountain and the bodies could 
not be recovered until the following spring. On March 22, 2014, a small plane carrying five people 
crashed into Ridgway Reservoir.74 No one survived the crash. The passengers, all from Alabama, were on 
their way to Montrose for a skiing trip. It was noted this incident tied up emergency responders in the 
County. If a second hazard event were to occur during this time, it would overwhelm emergency 
response resources.  

On November 17, 2013 two miners at the Revenue-Virginius Mine died from carbon monoxide 
poisoning.75 Twenty other miners were taken to regional hospitals to be treated for carbon monoxide 
exposure. An area of the mine was contaminated with lethal levels of carbon monoxide from a previous 
explosive detonation. 

No mass casualty events have occurred since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

Probability  
Based on previous occurrences and input from the LPC, the probability of a mass casualty event 
occurring is occasional, with between 1 and 10% of occurring annually. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
The impact to people would be the most severe in a mass casualty event. Tourism is a major economic 
driver in the County, and particularly the City of Ouray. This brings a large influx of people who are 
visiting, particularly to see the natural beauty in the County. This often means driving over Red 
Mountain Pass and the “Million Dollar Highway.” People driving the highway are vulnerable to 
accidents. 

74 “Ridgway Reservoir plane crash: 5 believed to be dead in sunken wreckage.” March 23, 2014. 
http://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/local- news/ridgway-reservoir-plane-crash-search-for-victims-continues-sunday. 
Accessed May 2, 2014. 
75 Joey Bunch and Tom McGhee. “Two miners dead in Colorado, 20 others injured after Ouray blast.” The Denver Post, 
November 17, 2013. Available online at http://www.denverpost.com/breakingnews/ci_24542891/two-miners-trapped-20-
others-injured-after-ouray?source=pkg. Accessed November 26, 2013. 

   253

http://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/local-news/ridgway-reservoir-plane-crash-search-for-victims-continues-sunday
http://www.thedenverchannel.com/news/local-news/ridgway-reservoir-plane-crash-search-for-victims-continues-sunday
http://www.denverpost.com/breakingnews/ci_24542891/two-miners-trapped-20-others-injured-after-ouray?source=pkg
http://www.denverpost.com/breakingnews/ci_24542891/two-miners-trapped-20-others-injured-after-ouray?source=pkg


Tour bus crashes are more likely to occur during the tourist season, which is most busy June through 
August, and when vans and buses are transporting people between the Telluride ski area and Montrose 
Airport during the winter. 

Additionally, a mine accident would largely impact people, causing injuries or death. This could happen 
from an incident similar to the 2013 event from carbon monoxide poisoning, or from the physical impact 
of a mine collapse. There are thousands of historic mines throughout the County, and some can be 
accessed by visitors. Most are sealed off for public protection, but there are remote mines that are 
unsealed. Visiting historic mines is a typical tourist activity in the County, and if an incident occurred 
while tourists were visiting, injuries or fatalities could occur. 

Potential Losses 
In May 2010, Ouray County EMS produced a full-scale exercise that simulated an estimated worst-case 
scenario event. The scenario involved a school bus going off the side of County Road 1 down a 50-60-
foot embankment, resulting in 20-30 patients and no fatalities. Emergency responders also had to 
address the needs of family members of the exercise “victims,” making the exercise much larger in 
scope. An estimated 120 people were involved on the emergency response side of the exercise. A 
similar training exercise was conducted in May 2008.76 These exercises serve as guidelines for the 
potential magnitude of a mass casualty incident in Ouray County. 

Response to the March 22, 2014 plane crash in Ridgway Reservoir took over 1,500 labor hours. The 
overall cost of the plane recovery was approximately $75,000. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. With more 
people in the County, the likelihood for a mass casualty event could increase. Additionally, with 
continued visitors and residents traveling along Red Mountain Pass on Highway 550 increases the risk of 
a mass casualty event along the highway. 

Climate Change 

Due to the human-caused nature of mass casualty incidents, this hazard is not projected to be impacted 
by climate change. 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 

76 Gus Jarvis. “Bus Crash Training Exercise Set for May 8 Near Ridgway.” The Watch, May 3, 2010. Available online at 
http://www.watchnewspapers.com/view/full_story/7281608/article-Bus-Crash-Training-Exercise-Set-for-May-8-Near-Ridgway. 
Last accessed September 10, 2013. 

   254



or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-36 Mass Casualty Events Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 1 2 4 L 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 2 4 L 
Unincorporated County 1 1 3 5 M 

 

4.5.19. Imminent Threat 

Description 
Imminent threat includes the potential for violent attacks, including but not limited to domestic and 
international terrorism. The Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) defines terrorism as “the unlawful use 
of force or violence against persons or property to intimidate or coerce a government, the civilian 
population, or any segment thereof, in furtherance of political or social objectives.” The threat of 
terrorism, both international and domestic, is ever present, and an attack is likely to occur when least 
expected. Incidents of mass shootings in public areas around the United States have shown that 
individuals can inflict severe damage. These individuals’ motives may vary, from terrorism to random or 
criminal acts. 

Imminent threats to public safety are a growing concern worldwide that must be addressed through 
security and awareness. Needs associated with imminent threats include training and equipping of local 
emergency response personnel in cooperation with state and federal agencies. 

Ouray County could be a source of explosives for imminent threats to public safety. These sources could 
be from active mines (dynamite) or hand charges and shells for howitzers used for avalanche control by 
the Colorado Department of Transportation. The mines themselves could be targets from radical 
environmental groups. There are families and individuals in Ouray County with a history of strong anti-
governmental statements, action, and signage. It is these latter groups that are of particular concern to 
Ouray County. Ecoterrorism is a form of domestic terrorism that the FBI defines as “the use or 
threatened use of violence of a criminal nature against innocent victims or property by an 
environmentally-oriented, subnational group for environmental-political reasons, or aimed at an 
audience beyond the target, often of a symbolic nature.” 

Imminent threats may also include cyber terrorism, or cyber security incidents more generally. Cyber-
security incidents are a growing concern as many energy delivery systems are managed by computers. 
There are many threats, some more serious than others. For example, many power plants and other 
infrastructure are remotely controlled by supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems. 
SCADA systems are vulnerable to attack through hackers who could access the system and sabotage the 
target facility. Some examples of how computers and systems could be affected by a cyber security 
incident— whether because of improper cyber security controls, manmade or natural disasters, or 
malicious users wreaking havoc—include the following: 

   255



• Denial-of-service: This refers to an attack that successfully prevents or impairs the authorized 
functionality of networks, systems, or applications by exhausting resources. This type of attack 
could shut down a government agency’s website, thereby preventing citizens from accessing 
information or completing transactions. This type of attack could also impede business 
operations or critical services such as emergency medical systems, police communications, or air 
traffic control. 

• Malware, worms, and Trojan horses: These spread by email, instant messaging, malicious 
websites, and infected non-malicious websites. Some websites will automatically download the 
malware without the user's knowledge or intervention. This is known as a "drive-by download." 
Other methods will require the users to click on a link or button. 

• Botnets and zombies: A botnet, short for robot network, is an aggregation of compromised 
computers that are connected to a central "controller." The compromised computers are often 
referred to as "zombies." These threats will continue to proliferate as the attack techniques 
evolve and become available to a broader audience, with less technical knowledge required to 
launch successful attacks. Botnets designed to steal data are improving their encryption 
capabilities and thus becoming more difficult to detect. 

• “Scareware:” Fake security software warnings: In this type of scam cyber criminals use pop- up 
warnings telling users that their system is infected. Many users are then lured into downloading 
and paying for unnecessary software to "protect" their system. 

Location 
The following areas of the County are potential terrorist targets: 

• Active mines 
• Resort development in northwest corner of County 
• Ridgway Reservoir and Dam 
• Ouray Hydroelectric Power Plant 
• Power grid, substations, and communications facilities 
• Events/festivals that attract large crowds 
• Churches  

Extent 
It is difficult to describe the extent of an imminent threat due to the human-caused nature of the 
hazard. Factors such as the type of attack, location, time of day, and weather can all influence the 
impacts of an attack. The United States Department of Homeland Security utilizes the National 
Terrorism Advisory System (NTAS) to communicate information about terrorist threats by providing 
timely, detailed infomration to the public. 

Previous Occurrences 
Ouray County has had some incidents in the past that could be considered terrorist activities today. A 
suicide bomber blew himself up on Highway 550, near the East Riverside avalanche shed in the 1970s. In 
1920, there was an incident in Ridgway that involved unknown perpetrators blowing up some buildings 
in the downtown area with dynamite. Their motives were unknown. Also, in the 1920s there were Ku 
Klux Klan rallies in Ridgway and Ouray. The Idarado Mine in Ouray was the source of explosives for 
terrorist activity in Boulder County during the 1980s. 

   256



Probability  
Based on previous occurrences as well as the potential target areas in the County, the probability of an 
imminent threat occurring in the County is possible, with a 1 to 10% chance of annual occurrence. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Inventory Exposed/Impacts 
An attack could cause deaths, injuries, structural damage, and economic damage in Ouray County. These 
impacts could be long-term as communities recover after an attack. Cyber-attacks can significantly 
impact the economy and safety of the County. An attack that occurred during peak tourist season when 
large groups of people are concentrated in a small area, such as the 4th of July, could cause severe 
impacts such as mass injuries and fatalities. Additionally, high risk targets such as schools, churches, or 
government buildings, are at risk to mass shootings or other attacks. The Ridgway School District is 
vulnerable to an attack during school hours. All identified critical facilities in the County are also at risk 
to an attack. 

The County is also vulnerable to cyber-attacks due their assumed lack of IT capabilities by hackers. 
Smaller City or County governments may not have the resources to fight off a cyber-attack and are 
assumed to be more willing to pay a hacker to get their data restored, increasing their risk to these 
attacks. It was noted during the first LPC workshop that Ouray County fights off cyber threats fairly 
frequently. 

Potential Losses 
Given the lack of historical loss data on terror events in the County, it is assumed that while one major 
event could potentially result in significant losses, annualizing those losses over a long period of time 
would most likely yield a very low annualized loss estimate for the County. Injury and loss of life would 
likely be the greatest impact from an imminent threat event. Cyber-attacks could cause major 
disruptions in local or County services that may result in monetary losses for the County. 

On November 10, 2018, first responders around Ouray County conducted a full-scale emergency 
response drill at Ridgway Secondary School. The drill focused on emergency response to an imminent 
threat at the school. This was a multi-jurisdictional effort with 32 agencies and 198 participants that 
aided with preparing for and testing systems to handle an imminent threat event at a school. This 
training also gave insight for the impacts and losses that could be associated with this type of imminent 
threat event. 

Future Conditions 
Land Use and Development 

The City of Ouray, Town of Ridgway, and unincorporated Ouray County have all experienced population 
growth in the last decade and are projected to continue to grow in population through 2050. More 
population can lead to more people being impacted in the case of an imminent threat event. 
Additionally, increased population density can increase the risk for becoming a target for an imminent 
threat event. 

Climate Change 

Due to the human-caused an imminent threat event, this hazard is not projected to be impacted by 
climate change. 

   257



 

Summary Risk Ranking 
Hazards were ranked for each jurisdiction based on the results of this HIRA, LPC input, and public 
perception of risk. The overall ranks were derived by assigning each jurisdiction a value of 1 (low), 2 
(medium), or 3 (high) for each hazard for: the probability of an event occurring, the potential impact of 
the hazard on property/structures/economy, and the potential impact of the hazard on people. The 
results were summed for each hazard and jurisdiction to create an overall rank. A summed score of four 
or less equates to a “low” ranking, five to six equates to a “medium” ranking, and seven or greater 
equates a “high” ranking. The results are shown in the following figures below. 

Table 4-37 Imminent Threat Risk Ranking 

  
Probability 
(of losses) 

Potential 
Impact 

(economic) 

Potential 
Impact 

(people) 
Score Risk Rank 

City of Ouray 1 1 2 4 L 
Town of Ridgway 1 1 2 4 L 
Unincorporated County 1 1 2 4 L 

   258



5. Mitigation Strategy 
5.1. Hazard Mitigation Strategy Overview 

The Mitigation Strategy provides a blueprint for Ouray County to follow to become less vulnerable to its 
identified hazards. It is based on general consensus of the County’s planning team, the findings and 
conclusions of the Risk Assessment, and input from the public and stakeholders. The Mitigation Strategy 
includes hazard mitigation plan goals, objectives, and hazard mitigation actions. The plan goals and 
objectives serve as the guiding principles for future mitigation policy and project administration and 
hazard mitigation actions serve as implemental items that support goals. The mitigation strategy 
includes a process for evaluating mitigation actions to ensure actions are feasible based on community 
capabilities, tied to plan goals, and effective in reducing hazard losses for current and future structures 
and populations.  

This section outlines the goals, objectives, capabilities, mitigation action evaluation, and prioritization 
process undertaken in Ouray County.  

5.2. Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Goals and Objectives 
The goals and objectives identified in the 2015 Ouray County Mitigation Strategy were reviewed as part 
of the planning process and when developing mitigation actions. The planning team decided to largely 
keep the goals and objectives the same from the 2015 Plan, with changes in some wording for goals and 
objectives to be more inclusive for the mitigation needs in the County. These new Plan goals and 
objectives reflect current needs and priorities of the County and are intended to reduce long-term 
vulnerability and risk to all hazards identified in this Plan. The new 2019 mitigation goals and objectives 
are as follows: 

• Goal One: Minimize Loss of Life and Injury from Anticipated Hazard Events 
o Objective 1: Educate citizens about natural hazard events and ways to protect 

themselves 
o Objective 2: Complete local-level community wildfire protection plans to include 

evacuation routes and procedures as well as re-entry procedures 
o Objective 3: Improve flash flood and debris flow warning and evacuation capabilities 
o Objective 4: Implement debris flow mitigation 
o Objective 5: Make travel safer on Highways 550 and 62, County Roads, and major 

corridors through the County 
o Objective 6: Provide training and equipment to responders and government officials 
o Objective 7: Update and expand all-hazard emergency response plans 
o Objective 8: Update building codes 

• Goal Two: Reduce the Potential Impact of Natural, Human-caused, and Technological Disasters 
on Public and Private Property, the Economy, Natural Environment, and Historic Resources 

o Objective 1: Reduce flood impacts to the residents and visitors of the City of Ouray, 
Town of Ridgway, and the County 

o Objective 2: Reduce debris flow impacts to public, private, and historic structures in City 
of Ouray 

o Objective 3: Reduce wildfire impacts to structures and response resources 

   259



o Objective 4: Continue to reduce impacts of wildfire to future and existing development 
through land use planning, subdivision reviews, permitting, and building codes 

o Objective 5: Update mapping of hazard areas, including flood, debris flow, wildfire, 
rockfall, and avalanche 

o Objective 6: Use updated risk maps to improve the risk assessment in future updates to 
this plan and to provide public information 

o Objective 7: Reduce drought impacts 
o Objective 8: Provide training and equipment to responders and government officials 
o Objective 9: Update building codes 

• Goal Three: Reduce the Potential Impact of Natural, Human-caused, and Technological Disasters 
on Critical Facilities, Infrastructure, and Critical Support Services 

o Objective 1: Protect critical facilities and assets at risk to flood, debris flows, or landslide 
o Objective 2: Protect critical facilities and assets at risk to wildfire 
o Objective 3: Protect necessary communication infrastructure from multiple hazards 

(wildfire, lightning, windstorm, flood, extreme temperatures) 
o Objective 4: Provide continuity of operations and continuity of government 
o Objective 5: Provide necessary support infrastructure 
o Objective 6: Review government capabilities for responding effectively to anticipated 

hazard events and upgrade where possible 
o Objective 7: Reduce the impact and risk of potential terroristic attacks on critical 

facilities, infrastructure, and services 

5.2.1. Ouray County Capabilities Assessment 

Prior to forming new mitigation actions, a capabilities assessment was conducted for the County to 
understand what planning and regulatory, administrative and technical, financial, and education and 
outreach capabilities the County has (or is lacking) for implementing hazard mitigation projects. To 
assess capabilities, an online survey was distributed to each jurisdiction. Additionally, capabilities were 
discussed during each planning team workshop. Ouray County capabilities are described in the tables 
below. Overall, capabilities in all jurisdictions in the County are generally unchanged from the 2015 Plan. 
Between the jurisdictions and the County, there is overall good coverage of capabilities in Ouray County. 
For the most part, the Loghill Mesa FPD falls under the same capabilities as the County. 

Table 5-1 Ouray County Planning and Regulatory Capabilities 

Capability 
City of 
Ouray 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Loghill Mesa 
FPD 

Ouray County 

Building Codes x x  x 

Building Codes Year  
Adopting in 

2019  

2006, but the 
County is looking 

at updating to 
2018 codes 

BCEGS Rating x x   

Capital Improvements 
Program (CIP) or Plan 

x x  x 

   260



Capability 
City of 
Ouray 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Loghill Mesa 
FPD 

Ouray County 

Community Rating System 
(CRS)     

Community Wildfire 
Protection Plan (CWPP) 

x x x x 

Comprehensive, Master, or 
General Plan 

x x  x 

Economic Development Plan x x   

Elevation Certificates x x  x 

Erosion/Sediment Control 
Program 

x x   

Floodplain Management Plan 
or Ordinance 

x x  x 

Flood Insurance Study x x   

Growth Management 
Ordinance     

Non-Flood Hazard-Specific 
Ordinance or Plan (e.g.- Steep 

Slope, Wildfire, Snow Load) 
x x  x 

NFIP x x  x 

Site Plan Review 
Requirements 

x x  x 

Stormwater Program, Plan, or 
Ordinance 

x x   

Zoning Ordinance x x  x 

Other    
Wildfire 

mitigation 
regulations 

 

   261



Table 5-2 Ouray County Administrative and Technical Capabilities 

Capability 
City of 
Ouray 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Loghill Mesa 
FPD 

Ouray County 

Emergency Manager x x  x 

Floodplain Administrator x x  x 

Community Planning:     

- Planner/Engineer (Land 
Development) 

x x  x 

- Planner/Engineer/Scientist 
(Natual Hazards) 

x x  x 

- Engineer/Professional 
(Construction) 

x x  x 

- Resiliency Planner x x   

- Transportation Planner x x   

Full-Time Building Official x x  x 

GIS Specialist and Capability  x  x 

Grant Manager, Writer, or 
Specialist  x x x 

Warning Systems/Services:     

- General  x x x 

- Flood  x  x 

- Wildfire  x x x 

- Tornado     

- Geological Hazards  x  x 

Other     

 

   262



Table 5-3 Ouray County Financial Capabilities 

Capability 
City of 
Ouray 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Loghill Mesa FPD 
Ouray 
County 

Has community used any of the 
following to fund mitigation activities? 

    

- Levy for Specific Purposes with Voter 
Approval     

- Utilities Fees  x   

- System Development / Impact 
Development Fee  x   

- General Obligation Bonds to Incur Debt  x   

- Special Tax Bonds to Incur Debt     

- Withheld Spending in Hazard-Prone 
Areas     

- Stormwater Service Fees     

- Capital Improvement Project Funding  x   

- Community Development Block Grants  maybe   

- Other 
general 

fund, flume 
tax 

 

Mill levy taxation 
without specific 
voter approval, 

federal and state 
grants 

 

 

Table 5-4 Ouray County Education and Outreach Capabilities 

Capability City of Ouray Town of Ridgway 
Loghill Mesa 

FPD 
Ouray 
County 

Local Citizen Groups That 
Communicate Hazard 

Risks 
x x x  

Firewise  x x x 

StormReady  x  x 

   263



Capability City of Ouray Town of Ridgway 
Loghill Mesa 

FPD 
Ouray 
County 

Other  
Newsletter, email 

listserv, social media 
Ready Set Go!  

 

5.2.2. Ouray County Continued NFIP Compliance 

Given the flood hazard and risk in the County, and recognizing the importance of the NFIP in mitigating 
flood losses, an emphasis will be placed on continued compliance with the NFIP by Ouray County, the 
City of Ouray, and the Town of Ridgway. As NFIP participants, these communities have and will continue 
to make every effort to remain in good standing with NFIP. This includes continuing to comply with the 
NFIP’s standards for updating and adopting floodplain maps and maintaining and updating the 
floodplain zoning ordinance. There are several action items identified in Table 5-6 that address specifics 
related to NFIP continued compliance. Other details related to NFIP participation are discussed in the 
flood vulnerability discussion in Section 4 of this Plan. 

5.2.3. Ouray County Past Action Reporting 

Table 5-5 describes the progress on actions from the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

Table 5-5 Ouray County Progress on 2015 Mitigation Actions 

ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

1 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Develop CWPP 
for other 
remaining 
designated WUI 
areas for 
extreme and 
very high 
communities 

H Wildfire Ongoing 

Log Hill Fire updated 
individual parcel evals in 
2017 and provided 
recommendations to all 
structure owners on 
ways to improve home 
safety. 

2 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Improve and 
expand early 
warning 
systems to 
detect 
hazardous 
precipitation 
events and 
potential 
flooding 

H Flooding, 
All hazards Ongoing 

Ouray County is now 
using CodeRED warning 
system in addition the 
the Wireless Emergency 
Notification System 
(WENS). They are also 
utilizing Facebook and 
the county website. 
The City of Ouray is now 
using WENS, CodeRED, 
Facebook, Twitter, 
Business Alerts and the 
City Website for early 

   264



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

notification systems. 
There is still a significant 
amount of work that 
needs to be done for 
the early detection 
system. 

3 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Improve the 
coverage of the 
NOAA all-
hazards radio in 
Ouray County 
for all potential 
warning 
situations 
(present 
coverage is 
limited to 
Ridgway area) 

H All hazards Deferred There is still lack of 
funding for this action 

4 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Develop a flood 
evacuation plan 
for the critical 
portions of the 
City of Ouray 

H Flooding ongoing 

Lidar studies have been 
complete. US Army 
Corps is working with 
Ouray County on 
Northerly Evacuation 
Route from Ouray. A 
multi-jurisdictional 
Evacuation Plan will be 
developed in 2020 

5 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Maintain State 
of Colorado 
avalanche 
forecasting and 
control efforts 

M Avalanche Delete Not a plan adoptee 

6 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Encourage the 
State of 
Colorado to 
continue to 
monitor and 
enforce 

M Hazardous 
Materials Ongoing Continuously being 

done 

   265



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

hazardous 
materials 
transport 
regulations 

7 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Have the State 
of Colorado re- 
evaluate the 
extension of 
the East 
Riverside 
avalanche shed 
for greater 
protection 

L Avalanche Delete Not a plan adoptee 

8 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Evaluate driver 
safety options 
to minimize 
risks to 
motorists and 
tour buses on 
Highway 550 
between Ouray 
and Red 
Mountain Pass 

L All hazards Delete Not a plan adoptee 

9 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Invite the 
Colorado Water 
Conservation 
Board and 
FEMA to host 
flood insurance 
workshops 
prior to flood 
season every 
two years 

H Flooding Deferred This has been deferred 
to the 2019 HMP 

10 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Continue to 
implement 
sound 
floodplain 
management 
practices as 
communities 
participating in 
the National 
Flood Insurance 
Program 

M Flooding Ongoing 

Ouray County in still in 
the process of updating 
the floodplain 
management practices. 
The City of Ouray in still 
in the process of 
updating the floodplain 
management practices. 

   266



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

11 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Encourage 
residents to 
construct 
defensible 
space around 
homes through 
promotion of 
Firewise 
techniques 

M Wildfire Ongoing 

Log Hill Fire residents 
actively participate in 
the WRWC mitigation 
program and annual 
chipping program to 
create more defensible 
space and maintain 
same.  LHVFD Station 1 
completed a defensible 
space project in 2019. 

12 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Improve FPD 
wildland 
capabilities per 
CWPP 
recommendatio
ns 

M Wildfire Ongoing 

Log Hill Fire continues to 
improve wildfire 
capabilities.  
Certifications of 
firefighters improves 
through use of task 
books and academy 
classes.  Currently have 
4 engine bosses, Strike 
Team leader trainee and 
other leadership 
positions.  Continue to 
improve wildfire 
equipment stocking on 
engines.  In 2019 
brought Type 6 stocking 
up to NUS levels.  
Seeking to gain 
experience for 
firefighters through fire 
deployments.  Sent 
Tender to Bull Draw Fire 
in 2018. 

13 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Implement 
fuels treatment 
projects in 
areas identified 
in the Ouray 
County CWPP 

H Wildfire Ongoing 

Log Hill Fire residents 
actively participate in 
the WRWC mitigation 
program and annual 
chipping program to 
create more defensible 
space and maintain 
same.  LHVFD Station 1 
completed d space 
project in 2019. 

   267



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

14 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Review County 
wildfire 
regulations with 
insurance 
industry. 
Partner with 
insurance 
industry* 

M Wildfire Ongoing 

WRWC has worked with 
planning commission to 
rewrite wildfire regs and 
is approaching approval 
of same. 

15 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Redo or update 
the flood 
hazard risk 
maps for 100- 
and 500-year 
floods* 

M Flooding Delete This is now done by 
FEMA 

16 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Provide 
hazardous fuels 
reduction 
treatments 
around the five 
radio/cell sites 
in Ouray 
County 

H Wildfire Ongoing 

Log Hill Fire plans to 
work with DFPC to 
mitigate Log Hill Site in 
2020 or 2021. 

17 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Provide 
hazardous fuels 
reduction 
treatments 
around the 
Ridgway power 
substation 

H Wildfire Delete No longer a plan 
adoptee 

18 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Provide 
hazardous fuels 
reduction 
treatments 
around the 
230 KV power 
line 

H Wildfire Delete Not a plan adoptee 

19 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Evaluate multi-
hazard risk to 
five radio/cell 
sites and 
repeater sites 
and develop 
appropriate 
mitigation 

H All hazards Ongoing 

Ouray County has 
worked with the West 
Region Wildfire Council 
to mitigate the risks to 
the 5 radio/cell sites 

   268



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

recommendatio
ns 

20 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Develop 
capability for 
off-site backup 
of critical data 

L All hazards Ongoing 
Ouray County has 
developed an off-site 
backup for critical data 

21 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Develop 
continuity of 
operations and 
continuity of 
government 
plans 

L All hazards Deferred 

This has been deferred 
to the 2019 HMP. 
Town of Ridgway 
completed and adopted 
an Emergency 
Operations Plan Feb. 
2019 

22 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Identify 
potential multi-
hazard shelter 
sites and 
ensure 
adequate 
supplies and 
backup power 
capabilities 

H All hazards Ongoing 

6 Shelter sites have 
been identified and 
approved by Red Cross 
in Ouray County. 4 of 
those sites are in the 
City of Ouray (Ouray 
Community Center, 
Ouray Schools, St 
Daniels Church, and the 
Elks Club). The sites are 
still in need of funding 
to finalize back up 
power. 

23 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Upgrade 
County 
Wireless 
Communication
s to include 
access to State 
800 Mhz 
system 

H All hazards Ongoing 

Log Hill Fire has access 
to 800 mghz in vehicles 
but VHF is primary 
communication means. 

24 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Improve 
countywide GIS 
capabilities to 
support land 
use planning 
and emergency 
management* 

M All hazards Ongoing 

There has been 
significant progress 
made but there will 
always be a need for GIS 
updates 

25 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Produce multi-
hazard 
education. 

L Avalanche Ongoing 

County, City, and Town 
work continuously on 
public outreach, 
education, and training. 

   269



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

26 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Hazmat 
awareness 
training for 
first responders 

H Hazardous 
Materials Ongoing Log Hill Fire has 8 

HAZMAT OPS personnel. 

27 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Provide the 
Grand Junction 
NWS office with 
appropriate 
non- weather 
emergency 
message 
(NWEM) 
templates 

H All hazards Complet
e 

NWS has received 
appropriate non- 
weather emergency 
message 

28 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Work with State 
Patrol hazmat 
officers to 
monitor hazmat 
through county 
roads and CDOT 
roads 

H Hazardous 
Materials Ongoing 

This is continually 
monitored and 
improved 

29 Multi 
jurisdictional 

Education of 
citizens about 
flood insurance: 
clear water vs. 
sediment/mudfl
ow 

H Flood/Deb
ris Flows Deferred This has been deferred 

to the 2019 HMP 

30 Ouray 
County 

Update the 
County’s 
emergency 
operations plan 
to the latest 
standards and 
include 
Ridgway 
and Ouray 

L All hazards Complet
e 

This was adopted by the 
city, town, and county. 

31 Ouray 
County 

Review the 
County wildfire 
mitigation 
standards code 
against the 
National Fire 
Protection 
Association 
model and 
modify the 

M Wildfire In 
Progress 

WRWC has worked with 
planning commission to 
rewrite wildfire regs and 
is approaching approval 
of same. 

   270



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

Ouray County 
code if 
appropriate* 

32 Ouray 
County 

Explore adding 
the 
development of 
a community 
wildfire 
protection plan 
and defensible 
space as 
requirements 
for subdivision 
planned unit 
development 
approvals* 

L Wildfire In 
Progress 

WRWC has worked with 
planning commission to 
rewrite wildfire regs and 
is approaching approval 
of same. 

33 Ouray 
County 

Update and 
modernize the 
avalanche 
hazard atlas 
with 
development of 
a GIS avalanche 
database 

M Avalanche Deferred This has been deferred 
to the 2019 HMP 

34 Ouray 
County 

Set up a 
countywide 
emergency 
operations 
center at the 
Ridgway Land 
Use Office, 
which is not in 
potential flood 
and fire risk 
areas and is 
close to the 
County fuel 
supply and the 
central radio 
system 
repeater 

M All hazards Complet
e 

The EOC was 
established in 2015. 

   271



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

35 Ouray 
County 

Upgrade 
County 
emergency 
manager 
position from 
part-time to 
full-time 

H All hazards Complet
e 

This was completed in 
2017 and both the town 
and city are contributing 
to this as well. 

36 Ouray 
County 

Improve fire 
response 
capabilities, 
including 
installing “quick 
dumps” on all 
County and City 
water trucks 
and equip to 
carry “porta-
ponds” 

L Wildfire Deferred Deferred due to a lack 
of resources 

37 Ouray 
County 

Educate citizens 
on beetle kill 
and work with 
USFS to 
mitigate beetle 
kill affected 
trees within 
the County 

H Wildfire Ongoing 

Ongoing due to the 
different variety of 
beetles.  A significant 
amount of time and 
energy have been 
placed on Beetle Kill 
education and 
mitigation.   
This is ongoing as Beetle 
Kill Trees still surround 
the City. The City will 
continue to support 
pheromone projects to 
mitigate impacts to 
surrounding forest 

38 Ouray 
County 

Build a culvert 
or drainage 
system to 
prevent County 
Road 17 near 
Corbett Creek 
from flooding 
and washing 
out during 
heavy 
rainstorms 

H Flooding Ongoing 

Working with Corps of 
Engineers to develop 
preliminary engineering 
design for bridge 
crossing. Engineering 
will be completed in 
2020 

   272



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

39 Ouray 
County 

Reduce 
avalanche risks 
to 
miners and first 
responders 

H Avalanche ongoing Continuously being 
done 

40 Ouray 
County 

Create 
emergency 
management 
resource lists 

H All hazards Ongoing 

Continuously being 
done by the County. 
The city will continue 
creating the list and will 
ensure that all City 
Resources are in 
WEBEOC by the end of 
2020. 

41 Ouray 
County 

Ensure all are 
trained in NIMS 
according to 
FEMA 
regulations 

H All hazards Ongoing Ongoing program in 
LHVFD. 

42 Ouray 
County 

Create 
preloaded 
warning 
messages for 
specific events 
(e.g. flood, fire, 
evacuation) for 
our target 
notification 
system 
and NOW 

H All hazards Ongoing 
LHVFD has preloaded 
evac messages in Code 
Red. 

43 Ouray 
County 

Research and 
implement a 
strategy to 
reduce ISO 
ratings 
countywide 

H Wildfire Ongoing 

LHVFD improved rating 
from 5/8B to 4/4Y.  
WRWC has no input to 
ISO ratings. 

44 Ouray 
County 

Work with 
Parks & Wildlife 
and Tri-County 
to keep debris 
low in Ridgway 
Reservoir to 
prevent 
flooding and 
dam overflow 

M 
Flooding, 

Dam 
Failure 

Ongoing Continuously being 
done 

   273



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

45 Ouray 
County 

Create EOPs 
related to 
imminent 
threats for 
public buildings 
such as the 
County 
Courthouse City 
Hall, Town Hall, 
and schools 

H Imminent 
Threat 

Complet
e / 

Ongoing 

This was completed in 
2016. The City will 
continue education, 
training, and planning 
for imminent threats of 
all of the City 
infrastructure 

46 City of Ouray 

Replace 
Skyrocket Creek 
Diversion Dam 
to divert debris 
flows away 
from the Ouray 
Hot Springs 
Pool 

H Debris 
Flow 

Complet
e 

This project has been 
completed 

47 City of Ouray 

Conduct 
outreach on 
debris flow and 
flood 
protection 
methods for 
property and 
business 
owners in 
the City of 
Ouray 

M 
Flooding/ 

Debris 
Flow 

Ongoing 

The city has been 
working on debris flow 
and flood protection 
education. The city has 
utilized Colorado 
Geologic Survey, 
Colorado Division of 
Emergency 
Management, and 
Ouray County 
Emergency 
Management for these 
educational pieces. 

48 City of Ouray 

Protect City of 
Ouray water 
main from 
landslide 
impacts 

M Landslide Ongoing This has been done in 
phases and is ongoing. 

49 City of Ouray 

Bi-annual 
removal of rock 
and 
debris in the 
Cascade 
catchment 
basin to 
prevent 
flooding 

M Flooding Ongoing This is being done 
annually to bi-annually 

   274



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

50 City of Ouray 

Annual removal 
of rock and 
debris in the 
Skyrocket 
catchment 
basin to 
prevent 
flooding 

M Flooding Ongoing This is being done 
annually 

51 City of Ouray 

Replace or 
repair 
Weehawken 
Spring 
transmission 
line should an 
event take the 
line out of 
service. 
Develop plan 
for public 
notification, 
conservation 
methods, and 
fire protection 
alternatives if 
service is 
interrupted. 

H All hazards Deferred Deferred to lack of 
resources 

52 City of Ouray 

Complete 
CWPP for City 
of Ouray 
Volunteer Fire 
Department 

H Wildfire Deferred Deferred to lack of 
resources 

53 Town of 
Ridgway 

Develop a 
stormwater 
management 
plan for the 
Town of 
Ridgway 

H Flooding In 
Progress 

The Town is currently 
working with 
consultants to complete 
this task. Project is 
scheduled to be done by 
end of year 2019. 

54 Town of 
Ridgway 

Develop 
additional raw 
water storage 
for Ridgway 

H Drought Complet
e 

Lake Otonowanda 
expansion has been 
completed. 

55 
Fire 

Protection 
Districts 

Develop CWPP 
for Log Hill 
Mesa 

H Wildfire Ongoing 

Individual parcel level 
ratings were updated in 
2017 and provided to 
homeowners. 

   275



ID Jurisdiction Action Priority Hazard 2019 
Status 2019 Status Summary 

56 
Fire 

Protection 
Districts 

Complete the 
Horsefly Fire 
Protection 
Association 
CWPP to 
include 
evacuation 
routing and 
signage 

M Wildfire Delete No longer a plan 
adoptee 

57 
Fire 

Protection 
Districts 

Complete ISO 
reevaluation of 
Log Hill Mesa 
Fire Protection 
District 

M Wildfire Complet
e 

Re-Eval complete in 
2017. Improved from 
5/8B to 4/4Y. 

58 
Ridgway 
School 
District 

Secure exterior 
school 
entrances by 
installing 
electronic locks 
with 
card readers 

H Imminent 
Threat Delete No longer a plan 

adoptee 

59 
Ridgway 
School 
District 

Upgrade 
emergency 
notification 
system 

H All hazards Delete No longer a plan 
adoptee 

60 
Ridgway 
School 
District 

Improve 
earthquake 
preparedness in 
School District 
Buildings 

M Earthquak
e Delete No longer a plan 

adoptee 

61 
Ridgway 
School 
District 

Install safety 
film on 
windows at 
secondary 
schools to 
prevent 
intrusion and 
injuries from 
shattered glass 

M All hazards Delete No longer a plan 
adoptee 

Tot
al 61      

 

   276



5.2.4. Ouray County Identification of New Mitigation Actions 

Selection of Mitigation Actions 
Selected actions are included in the Mitigation Action Plan (MAP), which is presented in Table 5-6. The 
MAP is a functional plan for action and is considered to be the most essential outcome of the mitigation 
planning process. The MAP includes a prioritized listing of proposed hazard mitigation actions for the 
County and participating jurisdictions to implement. Each action includes accompanying information 
such as the department responsible for completing the action, timeline, and funding source. The MAP 
provides those departments or individuals responsible for implementing mitigation actions with a clear 
path to reduce risk and vulnerability over time. Further, the MAP provides a mechanism to monitor 
progress over time.  Each action also considers the benefits and costs of an action, to ensure it is cost 
effective, which is included in the prioritization of actions.  

Mitigation actions were derived from the HIRA, local planning team workshops, the public surveys, and 
other County plans. Changes in priorities were reflected in the selected mitigation actions by reviewing 
what has been completed since 2015, reviewing how changes in development have impacted hazard risk 
(discussed in Section 4 – HIRA for each hazard), and through the local planning team discussions and 
workshops. Overall, priorities have remained generally consistent since the 2015 Ouray County Hazard 
Mitigation Plan. Top hazards still remain consistent with wildfire, debris flow, and flood. However, 
severe winter storms and landslide/rockfall were also higher-ranked hazards during this Plan update. 
Additionally, a major concern reflected in this Plan update is the need for critical infrastructure 
redundancy as well as ensuring access in and out of the County. These priorities are reflected in the 
MAP.  

Prioritization of Mitigation Actions 
During the third planning team workshop methods to prioritize mitigation actions were discussed. It was 
determined that a “high, medium, low” prioritization scheme would work best for the County. Actions 
were ranked high, medium, or low based on the following criteria: 

1. Overall hazard ranking 
2. Social considerations (life safety) 
3. Protecting critical facilities / infrastructure 
4. Positive Cost-benefit ratio 
5. Economic impacts 
6. Availability of local funds is always a priority (but still include projects that don’t have funding 

currently) 
7. Alignment with other local objectives / public survey results 

Implementation of Mitigation Actions  
The MAP includes several measures to ensure actions are implemented. The Ouray County Emergency 
Management Department will serve as the coordinating agency, however, each action is tied to a 
responsible agency or organization who will be responsible for leading the completion of the mitigation 
action. By assigning responsibility, it increases accountability and the likelihood of action.  

In addition to the assignment of a local lead department or agency, an implementation time period or a 
specific implementation date has been assigned in order to assess whether actions are being 
implemented in a timely fashion.  Further, the County will seek outside funding sources to implement 
mitigation projects in both the pre-disaster and post-disaster environments. When known, potential 

   277



funding sources have been identified for proposed actions listed in the Mitigation Action Plan. Further 
detail on implementation can be found in the Maintenance and Implementation section of this Plan. 

5.2.5. 2019 Ouray County Mitigation Actions 

This section describes the 2019 Ouray County mitigation actions and their MAPs. Each action includes a 
number of items, as shown below. This is followed by the 2019 mitigation actions, beginning in Table 
5-6.  

• Action ID 
• Jurisdiction 
• Project description 
• Lead (bold)/partner agencies 
• Priority 
• Goal(s) addressed 
• Hazard(s) 
• Completion date 
• Cost 
• Potential funding sources 
• Status 

   278



Table 5-6 Ouray County 2019 Mitigation Actions 

Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

2019.
62 

LHMFPD 

Work with DCWC and Tri County 
Water to ensure emergency 
water system tie in is 
completed. 

DCWC /Tri County 
Water 

H 1,2,3 Multiple 2022 $550,000 
Grants and 
customer 

billing 
New 

2019.
63 

LHMFPD 
Complete re-assessment of 
parcel level wildfire risk ratings 

LHMFPD / WRWC H 1,2,3 Wildfires 2024 $7,000 

50/50 
match with 
WRWC and 

district 
funds 

New 

2019.
66 

LHMFPD 

Develop and implement a 
program to enable more 
firefighters to deploy on Federal 
fire assignments to provide a 
greater depth of experience.  
Assignments include regional RX 
burn assignments. 

LHMFPD H 1,2,3 Wildfires 2021 

Volunteer 
and 

employee 
hours 

Firefighters 
reimbursed 

by Feds.  
Increased 
funding 
received 

for vehicle 
deploymen

ts. 

New 

2019.
107 

LHMFPD 

Work with WRWC and Federal 
and State cooperators to 
develop a plan to prioritize and 
begin accomplishing landscape 
scale mitigation projects set 
forth in CWPP. 

LHMFPD / WRWC / 
DFPC / BLM 

H 1,2,3 Wildfires 2023 

variable 
based on 
scheduled 
projects 

WRWC 
75/25 

match and 
landowner 

funds 

New 

   279



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

2019.
64 

LHMFPD 
Complete review and update of 
Firewise Plan to ensure renewal 
of Firewise Status 

LHMFPD / WRWC L 1,2,3 Wildfires 2021 

Volunteer 
and 

employee 
hours 

 New 

2019.
65 

LHMFPD 

Complete review and update of 
Firewise Community evaluation 
to ensure Firewise Status 
renewal 

LHMFPD / WRWC L 1,2,3 Wildfires 2023 

Volunteer 
and 

employee 
hours 

 New 

2019.
67 

LHMFPD 

Provide a robust public 
education system to provide 
information on fire danger, 
mitigation actions and 
assistance available to 
homeowners.  Use social media, 
website, HOA meetings, public 
events and local news sources 
as channels. 

LHMFPD / WRWC / 
BLM / USFS / 

Ouray County EM / 
Sheriff 

M 1,2,3 Wildfires 2020 

Volunteer 
and 

employee 
hours 

 New 

2019.
68 

LHMFPD 

Integrate HMP goals into 5 year 
plan to ensure funding is 
budgeted and action items 
receive proper attention. 

LHMFPD M 1,2,3 Wildfires 2020 

Volunteer 
and 

employee 
hours 

 New 

2019.
69 

Ouray County 

Work with Ouray County Land 
Use and Planning Commission to 
develop wildfire regulations for 
BOCC considerations 

Ouray County H 1,2 Wildfires 2020 
Employee 

Hours 
County New 

2019.
70 

Ouray County 
Rock Fall Scaling on County Road 
17 and other county Roads 

Ouray County H 1,2 
Landslide 

/ 
Rockslide 

2020 
Employee 
Hours and 

DOLA and 
US Army 

Corps 
New 

   280



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

Contract 
labor 

2019.
71 

Ouray County 

Collaborate with CDOT on 
Federal Land Access Grant for 
safety improvements on US 550 
and CR 361. Including improved 
parking for recreation and hard 
surfacing a portion of 361. 

Ouray County H 1,2 Multiple 2022 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

FLAP Grant New 

2019.
72 

Ouray County 
Fiber build of broadband to 
better serve responders, 
community, and the region 

Ouray County M 1,2,3 Multiple 2021 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

Universal 
Service 

Assoc. Co. 
(USAC) 

New 

2019.
73 

Ouray County 
Hardening the Ouray County 
Courthouse and other county 
Facilities from imminent threat. 

Ouray County H 1,2,3 Multiple 2020 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

DOLA, 
Courthouse 

Security, 
and 

underfund
ed 

courthouse 
grants 

New 

2019.
74 

Ouray County 
Water Storage Study for the 
whole of Ouray County 

Ouray County H 1,2,3 Multiple 2020 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

CWCB 
Board 
Grant 

New 

2019.
75 

City of Ouray 

Hardening the City Facilities 
from Imminent threat including 
Water Tanks, Source water 
protection area (Weehawken 

City of Ouray H 1,3 Multiple 2020 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

 New 

   281



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

Spring source), and Sewage 
Plant. 

2019.
76 

City of Ouray 
Fiber build of broadband to 
better serve responders and the 
community 

City of Ouray M 1,2,3 Multiple 2021 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

 New 

2019.
77 

City of Ouray 

Complete phase 3 of the 
Geothermal Line that supplies 
the Ouray hot Springs Pool and 
Hydro electric for Public Works 
Shop 

City of Ouray H 1,2,3 Multiple 2021 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

City of 
Ouray 

New 

2019.
78 

City of Ouray 

Work with Ouray Ice Park Inc. to 
build a redundant water line 
from the Wehawken Springs for 
Ouray water Supply 

City of Ouray H 1,2,3 Multiple 2023 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

Fundraising
, CWCB 
grant 

New 

2019.
79 

City of Ouray 
Develop wildfire protection 
regulations 

City of Ouray H 1,2,3 Wildfires 2021 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

City of 
Ouray 

New 

2019.
80 

City of Ouray 
Develop Flood Protection 
building codes 

City of Ouray H 1,2 Flooding 2021 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

City of 
Ouray 

New 

2019.
81 

City of Ouray 
Complete the City Of Ouray 
Community Plan Update (last 
updated 2004) 

City of Ouray H 2 Multiple 2020 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

City of 
Ouray 

New 

   282



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

2019.
82 

City of Ouray 
Revisit building regulations in 
identified flood hazard areas 
including flumes 

City of Ouray H 1,2 Flooding 2022 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

City of 
Ouray 

New 

2019.
83 

City of Ouray 
Rock fall hazard study to be 
conducted in 2022 

City of Ouray H 1,2,3 Flooding 2022 

Employee 
Hours and 
Contract 

labor 

City of 
Ouray 

New 

2019.
84 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Prioritize the conservation and 
preservation of community 
valued natural resources such as 
environmentally sensitive areas, 
view and wildlife corridors, 
riparian areas and wetlands, 
river corridor, natural filtration 
and storm water drainage areas. 

Town of Ridgway L 1,2,3 Multiple 
On-

going 

Employee 
hours + $ 

when 
project is 

determine
d 

 New 

2019.
85 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Work with Ouray County to 
regulate uses or activities 
allowed within or adjacent to 
the Town’s Source Water 
Protection Area to reduce the 
risk of pollution or other 
contaminants entering the 
Town’s water supply and ensure 
the Town has access as needed. 

Town of Ridgway/ 
Ouray County Land 

Use 
M 3 Multiple 

On-
going 

Employee 
hours 

 New 

2019.
86 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Research and explore water 
conservation opportunities in 
follow up to the 2018 adoption 

Town of Ridgway M 3 Drought 2025 
Employee 

hours 
 New 

   283



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

of the Water Management and 
Conservation Plan and water 
rate increases. Codify 
regulations as appropriate. 

2019.
87 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Share radon mitigation 
information with the building 
community by disseminating 
information via training and 
electronic media. 

Town of Ridgway H 1,2 
Hazardous 
Materials 

2021 
Employee 

hours 
 New 

2019.
88 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Explore opportunities for mental 
health support and outreach. 

Town of Ridgway / 
Ouray County 
Public Health 

H 1 
Mass 

Casualty 
Event 

On-
going 

Employee 
hours + $ 

when 
project is 

determine
d 

 New 

2019.
89 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Develop and maintain a local 
emergency response and 
management plan, as well as a 
plan for the continuation of 
government operations during 
and following an emergency 
event. 

Town of Ridgway H 1,2,3 Multiple 
On-

going 
Employee 

hours 
 New 

2019.
90 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Review and update the Town 
code’s regulations regarding 
adequate water supply for new 
development. 

Town of Ridgway M 3 Drought 2022 $10,000 DOLA New 

2019.
91 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Define “steep slopes” in the 
development code, and develop 

Town of Ridgway L 1,2,3 
Landslide 
/Rockslide 

2025 $5,000 DOLA New 

   284



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

regulations that detail the 
conditions and performance 
standards under which such 
development may be evaluated. 

2019.
92 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Identify and secure a secondary 
interconnection for any 
interruption in the Town’s water 
supply. 

Town of Ridgway H 3 Multiple 2021 $58,000 DOLA New 

2019.
93 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Maintain a contingency plan in 
case of an emergency that 
threatens or disrupts the 
community water supply. 

Town of Ridgway 
and Tri-County 

Water 
M 3 Multiple 

On-
going 

Employee 
hours 

 New 

2019.
94 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Continue to evaluate Town 
infrastructure and critical 
facilities to determine what 
values are at risk from hazards. 
Identify opportunities to 
introduce redundancies into 
infrastructure systems. 

Town of Ridgway M 3 Multiple 
On-

going 
$20,000  New 

2019.
95 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Work with FEMA and Ouray 
County to maintain up-to-date 
maps of the 100-year floodplain 
and floodway along all 
waterways flowing through 
Ridgway. 

Town of Ridgway 
and FEMA 

M 1,2,3 Flooding 2022  FEMA New 

2019.
96 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Rollans Park - Restoration 
project, in-stream 
improvements 

Town of Ridgway L 2,3 Flooding 2025 $400,000 
FHC, 

GOCO, 
DOLA 

New 

   285



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

2019.
97 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Town-wide storm water 
drainage improvements 

Town of Ridgway H 1,2,3 Flooding 2025 $1,500,000 
CWRPDA, 
CDPHE, 
DOLA 

New 

2019.
98 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Back up generator for water 
plant 

Town of Ridgway H 1,2,3 Multiple 2021 $75,000 FEMA New 

2019.
99 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Back up compressor for water 
plant 

Town of Ridgway H 1,2,3 Multiple 2021 $5,000  New 

2019.
100 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Water plan surge and lightning 
protection 

Town of Ridgway H 3 Lightning 2021 $7,500  New 

2019.
101 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Water conservation plan / Basin 
Protection Implementation 

Town of Ridgway 
and watershed 

M 1,2,3 Multiple 2025 $25,000 
CWCB, 
River 

District 
New 

2019.
102 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Fencing for water treatment 
plant 

Town of Ridgway M 3 
Imminent 

Threat 
2025 $30,000  New 

2019.
103 

Town of 
Ridgway 

2nd river crossing for water 
system 

Town of Ridgway M 1,2,3 Multiple 2025 $100,000 

CDPHE, 
DOLA, 
River 

District 

New 

2019.
104 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Increase water storage east of 
the Uncompahgre River 

Town of Ridgway M 1,2,3 Multiple 2025 $750,000 

CDPHE, 
DOLA, 
River 

District 

New 

2019.
105 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Sewer emergency generator Town of Ridgway M 3 Multiple 2025 $80,000  New 

2019.
106 

Town of 
Ridgway 

Portable generator for chlorine 
metering pump at water plant 

Town of Ridgway H 1,2,3 Multiple 2021 $5,000  New 

   286



Ac
tio

n 
ID

 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n 

Ac
tio

n 

Le
ad

 (b
ol

d)
 /

 
Pa

rt
ne

r A
ge

nc
ie

s 

Pr
io

rit
y 

G
oa

l(s
) A

dd
re

ss
ed

 

Ha
za

rd
(s

) 

Co
m

pl
et

io
n 

Da
te

 

Co
st

 

Po
te

nt
ia

l F
un

di
ng

 
So

ur
ce

s 

St
at

us
  

2019.
107 

City of Ouray 

Annual removal of rock and 
debris in the Portland 
catchment basin to prevent 
flooding 

City of Ouray M 1,2,3 Flooding Annual 
Employee 

Hours 
 

New – being 
performed 

annually 

 

   287



6. Plan Maintenance, Revision, and Integration 
6.1. Introduction 

This section of the Plan describes the ongoing methods to keep the Plan current. It describes how the 
Plan will be reviewed annually, how the public will be kept involved, and how the Plan will be integrated 
into other planning mechanisms. The plan maintenance process details the formal process that will 
ensure the Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan remains an active and relevant document. The 
procedures include a schedule for monitoring and evaluating the Plan annually, as well as revising it 
every five years. This section also describes how the County will integrate public participation 
throughout the plan maintenance process. It was determined during the mitigation strategy workshops 
the County will utilize the Multi-Agency Coordination (MAC) Group for monitoring and updating this 
Plan. The MAC Group is chaired by the County emergency manager and consists of representatives for 
all jurisdictions that work in or assist Ouray County.   

6.2. Plan Monitoring, Evaluation and Enhancement  
The Ouray County Emergency Management Department is tasked with the overall responsibility of 
monitoring this Plan for Ouray County. The Plan will be periodically reviewed to ensure it reflects 
current vulnerabilities and priorities of the County and participating jurisdictions. Reviewing and 
monitoring the Plan also gives plan developers an opportunity to report progress made and provides the 
public with an opportunity to see progress made. 

The planning team will continue to meet regularly and communicate via email. As part of the 
monitoring, evaluation, and enhancement process, a meeting will be held at least once annually during a 
MAC meeting, which are held quarterly. Additionally, it was discussed that an annual report to BOCC 
and city/town councils on what progress has been made over the year would be an ideal opportunity to 
discuss mitigation actions and any relevant progress or updates. 

6.2.1. Annual Meeting and Review 

The Plan will be reviewed at one of the quarterly Ouray County MAC meetings. The planning team and 
responsible agencies will be invited via email. Led by the Ouray County Emergency Management 
Department, the meeting will be used to determine the effectiveness of programs and reflect changes in 
programs that may affect mitigation priorities. As part of the evaluation process, responsible agencies 
will be invited to share an update on their project or projects at the meeting.  

In addition, the following questions will be asked:  

• Have any potential hazards developed that were not addressed in the Plan?  
• Have any natural disasters occurred that were not addressed in the Plan?  
• Has any unanticipated development occurred that is vulnerable to hazards?  
• Are there any additional mitigation ideas that need to be incorporated?  
• Have projects been initiated and or completed?  
• What are the barriers to completing projects identified in the Plan? 
• Are the Plan goals still reflective of community priorities to reduce hazard vulnerabilities?  

   288



The purpose of these questions is to determine if the goals are still current and what progress has been 
made on the Plan. Agencies responsible for mitigation actions, as well as all participating jurisdictions, 
will be asked to submit any progress on implementing actions. An update will be required at the annual 
meeting and can be submitted at any time to the Ouray County Emergency Management Department. 
The discussion will be documented so that when the Plan is revised, the findings of the monitoring can 
be incorporated in the next five-year update.  

6.2.2. Five Year Update of the Plan  

Any of the following three situations could trigger a review and update of the Plan: 

• Occurrence of a major natural disaster in or near the County 
• Passage of five years 
• Change in state or federal regulations which must meet compliance. 

The Plan will be thoroughly reviewed and updated at the five-year mark unless it has undergone a more 
recent revision (with associated FEMA approval). At the five-year mark, several questions will be asked: 

• Do the goals address current and expected conditions? 
• Has the nature or magnitude of risks changed? 
• What additional hazard events have occurred? 
• Have the capabilities changed including social, technical, administrative, political, legal, 

economic, and environmental? 
• Are there any coordination issues that should be addressed? 
• What progress has been made to complete mitigation actions? 
• How has the public remained involved over the last five years? 
• Did the identified departments, individuals and/or other partners participate in the Plan 

implementation process as assigned? 

6.2.3. Five Year Revision Procedures 

Should a major disaster occur in Ouray County, the planning team shall meet following the disaster to 
determine whether a review of the hazard mitigation plan is warranted. In the absence of a major 
disaster, the five-year review will take place during the six-month period preceding the FEMA approval 
anniversary date (or sooner). Following proper notice in the papers of record, the Ouray County 
Emergency Manager will convene the steering committee for Ouray County, and with their assistance 
(and/or the assistance of a contractor as determined necessary), carry out the following tasks: 

• Review the Hazard Mitigation Plan Review Tool form completed by the CO DHSEM and FEMA 
during their most recent review of the Plan. 

• Examine and revise the risk assessment data as needed to ensure it is current. 
• Update the mitigation strategies to incorporate completion of actions and add any needed 

strategies or projects. 
• Identify problems that may be hindering or affecting implementation of the Plan and 

recommend actions for resolving those problems. 
• Recommend any necessary revisions to the hazard mitigation plan. 
• Comply with all applicable regulations and statutes. 

   289



Forty-five days prior (or earlier) to the five-year anniversary date, a final draft of the revised plan will be 
submitted to DHSEM, and then to FEMA. Once FEMA approval has been granted, the Plan will be 
adopted locally.  

6.3. Plan Adoption  
Plan adoption will occur following an “approved pending adoption” status by FEMA. Once this status has 
been received, the counties and participating jurisdictions need to adopt the Plan. Adoption will occur 
via a resolution and will be passed by county commissions. A copy of the current resolution can be 
found in Appendix D.  The Ouray County Emergency Management Department will be the primary 
authority in maintaining and coordinating the Plan adoption by the jurisdiction.  

6.4. Continued Public Involvement  
The public is encouraged to be involved in the continual updates of the hazard mitigation plan. The 
previous methods of public involvement were reviewed to ensure they were successful in engaging the 
public. It was determined that the existing methods were working, largely utilizing the County’s existing 
social media pages such as Facebook, but could be expanded upon utilizing additional County programs. 
Additionally, through the 2019 Plan update, the County implemented a robust public engagement effort 
and the methods utilized can continue to be used for ongoing public involvement. The County 
Emergency Management Department will be the lead agency to ensure the public remains involved over 
the next five years via following methods:  

• Including hazard mitigation education at the annual County Safety Fair. Approximately 25 other 
agencies/organizations participate in the fair. 

• Loghill Mesa FPD – utilizing social media, future meetings and activities, and the County website. 
• Ouray FPD - utilizing social media 
• Public Information Officers will be utilized to communicate hazard mitigation education to the 

public. 
• City of Ouray will incorporate hazard mitigation education into their established community 

policing programs, which are held monthly. 
• All jurisdictions will continue to utilize social media, print media, and community websites to 

involve the public on hazard mitigation efforts. 

6.5. Integration of Hazard Mitigation into other Planning 
Mechanisms  

The participating jurisdictions will integrate this Hazard Mitigation Plan into relevant government 
decision-making processes or mechanisms, where feasible. This includes integrating the requirements of 
the Hazard Mitigation Plan into other local planning documents, processes, or mechanisms, such as 
comprehensive or capital improvement plans, when appropriate.  The members of the planning team, 
led by the Ouray County Emergency Management Department, will remain charged with ensuring that 
the goals and actions of new and updated local planning documents for their agencies or departments 
are consistent and do not conflict with the goals and actions of the Hazard Mitigation Plan. Further, they 
will ensure that any actions will not contribute to increased hazard vulnerability in the County. 

During the planning team mitigation strategy workshop, integration methods were discussed for each 
jurisdiction, as described below. 

   290



• There is a County Planning Commission public hearing for land use code/wildfire mitigation 
regulations taking place at the end of 2019. Discussions of hazard mitigation will take place to be 
incorporated into updated regulations. 

• The City of Ouray is beginning an update of their community plan. This Hazard Mitigation Plan 
will be incorporated into the community plan. 

• Loghill Mesa FPD has a five-year plan and will integrate mitigation actions into that plan 
• The Town of Ridgway recently adopted their updated Master Plan. This Hazard Mitigation Plan 

will be integrated into the Master Plan maintenance. 

The Ouray County Emergency Manager will continue to coordinate and support this effort. The County 
Emergency Manager works closely with planning commissioners, ensuring hazard mitigation is 
considered during applicable decisions. Further, most plans originate or filter through the Emergency 
Management office.  Much of the information in this Plan, such as the risk assessment, will be 
incorporated into other emergency management planning efforts, such as the EOP. Many different 
agencies will be responsible for following the Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan. The County 
Commissioners and participating jurisdictions will have the authority to promote policies regarding 
hazards. The County LEPC will also consider the hazard mitigation plan in its efforts. It can refer to the 
Plan for guidance on past occurrences and future impacts. Agencies can also utilize the plan to seek out 
grants and projects that fulfill the mitigation requirements outlined in the Plan. The Ouray County 
Emergency Manager will include the necessary information in future plans and coordinate this operation 
through other agencies as plans are revised and reviewed.  

   291



APPENDIXES 

   292



7. Appendix A: Meeting Sign-in Sheets and Agendas 
Figure 7-1 Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee Kickoff Webinar 

 

  

   293

Q CDRIMACiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMEHT 

Ouray County - Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Kick-Off Webinar (Steering Committee) 

When: 2:00-3:00 MST - Apr il 9, 2019 

Where: Webinar (https://cd rmagu ire.zoom.us/ j/536081696 ) -Conference Call (US: +1 669 900 6833 or 

+1408 638 0968 \ Meeting ID: 536 081 696) 

Invitees: Ouray Fire Department <ouray.fire@gmail.com>; Trevor Latta <trevorlatta@hotmail.com>; 

Susan Lacy <slacy@ridgway.k12.co.us>; Justin Perry <perryj@cityofouray.com>; City Administrator 

<administrator@cityofouray.com>; Jennifer Coates <jcoates@town.ridgway.co.us>; Tammy Stroup 

<tstroup@town.ridgway.co.us>; Lance Fitzgerald <lfitzgerald@ouraycountyco.gov>; John Rogers 

<jsr5@hotmail.com>; Tom Austin <toma67@aol.com>; Connie Hunt <chunt@ouraycountyco.gov>; Tad 

Rowan <tad.rowan@montrosefire .org>; Chris Miller <rvfdchief@hotmail.com>; Kristy Orvis 

<coloradosnowflakes@hotmail.com>; spankow@ouray.k12.co.us; Glenn Boyd (Ouray EM); Mike Garner 

and Lisa Clay (CDR Maguire) 

Agenda: 
1. Welcome & Introductions 7. Recent Hazard Events 

2. Project Scope & Schedu le 8 . Recent Community Planning 

3. Roles & Responsibi li ties 9. Best Available Data 

4. Local Planning Team 10. Local Planning Team 

5. Current HMP 11. Public Involvement Strategy 

6. Hazards to Profile 12. Questions/ Concerns/ Other Topics 

Post Meeting Action Items for Steering Committee: 
A. Best Available Data/ Recent Community Plans 

B. Local Planning Team Partic ipants 

C. Public Involvement Input 

Questions, Comments, Concerns? - Contact project manager Mike Garner at any point throughout 

the planning process: 303 .710.9498 I Michael.Garner@CDRMaguire.com 

OURAY COUNTY - HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN Page 11 



Figure 7-2 Ouray County Local Planning Team Kickoff Workshop Agenda 

 

   294

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Ouray County - Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Kick-Off Workshop (Local Planning Committee) 

When: 9:00-11:00 MST -June 13, 2019 

Where: 111 Mal Road, Ridgway (Ouray County EOC) I Webinar 

(https:l/cdrmaguire.zoom.us/j/863697829 )-Conference Call (US: +1669 900 6833 or +1408 638 0968 

\ Meeting ID: 863 697 829) 

Invitees: See sign-in sheet, meeting appointment 

Agenda: 
1. Welcome & Introductions 8. Recent Community Planning 

2. Project Scope & Schedule 9. Mitigation Capabilities 

3. Roles & Responsibilities 10. Best Available Data 

4. Local Planning Team 11. Critical Facilities 

5. Current HMP 12. Public Involvement Strategy 

6. Hazards to Profile 13. Questions/ Concerns/ Other Topics 

7. Recent Hazard Events 

Post Meeting Action Items for Steering Committee: 
A. Best Available Data/ Recent Community Plans 

B. Local Planning Team Participants 

C. Mitigation Capabilities Input 

D. Public Involvement Input 

Questions, Comments, Concerns?- Contact project manager Mike Garner at any point throughout 

the planning process: 303.710 .94981 Michael.Garner@CDRMaquire.com 

OURAY COUNTY- HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN Page 11 



 

  

   295

Q CDRIMRCiUIRE 
~ EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Local Mitigation Capabilities Tracker for Local Plan Updates 

Planning & Regulatory Yes/No Administrative & Technical Yes/No 

Building Codes Emergency Manager 

Building Codes Year Floodplain Administrator 

BCEGS Rating Community Planning: 

Capital Improvements Program (CIP) or Plan - Planner/Engineer (Land Development) 

Community Rating System (CRS) - Planner/Engineer/Scientist (Natual Hazards) 

Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) - Engineer/Professional (Construction) 

Comprehensive, Master, or General Plan - Resiliency Planner 

Economic Development Plan -Transportation Planner 

Elevation Certificates Full-Time Building Official 

Erosion/Sediment Control Program GIS Specialist and Capability 

Floodplain Management Plan or Ordinance Grant Manager, Writer, or Specialist 

Flood Insurance Study Warning Systems/Services: 

Growth Management Ordinance -General 

Non-Flood Hazard-Specific Ordinance or Plan (e.g.- Steep Slope, Wildfire, Snow Load) - Flood 

NFIP -Wildfire 

Site Plan Review Requirements -Tornado 

Storm water Program, Plan, or Ordinance - Geological Hazards 

Zoning Ordinance Other 

Other 

Financial Yes/No Education & Outreach Yes/No 

Has community used any of the following to fund mitigation activities: Local Citizen Groups That Communicate Hazard Risks 

- Levy for Specific Purposes with Voter Approval Firewise 

- Utilities Fees Storm Ready 

-System Development/ Impact Development Fee Other 

- General Obligation Bonds to Incur Debt 

- Special Tax Bonds to Incur Debt 

-Withheld Spending in Hazard-Prone Areas 

-Stormwater Service Fees 

-Capital Improvement Project Funding 

-Community Development Block Grants 

-Other I 
OURAY COUNTY- HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN Page 12 



Figure 7-3 Ouray County Local Planning Team Kickoff Workshop Sign-in Sheets 

 

   296



 

 

   297

.. 
a 
l .. 



 

 
 

   
29

8

Ouray County - liamd MltlgAllon Plan 
Wo1~<11op N1 (l.Ocal Plaru:!ing Co.rnmllH) 

J."°e 13, 2DIJ) 

lot P>eH 



Figure 7-4 Ouray County Local Planning Team HIRA Workshop Agenda 

 
 
  

   299

2 CDRIMACiUIAE '-e' EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Ouray County - Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Workshop #2 (Local Planning Committee) 

When: 1:00-3:00 MST-August 5, 2019 

Where: TBD I Webinar (https://cdrmaguire.zoom.us/j/250031023 ) -Conference Call (US: +1 669 900 

6833 or+ 1 408 638 0968 \ Meeting ID: 250 031 023 ) 

Invitees: See sign-in sheet 

Agenda: 
1. Welcome & Introductions 

2. Hazard Mitigation Planning Review 

3. Risk Assessment Summary 

4. Capability Assessment Results 

5. Mitigation Strategy 

6. Mitigation Funding 

7. Mitigation Actions/ Projects 

8. Public Involvement 

9. Action Items 

Post Meeting Action Items for the Local Planning Committee: 
• Continue local discussions relating to this project 

• Begin identifying new mitigation actions 

• Public survey dissemination/ involvement 

• Review of Risk Assessment chapter 

Questions, Comments, Concerns?- Contact project manager Mike Garner at any point throughout 
the planning process: 303 .71 0.9498 I Michael.Garner@CDRMaouire.com 

OURAY COUNTY- HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN Page 11 



Figure 7-5 O
uray County Local Planning Team

 HIRA W
orkshop Sign-in Sheets 

 

   300

Bobbie Lucero IEM 

Chase Jones Public Work 

Chris Asborn 

Chris Hawkins Comminty Development 

Chris M iller ,fire Chief 

Connie Hunt County Admi n / CFO 

Courtney Haynes Wildfire Mitigation Specialist 

Craig Kaminsky Training officer/orginizer 

Don Batchelder BOCC 

Drew Petersen Field Manager 

Gary Ray ,Acting Police Chief 

Glenn Boyd EM 

Greg Fisher iEM 

Greg Nelson 

Heidi Pankow I Ouray Tourism Office 

Henry Mitchell EM 

Jamie Gomez I Director 

Jeff Backes GIS 

Jennifer Coates ITown Manager 

Jennifer-Mttf-er- PIO 

Jodi Rist I Forester 

Joe Coleman Public Work 

John Clark IMayor 

John Peters BOCC 

John Rogers 1FireChief 

Justin Perry City Adminastrator 

Kat Papenbrock Ouray Tourism Office 

Kimberly Mitchell EMS Chief 

Kirsten Copeland 

Ouray County- Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Workshop #2 (Local Planning Commitee) 

August 5, 2019 

Gunnison County Blucero@gunnisoncounty.org 

Town of Ridgway cjones@town.ridgway.co.us 

USFS • Montrose lnteragency Unit l casbjorn@blm.gov 

City of Ouray 

Ouray Fire 

Ouray County 

West Region Wildfire COlmcil 

Ouray FPO 

Ouray County 

State of Colorado 

City of Ouray 

Ouray County 

Montrose County 

American Red Cross 

Ouray County 

San Miguel County 

West Region Wildfire Council 

Ouray County 

Town of Ridgway 

Cit y of Ouray 

CSFS 

City of Ouray 

!Town of Ridgway 

Ouray County 

Loghill FPD 

City of Ouray 

Ouray County 

Ouray County 

State Parks 

development@cityofouray.com 

Chief@ridgwayfire.qrg 

chunt@ouravcouri~ 

courtney.haynes@cowildfire.9rg 

~mail.co_m 

dbatchelder@ouraycountvco.gov 

"drtw.petersen@state.c9.us 

rayg@cityofouray.com 

Sboyd@9uraycguntyco.gov 

gfisher@montrosecounty.net 

gmnelsqnpe@gmail.com 

ocra.markehng@gmail.com 

heorym@sanmiguelsheriff.grg 

iamig.gqmez@cowitdfire.org 

jbockes@ouraycountyco.go" 

ICOates@town.ridgway.co.us 

miller1@cityofoyray.com 

iodi.rist@co!ostate-edu 

colemanj@cityofouray.cgm 

macdoktor@gmai1.com 

1Peters@ouravcountyc9.gov 

jsr5@hotmait.com 

administrator@citYQfourav.com 

k.papenbrock@ouravcolorado.com 

kmitChelt@ouraycountye9.gov 

kirsbn.copetand@state.co.us 

lofPage3 



 
  

 

   301

Lance Fitzgerald Sheriff 

Luke Odom Battalion Chief 

Mandy Stoll Steimer Exec. Director 

Mark Thompson Mitigation Office 

Mary Kay Wray Government Ops 

Melissa Drake Finance Director 

Pam Larson Mayor 

Pam Memclmer 

1Patricla Gavelda Mitigation OfftCe 

Scott Morrill EM 

Scott Pankow Superlntendant 

Shane Schmalz lnterm Marshal 

Shay Coburn Planner 

Steven Calkins Road and Bridge 

Susan Lacy Superintend ant 

Susie Mayfleld Assessor 

Tad Rowan Fire Chief 

Thomas Warnes 

Tom Austin Assistant Chief 

Tom Fowlds 

Trevor Latta Fire Chief 

vacant EM 

Victoria Durnan Pu~ic Health 

Wiley Freeman 

Ouray County - Hazard Mitigation Plan 
Workshop #2 (Local Planning Commitee) 

August S, 2019 

Ouray County 

DFPC luke.odQm@state.co.us 

WestCO mstollste1mer@wcrdc.net 

State of Colorado markw.thompson@state-CO-US 

American Red Cross marykay.wray@redcross-org 

City of OJrav Orakem@cityofouray.com 

City of Ouray larsonpfa>cityofourav.com 

Dallas Creek Water admini5trat0r@dallascreekwa1er.com 

State of Colorado patricia.gavelda@state.co~~s 

Gunnison County smorr1ll@gunn1soncounty.org 

OurayK•12 spankow@ouray.k}2-C0-US 

Town or Ridgway sschmalz@town.ridgway.co-US 

Town or Ridgway scoburn@town (idgway.co-us 

Ouray County scalkins@ouraycpuntyco g9v 

Ridgway K·12 sla(y@ridgway.k12.~o.us 

Ouray County smayfield@9uraycountyc9.gov 

Montrose FPO tad.rowan@montrosefire.org 

Black Hills Energy thomas.warnes@blackhillSCQfD.CQffi 

Loghill FPO toma67@aoi.com 

Bureau of Reclamatfon tfpwlds@usbr.gov 

Ouray FPO trevorlatta@hotmail.com 

Hlnsdate County 

Ouray County "durnan@ouravcountveo.gov 

San Miguel Power wd~~im~.CQQQ 

2 of Page 3 

\ ;I'?;~ - ~ I -

' I \ I ' J, \A fA \ } t/\V'-- I :JJ.Q 



Figure 7-6 Ouray County Mitigation Strategy Workshop Agenda 

 
  

   302

CDRI IA_ .E 
1,1-RG NC'i MANAG. ~ NT 

Oiuray County Hazard Mitigation P•lan 
Mitigation S1rategy Workshop {local Planning Committee) 

When: 1 :00-3 :00 MDT - October 21, 2019 

Where: 111 M alli Road, Ridgway. CO - La rid Use Cont Room I Webinar: 

https:/lcdm1oouire..zoom.usljl205161943 - Conferen ce Call (US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1408 638 0968 or 

+ 1646876 9923 \ Meeting ID: 20'5 161 943) 

lnv.iMes: See meeting sign-in sheet 

A.genda: 
1. We loom e & ~ntro ductiori~ 

2. Project Overview 

3. 201:S M itigat ion .Action/ Project Review 

4. Pfari Maintenance / Implementation 

5. Plan Integration 

6. Mitlgatio ri Strategy - Goalis & Objectives 

7. Mitlgatio ri Strategy Inputs 

8. Mitigation Strateg'j• - Ne~v Actions / Projects 

9. Funding Reso11Jrces 

Pos,t Me.eting Action hem,s for the Local Planning Team: 
• Finalize new M itigation Actions / Projects 

• Finalize past M iugation Act· ons / Projects reporting 

• Public R,eview and Comment 

Questions, Comments, Concerns? - Contact pro ject manag er Mike Garner at any point throughout 
the planning process: 303.710.9498 I Michael Gamer@CDRMagu jre com 



 
   
Figure 7-7 Ouray County Mitigation Strategy Workshop Sign-In 

 

   303

-- -i': _,_ -- -, __ ---- --~·-
, __ 

-- --,_ ... _ 
Cau,,fy-/Cf-0 -- ----- '"" ... """" ~- ---- ~,. ... _ ,_ 

Dr_,....,_ -·--- -~ ~-..... ----- -..,,_ , . ----==- .... _ 
tow.,,_(111<,o -- ,. --· --- ,. -- ·---- - --- "' -i-- -

Oun,,Coumy - ~ .. ,d MhiJHlon P1;an 
Worttfhopll(Loc~IPl;annlncCommllH) 

~obe,ll,201' 

""'"'""" --=i~-'®"" 
'""~ ,_ = -~- "••· --·-,_,,,,~ .. -- " 

~:---
-~ -- .~•1."IC'"'°" 

°"'""'-1 
-,"""',, __ ~---~ .--.. 11o.er.... I 

""""" ,--~•-= ...,..., 

A,C /' LO.. ----j 
J 

1- /,. L..,t., 

'P~..,....(" J 
J 

/'EJ/1,,, ':flu,,., ,.Ki>wbJ, I 

u u 

-- -' ~· 
~--~-- ---~ 

-~olC,:,1,,,--- - ~ 

-~~~ 

- - - -- --- -(Av,:,/Out .. ,~.., ,., -- - ,.. ... 0#.Jti 
- f---

__ , """"Y 

,:1,,,,., .. ,.,,.-'.'18'·)W,= 
A 

~ ... - I ·~ j~I"' ~-· t::::=' ---.. __ 
1"'1'LN~.!Jld'D]f"---= ----Wll>l.~-•C-1 .....,...,_,,_, --T-"'~ .. l'"-~~,11) -~-futrr,1ow., - f----

_I= ---i=~,,,,.. --- --

Scanned by CamScanner 



 

   304

Ouray County - Hazard Mlt11atlon Plan 
Wortshop #3 (Local Plannin,: Commttee) 

October 21, 1019 

2o1 ..... , 

Scanned by CamScanner 



   305

Ouray County- Huard Mltlcatlon ptan 
Wortlshop 13 (Local ptannln1 Commltee) 

October Zl, l019 

JofPap J 

Scanned by CamScanner 



8. Appendix B: Public Involvement 
Figure 8-1 Ouray County PIP 

 

   306

Ouray County - Hazard Mitiga ·oni Plan 
P,uillic Involvement Plan 

pyeniew: is ubl ic lnvo lVcment a,n (IPI j for the O ray Cou ty a:zard M" · at ian Plan ( M P) au~li :5 

the, a.pp "Oach t o e ~ age cam mun i · es and st 3'keholders. As 

public and stakeholder input and the Local Plan i11 :g. committee [LPC j, this d,o ment prnvides dk ection 

for engagement activities,, '1:oals, ,3 rad schedure,. 

T is engagemen p a,n ou l ines lrille pub ic outreach goills, acfaf · s, venues, and count'( / PC / OOR 

Magui re team responsibi li ies t ha .seek to keep,ci tizeru informed th rou,ghcrut: t he p!a n· g p acess, 

gat her f eedback alt cr ilt ical points, ,and create local ch a pions. Every ,effort w~I be ma =- to e co rage 

,mea.nin,gful pw blic intmlveme , thro out t he p rocess bl( involving interes-ted parties ei!Jrfy, ir,eq en~tv, 

a d effecti11etv. 

Oiliji!Clt\ies: outreach e··orts are cri ical t:o lrille devel o1![11'1 ent of 21 success· I M itigation strategy, 

formutated a,s part of t his, H P project. o u r t,eam w ill focus on creati g ., commimity-supported 

str,ategy, clearly de - ni:n,g e !)(rOblems iiMP is t ryi o-to sdtve, an d met hod· all~' ident ifyin,g ~t!e range 

of poterrlifa l sohutions a d t radeo··,, so t halt i11formed decisiam ca• 1:2 made, The p rocess \~m: 

Ensure tlle p bric a,s an op ortl!l 111 ity t o shall= the pla,nning for tlle com mu ity a d the goals for 

e ure_ 

foster cortabora ion ama· local an d regional1 agencies, organ izatiom, and sotaike olders. 
Ut il ize m ultiple medi ms ,. o r outreach to enga,ge e greatest possib e ra 1111;e of !)artic ip a nts ,3 nd 

pe;rspec · es, ·11cl uding hose wino awe been pre,,ii custv under-represent ed, 

oreate an opportun ity for smal r com mun· ·.,s and districts -o ,ve ,a visi°'ll for t heir i11.di•i idual 

rnmm1111ities, 

Str engthen ,a fcundaticrri for ongoing d iarogue, cotrab or.a,t ive learning a rid p la1111i ~ far 

commw i ies .. 

Tools:: A broad ra ge a tedhniques, event s, and tools ~an be u ~ed to, enga,!f;e, inform, an d educa,te 

,member s oHhe pu~lic, s,takeihalders, 3 d comm1Jnit·r leaders:. Options, t o con side r w ill be base-d era eadll 

comm un· '('s input ; nd can i111Ch1roe: 

IL!l'T meetings 

sod a,! media 

Website 

surveys 

we,~spaper / Rad io / TV 

Util ity ill imsert 

P blic ost ings 

OURAY COUNTY HAZARD MITIGATION PLAN 2020 

school. 

comm nity grC1.1ps 

ot .r public e,,.ents 

Praj eclt speciik e,,.ents 

other too ls a d rescrurces 

P~ge 11 



 

   307

+ 

GLIRE 

T 

Slak~liold!er l11will'lem1!1JI: u I ·mat , eaclil commun· 'I' understands hO\\' best t o i n'o'olve thei r r eside nts, 

b usinesses, and organ· .;itions. T,3ble ll oulDl in.e-.s ll• se specific too to be ut1 iz.ed as p a.rt af ·tll is tiMIP 

p roject •COR I Mlag111ire wi ll devela anv necess;;r; contem tor thes:e a.ctill" i)2S -3' d willshare with t he LPC. 

Table 1 - HMP Conili'ruriily Eliga~~elii Tools. and Res.ii · ,cse,s 

Example 
Public everrr, community, iodal media, on/jne, rodio, uriJity bill insert, 

flyers, moilel:s, newsletter; email list, m, 

o ra•, c.ount y we bsi e 

o rav c.ount,; f a,ceooor.: / 
TWitter 

o rav C.Ount •; new sletter 

City o · o ra•; f .a.cei>oo 

City o·· o ra•( witter 

City o ·· o ura•; board meeting 

City o·· o ra•; ne l\l.sletter 

Cityo· o 

Ridgw ay t own newsletter 

Ri~gl!lay Fac,ebo-ok 

Ridgway tow n e mail 

il l PD Facebaok 

Log ill f PD pu lie meeting:; 

Glenn Boyd 

Gle.n11 Boyd 

Glenn Boyd 

Jennifer 

Mill!eir 

Jennifer 

Mi ll'.eir 

Jus,ti11 Perry 

Jennifer 

Mill'.eir 

l us,tin Perry 

. ,ycalbum 

Sh;;y ca um 

il'o m Aus.tin, 

il'o m Aus,tin 

To m Aus,tin 

eidi 

ll'a.nko w 

OURAY COUNTY HAZ/1,RD MITIGATJOr~ PLAN 2020 

gboyd@ ouraymunty 
co.gov 

gboyd@·•uraymunty 
co.gov 

gboyd@ •uraymunty 
co.gov 

mlller j,@cityofo ray.c 

om 

mmerj@cityofo :ray.c 

.Q!!!. 

adm inis:trator @qity• -
ouray.oom 

mlller j@cityofo ray.c 

om 

adminis:trator @city• i 
ouray.oom 

sea urn@t,own.r idgw 

i!V. 00.US 

scoburn@town.r idgw 

ay.co.us 

scoburn@t,own.ridgw 

a.y.oo.us 
:scaburn@t,own.r idgw 

i!V.00.US 

Toma67@.aol.com 

Toma67 @ i!i0l.com 

Toma67 @ iWl.com 

OClfiunarte ·ng@grrn 

aill com 

o Ii e 

social 

Onl ine / t 

Pub lic e·,ent 

onli ne 

Onl ine / li'ri t 

o Ii e 

social 

E ail lis,t 

o Ii e 

social 

Pw'bl" / HOA 

meetings 

Pag!! I 2 



 

 

   308

0 ray school [J";;trict R-1 Scott s pankow @a u rav.H 2. 
l'ri 

handouts Pa,nkow c:o.us 

RiQgway .school District R-2 
Sl!Ji5-.ill Lacy 

handouts 

s1m @ridgwa-v.u2.c: 
l i t 

2a.!!§ 

Sa11o Miguel Power 
Allex:S elly 

9,\0 .. 626-55 
il iiiy bill insert' 

Ass.ocfation 49 X .::!::12 

~ CDR MAC.UIAE 

EIWIGENCY MANAGEMEHT 

Schedule: Alig11ing stakeholder involv1cment activities to the overall project sch!cdule and major milestones will allow relevant content to 

be disseminated in a timely manner. Table 2 on the fo llowing page will serve as the outl ine for future project involvement activities. CDR 

Magui re w ill develop any necessary content tor t hese activities and w ill share w ith th€ LPC. 

Table 2 - Project Involvement Activities and Schedule 

Initia l Public Information Messaging 

LPT Risk Assessment (RA) Workshop 

RA Public Engagement Survey X 

RA Public Educatio11 Messaging X 

Mitigation Strate.,oY Public 
En a C'ement S.urve 

X 

LPT Mitigation Strategy Workshop X 

Draft Plan Public Information 

Messa in 
X 

Final Plan Public l11formatio11 

Messa in 
X 

..... . ,-
Em ail list X X X X X 

Prim X X 

Utility bi ll insert X 

Online X X X X X 

Social X X X X X 

• 
X 



9. Appendix C: HIRA Appendix 
9.1. Avalanche 

9.1.1. Previous Occurrences 

Significant recent previous occurrences of avalanches prior to 2015 impacting Ouray County are 
described below. 

February 2, 2013—Two events occurred in Cement Creek within roughly 20 minutes of each other on 
February 2, 2013. The first incident occurred north of Gladstone and involved a group of three skiers. 
While descending, the second skier triggered an avalanche. Two of the group members were caught in 
the slide.  None of them sustained any serious injuries. On their way out, the first group came in contact 
with victims of the second avalanche event that occurred nearby on Clothesline Path. The second event 
also involved a group of 3 skiers. Two of these individuals were partially buried by an avalanche, with 
one sustaining a lower leg injury and a dislocated shoulder. The third person was fully buried. One of the 
other group members was able to partially extricate the third person. Unfortunately the third person 
had no pulse and was not breathing. The uninjured skier went for help and met up with the unaffiliated 
first group. A member of the first group went for help and was able to flag down a Silverton Mountain 
shuttle bus. The bus driver radioed the ski area mountain manager with the accident information. The 
Silverton Mountain helicopter and Durango-based Flight for Life were called to assist with evacuation of 
the injured skier and recovery of the deceased skier. 

February 25, 2012—A group of 8 people were skiing in Big Horn Gulch south of Red Mountain Pass. The 
group triggered an avalanche that caught two people. One was partially buried and the other was fully 
buried. Both skiers were uncovered fairly quickly and neither sustained any serious injuries. 

December 17, 2011—Two people were skiing on Battleship, south of Red Mountain Pass, and triggered 
an avalanche. One skier was partially buried with his face and one hand exposed and sustained minor 
injuries. The second skier was able to dig his partner out, and the two left the scene together. 

April 15, 2011—A snowboarder in the Red Mountain Pass backcountry was caught and partially buried 
by an avalanche. He was able to dig himself free and did not sustain any injuries. 

January 15, 2011—A party of four started a tour from Red Mountain Pass. A splitboarder triggered an 
avalanche and was partially buried. She was uninjured and able to dig herself out. 

March 30, 2010—An ice climber was killed while climbing the northeast side of Baldy Peak. Details of 
the events leading up to the avalanche are unknown since the climber was traveling alone and no 
witnesses were present. Based on evidence, it is suspected that the avalanche occurred naturally. 

March 21, 2010—A group of eight from an advanced backcountry skiing college class was touring Peak 
12,442. The group descended Peak 12,442 one at a time until the seventh person triggered an 
avalanche. Two people were caught but not buried. No one sustained any injuries, and the group was 
able to depart without rescue. 

February 13, 2005—An experienced backcountry skier and CAIC avalanche forecaster was caught and 
buried by a medium-sized avalanche near Red Mountain Pass. His companions were able to uncover him 

   309



in seven minutes. He was unconscious when found but did not sustain any other serious injuries and was 
able to return to the trailhead under his own power. 

9.2. Debris Flow 
9.2.1. Vulnerability Assessment 

Potential Losses 
The following text describes the analysis conducted during the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation 
Plan to estimate potential losses from debris flows. This remains the best available loss estimation due 
to no available debris flow GIS data for this Plan update. 

During the 2013 update to this plan the debris flow hazard analysis was refined and expanded. Colorado 
Geological Survey geologic hazard data representing debris fan/flow hazard areas was provided by 
Ouray County. This was used to supplement a debris fan layer created for the previous version of this 
plan to fill in areas to create a more complete layer for analysis. The original layer was created using GIS 
software to approximate debris fan hazard zones in the City of Ouray and north of the City in the 
Uncompahgre Canyon. The location, size, and shape of the debris fan polygons were approximated using 
both a debris flow map created by the Colorado Geological Survey (Jochim, 1986) and a hillshade and 
contour layer created from a 10 meter resolution Digital Elevation Model of the area as reference. The 
Jochim mapping classifies the fans into very high, high, and moderate to low hazard zones. Due to the 
approximate nature of the GIS mapping, these designations were not included, but it should be noted 
that large portions of the Skyrocket, Bridalveil and Corbett Creek fans are designated very high hazard, 
with the Portland, Cascade and Oak Creek fans being mostly high hazard areas. The new CGS debris fan 
layer did not have debris fan names within the data; these were included for analysis purposes where 
the old layer’s named debris fans overlapped. 

GIS was used to join the assessor’s building improvement valuation data into the structure location 
points for analysis. Only structure points with improvement values greater than zero were used in the 
analysis. The CGS debris fan/flow layers were overlaid in GIS on the structure point locations to identify 
what could be potentially exposed to a debris fan/flow event. Building improvement values for those 
points were then extracted from the parcel/assessor’s data and summed for the unincorporated county 
and for the City of Ouray and the Town of Ridgway. 

Results of the overlay analysis area shown in Table 9-1, sorted by jurisdiction and the structure’s 
occupancy type. Occupancy type refers to the land use of the parcel and includes residential, 
commercial, agricultural, vacant land, and exempt. Contents values were estimated as a percentage of 
building value based on their occupancy type, using FEMA/HAZUS estimated content replacement 
values. This includes 100% of the structure value for agricultural, commercial, and exempt structures, 
50% for residential structures, and 0% for vacant land use classifications. 

Potential losses from debris flows are related to a variety of factors, including debris depth, velocity, and 
building type, contents, and construction. FEMA’s flood benefit-cost module models flood damage 
based on building type and flood depth. While there are several limitations to this methodology, it does 
provide an estimate of potential damage, which includes the following assumptions: 

• Total value was estimated as structure plus contents. 

   310



• Loss estimate damage was estimated at 25 percent of the total value based on FEMA flood 
depth-damage curves assuming a two-foot flood depth. 

• Every improved residential structure was assumed to contain one household. 
• Population was estimated based on average household size for Ouray County (2.19), multiplied 

by the number of improved residential structures. 

Details on the losses are shown in Table 9-1 by jurisdiction and Table 9-2 by specific debris fan. An 
analysis of populations at risk was conducted by applying an average household size of 2.19 (2010 
Census) to the count of residential structures with improvements in the debris fan/flow areas. This 
analysis yielded an estimated 1,110 people in the debris fan/flow areas. It should be noted that there 
are a large number of second-home owners in the County, thus the numbers may overestimate the 
residential population. To compensate for this potential overestimation the population estimates were 
adjusted using the 2010 U.S. Census estimate of a 34.4% vacancy rate for the County. The adjusted 
population of 382 is likely to be a more accurate estimate of population at risk within the debris 
fan/flow areas, since population of the City of Ouray could swell by more than 1,000 people per day, 
more than doubling its population, during these months (excluding day-trippers and campers). 
Information from the City of Ouray Community Plan suggests that peak population in the City could 
approximate 3,000 people, including all overnight visitors and day visitors. Lodging-related tax revenues 
that could be lost to the City if a serious flood kept tourists away could be as high as $27,000 per month. 

   311



Table 9-1 Debris Fan and Flow Vulnerability by Jurisdiction 

Jurisdiction Occupancy 
Type 

Building 
Count 

Building 
Improved 

Actual Value 

Estimated 
Content Value Total Value Loss 

Estimate*** 

Community 
Pop. 

Estimate* 

Community 
Vacancy Rate 

Adjusted 
Pop.** 

City of Ouray 

Commercial 78 $24,893,460 $24,893,460 $49,786,920 $12,446,730   
Exempt 1 $250,710 $250,710 $501,420 $125,355   

Residential 387 $64,481,600 $32,240,800 $96,722,400 $24,180,600 848 292 
Unknown 4 $553,360 $553,360 $1,106,720 $276,680   

Vacant Land 1 $315,360 $0 $315,360 $78,840   
Total 471 $90,494,490 $57,938,330 $148,432,820 $37,108,205 848 292 

Unincorporated 

Agriculture 5 $1,620,930 $1,620,930 $3,241,860 $810,465   
Commercial 4 $851,230 $851,230 $1,702,460 $425,615   
Residential 120 $22,585,650 $11,292,825 $33,878,475 $8,469,619 263 90 

Total 129 $25,057,810 $13,764,985 $38,822,795 $9,705,699 263 90 
Grand Total  600 $115,552,300 $71,703,315 $187,255,615 $46,813,904 1,110 382 

*Average household size is 2.19 based on 2010 U.S. Census 
**Based on vacancy rate of 34.4% based on 2010 U.S. Census 
***Loss estimate = 25% 
 
Table 9-2 Improved Structures within Named Debris Fans 

Name Building 
Count 

Building 
Improved 

Actual Value 

Estimated 
Content Value Total Value Loss 

Estimate*** 
Community Pop. 

Estimate* 

Community 
Vacancy Rate 

Adjusted Pop.** 
Cascade and Portland Creek Fan 373 $71,110,940 $48,076,820 $119,187,760 $29,796,940 646 222 

Skyrocket Creek Fan 43 $9,509,700 $5,892,295 $15,401,995 $3,850,499 83 29 
Bridalveil Creek Fan 39 $6,768,860 $3,990,200 $10,759,060 $2,689,765 72 25 

Oak Creek Fan 36 $7,234,060 $3,812,710 $11,046,770 $2,761,693 77 26 
Corbett Creek Fan 32 $4,729,710 $2,364,855 $7,094,565 $1,773,641 70 24 
Cutler Creek Fan 28 $6,929,660 $3,594,225 $10,523,885 $2,630,971 59 20 

Fan 5 12 $1,573,860 $786,930 $2,360,790 $590,198 26 9 
Dexter Creek Fan 2 $197,780 $98,890 $296,670 $74,168 4 2 

Fan 2 - - - - - - - 
Fan 3 - - - - - - - 

   312



Name Building 
Count 

Building 
Improved 

Actual Value 

Estimated 
Content Value Total Value Loss 

Estimate*** 
Community Pop. 

Estimate* 

Community 
Vacancy Rate 

Adjusted Pop.** 
Fan 4 - - - - - - - 
Fan 6 - - - - - - - 

Rotary Park Fan aka Fan 1 - - - - - - - 
Total 565 $108,054,570 $68,616,925 $176,671,495 $44,167,874 1,038 357 

*Average household size is 2.19 based on 2010 U.S. Census 
**Based on vacancy rate of 34.4% based on 2010 U.S. Census 
***Loss estimate = 25% 
Sources: FEMA’s Flood Insurance Rate Map, Ouray County Assessor’s Office 

   313



9.3. Drought 
9.3.1. Previous Occurrences 

Significant previous occurrences of drought prior to the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Plan are 
described below. 

Southwestern Colorado and Ouray County were impacted by the multi-year drought that began in 2000 
and continued into 2006. The summer of 2002 was particularly severe and negatively affected local 
agriculture and irrigation. The wildfires that burned that summer had a negative impact on the air 
quality in the region. 

The 2010-2013 drought impacted Ouray County as well. In 2012 Ouray County was included as a primary 
county in the USDA drought declaration S3260 for drought, high winds, and excessive heat. It was 
included as a contiguous county in May 2013 for declaration S3548 for drought, high winds, wildfire, 
excessive heat, and insects, and as a primary county in June 2013 for declaration S3530 for drought, high 
winds, wildfire, excessive heat, and insects. 

During 2012, the drought threatened the City of Ouray’s municipal water supply. Downstream users 
with more senior water rights put a call on the City to curtail its water usage. This also happened in 
2002. The City was attempting to acquire and repair the Red Mountain ditch to supplement its water 
supply. An augmentation plan was also in development to address this issue.77 

The 2010-2013 drought also affected Ouray County’s tourism and recreation sector. Colorado’s ski 
industry suffered economic losses due to the low snowpack and drought conditions in 2011 and 2012. 
Colorado Ski Country USA (CSCUSA) reported a decrease of 11.4 % in skier visits during the 2011-12 
season as compared to the previous ski season. Climate data indicates that precipitation on Colorado’s 
Western Slope for the 2011-12 winter was 43% below average, with the second warmest March on 
record. Statewide, the snowpack was 54% of average in April 2012. 

9.4. Earthquake 
9.4.1. Previous Occurrences  

Previous occurrences of earthquakes in Ouray County are described below. 

• May 2, 2013—Two small earthquakes centered east of Ridgway Reservoir occurred at 7:11am 
and 7:16am. The first earthquake had a magnitude of 2.9 and the second had a magnitude of 
2.7. According to the Planning Team an abandoned house near Highway 24 suffered some minor 
damage from these events. 

• November 21, 2006—Magnitude 3.3, near intersection of Montrose, San Miguel, and Ouray 
county lines, no damage 

• January 17, 1994—Ridgway, Magnitude 2.8, Intensity unknown 
• November 22, 1989—Ouray 
• November 19, 1989—Ridgway 
• April 4, 1967—Montrose 

77 http://www.watchnewspapers.com/view/full_story/18539617/article-Water-Call-Threatens-Ouray%E2%80%99s-Municipal- 
Supply?instance=home_news_bullets 

   314



• March 17, 1962—Ridgway Area, Magnitude 3.0, Intensity unknown 
• February 5, 1962—Ridgway-Montrose, Intensity V 
• November 12, 1960—Magnitude unknown, no damage 
• October 11, 1960—Montrose-Ridgway, Intensity VI, M 5.5; this earthquake was one of the 

largest historic earthquakes to occur in Colorado. Intensity VI damage was reported in Cimarron, 
Lake City, Montrose, Ophir, Ouray, Placerville, Powderhorn, Ridgway, and Telluride. Plaster, 
chimneys, and windows were cracked in many of these locations. Perhaps the hardest hit was 
Montrose, where a foundation was cracked in three places. 

• November 11, 1913—Ridgway Area, Intensity VI; this quake was strong at Montrose, Ouray, and 
Telluride, and that objects were thrown from shelves and rocks rolled down cliffs at Ouray. 
Ridgway was hardest hit in the area and that the quake centered near Portland, about 10 km 
south of Ridgway. Pictures fell from walls, dishes were broken, and the Ridgway school ceiling 
was damaged during the earthquake. Similar types of damage were reported over a wide area. 

• August 3, 1897—Ridgway, Intensity V; felt violently in Ridgway 

The following describes previous earthquake events in neighboring counties: 

Montrose County: 

• March 4, 2019 – Magnitude 4.5 event approximately 7 miles southeast of the Town of Paradox. 
The earthquake was felt across southwest Colorado and southeast Utah, however, no damages 
were reported. 

• April 4, 1967—Magnitude 4.5, Intensity unknown 

San Miguel County: 

• September 13-15, 1994—Norwood 
• February 3, 1970—South of Norwood 
• January 1, 1894—Telluride, Intensity IV 

Hinsdale County: 

• August 3, 1955—Lake City, Intensity VI 
 

9.5. Flooding  
9.5.1. Previous Occurrences 

Table 9-3 describes previous flooding events in Ouray County from 1909 to April 2019 based on the NCEI 
Storm Events Database and previous hazard mitigation plans. 

Table 9-3 Ouray County Previous Flooding Events, 1909-2019 

Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

Ouray August 
1909 Flood $50,000 

This flood on Portland and Cascade creeks 
impacted the City of Ouray heavily. The 
portion of the City adjacent to Portland 
Creek channel that extends east and west 

   315



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

through town between Fourth and Fifth 
streets was damaged the worst. Damage 
was estimated at $50,000 in 1909 dollars. 

Ouray 
County July 1927 Flood $40,000 

This flood washed out the highway and 
railway between Ouray and Ridgway, and 
submerged the power company station a 
foot or more. Simultaneous flooding 
occurred on Canyon, Skyrocket, Cascade, 
Corbett, and Dexter Creeks. Damage was 
estimated to be $25,000 to $40,000 in 1927 
dollars 

Ouray July 1929 Flood $150,000 

The most devastating flood hit Ouray as a 
result of three consecutive days of heavy 
rainfall. 50 to 60 houses in Ouray were 
impacted by water and debris, and the 
Ouray Power Company was under about 
three feet of water. Several bridges were 
washed away and roads closed. A significant 
flood and debris flow descended Skyrocket 
creek in the City of Ouray and filled the hot 
springs pool with mud and debris (Source: 
City of Ouray). The event closed the pool, 
which is a significant revenue generator for 
the City, during the busy tourist season. 
Damage was estimated at $150,000 in 1929 
dollars. 

Ouray July 1965 Flash 
Flood $20,292 

A cloudburst high up Portland and Cascade 
Creeks washed down tons of rocks, trees, 
and mud from the mountainsides east of 
Ouray. Both creeks became plugged with 
debris in town, spreading water through the 
City and flooding several homes. The next 
day another storm caused more flooding on 
Portland Creek, affecting homes that had 
previously escaped damage. Damage from 
the storms was considerable, and Ouray 
received $20,292 for the repair of the 
flumes and disaster relief from the Federal 
Office of Emergency Preparedness. 

Ouray July 1973 Flash 
Flood 

 This flash flood resulted after nearly an inch 
of rain fell in half an hour. Heavy runoff in 

   316



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

Cascade Creek ultimately clogged the flume 
near the Uncompahgre River, backing up 
debris 300 feet to the Main Street overpass. 
Vacant lots received the worst of the 
flooding and debris. 

Ouray Summer 
1981 Flood  

Extensive flooding and debris flows 
impacted the City of Ouray from the 
Cascade Creek and Portland flume. Minor 
property damage occurred to homes and 
businesses and some bridges needed to be 
replaced. Main Street was closed. The event 
occurred during the busy summer tourist 
season and took days to clean up and 
reopen some businesses (Source: City of 
Ouray). 

Ouray Summer 
1982 Flood  

Extensive flooding and debris flows 
impacted the City of Ouray from the 
Cascade Creek and Portland flume. Minor 
property damage occurred to homes and 
businesses and some bridges needed to be 
replaced. Main Street was closed. The event 
occurred during the busy summer tourist 
season and took days to clean up and 
reopen some businesses (Source: City of 
Ouray). 

Ouray 
County 

Spring 
1984 Flood $59,024 

Western Colorado received a Presidential 
Disaster Declaration in 1984 after one of the 
most severe and extensive snowmelts in the 
history of Colorado that spring. Widespread 
flood and landslide damage on the Western 
Slope impacted populated areas causing 
damage to roads and bridges, public 
facilities, and agricultural lands. Damage 
totaled over $29 million dollars. Ouray 
County was one of 15 counties included in 
the disaster declaration. The County 
incurred $59,024 in Public Assistance eligible 
damage, and the City of Ouray $31,280. 
According to the 1984 Western Slope 
Disaster after Action Report from the 
Colorado Division of Disaster and Emergency 
Services (Now Colorado DEM) the County 

   317



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

and City of Ouray were able to avert 
damage to public and private property using 
emergency protective measures. County 
road crews constructed a 1,000 foot levee to 
protect Highway 23 from floodwaters of the 
Uncompahgre River. Along Highway 23 near 
Coal creek a levee was constructed to 
protect the embankment and roadway from 
erosion. Heavy flood flows over the shoulder 
of Engineer Pass Road closed the road for an 
extended period of time. The City of Ouray 
prepared for the flood by increasing the 
capacity of Cascade Creek and the 
Uncompahgre River. Channel material was 
removed and deposited on the banks to 
provide protection to streambanks and 
property nearby. The City’s efforts cost 
more than $35,000 but saved thousands 
more in damage to public and private 
property. 

Ouray Spring 
1984 Flood $31,280 Same event as above 

Ouray 7/21/1998 Flash 
Flood $1,000 

A flash flood washed a large quantity of 
debris and rocks onto Camp Bird Road at six 
places and stranded eight vehicles loaded 
with tourists. 

Ouray 7/26/1998 Flash 
Flood $20,000 

Heavy rainfall caused a wall of water filled 
with boulders, logs, and sediment to race 
down Weehawken Creek, then into Canyon 
Creek, and finally into Box Canyon.  A parked 
car near the Weehawken trailhead was half 
buried in mud and a 20-foot section of 
catwalk near Box Canyon Falls was 
destroyed.  The flash flood also cut out a 
new channel near Box Canyon Falls. 

Ouray 7/28/1999 Flash 
Flood $50,000 

Flash flooding across US Highway 550 
deposited a large amount of rocks and other 
debris on the road.  A section of the road 
shoulder was washed down the cliffs to the 
river 400 feet below the road.  A crib wall 

   318



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

along the cliff which is used to reinforce the 
road was partially washed out. 

Ridgway 7/31/1999 Flash 
Flood $1,250,000 

Heavy rainfall at the headwaters of Dallas 
Creek and Pleasant Valley Creek resulted in 
flash flooding all the way downstream to 
Ridgway Reservoir.  In some areas the 
rushing water was nearly 20 feet higher 
than the normal stream flow.  The flash 
flooding damaged or destroyed several 
county bridges, destroyed a foot bridge, 
damaged about two miles of County Road 
24, flooded a few residences, damaged a 
number of outbuildings, and carried away or 
flooded several vehicles.  The water also 
flooded part of a golf course. A family was 
rescued from the loft of a barn from which 
they were trapped by the rising flood 
waters.  Miraculously, the only livestock 
fatalities were a chicken and an ostrich.  The 
USGS stream gage on Dallas Creek was 
washed away and never found.  The 
estimated peak flow of water in Dallas Creek 
was 2300 cubic feet per second (cfs), which 
is more than double the previous record 
flow of 1120 cfs previously set in August of 
1923. Rainfall measurements in the area 
ranged from 1.84 inches in Ridgway to 3.77 
inches in Pleasant Valley, most of which 
came within a two hour period. 

Ouray 8/17/1999 Flash 
Flood $1,000 

A flash flood deposited a large amount of 
rock and mud across a road at the head of 
Engineer Trail near U.S. Highway 550.  The 
road closure stranded a number of tourists 
who were traveling in Jeeps. 

Ridgway 8/30/2000 Flash 
Flood $5,000 

A slow moving thunderstorm dropped very 
heavy rainfall to the northeast of Ridgway.  
The runoff from the heavy rainfall washed 
away a portion of County Road 10 and a 
ranchers head gate. 

Ridgway 7/11/2001 Flood $0 Slow moving thunderstorms produced 
heavy rain resulting in 6 to 8 inches of water 

   319



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

running across County Road 1.  The road 
was closed temporarily due to the flooding. 

Ridgway 7/12/2001 Flood $0 
Slow moving thunderstorms caused flooding 
of small creeks after nearly 2 inches of 
rainfall. 

Ouray 7/25/2002 Flash 
Flood $0 

Heavy rainfall resulted in a mudslide which 
closed U.S. Highway 550 over the San Juan 
Mountains for about five hours. The mud 
covered both lanes up to 4 feet deep along a 
100 foot stretch of road. 

Ouray 8/13/2003 Flash 
Flood $0 

Flash flood waters deposited about a foot of 
mud on Highway 550 over Red Mountain 
Pass, which closed the highway for a while. 

Ouray 8/28/2003 Flash 
Flood $15,000 

A wall of water 2 to 3 feet deep and 200 feet 
wide came down the Corbett Creek 
drainage.  The flash flood carried numerous 
large logs and boulders up to 4 feet in 
diameter.  The flash flood resulted in the 
creek forming a new channel about a fifth of 
a mile away from the original creek bed 
which became clogged with logs and 
boulders.  1 to 2 feet of mud, boulders, logs, 
and other debris were deposited on a 200 
foot stretch of County Road 17.   Mud and 
water flowed into the basement of a 
residence in the Whispering Pines sub-
division.  The flash flood also carved out a 15 
foot deep gorge along another county road.   
Additionally, several inches of mud and 
water flowed across Highway 550. 

Ouray 8/10/2005 Flash 
Flood $15,000 

Runoff from heavy rain producing 
thunderstorms caused flooding around 
Ridgway. Highway 550 was closed for a 
period of time and a pedestrian bridge 
spanning the Uncompahgre River in Ridgway 
was damaged. 

Ouray 8/11/2005 Flash 
Flood $15,000 

Heavy rain producing thunderstorms caused 
flash flooding in the town of Ouray. Flooding 
from Sky Rocket Creek resulted in water and 
mud 1 foot deep for a 1/2 mile stretch along 
Highway 550. Highway 550 was closed from 

   320



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

the hot springs pool to Timber Ridge 
Campground in Ouray. The visitor center 
had some water in it and lots of mud was 
reported in some parking lots. 

Ouray 7/28/2008 Flash 
Flood $4,000 

Heavy rain on the mountains adjacent to the 
southeast part of the town of Ouray 
produced flash flooding on Oak Creek and 
Canyon Creek.  The wall of water was six 
feet deep at the Box Canyon geothermal 
water plant where sediment got into the 
water line.  Sediment carried by the  water 
line was in inch deep at the Ouray Hot 
Springs.  The Hot Springs had to be closed 
around 4 PM MDT and remained closed for 
the rest of that day to clean out the 
sediment.  Six feet of South Pinecrest Road 
was washed out, and a culvert under that 
road was damaged.  Debris up to a foot-and-
a-half deep was deposited on other roads. 

Ouray 8/9/2008 Flash 
Flood $80,000 

A flash flood came down Corbett Creek 
leaving a debris fan several hundred yards 
long, 300 feet wide and five feet deep.  A 
house on Whispering Pines Drive sustained 
extensive damage to the foundation and 
exterior, with the deck having been ripped 
off.  Another house on Chipmunk Way had 
debris up to a half foot deep into the 
basement and garage, and a deposit of 
debris up to 2 feet deep on the deck and 
against the house. A family of hikers on the 
Dallas Trail became stranded when their 
parked car was washed away.  Their car was 
a total loss.  Another car was carried away 
from a driveway and dropped over a short 
cliff. A boulder the size of a small car fell 
onto nearby Highway 550.  County Road 17 
was washed out and another nearby private 
road was washed out in places. The flash 
flood resulted in Corbett Creek carving out a 
new channel.  A local official said this was 
the worst flash flood he had seen in that 
area since 1991. 

   321



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

Ouray 7/27/2010 Flash 
Flood $100,000 

Heavy rainfall caused flash flooding in the 
area of Dexter Creek and Skyrocket Creek 
north of Ouray, as well as along Cascade 
Creek in Ouray.  In some sections of Dexter 
Creek, the flash flood waters were nearly 20 
feet deep.  A section of road was washed 
out and the remaining buildings from the 
abandoned Old Maid Mine and town, built 
in the late 1800s, were completely 
obliterated with only some foundations 
remaining. An enormous amount of debris 
flowed through and collected in sections of 
Dexter Creek, which is the main water 
source for many residents in Ouray County.  
In particular, log jams and boulders the size 
of large trucks clogged a quarter-mile 
section of Dexter Creek, filling the creek up 
to 20 feet deep from the original creek bed 
elevation.   Skyrocket Creek flowed up to a 
foot deep across Highway 550 as the 
highway culvert was filled beyond capacity.  
A motel on the west side of the highway 
experienced flooding in the parking lot and 
to some lower level motel rooms.  Skyrocket 
Creek deposited about 8000 cubic yards of 
debris, mostly rocks and boulders, in a catch 
basin just above the Uncompahgre River.  
About 2000 cubic yards of debris filled up a 
catch basin near Highway 550 just before 
Cascade Creek dumps into the 
Uncompahgre River.  The Uncompahgre 
River gage near Ridgway measured a stage 
jump of nearly 2 feet that evening due to 
the upstream inflow from the flooding 
creeks.  Radar storm total rainfall estimates 
over the mountains near Ouray ranged from 
1.5 to 1.75 inches, most of which fell within 
60 minutes. 

Red Mtn 8/2/2011 Flash 
Flood $0 

Flash floods deposited 1 to 2 feet of mud, 
rocks, and other debris onto Highway 550 
on the north side of Red Mountain Pass.  

   322



Location Date Event 
Type Damages Description 

Highway 550 was closed until crews were 
able to clear the road. 

Portland 8/6/2013 Flash 
Flood $0 

Heavy rainfall along the Canyon Creek 
drainage area forced water and debris a foot 
deep over County Road 17 near Ouray. 

Ouray 8/28/2013 Flash 
Flood $0 

Oak Creek and Canyon Creek experienced 
flash floods due to heavy runoff from nearby 
mountains. Roads on the west side of Ouray 
were impassable due to the rising and fast 
moving water. 

Campbird 7/20/2017 Flash 
Flood $50,000 

Heavy rainfall resulted in flash flooding and 
mudslides southwest of the town of Ouray.  
The costliest flash flood in the impacted 
area tore up a section of County Road 361 
where new construction had just been 
completed.  The crib wall, culverts, and 
other cement road structures were 
damaged beyond repair.  Additionally, 
several culverts along County Road 361 
became clogged by debris. Flash flooding 
with tons of debris deposits also occurred 
further down on Yankee Boy Road where 26 
mudslides occurred.  Additional mudslides 
and flooding also came down across 
Corkscrew Road. Radar estimated rainfall 
was between 0.50 to 1.00 inches at the 
time. 

29  29 $1,956,596  
 

9.6. Landslide/Rockfall 
9.6.1. Previous Occurrences 

Detailed descriptions of recorded landslide and rockfall events in Ouray County are provided in Table 9-4 
below. 

   323



Table 9-4 Ouray County Previous Landslide/Rockfall Events, 1984-2019 

Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

1984 Landslide County 
Road 17 

   
Landslides and debris covered County Road 
17 in numerous places during the spring 
runoff that year, creating access problems 
for residents. 

1984 
Western 
Slope 
Disaster 
after Action 
Report from 
the 
Colorado 
Division of 
Disaster and 
Emergency 
Services 
(Now 
Colorado 
OEM) 

2005 Rockfall Camp 
Bird Road 

 1  A motorist was killed by a rockfall on Camp 
Bird Road in 2005 

 

2005 Rockfall 
East 

Riverside 
Slide 

   A semi-truck was hit by a boulder near the 
East Riverside Slide 

 

2008 Rockfall Camp 
Bird Road 

 1   Planning 
Team 

2012 Rockfall Camp 
Bird Road 

 1   Planning 
Team 

2012 Rockfall Ridgway 1   A person was injured by rockfall at the base 
of the coxcomb in Ridgway 

Planning 
Team 

   324



Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

unknown Rockfall 
Mile 

Marker 
90 

   
A rock broke the rear window of a State 
Patrol car parked near mile marker 90 during 
a rescue of a vehicle that went off the road 
at that location 

 

1/12/2014 Rockfall 
Red 

Mountain 
Pass 

  $1,000,000 

A massive rockslide that began on January 
12, 2014 closed Highway 550 at Red 
Mountain Pass. Rocks continued to fall for 
several days after the slide first began. Rocks 
were piled up eight feet deep in one spot on 
Highway 550, and a power line was severed. 
The event was believed to be caused by a 
freeze-thaw pattern, rare for that time of 
year. The pass was closed for roughly one 
month while CDOT crews worked to repair 
the damages and mitigate future rockslides 
in that area. Local businesses in Ouray 
County claimed economic losses of up to 
60% while the pass was closed, and traffic 
was forced to take a 201-mile detour. 
Colorado Governor John Hickenlooper signed 
an executive order on March 3, 2014 
declaring the event an emergency disaster.  
Repairs costed over $1 million. Mitigation 
measures included rock scaling and rockfall 
panels that had to be placed by helicopters. 
In May 2014, the Mayor of the City of Ouray 
declared an “Economic Emergency” for the 
City due to the extreme economic hardships 

 

   325



Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

caused by Red Mountain Pass rockfall 
closure. 

   326



Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

Mar-16 Rockfall City of 
Ouray    A rockfall totaled a house in the City of 

Ouray 

County 
Emergency 
Manager 

   327



Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

Nov-18 Rockfall City of 
Ouray 

   

A rockfall occurred in the City of Ouray in 
November 2018 that impacted a home and 
caused flooding concerns in a drainage ditch. 
Two boulders each “the size of a 
Volkswagen” came down the cliff that the 
couple’s log home has been sitting on since 
1975, one on each side of their home, 
narrowly missing on both sides. One boulder 
hit their motor home, turning it on its side 
while tearing a giant hole “just like a rocket” 
all the way through it as it came to rest 
further down the hill. The other boulder 
rushed down the other side of the home, 
taking with it large trees split from about 
waist-high and completely eradicating the 
snow shed built against the house. It also 
damaged the electric tram and stairs used to 
access the home 

Ouray 
County 
Emergency 
Manager 

   328



Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

Mar-19 Rockfall County 
Road 17 

  $27,000 

A massive rockslide caused significant 
damage to County Road 17, approximately 
three miles north of the City of Ouray. Rocks 
the size of two large SUVs landed on the 
surface of the road above the gas main that 
supplies the City of Ouray and Whispering 
Pines neighborhood. The current gas line is 
suspected to be damaged; however, there 
are no leaks or disruption of service 
identified at this time.  As of April 2019, the 
road remains closed until further notice. 
County Officials, emergency officials, and 
Black Hills Energy have been working to 
determine the best solution to re-open 
County Road 17 in a safe manner. County 
Road 17 is the only alternative access out of 
Ouray. As of March 30, 2019, a cost of about 
$27,000 was estimated for strictly the 
engineering work to be done in the area, 
which doesn’t include any costs related to 
rock removal and mitigation. 

 

   329



Date Landslide/  
Rockfall Location Injuries Deaths Damages Description Data Source 

Aug-19 Rockfall City of 
Ouray   $8,000 

A rockfall landed on the catwalk and 
geothermal line that supplies the Ouray Hot 
Springs pool. An initial damage assessment is 
a little over $8,000 in damage 

County 
Emergency 
Manager 

Totals 12  1 3 $1,035,000   
 

   330



9.7. Wildfire 
9.7.1. Previous Occurrences 

Detailed descriptions of notable wildfires in Ouray County prior to 2014 are described below. 

NCDC recorded three wildfire events in Ouray County. The Red Creek Fire occurred on June 27, 2006 
about eight miles northeast of Ridgway. The fire consumed 350 acres of timber and resulted in the 
closure of trails in a wilderness area. Smoke from the fire impacted communities to the north, including 
Montrose. The second fire began on May 22, 2010. Around 2:30 pm on the afternoon of Saturday, May 
22, strong winds downed a power line which sparked a wildfire near the border of San Miguel and 
Montrose Counties along Good Enough Road. The fire spread rapidly with dry conditions and very strong 
southwest winds in place. Highway 145 was closed for a period of time on May 5th due to the fire. 
Portions of the San Miguel River were also closed due to the wildfire hazard. The fire continued for 
several days and eventually burned through roughly 2,500 acres of the Uncompahgre National Forest 
and nearly 430 acres of BLM land. There were no injuries or personal property damage reported, but the 
estimated cost of fighting the fire was $1,500,000. The third fire in the NCDC database began on October 
9, 2010. A controlled burn at a farm became a wildfire when breezy winds developed and blew embers 
beyond the planned burn area. A 100-foot by 50-foot area of baled hay burned, and a number of 
vehicles and farm implements were destroyed. Winds gusts in the west-central valleys of Colorado were 
measured at 20 to 25 mph. A firefighter incurred minor injuries. 

Additionally, the Tappan Fire began by lightning on July 3, 2004 and burned 80 acres along the 
Ouray/Montrose county line.  It was fought by resources from BLM, Log Hill Fire and Montrose Fire and 
burned for 5 days.78 

The Log Hill Mesa FPD estimated that they deal with four to five wildfires a year in their district. They are 
typically small but are capable of causing a catastrophic event.  

The 2013 fire season brought several smaller fires to Ouray County, most of them caused by lightning. 
On June 17, 2013, BLM, Log Hill and Montrose fire crews worked together to put out a fire roughly three 
acres in size at the Mackenzie Butte area. At 6:25 pm on June 23, 2013, Ouray Fire was paged to a 
structure fire at the Camp Bird Mine with surrounding trees catching fire. According to Adam Kunz of 
Ouray Fire (Former Chief), the fire had spread out about 5 acres. Crews from USFS, Ouray Fire 
Department, Ridgway Fire District, Ouray County Sheriff, Ouray PD, Ouray County EMS, and Ouray 
County Communications all responded. Crews were able to get the fire contained to about 1 acre. 

The West Fork Fire Complex began June 5th, 2013 in Mineral and Archuleta counties. The West Fork 
Complex consisted of three lightning-caused wildfires: West Fork, Windy Pass, and Papoose. The fires 
were severe, burning over 100,000 acres and causing air quality issues in Ouray County. Roughly 1,500 
people were displaced. Tourism in southwest Colorado suffered with evacuations, road closures, and 
closures of the Rio Grande National Forest and Weminuche Wilderness. On July 2, 2013 between 
7:00am and 9:00am, six different fires were sparked by a lightning storm. Crews worked very quickly, 
and by 11:00am all of the fires were put out. The largest of those fires only consumed a few trees. At 
approximately 2:00pm that same day, Ouray Fire was paged to smoke investigation at Ironton Park (Mt 

78 Local Planning Team 

   331



Hayden). That fire was a few acres in size. BLM/USFS crews and Ouray Fire crews responded to the 
incident. 

The 2002 wildfire season in Colorado was the worst on record. It began in April and continued until early 
fall, with the peak activity in June and July when several large and damaging fires burned simultaneously 
across the state. Southwest Colorado had its share of fires and close calls. Most damaging was the 
Missionary Ridge fire in nearby La Plata County that resulted in 70,485 acres burned, 56 structures lost, 
and 52 injuries. Ouray County was largely spared from fires in 2002, but experienced haze and air quality 
issues from fires elsewhere in southwest Colorado. 

9.8. Windstorm 
9.8.1. Previous Occurrences 

The following Table 9-5 describes previous wind events in Ouray County from 1998 to April 2019, 
according to NCEI data. 

Table 9-5 Wind Events in Ouray County, November 1998 to April 2019 

Location Date Type 
Wind 
Speed 
(knots) 

Damages Event Narrative Episode Narrative 

Uncompahgre 
Plateau (Zone) 11/17/1998 High 

Wind 55 $0  

Strong winds associated 
with a Pacific trough in 
conjunction with an 
upper level jet stream 
produced sustained 
winds of 40 to 50 MPH 
and wind gusts in excess 
of 60 MPH mainly over 
mountain ridges.  Some 
of the stronger gusts 
included 96 MPH (83 
knots) at Snowmass, 93 
MPH at Telluride, 90 MPH 
at Red Mountain Pass, 64 
MPH at Huntman Mesa, 
and 60 MPH at Gothic.  At 
elevations below the 
7000-foot level in 
northwest Colorado, wind 
gusts in excess of 50 MPH 
were common on 
exposed ridges. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

11/17/1998 High 
Wind 78 $0  

Strong winds associated 
with a Pacific trough in 
conjunction with an 
upper level jet stream 
produced sustained 
winds of 40 to 50 MPH 
and wind gusts in excess 
of 60 MPH mainly over 

   332



Location Date Type 
Wind 
Speed 
(knots) 

Damages Event Narrative Episode Narrative 

mountain ridges.  Some 
of the stronger gusts 
included 96 MPH (83 
knots) at Snowmass, 93 
MPH at Telluride, 90 MPH 
at Red Mountain Pass, 64 
MPH at Huntman Mesa, 
and 60 MPH at Gothic.  At 
elevations below the 
7000-foot level in 
northwest Colorado, wind 
gusts in excess of 50 MPH 
were common on 
exposed ridges. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

1/25/1999 High 
Wind 106 $0  

A strong southwest flow 
aloft resulted in very 
strong winds and 
blizzard-like conditions in 
the western San Juan 
Mountains and on the 
Grand Mesa.  Measured 
peak gusts included 70 
MPH (61 knots) at 
Powderhorn Ski Area, 83 
MPH (72 knots) at the top 
of Telluride Ski Area, 95 
MPH (83 knots) on Red 
Mountain Pass, and 122 
MPH (106 knots) on 
Mount Abrams. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains / E 
Ouray / X SW 
Gunnison / N 
Hinsdale / SE 
San Miguel 

(Zone) 

3/31/1999 High 
Wind 95 $0  

A strong southwest flow 
ahead of a Pacific trough 
produced wind gusts in 
excess of 70 MPH in the 
western San Juan 
Mountains of southwest 
Colorado.  Reported peak 
gusts include 109 MPH 
(95 knots) on Mount 
Abrams, 84 MPH at Red 
Mountain Pass, 82 MPH 
at the top of Telluride Ski 
Area, and 73 MPH on 
Prospect Ridge. 

Uncompahgre 
Plateau and 
Dallas Divide 

(Zone) 

4/18/2000 High 
Wind 64 $0   

   333



Location Date Type 
Wind 
Speed 
(knots) 

Damages Event Narrative Episode Narrative 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

4/18/2000 High 
Wind 80 $0   

Uncompahgre 
Plateau and 
Dallas Divide 

(Zone) 

11/29/2000 High 
Wind 60 $10,000  

Strong winds associated 
with a cold front passage 
destroyed a galvanized 
steel garage at a 
residence near Unaweep 
Pass and tore the shingles 
off a trailer home at 
another residence about 
5 miles away.  The garage 
measured 25 feet by 36 
feet and was blown about 
200 feet away where it 
was stopped by trees. 

Uncompahgre 
Plateau and 
Dallas Divide 

(Zone) 

4/20/2001 High 
Wind 51 $0   

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

4/20/2001 High 
Wind 58 $0   

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

5/21/2002 High 
Wind 83 $0  

Strong gradient winds 
gusting in excess of 80 
knots snapped off several 
large ponderosa pine 
trees and blew them onto 
US Highway 550 just 
south of Ouray.  The 
highway was blocked 
until the trees could be 
removed.  The strong 
winds also blew rocks off 
the cliffs above the 
highway and onto the 
highway. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

4/2/2003 Strong 
Wind 69 $5,000   

Uncompahgre 
Plateau and 
Dallas Divide 

(Zone) 

9/17/2003 Strong 
Wind 51 $2,000  

Strong winds developed 
across western Colorado 
as a dry cold front moved 
through the area.  A 60-
foot-tall tree with a 4 foot 
diameter trunk was 

   334



Location Date Type 
Wind 
Speed 
(knots) 

Damages Event Narrative Episode Narrative 

toppled by the wind in 
the Grand Valley.  Minor 
wind damage also 
occurred in other areas. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

5/11/2004 Strong 
Wind 55 $500   

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

2/15/2006 Strong 
Wind 83 $6,000   

Uncompahgre 
Plateau and 
Dallas Divide 

(Zone) 

2/15/2006 Strong 
Wind 65 $2,000   

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

3/26/2007 Strong 
Wind 49 $3,000 

Strong southwest 
winds buffeted 
the Northwest 
San Juan 
Mountains with 
numerous gusts 
to near 50. Locally 
stronger gusts 
included 86 mph 
and 80 mph at 
Mount Abrams 
and Bald 
Mountain, 
respectively. 
Numerous trees 
were blown down 
or snapped off at 
high elevations 
above Telluride. 

Strong southwest 
gradient flow ahead of a 
cold front produced 
strong winds across most 
of western Colorado with 
damaging winds in some 
areas. 

Uncompahgre 
Plateau and 
Dallas Divide 

(Zone) 

6/6/2007 Strong 
Wind 49 $2,000 

Widespread wind 
gusts of 40 to 55 
mph and locally 
stronger gusts 
occurred over the 
Uncompahgre 
Plateau. 
Hundreds of trees 
were blown down 
along a 30 mile 
stretch of Divide 
Road. 

A strong southwest flow 
ahead of a cold front 
produced damaging 
winds across portions of 
western Colorado. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 2/16/2011 High 

Wind 91 $0 Very strong winds 
occurred across 

A strong southwest flow 
produced very strong 

   335



Location Date Type 
Wind 
Speed 
(knots) 

Damages Event Narrative Episode Narrative 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

the area, with 
gusts generally 
ranging from 50 
to 90 mph.  
Locally stronger 
gusts included 
105 mph at the 
top of Telluride 
Ski Area. 

surface winds in the 
mountains of southwest 
Colorado. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

12/31/2011 High 
Wind 86 $0 

Wind gusts of 50 
to 80 mph were 
measured across 
the area.  Even 
stronger winds 
were measured at 
some high 
elevation 
locations, 
including 99 mph 
on Mount 
Abrahms. 

A Pacific trough with an 
intense pressure gradient 
produced strong winds in 
some areas of western 
Colorado. 

Ouray County 5/28/2013 

Thund
erstor

m 
Wind 

61 $60,000 

A mobile home 
was rolled a few 
times and 
destroyed by 
severe 
thunderstorm 
outflow winds. A 
pole barn also lost 
part of its roof. 
No injuries were 
reported. 

A thunderstorm 
produced destructive 
outflow winds near 
Colona on the afternoon 
of May 28th. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

12/21/2014 High 
Wind 102 $0 

Wind speeds 
above 10,000 feet 
varied from 50 
mph to 75 mph.  
The highest gust 
reported was at 
Mt Abrams with 
117 mph. 

The jet stream moved 
over the San Juan 
Mountains and caused a 
prolonged period of high 
wind gusts.  Mt Abrams 
reported a maximum 
wind gust of 117 mph 
while Eagle Mountain 
reported a wind gust of 
100 mph. 

Northwestern 
San Juan 

Mountains 
(Zone) 

2/18/2016 High 
Wind 92 $0 

Winds gusted 
from 40 mph to 
75 mph across the 
zone. At 1500, a 
peak wind gust of 
106 mph was 
measured at an 

A strong cold front 
moving through the 
region caused gusty 
winds to develop across 
much of western 
Colorado. 

   336



Location Date Type 
Wind 
Speed 
(knots) 

Damages Event Narrative Episode Narrative 

automated 
weather station 
near Telluride Ski 
Area. Numerous 
trees were blown 
down and 
Telluride Ski Area 
closed a total of 4 
lifts by 1430. At 
1500, the ski 
resort closed due 
to the high winds. 

Total 22   $90,500   

 

The following text describes further detail on notable wind events in the County. 

• December 31, 2011—Wind gusts of 50 to 80 mph were measured across parts of western 
Colorado. Even stronger winds were measured at some high elevation locations, including 99 
mph on Mount Abrams. 

• March 26, 2007—Strong southwest winds buffeted the Northwest San Juan Mountains with 
numerous gusts to near 50 mph. Locally stronger gusts included 86 mph and 80 mph at Mount 
Abrams and Bald Mountain, respectively. Numerous trees were blown down or snapped off at 
high elevations above Telluride. 

• May 11, 2004—Gradient winds ahead of a cold front gusted to 60 mph or greater, mainly at 
mountain locations. Tree limb damage was reported at several locations. 

• May 21, 2002—Strong gradient winds gusting in excess of 80 knots snapped off several large 
ponderosa pine trees and blew them onto U.S. Highway 550 just south of Ouray. The highway 
was blocked until the trees could be removed. The strong winds also blew rocks off cliffs onto 
the highway below. 

• April 18, 2000—An approaching cold front induced strong winds across western Colorado. Gusts 
of 50 to 60 miles per hour were common. The strong winds downed many trees and a number 
of power poles in the region. Several vehicles were smashed or damaged by fallen trees. Several 
mobile homes were destroyed when they were blown from their moorings. Many houses and 
businesses sustained damage, mostly as a result of being struck by fallen trees or by having the 
roofs blown off. Within one particular community in La Plata County, 20 houses were damaged. 
Electrical power and telephone service were disrupted in many areas for up to several hours. 
Many controlled burns became out-of-control fires. 

• January 28, 2008 - A weather station on the ridge between Red Mountain 3 and McMillan Peak 
recorded wind of 102 mph and on February 8, 2008 it recorded wind of 96 mph. Another 
weather station in Senator Beck basin west of Highway 550 recorded a peak over 130 mph, but 
it is in a location where terrain probably affected the wind speed. 

• May 28, 2013 - A suspected microburst incident occurred northwest of Colona. The Ouray 
County Sheriff’s Office responded to a report of damage from a tornado. The responding officer 
found a mobile home that had rolled over and landed on its roof. Other damages included 
shingles blown off a roof and a roof ripped off of a pole barn. No one witnessed or heard a 

   337



tornado, so it was suspected that the damages may have been caused by a microburst instead. 
A tornado was reported on June 3, 2013 in Montrose County, so tornadoes are technically 
possible in the area but highly unlikely. 

9.9. Hazardous Materials Incident 
9.9.1. Previous Occurrences 

Table 9-6 describes hazardous material releases previous to the 2015 Ouray County Hazard Mitigation 
Plan.79 

Table 9-6 Ouray County Hazardous Material Releases Previous Events 

Incident 
Date 

Description of 
Incident 

Type of 
Incident 

Nearest 
City Location Medium 

Affected Materials 

9/10/2008 

The caller reported 
a milky 
discoloration in a 
creek. The caller 
suspected that 
employees of a 
local mine were 
dumping products 
into the creek. 

Fixed Ouray Governor Basin, 
Camper Road Water Unknown 

2/2008 

A truck went off 
the road and 
rolled, spilling a 
small quantity of 
methanol. 

Mobile Ouray On Highway 550 Land Methanol 

11/11/2007 

Caller stated there 
was a toxic cloud in 
the area due to 
materials being 
burned by an 
unknown 
company. Caller 
stated this was a 
controlled fire 
that had been 
going on for four 
days. 

Fixed Ouray 
Highway 550, 
north end of 

town 
Air 

Paints, 
Plastics, 

PVC pipes, 
rubber, 

unknown 
material 

79 http://nrc.uscg.mil/Default.aspx 

   338

http://nrc.uscg.mil/Default.aspx


Incident 
Date 

Description of 
Incident 

Type of 
Incident 

Nearest 
City Location Medium 

Affected Materials 

8/15/2007 

Caller reported 
that an owner 
dumped 55-gallon 
barrels of diesel 
onto the ground 
and was burying 
metal as well. The 
owner also had 
workers washing 
out paint brushes 
in the creek. 

Fixed  Ouray 

Ruby Trust Mine 
below the 

Yankee Boy 
Basin 

Water 
Oil, fuel: 
no. 2-d 
Paint 

8/22/2005 

A vehicle accident 
caused the release 
of radioactive 
materials from a 
pickup truck that 
was carrying a DOT 
shipping container. 

Mobile Ouray 
Mile marker 89 

on 
Highway 550 

Soil 

Radioactive 
material 

(ir- 192, sc-
46 

& sb-124) 

5/30/2001 

A vehicle accident 
caused the release 
of asphalt from a 
tanker truck. 

Mobile Ridgway 
Mile marker 111 

on 
Highway 550 

Land Asphalt 

11/22/1993 

55-gallon drums 
fell into a lake as a 
result of a vehicle 
accident 

Mobile Ouray 
Highway 550 

summit of Red 
Mountain Pass 

Water Zinc Ash 

5/1/1990 

Dump truck / truck 
went off the road 
and rolled, spilling 
8,000 pounds of 
lead sulfide. 

Mobile Ridgway On Highway 550 Land Lead 
sulfide 

 

   339



10. Appendix D: Jurisdictional Plan Adoptions 
 
 

 

 

   340



TO: Ouray City Council 
FROM: Chris Hawkins, Community Development Coordinator 
DATE: January 2, 2020 
FOR: January 6, 2020 City Council Meeting 
SUBJECT: CEDC Appointments 

Ouray Municipal Code Section 2-14-A states: 

“At its first meeting in January, City Council shall appoint a minimum of five (5) and a 
maximum of seven (7) members to the Community Development Committee for three 
year staggered terms.  The Committee shall not have an even number of members. One 
member shall be from City management, one member shall be from the Board of 
Directors of the Ouray Chamber Resort Association, three members shall be residents of 
the City of Ouray, and two members shall be residents or business owners in the area 
served by the City of Ouray telephone prefix.” 

The CEDC currently consists only of Suzi Greco-Perry and the City Community Development 
Coordinator due to several recent resignations.  The City has three applicants that are interested 
in being on the CEDC as shown in Exhibit A including: 

1. Deedra Williams
2. Travis Cossitt
3. Lou Hart

The CEDC reviewed the three applicants and recommends they be appointed to the CEDC.  The 
Ouray Tourism Office is recommending that Dawn Glanc be appointed to fill the Resort 
Association position. 

Staff recommends that the Council pass a motion to appoint the following members to the CEDC, 
with staggered terms as noted: 

CEDC Member Term Expiration 

Deedra Williams January 2022 
Travis Cossitt January 2023 
Lou Hart January 2022 
Dawn Glance January 2023 

   341



   342

APPLICATION FOR PARTICIPATION 
ON A CITY COMMITTEE 

City of Ouray 
320 6th Avenue 

PO Box468 
Ouray, Colorado 81427 

Telephone: (970) 325 7211 FAX: (970) 325 7212 

An Equal Employment Opportunity Employer 

Thank you for your interest in applying to serve on a City Committee. Please complete the following on your 
background. This information will allow us to select and appoint a balanced membership for each of our 
committees. 

PART 1: PERSONAL DATA 

Full Name: -- -~-c:i Cu lA)l / I , fh--v7 "S 
Physical Address: ~ :l- 6 y-v, ,~ 63 
Mailing Address:Tu (dtFr:t- L 
E-Mail Address: ce;1c;;ze;!'.J/J /11 /!b'la5 @ t4'c D'.:YJ .rl • ~ 
Home Telephone Number: q 7 0 3 , ;r /.,). 7? O 
Business Telephone Number: • ~ - --,-t-~,------,,..~~------------------
P resent job title: 
Present employment is ( check one Part-time 
May we contact you at work for committee related issues? Yes No 

PART 2: BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Please write the name of the committee for which you would like to be appointed: 
,e' C--0 , I tL 7) _ 

How long have you lived in the City of Ouray? _ ____ ...__,.4--~~.c....,_..,c....L..... _ _______ _ 

What do you think are the major issues affecting our City? 
Jn,f,~&5/.4,4W..lll//L/ ~ ~-- ~,1t,t.M WtLd?.-v 

How do you envision your contribution to this co 
u/cl I l '/, 

ignature Date 

~edz-1 a;//µl'YJts 
Print Name 

If you are interested in this opportunity to serve your community, please fill out the application and return to the 
above address. For more information, please call Human Resources at 325-7062. 

X:\- StafTReferences, Resources\Fax, Fonns, Labels, Stationary\Forms Tower\Committee Application Form.doc 

hawkinsc
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A



   343

APPLICATION FOR PARTICIPATION 
ON A CITY COMMITTEE 

City of Ouray 
320 6th A venue 

PO Box468 
Ouray, Colorado 81427 

Telephone: (970)325 7211 FAX: (970) 325 7212 

An Equal Employment Opportunity Employer 

Thank you for your interest in applying to serve on a City Committee. Please complete the following on your 
background. This information will allow us to select and appoint a balanced membership for each of our 
committees. 

PART 1: PERSONAL DATA 

Full Name: ·h_, ,· f A---s + ,'t..., Coss ,' /-). 
Physical Address: (SQ ('-n,_ A: v~ ....) o~ 7 
Mailing Address: f O . fJ o½, J L) Ci I 
E-Mail Address: -, (tJS S .r tT @ CS'lS Co Lo Yl Ai) o . CO/=, 
Home Telephone Number: J o .J L/ v f q o Z.. 2 
Business Telephone Number: q 70 32,.r lJu 7 P 
Present job title: C L:e .P. Oe..-~ 0 :f IC,' c .e,;,, 
Present employment is (check one)~ Part-time 
May we contact you at work for committee related issues?@:) No 

PART 2: BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Please write the name of the committee for which you would like to be apP.ointed: 
(OMV"." v- v,; i:ic /3 lo "" 0""" .' '-- ,L)e velopv-e.i,,-,+ Cov-,.,-- I,.,__ L 

How long have you lived in the City of Ouray? __ :::ri, __ .,._~_-<--___ '1_t"-"'-· ~- f.,__ _______ _ _ _ 
What do you think are the major issues affecting our City? 
~ »de: ...... .. ,_ loch.I ,....s ~Qfi 5-v-"c.> "" .... cl--- prc)s./t~-

How do you envision your contribution to this committee? . ) ':f b d,' t..., .,_ } \...,,__j... v--'1= b ..,..S ;1,,. e S.J b c-c.. l::-S: r" ~ ..... A L /-1 J1 A-- ~ · 
(Q\l\.i--(<.t•·o..._ f-0 +-L< co,.....,.....,. ~.,...._,'i--l--) c,,. ~ '°c ;J..<.,...--.. o,..__.:._,1,- ....... -r,,,_,_,_ 

\-Q CJ,, v-~---,.. c0... c..,c! ol ue-..1- <- +-0 t~ t. t:, DC 

J!/27// 1 
Signature Date 

£v--J ,· J Co 1 ) I~ 1- f-
Print Name 

If you are interested in this opportunity to serve your community, please fill out the application and return to the 
above address. For more information, please caJl Human Resources at 325-7062. 

X:\- Staff Refcnmces, Resources\Fu, Jionns, Labels, St.ation11ry\Forms Tower\Committee Applic11.ion Fonn doc 



   344

APPLICATION FOR PARTICIPATION 
ON A CITY COMMITTEE 

City of Ouray 
320 6th Avenue 

PO Box468 
Ouray, Colorado 81427 

Telephone: (970) 325 7211 FAX: (970) 325 7212 

An Equal Employment Opportunity Employer 

Thank you for your interest in applying to serve on a City Committee. Please complete the following on your 
background. This information will allow us to select and appoint a balanced membership for each of our 
committees. 

PART 2: BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Print Name 

If you are interested in this opportunity to serve your community, please fill out the application and return to the 
above address. For more information, please call Human Resources at 325-7062. 

X:\- Staff References, Resources\Fax, Fonns, Labels, Stationary\Fonns Tower\Committee Application Fonn.doc 



________________________________________________________________________________ 

DISCUSSION ITEMS (January 6, 2020) 

Parking within the City 

Background – Mayor Nelson requested this item be included on the agenda as a Discussion 
Item. No documentation provided  

Sidewalks 

Background – Mayor Nelson requested this item be included on the agenda as a Discussion 
Item. No documentation provided 

Transparency 

Background – Council Member Boyd requested that this item be included on the agenda as a 
Discussion Item. No documentation provided 

Future Agenda Items – Council discussion about future agenda items.  

P.O. Box 468
320 Sixth Avenue
Ouray, Colorado 81427

970.325.7211
Fax  970.325.7212

www.cityofouray.com

   349


	10e_200103 Agreement to Amend
	AMENDMENT TO OURAY CHAMBER RESORT ASSOCIATION
	AGREEMENT FOR VISITOR CENTER SERVICES AND AGREEMENT FOR DESTINATION MARKETING, MANAGEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

	010619_CompleteCouncilPacket
	00_ag01-06-20
	05a_Minutes12-02-19
	05b_Minutes12-16-19
	07_PARC MINUTES 12.03.2019
	08a_City Administrator 1.2.20
	08b_December 2019 Monthly Report
	08b1_Calls for Service 11 25 2019 to 01 02 2020
	08c_Public Works December Update
	08d_City Resources Council Update 01-06-2020
	09_Consent Agenda Update 010620
	CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS (January 06, 2020):

	09a_SEP OIPI Ice Fest @ Box Canon
	09b_SEP Elks Burns Supper
	09c_Liq Lic Renew - Brickhouse
	09d_Liq Lic Renew - Thai Chili
	09e_LIq Lic Renew- Goldbelt
	10_Action Item Recommendations 1.6.20
	10a_Res01 2020 Posting PLace
	10b_Ord 1 2020 Council Meeting Times
	10c_1008.1e - Letter Agreement - WWTF Design Engineering Services - 20191213
	10d_City of Ouray DMR - Letter Agreement
	10e_191222 Agreement to Extend OTO
	10f_191227 Ouray_Viner_Fee_AgrV2
	10g_(2020 IGA with City County Town VALE Grant)
	10h_Ouray County_Combined Plan_Final 20191223
	Table of Contents
	List of Figures
	List of Tables

	1. Introduction
	1.1. Purpose
	1.2. Background and Scope
	1.3. Plan Organization

	2. Ouray County Community Profile
	2.1. Geography and Climate
	2.1.1. Climate Change

	2.2. History
	2.3. Population
	2.4. Government
	2.5. Economy
	2.6. Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District (FPD)
	2.7. Development Trends
	2.7.1. Jurisdictional Growth
	2.7.2. County Growth


	3. Planning Process
	3.1. Introduction
	3.2. Background on Hazard Mitigation Planning in Ouray County
	3.3. The Planning Process
	3.3.1. Phase I: Organize Resources
	Hazard Mitigation Planning Steering Committee Kickoff Webinar
	Local Planning Team Kickoff Meeting
	Public Involvement
	Review and Incorporation of Existing Planning Mechanisms
	Ouray County
	City of Ouray
	Town of Ridgway
	Loghill Mesa Fire Protection District
	Other


	3.3.2. Phase II: Assess Risks
	Planning Team Risk and Vulnerability Assessment Workshops

	3.3.3. Phase III: Develop the Mitigation Strategy
	Planning Team Mitigation Strategy Workshop

	3.3.4. Phase IV: Implement the Plan and Monitor Progress


	4. Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment (HIRA)
	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	4.1. Hazard Identification
	4.1.1. Disaster Declaration History

	4.2. Hazard Ranking
	4.3. Building Inventory and Assets
	4.4. Critical Facilities
	4.5. Hazard Profiles
	4.5.1. Profile Methodology
	4.5.2. SHELDUS Results
	4.5.3. HIRA Summary
	4.5.4. Avalanche
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.5. Dam Failure
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.6. Debris Flow
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.7. Drought
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.8. Earthquake
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.9. Extreme Temperatures
	Description
	Extreme Cold
	Extreme Heat

	Location
	Extent
	Extreme Cold
	Extreme Heat

	Previous Occurrences
	Extreme Cold
	Extreme Heat

	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.10. Flooding
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	NFIP Participation
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.11. Landslide/Rockfall
	Description
	Landslide
	Rockfall

	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.12. Lightning
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.13. Public Health Emergencies
	Description
	Pandemic Influenza
	West Nile Virus
	Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps

	Location
	Pandemic Influenza
	West Nile Virus
	Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps

	Extent
	Pandemic Influenza
	West Nile Virus
	Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps

	Previous Occurrences
	Pandemic Influenza
	West Nile Virus
	Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps

	Probability
	Pandemic Influenza
	West Nile Virus
	Radon, Carbon Monoxide, and Methane Seeps

	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.14. Severe Winter Storm
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.15. Wildfire
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.16. Windstorm
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.17. Hazardous Materials Incident
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.18. Mass Casualty Events
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking

	4.5.19. Imminent Threat
	Description
	Location
	Extent
	Previous Occurrences
	Probability
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Inventory Exposed/Impacts
	Potential Losses
	Future Conditions

	Summary Risk Ranking



	5. Mitigation Strategy
	5.1. Hazard Mitigation Strategy Overview
	5.2. Ouray County Hazard Mitigation Goals and Objectives
	5.2.1. Ouray County Capabilities Assessment
	5.2.2. Ouray County Continued NFIP Compliance
	5.2.3. Ouray County Past Action Reporting
	5.2.4. Ouray County Identification of New Mitigation Actions
	Selection of Mitigation Actions
	Prioritization of Mitigation Actions
	Implementation of Mitigation Actions

	5.2.5. 2019 Ouray County Mitigation Actions


	6. Plan Maintenance, Revision, and Integration
	6.1. Introduction
	6.2. Plan Monitoring, Evaluation and Enhancement
	6.2.1. Annual Meeting and Review
	6.2.2. Five Year Update of the Plan
	6.2.3. Five Year Revision Procedures

	6.3. Plan Adoption
	6.4. Continued Public Involvement
	6.5. Integration of Hazard Mitigation into other Planning Mechanisms

	APPENDIXES
	7. Appendix A: Meeting Sign-in Sheets and Agendas
	8. Appendix B: Public Involvement
	9. Appendix C: HIRA Appendix
	9.1. Avalanche
	9.1.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.2. Debris Flow
	9.2.1. Vulnerability Assessment
	Potential Losses


	9.3. Drought
	9.3.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.4. Earthquake
	9.4.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.5. Flooding
	9.5.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.6. Landslide/Rockfall
	9.6.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.7. Wildfire
	9.7.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.8. Windstorm
	9.8.1. Previous Occurrences

	9.9. Hazardous Materials Incident
	9.9.1. Previous Occurrences


	10. Appendix D: Jurisdictional Plan Adoptions

	10j_20190102 CEDC Appointments
	11_Discussion Item update 010620




